



The complete design environment for road planning & construction

Copyright Anadelta Software 19/1/2009

Table of Contents

Chapter 1 General	9
Chapter 2 Technical Support	12
Chapter 3 Program Requirements 1 Software Requirements 2 Computer System Requirements 3 Setup Wizard 4 Dengle Insertion	14 14 15 16
Chapter 4 Features	20
Chapter 5 Start-up Guide	24
 Program Start Calculation of Curved Perimeter Oasis Calculation Terrain Validation Calculation of Triangles Calculation of Contour Lines Insertion of Breaklines Road Insertion Road Calculation - PI Data Widenings Stationing Profile Update Tangent Curve Creation 	24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36
 14 Cross Sections Update 15 Typical Tasks Import 16 Typical Cross Sections Import 17 Batch Cross Section Calculation 18 Typical Cross Sections Editing 19 Mass Table 20 Export Files to DXF 	37 38 39 40 41 42 43
Chapter 6 A First Look	46
1 Creating a New File	46

2 Anadelta Tessera

2	Opening an Existing File	47
3	Working with Multiple Files	48
4	Workspaces of the Program	49
5	Getting Familiar with the Enviornment of the Program	50
6	Managing the Program Window	55
7	The Dialogue Boxes	56
8	The Windows	59
9	Error - Confirmation Messages	61
10	Executing Commands	62
11	Using the Shortcut Menus	63
12	Undo and Redo of Commands	64
13	Specifying Points	65
14	Objects	67
15	Object Properties	69
16	Drawing View Options	73
17	Modifying the Program Options	76
18	Project Management	84
19	Saving a File	88
20	How to Select and Save Files	89
21	Closing a File	90
22	To Exit Tessera	91

Chapter 7 Horizontal Alignment

Ο	Λ
9	

1 The Horizontal Alignment	Environment	94
Workspace		94
Workspace Modes		95
Categories of Objects		95
Horizontal Alignment Displa	y Options	96
The Snap Feature		100
Selection of Objects		101
Main Object Properties		101
Project Information		103
Quick Find		104
Moving Project Elements		105
Colour Zones		105
2 Topographical Background	I - Workspace - Terrain	108
Creating the Terrain Model		108
Terrain Management - Prop	erties	108
Terrain Options		110
Terrain Points		111
Creating and Editing Perime	eters	115
Creating and Editing Oases		118
Inserting Breaklines		119
Terrain Validation		121
Triangulation and Contour I	ine Calculation	123

Terrain Model Export	
Terrain Model Import	
Calculating Slope Areas	
Surface Calculation - Volumes	134
Adjusting the Elevations	
Slope Analysis	
3 Road Design	137
Introduction	137
Creating a New Road	
Road Properties	
PI Properties	
Editing PIs	
Editing Road Stations	
Editing PI Data	
Types of Transition Curve	
Superelevation Diagram	
Displaying the Superelevation Diagram	
Setting the Widths	
Calculation of a Road	
widenings	
Stationing	
Creating Service Roads	
Euling Didgrans	
Horizontal Alignment Statistics	
Structures	170
Intersections	181
1 Drinting	191
Professional Cathler	
Preferences Setting	
Selecting Terrain Objects	
Road Objects Selection	
Proview	201
Preview Printing a Page	202
Export to DXF File	
hanter O. Drofile	206
napter & Profile	200
1 Creating a Road Project	
2 Workspace	
3 Profile Workspace Modes	

4 Profile Display Options

5 Bruckner Mode

6 Surface Diagram Mode

7 Terrain Profile Line

8 Terrain Profile Editing

9 Road Properties

10 Creating and Inserting a Tangent Curve

11 Editing a Tangent Curve

С

4 Anadelta Tessera

12	Road Profile Calculation Data	235
13	Mandatory Points	236
14	Profile Data	238
15	Printing	239
16	Export to DXF File	244
17	Export to ASCII File	245
18	Printing the Superelevation Diagram	246
19	Bruckner Diagram	247

Chapter 9 Cross Sections

252

1	Introduction	252
2	Creating a Project	256
3	The Workspace	259
4	Road Properties	262
5	Cross Sections Management	263
6	Typical Tasks	266
•	Creation - Management of Typical Tasks	
	Families	
	Families - Tasks	
	Mass Table Columns	271
	Order of Columns and Tasks	
7	Creation - Automatic Insertion of Lines	275
8	Importing a Line from a Text File	278
9	Editing Lines	281
10	Editing Line Points	285
11	Creation - Management of Diagrams	288
12	Cross Sections Calculation	291
13	Quantities - Areas	297
14	Sideslopes Coating	300
15	Drawings	301
16	Walls	304
17	Benches	307
18	Batch actions	309
	Batch Cross Section Calculation	310
	Batch Drawing Assignment	
	Batch Bench Assignment	315
	Batch Wall Assignment	315
	Soil Improvement Insertion	316
	Guardrail management	
	Batch Line Management	319
	Batch Cross Sections Management	323
	Batch Cross Section Import from another Project	324
	Batch Cropping of Lines	325
	Natural Ground from Cross Slopes	

19 Creating Diagram from Point	
20 Excavations	
21 Mass Table	
22 Mass Table Creation	
23 Mass Table Printing - Export	340
24 Dimensioning Points - Roadlines	
25 Print Setup	
26 Cross Sections Printing	
27 Data Export	348
Chapter 10 Composite Cross Sections	354
1 Horizontal Alignment	
2 Profile	
3 Cross Sections	
Chapter 11 Typical Cross Sections	362
1 Overview	
2 Operations	
3 Management	
4 Main Parts	
5 Tests	
6 Creation and Insertion of Levels	
7 Setting the Branches	372
8 Sideslopes	374
9 Setting the Sideslopes	375
10 Pavings	377
11 Paving Sideslope Coating	379
12 Outer Gutter Filling of Fixed Width	
13 Guardrails Support	
14 Insertion - Editing of Lines	
15 Calculating the Position of a Line Point	
16 Selected Drawings	
17 Topsoil	392
Chapter 12 Drawing	396
1 Lines	396
2 Curves	398
3 Clothoids	401
4 Texts	404
5 Images	406

6 Anadelta Tessera

6	Object Properties	407
7	Layers	408
8	Object Import	412
9	Object Editing	413
10	Editing Lines	418
11	Data Export	421



1 General

Following the release of the successful software package *Anadelta Software, Anadelta* develops its series of programs for road design projects and studies, by introducing the *Anadelta Tessera. Anadelta Tessera* is a continually developing specialized application, offering automated design and layout to simplify and speed up the Road Design procedure. This sophisticated software replaces the *Anadelta Road Design* and takes advantage of all elements of an existing road design that were included in the aforementioned program.

Anadelta Tessera is the development of a new generation series of programs of Anadelta Software. In this series, emphasis was put on speed, user-friendly operation and accuracy, thanks to the new autonomous integrated graphics environment of Anadelta Software.

This manual covers every basic feature of *Anadelta Tessera*, providing examples where appropriate. Figures, which are true copies of the screen, are given in every chapter, enabling the user to always perform the correct operations.

Our company has made every effort so that the contents of this manual are aligned with the program. However, in a continually developing program, whose purpose is to respond quickly to the ever-broadenings needs and demands of the customers, this is not always possible.



2 Technical Support

According to its standard policy, *Anadelta Software* offers you access to new versions and any other aid that will help you learn how to use the program correctly. Especially for *Anadelta Tessera*, you can download the latest version by visiting the updated site of our company, in the electronic address <u>www.anadelta.com</u>.

We hope that the continuous and essential technical support offered by our company will cover any gaps that may exist in the manual, especially regarding the new features of the program. Our permanent goal is a substantial cooperation with all our long-term customers and with everyone who chooses our programs for the first time. We welcome your comments and suggestions both for the manual and for the program. We thank you all for your choice and trust.



3 Program Requirements

3.1 Software Requirements

The software runs in Windows XP or Vista environment without needing any additional design program.

It includes its own design environment and supports all basic operations of a CAD (Computer Aided Design) program.

It communicates with other CAD programs via DXF files.

Finally, the program can print to all printers and Plotters.

3.2 Computer System Requirements

Minimum requirements: Pentium 4 class processor 512 MB of RAM 200 MB free disk space CD-ROM driver for the initial installation USB port for the protection dongle

Recommended:

Video card capable of 3D accelerated graphics is needed for the photorealistic 3D mode and video production 1 GB of RAM

3.3 Setup Wizard

You can install the program easily, by following the instructions of the setup wizard.

How to install Anadelta Tessera

- 1. Insert the program CD into the CD-ROM drive.
- 2. If the setup screen appears, proceed to the next step. Otherwise, in order for the installation of the program to begin, go to the Start menu, select My Computer, right-click on the drive where you have inserted the installation CD, select Open and run the program.
- 3. When the initial screen appears, left-click on the Next button to proceed. If you want to stop the procedure, left-click on the *Cancel* button.
- 4. In the step *Choose Components,* in addition to the main program that will be installed, you must also select whether to install the Hardlock Drivers and the WMV 9 program, which enables you to see the auxiliary videos that are included in the *Help* menu of the program. Once you have completed this step, press the *Next* button to proceed to the next step. If you wish to return to the previous screen to modify your selections, press the *Previous* button.
- 5. Specify the program installation path and press *Next*.
- 6. Press the *Install* button to start the installation of the program.

🦁 Anadelta Tessera Setup		
Choose Components Choose which features of Anac	delta Tessera you want to install.	
Check the components you want to install and uncheck the components you don't want to install. Click Next to continue.		
Select components to install:	 ✓ Anadelta Tessera ✓ Hardlock Drivers ✓ Microsoft WMV 9 Codec 	Description Position your mouse over a component to see its description,
Space required: 89.5MB		
Nullsoft Install System v2.25 ——	< <u>B</u> ack	Next > Cancel

Once the installation is completed, *Anadelta Tessera* informs you accordingly, showing the relevant message.

3.4 Dongle Insertion

After the installation and in order for the program to operate, you must insert the dongle into the USB port of your computer. The dongle is included in the original software package together with the installation CD.



4 Features

When the program starts, you have two main options. You can either create a new file and start importing data into the empty file, or open an existing *Tessera file* (.ADF extension) or an *Anadelta* ROAD CONSTRUCTION file (.HOR extension). If you open an existing file, all the selections and settings that you have specified are restored, because such information is saved as part of the file. When you start a new file, you must adjust certain settings that will help you during the file processing. You can modify these setting any time you want to.

Project Elements Import

Tessera contains commands that create many different types of object, in order to facilitate you during the import and processing of the performance data. The elements for the study of the terrain, the road layout, the profile and the cross-section of a road can be imported either directly into the program or collectively through ASCII files, or, for most elements, from DXF files.

Error Undo

If you make a mistake while creating, processing or viewing the study, in most, if not in all cases, you can undo it. You can undo either your last action or a number of prior operations. If you accidentally undo an action, you can restore it.

Accurate Design

The points are determined by specifying their X and Y coordinates (type them or select them with the mouse). *Tessera* uses a Cartesian coordinate system, both for the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace and for the *Profile* and *Cross-Sections* workspaces.

You may even select the crosshair to snap points of objects. By selecting the snap feature, the crosshair goes from line to line and/or from point to points. In this way, you can get accurate results without entering coordinates.

Object Properties

There are certain properties that are related to all objects created by *Tessera*. For most objects, you can specify the type of the drawing line (e.g. continuous, dashed or axial), the scale of the line type, the line thickness and the colour of lines and texts.

Object Processing

Once you have entered the data of the design, you can modify the objects you have created. *Tessera* offers various processing methods that minimize the working time required.

You can change the properties of the objects and pan or rotate the objects within the drawing area. You can even delete or shift individual points of objects or/and add points to objects. Finally, you have the option to delete or more objects.

Viewing of Objects

The two coordinate axes (an horizontal and a vertical axis) show you at any time the exact position and the dimensions of your project at real scale.

Tessera enables you to change the project magnification on your screen. You can zoom in for detailed works or zoom out the drawing image that appears in the drawing area in order to see a larger part of the drawing. These operations are being carried out easily and quickly, either by using the mouse wheel or by pressing the <+> or <->

keys respectively.

To see another part of your drawing, you can pan the drawing without changing the magnification. You can use the pan feature by using the mouse (click and hold the middle or the right button), the scroll bars or the left, right, up and down arrows of the keyboard.

All of the above will not affect the true dimensions of the drawing, they will only change the way in which the drawing is displayed on the screen.

Calculations

The program carries out automatically the road calculations in the Horizontal Alignment, Profile and Cross-Sections once you set the parameters and update from the other workspaces.

Also, the user can always intervene and process the results of the Horizontal Alignment, the Profile and the Cross-Sections.

In order to communicate with other programs, you can export this data to an ASCII file or to a DXF file.

Printing

You can print easily and quickly, directly from the program, without the need of any other program. The procedure is simple. First, you specify the properties of the printer and the dimensions of the page and next you select the scale and the items to be printed.

By using the *Print* command and before you proceed to the actual printing, you can preview on the screen the image of the drawing to be printed.



5 Start-up Guide

5.1 Program Start

Before starting a new study, you must create a new project.

To create a new file

From the *File* menu, select *New Project*. This command creates a new file and takes you to the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace. An empty window will appear on the screen, since you haven't inserted any elements yet.

To import terrain points from an ASCII file

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Import from ASCII* submenu and run the *Terrain Points* command.
- 2. From the dialogue box that appears on the screen select the *Projects* subdirectory and then choose one of the examples contained in this folder, e.g. Demo 1.GRD.
- 3. When you click *Open*, a dialogue box appears. Click *OK* in the dialogue box to import the terrain points.
- 4. If you wish to bring the terrain to the screen extents, go to the *Display* menu and select *Zoom Extents*.

5.2 Calculation of Curved Perimeter

Next, you must insert a perimeter, which will demarcate the area in which the triangles will be created. A perimeter is a zigzag line whose peaks must coincide with terrain points. Therefore, you cannot insert a perimeter unless you have inserted terrain points.

How to insert a curved perimeter

From the *Terrain* menu, run the *Calculate curved perimeter* command. This command creates a closed curved polygonal line that includes all the points of the current terrain.

How to automatically adjust a perimeter

- 1. Select the perimeter you wish to adjust.
- 2. Right click on the screen to display the shortcut menu. To add or delete points, select *Adjust perimeter Expand* or *Shrink respectively*.
- 3. Tick the *General* checkbox if you wish to add/delete points along the perimeter, or tick the *Local* checkbox if you wish to add/delete points at a single part of the perimeter. If you select *Local*, you must specify the width of the sides between which the boundary will be adjusted. The default value is 7 but you can change it. Next, you must specify the perimeter part that will be adjusted. To do this, move the mouse pointer over this part to highlight it.
- 4. To proceed to the adjustment, roll the mouse wheel down. The effect is cumulative, namely more points are added or deleted as long as you keep rolling the wheel. The effect on the boundary can be seen immediately on the screen. Keep rolling the wheel until you are satisfied with the result. If you wish to undo the expansion/ shrinkage, roll the mouse wheel up.
- 5. When you finish, click *OK*. This closes the dialogue box, takes you back to the program window and applies the adjustment.

5.3 Oasis Calculation

To insert an oasis, you must have at least one perimeter. The oasis is used for the demarcation of an area in which you will create triangles (e.g. wherever there is a settlement or a lake).

How to insert an oasis

From the *Terrain* menu, run the *Insert Oasis* command. This command creates an open polygonal line that enables you to include all the points that will not be used for the calculation of the triangles.

The oasis processing features are the same as the ones of the perimeter. More specifically, you can:

- 1. Define circularly the terrain points that will compose the oasis (the mouse snaps automatically the terrain points).
- 2. Right click to finish the procedure, when you have completed the entry of points.

5.4 Terrain Validation

Before calculating the triangles, you must carry out terrain validation. This stage (before creating triangles) enables the detailed validation of the points. The terrain validation is performed automatically when you request triangulation, but it can also be carried out at any given time, upon request by the user.

How to carry out terrain validation

- 1. From the *Terrain* menu, run the *Terrain Validation* command. The program will start checking the terrain elements. A bar appears at the bottom right corner of the drawing area, showing you the validation progress.
- 2. When validation is completed, a dialogue box appears on the screen. In this dialogue box, you can detect and correct any errors of the terrain model. Usually, most errors refer to the terrain geometry.

One of the buttons in this window can be used to show you the wrong terrain point, which is highlighted on the screen.

5.5 Calculation of Triangles

The next step for the creation of the terrain model is the calculation of triangles. First, however, you must specify the settings of the digital terrain model by clicking *Terrain* Options from the *Terrain* menu.

Calculation of triangles

To calculate the triangles, run the *Calculate Triangles* command from the *Terrain* menu. The program will carry out a *Terrain Validation* and if it doesn't find any significant problems, it will start creating the terrain model based on the inserted points, perimeters and oases. In this procedure, the terrain points are interconnected with straight lines in order to form triangles. To create the terrain model, the program takes into account the perimeter and any oases that you may have inserted.

Editing of Triangles

You can intervene and edit the terrain model. If you run the *Triangles Editing* command from the *Terrain* menu, you will notice that the triangles which are located under the mouse pointer turn green. Move the pointer to the desired triangles and click to change the diagonal of the quadrilateral. In this way, you can visually edit any anomaly in the digital terrain model. The changes you are making are shown immediately on the screen. The review and editing is facilitated by the various ways of presentation that the program offers for the terrain model.

5.6 Calculation of Contour Lines

The next step of the terrain processing is the calculation of the contour lines.

The horizontal equivalent of the contour lines for the current terrain is defined from the dialogue box *Terrain Options* of the *Terrain* menu. More specifically, in the group *Calculate Contour Lines* of the *General* tab, type in the text box Insert a contour line every, the distance between two contour lines. From the same group, you can specify the elevation difference between two contour lines in the *Main contour lines* every text field.

How to calculate the contour lines

From the *Terrain* menu, run the *Calculate Contour Lines* command. The program starts to create the contour lines according to the specified settings.

You can activate or deactivate the display of the contour lines by selecting the *Options* command from the *Display* menu.

At this point, while viewing the contour lines, it is possible to edit the terrain model in order to get a better view of the relief. If you wish the contour lines to reflect the results of the editing, you must repeat the calculation of the contour lines.

You can select the way in which the contour lines will appear on the screen (zigzag or curved).

5.7 Insertion of Breaklines

The purpose of the Breaklines is the demarcation of the triangles. These are also zigzag lines, whose peaks must coincide with terrain points. During the triangulation, the program creates the triangles in a way that their sides coincide with the Breaklines and never intersect them.

Insert Breaklines with the mouse

- 1. From the *Terrain* menu, select *Insert Breaklines*. The pointer turns into a crosshair and snaps only terrain points.
- 2. Define successively the terrain points that will comprise the Breakline. If you wish, the program can include automatically the points that lie between the previous point and the point that you define. Thus, when the crosshair snaps a terrain point, the screen will display the points that will be included in the breakline.
- 3. When you have finished the insertion of points, right click to end the procedure.

5.8 Road Insertion

In order to insert a new road, first you must specify the coordinates of its PIs and then the geometric characteristics of each PI.

How to insert the PIs of a road

- 1. From the *Road Design* menu, select the *Insert road* command. The highlighted square in the middle of the mouse cross shows you the spot where the PI will be placed.
- 2. By using the mouse, define in ascending order the position of the PI of the road's tangent curve, from the beginning towards the end of the road.
- 3. When you have finished the insertion of PIs, right click to end the procedure.

How to define the road preferences

- 1. Select the desired road. From the *Road Design* menu, select *Road Preferences*.
- 2. From the dialogue box of the *Road Preferences* command, activate a tab and proceed to the desired settings.
- 3. When you have finished selecting the preferences, click *OK* to close the dialogue box.

You can make settings referring to:

- The elements of the road PIs (General, PI and Slopes tabs).
- The road widths (*Widths* tab).
- The necessary settings for the calculation of the superelevations diagram (*Slopes* and *Diagram* tabs).
- The stationing preferences (*Stationing* and *Terrain Sampling*).

5.9 Road Calculation - PI Data

To calculate the road, you must go to the *Road Design* menu and run the *Road Calculation* command.

After you have inserted all the PIs of the tangent curve of a road in order to enable the calculation of the road, the next step is to specify the data of each PI.

How to insert the data of a road's PI

- 1. Select the road you wish to process.
- 2. Select the PI you wish to process.
- 3. Right click on the selected PI to display the shortcut menu and choose *Properties*.
- 4. From the *Properties* window select the value of the *PI Data*. Click the button with the three dots that is displayed when selecting the box.
- 5. In the resulting window you can modify the data of the relevant PI.
- 6. Click OK to confirm the changes or click Cancel to restore the original settings.

5.10 Widenings

The widening of a pavement is the increase or decrease of the pavement semi-width either on its left or on its right side. By using the widenings you can modify the roadlines of the pavement.

Insertion and editing of pavement widening

Select the road you wish to insert for widening. From the *Road Design* menu, select *Widenings* and then select *Pavement Widening*.

The program creates a movable drawing of the widening, which is identified by the position of a yellow triangle. By using the mouse, you can also specify the roadside that will be widened. Select the appropriate position and left click to insert the widening.

Next, select the widening and from the shortcut menu select *Properties*.

In the fields of this window you can edit the value of the chainage where the widening will be inserted, and set the width of the widening, which can be either positive for moving away from the road axis or negative for moving towards the road axis. In the other fields, you can set the length of the widening, as well as the first and second curvature radii respectively.

5.11 Stationing

Stationing can take place after the calculation of the road. Stationing is the calculation and insertion of stations according to the preferences that you specify by using the *Road Preferences* command from the *Stationing* tab. By default, the program inserts stations at the beginning and at the end of the road, as well as at the beginning and at the end of every curve (stations TS and ST). You may, however, insert stations at the other characteristic points of the curves, such as at the beginning and at the end of the circular arcs (stations CS and SC), at the centre of the circular arc (stations CC) and at the vertical from circle's centre to the curve's centre (stations CP and PC).

The first station of the road is the POB station, while the last station is the POE station. A composite name is assigned to the characteristic stations of each curve. This name is comprised of one letter (TS, CP, CS, CC, SC, PC, ST) and one number, which is identified with the numbering of the respective PI (e.g. TS1, CP1 for PI1). The names of the remaining, non-characteristic stations derive from a serial numbering, starting from the number that you have assigned.

Automatic insertion of stations

From the *Road Design* menu, select *Stationing*. The program will calculate and insert the stations according to the aforementioned preferences.

Insertion of a new station

To insert a new station, go to the *Road Design* menu, select *Stationing* and then select *New Station.* You will see a green line, which is vertical to the axis of the selected road. Every time you move the mouse, this line also moves to the position of the mouse pointer. Select the appropriate position and click the left mouse button to insert the station. To specify the accurate chainage and the name of the station that you have inserted, select the station (by right-clicking over it) and then select *Properties.* Repeat the procedures for all stations you wish to add.

Delete a station

Select the station you wish to delete, right-click to display the shortcut menu and then select *Delete station*.

You can also delete all stations of a road. To do that, select the road, go to the *Road Design* menu, then to the *Stationing* submenu and then select *Delete stations*.
5.12 Profile Update

The communication between the three workspaces and the transfer of data from one workspace to the other is performed from the *Project management* dialogue box. If you wish to request the creation of the road profile and cross-sections based on the road data, you must proceed to the relevant updates. When updating from *Horizontal Alignment* to *Profile*, the program will transfer the following data:

- *Terrain Update:* the chainage and the name of every cross-section, as well as the elevation of the natural ground at the axis of the cross-section.
- *Update Diagrams:* transfers the diagrams of the left and right superelevations, as well as the diagram of tangent curves.
- Update road profile: the road profile (if any) is copied as a road profile tangent.

When update is completed, the profile will include the cross-sections of the project and their chainages, as well as the elevation of the natural ground.

5.13 Tangent Curve Creation

The next step in the design of the *Profile* is the insertion and processing of the road tangent, in order to determine the elevation of the road profile.

You can create one or more tangent curves by defining its PIs.

How to create a tangent curve with the mouse

- 1. From the *Profile* menu, select *Insert Tangent Curve*.
- 2. By using the mouse, define the positions of the *Tangent Curve* Pis within the drawing area.
- 3. When you have finished, press *Esc* or right click at any part of the screen to end the procedure.

At this stage, you can see on your screen the tangent, which is displayed in red, as well as the road profile elevations. You can also see the road profile, if the program could estimate it with the current values of the rounding radii of the tangent PIs, which have a default value. If you wish to change the original default value of the rounding radii, go to the *Profile* menu, select *Road Properties* and change the value in the *PI initial radius* text field.

5.14 Cross Sections Update

You can update the cross sections from the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace. More specifically:

- 1. From the *Project* menu, run the *Project Management* command.
- 2. For a quick update, from the *Update* group, select the item *From Horizontal Alignment to Cross Sections*.
- 3. In the box that appears below, you can select the items that you wish to update.
- 4. Click Update.
- 5. Click *OK* to close the dialogue box.

After you have completed the update of the Cross Sections from the Horizontal Alignment, you must update the *Cross Sections from the Profile*, in order to have the roadway elevation for every cross section. To do that, go to the *File* menu and run the *Update from Profile* command.

When updating from the Horizontal Alignment to Cross Sections, the program will transfer the following data:

- *Terrain Update:* the chainage and the name of every cross section, as well as the line of the natural ground on both sides of the cross section axis. The points at the line of the natural ground, as they result from the intersection of the profile axis with the triangles of the terrain model. To set the length of the natural ground line, go to the *Terrain Sampling* tab, select the *Road Preferences* command and enter in the appropriate fields of the dialogue box the values for the left and right sides. If there is no terrain model, you can alternatively request calculation of cross sections. To do that, from the *Cross section elevation calculation way*, go to the *Calculations* tab, select the *General Preferences* command and in the dialogue box activate the option *From stations zone*. In this case, the program creates a natural ground by projecting on the cross section axis the points contained in a zone around every cross section. You can set the length of the zone in the relevant field of the *Road Preferences* command, in the *Terrain Sampling* tab.
- Update diagrams: the diagrams that will be transferred are those of the superelevations, the semi-width, the paveway and the roadway for the left and the right sides, as well as the diagram of the tangents, the diagrams of the road that already exists on the left and on the right or the generic use diagrams that have been created.
- *Cross Sections Synchronization:* the positions of the cross sections are correlated based on the chainage or the name. The cross section correlation matters only in case you have already worked inside the *Cross Sections* workspace and want to update the road cross sections, not to delete them or create them from the beginning.

When you have finished processing the road in the *Profile* and *Cross Sections* workspaces, you must update the *Horizontal Alignment* in order to insert the road profile and to draw the roadway and sideslope lines along the road.

5.15 Typical Tasks Import

The lines comprising each one of the cross sections that are included in the program, are grouped in families. This sorting out of the lines has a qualitative meaning. It allows every line, depending on its family, to *locate cross sections* and to calculate areas, by using every time the proper lines. It also serves to determine how the lines will appear both on the screen and on the printouts, as well as to the absolute parametric drawing up of the mass and paving tables.

This standardisation of the lines (tasks) and the correspondance of the calculated quantities to the mass table columns are referred to shortly as *Typical Tasks*. The determination of the typical tasks is one of the main operations of the program and must be done before starting to draw the cross sections.

From the *Parameters* menu, run the *Typical Tasks* command to open the window in which you will specify the typical tasks.

How to import typical tasks from another file

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Import* submenu and run the *Typ. Tasks* command.
- 2. The *Open* dialogue box appears on the screen. From the *File Type* field, select the type of file (*.ATE or *.ADF), then select the desired file and click *Open*.

Before you run this command, you must be certain that you do not need the current typical tasks that you are using for your project. It is advisable to export them first in a file and then to replace them, because the import of a typical tasks file deletes the current typical tasks and replaces them with the ones contained in the file.

5.16 Typical Cross Sections Import

To import typical cross sections from an external file into the current project, go to *Import* submenu of the *File* menu and run the *Typ. Cross Sections* command. You can import typical cross sections either from another project of *Anadelta Tessera* (*.ADF), or from a cross sections text file.

How to import typical cross sections from another file

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Import* submenu and run the *Typ. Cross Sections* command.
- 2. The *Open* dialogue box appears on the screen. From the *File Type* field, select the type of file (*.ATD), then select the desired file and click *Open*.

5.17 Batch Cross Section Calculation

For the program to calculate cross sections, the user or the program must first create the main parts of the lines, then extend or remove parts of these lines so as to create between them closed surfaces, and finally measure the area of these surfaces. The calculation of a cross section and the setting of the calculation parameters are being carried through the *Cross Sections Data* management window. This operation can be carried out collectively for all cross sections of the project.

The actions referring to the calculation of a cross section can be carried out collectively for all cross sections of the project by running the *Calculation* command from the *Batch Actions* menu. The purpose of this command is the parameterisation of batch calculations in the cross sections of the current road of a project. The calculations may also include settings of the parameters of the branches, the topsoil, the paving, the sideslopes or/and all of the above.

In all cases, you must click the *Calculation* button for the program to start the batch calculation. When calculation ends, the program informs you on the results by displaying the relevant message in the message window at the bottom of the program window. Any problems that may have occurred, appear in detail inside the window. Click the *Exit* button to close the dialogue box and return to the workspace of the program.

5.18 Typical Cross Sections Editing

To edit a cross section, you must set the gradient of the sideslopes, both for the fillings and for the cuttings. You can set the formation of the sideslopes in the *Sideslopes* tab.

At the bottom of this tab, you will see all the existing sideslope formations for the current typical cross section. Every typical cross section must have at least two sideslope formations, of which one will correspond to the filling and the other to the cutting. To create a new formation, select one of the formations that are listed in the table (e.g. Filling 1:3, 1:2, 2:3) and click the button that corresponds to the creation of a new set of sideslopes. A new formation, which is a duplicate of the one that you selected, will be created on the screen (e.g. New Filling 1:3, 1:2, 2:3). To change the name of the formation, just activate its field and type the new name. When you have finished, press *Enter* to confirm the name. To delete a formation from the table, select the desired formation and click the respective button.

Now that you have created the new sideslope gradients, you can go to the *Cross Sections* workspace and apply these sideslopes to the cross sections that do not have an intersection with the natural ground.

In the *Defaults* group, you can set the sideslope formations that you wish to apply by default to the current typical cross section, both for the left and the right part, as well as for the cutting and the filling. The formations are selected from the respective drop-down lists of this group. The selected sideslope formation is applied instantly and appears in the workspace of the typical cross section. The default sideslope formations are also applied during the cross sections calculation, unless otherwise selected in the *Cross Sections Data* window during the calculation of a particular cross section or in the dialogue box of the *Calculation* command in the *Batch Actions* menu during batch calculation.

5.19 Mass Table

Run the *Print mass table* command from the *Print* menu to display the window in which you will create the mass table.

The dialogue box that appears, has four buttons. Use these buttons to specify certain information that you wish to appear on the mass table. These buttons are *Table Titles, Fixed Columns, Fonts* and *Page Layout*.

- To set the general title of the table, click the *Table Titles* button and type the title in the *Main Title of Mass Table* text field. In the two groups that appear, enter the left and right titles respectively.
- You can change the names of the titles and specify titles for the axis data and the mass haul in the window that appears when you click *Fixed Columns*.
- You can select the fonts that will be used when printing the mass table, as well as the font size and style.
- To set the layout preferences, click Page Layout.

5.20 Export Files to DXF

You can export the contents of the *Horizontal Alignment* in .DXF format, to process them in another drawing program.

How to export the Horizontal Alignment data to a DXF file

- 1. From the File menu, select Export to DXF.
- 2. Enter the name of the file in the dialogue box of the *File Name* field.
- 3. In the *File Type* field, select the type of the file according to the desired version, 14 or 2000.
- 4. Click Save to finish the creation of the file.
- You can export the data of the *Profile* in DXF format, provided that you have activated the *Profile Print Preferences* from the *Print* menu. The export procedure is the same that applies to the *Horizontal Alignment*.
- You can also export the *Cross Sections* data in DXF format. From the dialogue box of the *Typical Tasks* command of the *Parameters* menu, you can select the format and the appearance of the lines, as well as whether some lines will be exported to the file with a layer. The format and the number of all other elements that will be exported, are also selected from the dialogue box of the *Print Preferences* command of the *Print* menu. Type the layer names of every category of elements in the respective *DXF layer* text box.

How to export the Cross Sections data to a DXF file

- 1. From the File menu, select Export to DXF.
- 2. Select the desired cross sections from the dialogue box that appears on the screen. From the *Selected Cross Sections* and *Cross Section Selection* groups, you select the cross sections that will be printed.
- 3. Click the *Export to DXF* button. Enter the name of the file in the dialogue box of the *File Name* field.
- 4. In the *File Type* field, select the type of the file according to the desired version, 14 or 2000.
- 5. Finally, click *Save* to finish the creation of the file.



6 A First Look

6.1 Creating a New File

If you want to start a new study but you do not have files of the *Anadelta Tessera* software package (files with the .ADF extension), you must create a new file to save the data of your study.

To Create a New File

From the *File* menu, select the *New Project* command or press the *Ctrl+N* keys or click

the button on the main toolbar line. This command creates a new file and transfers you to the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace. An empty window will appear on the screen, since you have not imported any elements yet. The *Tessera* files have an .ADF extension.

You can also create files of the *Profile* and *Cross Sections* workspaces.

6.2 Opening an Existing File

The *Tessera* files have an .ADF extension. To open an existing file, start the program and select *Open* from the *File* menu. You can also open the files by "dragging" them from Windows Explorer and dropping them anywhere inside the *Tessera* window. If the file is not a *Tessera* file or a *Road Design* file, the program shows a warning message, informing you that you cannot open the file.

You can also start *Tessera* and open the file by double-clicking a file from Windows Explorer. If *Tessera* is already running, the file opens in a new window.

If, for any reason, the program does not start when you double-click a *Tessera* file, you can restore the registration by clicking *ADF files registration* in the *Environment* tab that you will find in the dialogue box of the *General Preferences* command of the *Tools* menu.

To open a new project

- 1. Start the program.
- 2. From the *File* menu, select *Open*, or press the *Ctrl+O* keys, or click the button on the main toolbar.
- 3. From the *Open* dialogue box, go to the subdirectory that contains the file, select the file and click the *Open* button. The files that you can open in this way are *Anadelta Tessera* files (.ADF extension) and *Horizontal Alignment* files (.HOR extension) of the *Anadelta Road Design* program.

You can type the name of the file in the *File Name* field and then click *Open* or you can double-click the file name in the directory of files.

Opening a Project Folder

During the installation of the program the Projects folder is created. This is the folder where you can save your files. If you cannot find this folder, go to the *Tools* menu and click *Open Project File* to go directly to this folder.

6.3 Working with Multiple Files

You can open simultaneously more than one files. To go from one file to another, leftclick the button of the respective file on the task bar or press *Alt+Tab*. If, however, you go from one window to another when a command is running, then the command is cancelled. You cannot go from window to window when the program executes certain operations, e.g. calculation of the triangles. This feature enables you to copy or transfer objects from and to different files.

6.4 Workspaces of the Program

The program has three workspaces: *Horizontal Alignmet, Profile* and *Cross Sections,* where you can process the horizontal alignment, the profile and the cross sections of your project's roads respectively. For every project there is an *Horizontal Alignment* workspace, where you can view and edit all roads contained in your project. On the contrary, the same project has as many workspaces for editing the profile or the cross sections, as the roads that you are processing.

The *Horizontal Alignment* exists by default when you create a new file. The *Profile* and *Cross Sections* workspaces are created automatically, either when you request the update of the profile or the cross sections of a road from the *Horizontal Alignment*, or when you create a profile or cross sections file respectively.

This allocation facilitates the user to enter, edit and process the data of the design.

You can shift among the workspaces by pressing successively the Ctrl+Tab, buttons until you are transferred to the desired workspace. Another way is to left-click one of the tabs at the bottom of the program window. You can also go to a workspace by selecting it from the *Display* menu.

If you don't want the program to display a workspace, go to the subject workspace and run the *Close* window command from the *File* menu, or go to the *Project Management* dialogue box and disable the relevant check box from the *Show/Hide* group.

6.5 Getting Familiar with the Enviornment of the Program

Upon program start, the *Anadelta Tessera* window opens. This window is your workspace. It contains objects that you can use to create and process your study. The following sections describe in detail one by one the objects contained in the *Anadelta Tessera* window.



Title Bar

This is the bar on the top of the window. On the left of this bar you can see the file path and name. On the right, there are three buttons: \Box

- 1. The minimize button (left button) minimizes the *Tessera* window.
- 2. The middle button has a double function. If the window occupies only part of the screen, then this button maximizes the window so as to occupy the whole screen. If the window is already maximized, then this button restores the window so as to occupy only part of the screen. The functions of this button can also be performed by double-clicking the title bar.
- 3. The exit button (right button) closes the program.

If you right-click on the bar, you will display the shortcut menu with the functions that can be performed on the program window.

Menu Bar

This is the bar with the program menus. From the menu bar you can access most of the commands of the program.

Command Bar

The command menus are lists containing the *Tessera* commands and are displayed in the form of frames one below the other. The usual form of a *Tessera* menu is shown in the Figure:

View	Project	Tools	Drawing	Terra	in Road Desig
Horizontal Alignment 3D Profile			:		È × ⊘ ⊑ ≝ ⊿
Cr	oss Sectio	ns			Continuous
) Pro Me	operties asure Dis	tance	F11 Alt+W		0,,,
Zoom Extents Zoom Window Zoom on selected Previous Zoom Next Zoom Locate Coordinates		F4 Alt+Z K			
Re	ference P	oints		•	Insert 🕨
Qu	uick Find		Ctrl+F		Select 🔸
Fu	ll screen		Ctrl+Alt+	+۷	
Op	tions		F2		

Most of the bar menus have submenus. The submenus are displayed when you activate a menu on the bar. The availability of a submenu is indicated by an arrow.

To activate a menu, left-click on the menu to display it. Next, to activate a menu command, place the pointer over the command to highlight it and then click the left mouse button.

To activate the menu bar from the keyboard, press the *Alt* key. To select the desired menu, use the left and right arrow keys. Once you've selected the desired menu, press *Enter* to display it. Use the up and down arrow keys to scroll through the commands and submenus until you highlight the desired one. Next, press *Enter* again to execute the command or to display the submenu.

The number and content of the menus shown on the program bar vary according to the current workspace. For example, the *Terrain* menu is shown in the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace, while the *Profile* menu is shown in the *Profile* workspace. Also, the *Print* menu, which is common to both workspaces, displays different commands. When a menu or a menu command is not available, the name of the command appears faded.

Sometimes the icon of the button that corresponds to a command may be displayed on the left of the particular command. You will find this icon on one of the toolbars of the window. On the right, you will find keyboard shortcuts, if available, namely the keys that you must press to execute the command from the keyboard, without using the menus.

Toolbars

Toolbars contain buttons that you can activate by clicking them with the left mouse

button. These buttons are on top, on the right and below the drawing area. Each button corresponds to a different command (the commands that are used most frequently). The command is activated when you click the corresponding button (left-click on the button). Each workspace has a different toolbar.

Main Toolbar

Contains the most common commands that the program uses, such as the basic operations *New, Open* and *Save.* It also contains the copy, cut, paste, undo and redo commands.

🗋 🖕 🔚 🖻 Ko + M + 🐰 🗎 🗎	🔀 🧿 🚱 🖻 🥔 🔎 🦻 🔌
----------------------------	---------------------

The main toolbar and the commands it contains are the same for all workspaces.

Balloon Help

The Balloon Help shows you a short description of every button. To see the Balloon Help, move the mouse pointer over the desired button and leave it there for a few moments.



Drop-Down Lists of Options

An arrow pointing downwards on the left border of the field indicates the presence of a drop-down list. The arrow is either displayed permanently or when the field is enabled. When the list is inactive, the option shown in the field is the current one.

To display the options list, left-click on the arrow and the list will drop down. To select an option, place the pointer over the option to highlight it and click the left mouse button or press *Enter*. The three dots next to an option mean that when you select this option, the respective dialogue box will appear, enabling you to create a new list option.



If there is not enough space in the list to show all of the available selections, you can gain

access to all options in the box by moving the *scroll bar* up and down in the options list.

To move the scroll bar, either left-click the two arrows of the scroll bar or drag and drop

the adjustment button of the scroll bar. You can also use the up and down keys to scroll

through the options.

Drawing Area

The black part of the screen is the drawing area and corresponds to a drawing paper of infinite size. The size of the drawing area varies according to the size of the *Tessera* window. You cannot access the drawing area when a window or a dialogue box is open.

The part of the project that will be displayed in the drawing area is not standard, but it can be dynamically defined by the user.

Crosshair and Bounding Box

When the mouse pointer is inside the drawing area, it has the form of a crosshair. The crosshair is comprised of two intersected lines with a small box at their intersection point. The crosshair shows the position of the mouse pointer inside the drawing area and enables you to place points, as well as to select and draw objects. When a command requires from you to define one or more points, the bounding box turns red and follows the crosshair.

Scroll Bars

On the right and bottom border of the drawing area there are two bars. Use these bars to move towards both directions (horizontally and vertically) inside your drawing. Each bar has a button, whose size is proportional to the magnification percentage on the drawing screen, always with respect to the limits of your drawing. To move from one part of your project to another, simply use the mouse to drag the button of the bar and drop it at the desired point.

Coordinate Axes

The coordinate axes are on the left and upper border of the drawing area. By default, the horizontal axis is the X axis and the vertical axis is the Y axis. The step between the indications of the axis changes dynamically according to the magnification of the screen.

Status Bar

The status bar is located at the bottom of the screen and is comprised of four parts:

Ch.=147.806 H=523.654 Dh=1.647 9.311% 3.367% [Xinput form Provide tangent curve point. (X1) Ch.=73.210 H=517.739 R=300.000

- The first part shows the coordinates of the current position of the crosshair.
- The second part has a button that displays the *Input Form*, which is described below.
- Every time you execute a command, the third part shows instructions on how to execute it, while when you don't execute any command, it shows the identity of the object under the crosshair, depending on the active statuses.
- In the *Profile* and *Cross Sections* workspaces, the fourth part shows information on the current point of the selected line.

Input Form

Many commands require from you to specify a numerical quantity (coordinates, angle, percentage). *Tessera* enables you to input the quantity in two ways. You can either use the mouse to select a point on the drawing area or you can type the quantity in the relevant fields of the dialogue box of the *Input Form* command.

When the input form is available in the current command, the middle part shows the relevant button.

🛒 Input form

The *Input Form* is a dialogue box, whose form depends on the command that is being executed. Some of these forms are shown in the figure:

Specify X, Y 🔀	Angle 🔀	Percentage 🔀
× 587010.451 × 4555494.760	Angle: 0.000	Percentage: 100.000
OK Cancel	OK Cancel	OK Cancel

How to display the input form

- 1. Execute the desired command until the program prompts you to enter the relevant quantity.
- 2. Press *Enter*, or use the left mouse button to click the *Input Form* button on the status bar.
- 3. Type the quantity in the respective field/s.
- 4. Click *OK* to exit the form.

The *Input Form* is a dialogue box.

6.6 Managing the Program Window

The window of the program has the same features as any other window of *Windows*. You can *maximize* it, so as to occupy the full screen, *minimize* it, so as to appear as a button on the Windows task bar, or close it. You can do all of the above by clicking each time the appropriate button on the title bar. You can also restore the window, so as to occupy only part of the screen. In this case, you can also move the window anywhere on the screen, by using the drag-and-drop feature after you have positioned the mouse pointer anywhere on the title bar. You can even change the window size by moving the pointer at the borders of the window (the pointer changes into one of the forms shown below) \leftrightarrow \checkmark and by using the drag-and-drop feature.

6.7 The Dialogue Boxes

The dialogue boxes enable you to set the program parameters. They appear when you execute certain commands. A dialogue box is comprised of a box that has many objects, such as buttons, text fields, option fields, which correspond to settings and are grouped in groups and tabs.

General Option s		×
General Options ASCII DXF Enviroment Display Antialiasing ✓ ✓ CPU ✓ Graphics card ×4 ✓ General Gamma correction 2.2 ✓ Use only CPU for graphics	Regional Settings Cross Sections Profile 3D Data input Angle input on intersections O Degrees O Degrees Image: Grad Image: Grad Image: Grad	x
Fixed text font Change		
	OK Cancel	

You can select and set any item with the mouse or the keyboard. Use the *Tab* or the *Shift+Tab* keys to go successively from one field or button to the next or to the previous one, respectively. The item surrounded by a dashed line is the item you are currently using.

When a dialogue box is open, you don't have access to the items of the program's main screen. To perform any action on the main screen, first you must close the dialogue box and return to the main screen.

To maximize, minimize or move a dialogue box, proceed as you would do in the case of a program window.

Most dialogue boxes offer you at all times two main possibilities. You can either close the dialogue box and cancel the settings by clicking *Cancel*, or you can close the box and accept the changes by clicking *OK*.

Some dialogue boxes have only one button, the Close button. In this case, to exit the dialogue box you must first accept the changes that you have made.

The exit button on the title bar and the Alt+F4 or Esc keys close the dialogue box, but they do not ensure that your settings will be stored this depends on the particular dialogue box.

Tab

When a dialogue box includes many options, for your own convenience, these options

are usually grouped in tabs. When you select a tab, all options in this tab will be displayed in the dialogue box. The title of the tab appears on the top of the tab.

To move between tabs, use the left mouse button to click the title and activate the tab. To do the same with the keyboard, activate any tab and then select the desired tab with the left and right arrow buttons.

Group

The options – settings that you can make are listed in groups in every tab. To distinguish them visually, the groups are surrounded by a frame on the top of which they bear a distinctive title.

Buttons

The buttons in a dialogue box usually display a new dialogue box or carry out an

operation. <u>Change</u>. To activate a button, simply left-click the button (*button press*) or activate the button and press *Enter*.

Slide Bars

These are comprised of a longitudinal bar with an adjustment button. Use the slide bars to set the amount of a quantity.

To set the amount of a quantity, drag the button of the bar until the quantity reaches the desired amount and then release the left mouse button. You can do the same with the up, down, right and left arrow keys when the bar is active.

Text Fields

The text fields are rectangular boxes, usually white. In a text field you can type text or numbers, depending on the kind of the setting. For your guidance, next to the fields (on the right or on the left) a description of the quantity you define as well as the unit used, are indicated.

To type inside a text field, first you must activate it. You can activate the field by using the keyboard or the left mouse button. In all cases, you must first wait for the cursor to appear (a flashing line inside the field) or for the existing text to be highlighted.

Options Lists



When there is a number of options in a field, usually the field offers a list of the available options. You can also type the option in the current field. Activate the field with the mouse or the keyboard and then type the option. If you type it correctly, then the option will appear highlighted in the options list. You may even select the option from the list, by using the up and down buttons.

Preview Fields

Sometimes the options lists are linked to certain preview fields. You cannot intervene in the preview fields you cannot even select them with the mouse. They only show you the result that you will get if you accept the settings that you have made.

Drop-DownLists

When the list field is active, you can use the up and down arrows to scroll through the options without displaying the list.

Check boxes

Use them to choose one of the available options or to select whether a setting shall apply or not. They are displayed as a circle or a box.

A white box corresponds to every option. If the box is empty (inactive) then the setting shall not apply. If the box is enabled (ticked), the setting shall apply. You cannot check the disabled options, which appear gray instead of black. To activate or deactivate a check box, left-click inside the box or select the check box and press the *Spacebar* key.

۲

If it is mandatory to choose one setting out of various available settings, you will find these settings in the same group of a list. Next to the settings there is a circular check box. If the circle is empty, then the corresponding setting shall not apply; the opposite occurs when the circle is active (there is a dot inside the circle). Use the up and down arrow keys of the keyboard to select (check) the desired setting from the current group of settings.

6.8 The Windows

The execution of multiple commands results in the display of one or more windows.

Properties 🛛 🛛					
Drawing line [Base]					
Property	Value				
Layer	Base 💌				
Color	White				
Line width	0.1 mm				
Line type	Continuous				
Line type scale	1.000				
Line type inversion	No				
Closed shape	No				
Hatch	Empty				
Line length	1463.147				
Inner angle	0.000				
Points	2				

The window is a screen area that you can move, open and close, just like you would do in the case of a program window. When you open more than one window, you cannot work in all windows at the same time, you can only work in the current window. The program windows usually contain lists of fields with data. In most windows you can change the content of the fields. In the case of a text field, leftclick to activate the field and then type a new value or text, just like you would do in a dialogue box. There are fields where you do not have to type anything. These fields have lists of preset values. You can choose the desired value from the relevant list. A button with three dots (...) on the right of an active field means that when you press this button a dialogue box shall appear.

Management Windows

These are windows that carry out a large number of operations. These windows offer additional features and possibilities, but you can manage them just like the common windows.

yers						
lew 🗙 Delete						
Layer	Color	Line type	Line width	Visible	Selectable	Printable
Base	White	Continuo	0.1 mm	``	Z	<u>چ</u>
	lew X Delete Layer Base	lew X Delete Layer Color Base White	lew X Delete Layer Color Line type Base White Continuou	ew Color Line type Line width Base White Continuou 0.1 mm	lew Color Line type Line width Visible Base White Continuou 0.1 mm	lew X Delete Layer Color Line type Line width Visible Selectable Base White Continuou 0.1 mm 说 🔀

You can change collectively certain fields that belong to the same group by selecting them all together and then adjusting the property. The settings you make for one field shall apply to the next fields. There are also standard fields, in which usually an icon is displayed. To change the property that the field controls, use the mouse to doubleclick the field.

The management fields may also contain buttons, which have the same function as the buttons of the program main screen toolbars.

6.9 Error - Confirmation Messages

When an operation is being carried out, *Tessera* communicates with you by displaying various messages on the screen. These messages are actually special dialogue boxes, but they do not have the same form as the common dialogue boxes.

Error – Warning Messages

Warning	×
You must select a ro	ad.
OK	

These messages appear either when an error has occurred and the program cannot continue executing the command, or to inform you that a procedure has finished.

These dialogue boxes have only one button that closes the box after you have read the message.

Confirmation Messages

These are displayed when you ask the program to carry out an irreversible operation. In this case, the program will show you a message, asking you to confirm the operation (*Yes* or *OK* buttons) or to cancel the operation (*Cancel* or *No* buttons) by clicking the relevant buttons.

Warning	×		
?	Do you want Profile of road "Road 1" to be updated with terrain, diagrams, tangent, structures;		
	<u>Y</u> es <u>N</u> o		

6.10 Executing Commands

In *Tessera*, there are three ways to select a command:

- 1. You can use the mouse to choose a command from a *drop-down menu* or a shortcut menu.
- 2. You can use the mouse to click a button on the toolbars.
- 3. You can press the *auxiliary keys* that correspond to the particular command.

To stop the execution of a command, press the *Esc* key or click the right mouse button.

6.11 Using the Shortcut Menus

When you click with the right mouse button in the drawing area, shortcut menus appear on the screen. These menus enable you to select very quickly certain operations. With certain keyboards you can also display the shortcut menus by pressing the relevant key. The commands contained in the shortcut menus vary, meaning that the displayed menu and its options depend on whether an item has been selected and on the nature of this item.

6.12 Undo and Redo of Commands

If you execute a command by mistake, in most cases you can undo it. You can undo either only your last action or various previous operations. You can also redo certain actions that you have undone accidentally.

How to Undo a Command

From the *Edit* menu, click *Undo*, or press the *Ctrl+Z* keys, or click the button on the main toolbar. If desired, you can display the drop-down list of this button. The list contains the commands that you have executed after you last started the program. Select the commands you wish to undo.

How to Restore a Command

From the *Edit* menu click *Redo*, or press the *Shift+Ctrl+Z* keys, or click the button on the main toolbar. If desired, you can display the drop-down list of this button. The list contains the commands that you have undone. Select the commands you wish to restore.

6.13 Specifying Points

When you execute a large number of commands, e.g. to import lines, you must specify points. In this case, the form of the crosshair changes and the message *Specify point* is shown on the status bar. This means that you must specify the *X*, *Y* coordinates for every point by using one of the available methods offered by the program. You can use the mouse to specify a point by left-clicking inside the drawing area at the desired point or you can input the absolute coordinates in the *Input form*.

Coordinates System

Tessera uses a Cartesian coordinate system. This system has two axes, x and y. When you input coordinates values, you specify the distance (in units) and the direction (+ or -) of a point along the X,Y axes with respect to the start of the axis (0,0). By default, X is the horizontal axis and Y is the vertical axis. When you create boundaries, you specify the chainage and the distance from the road axis.

To View the Coordinates

The absolute coordinates for the current position of the crosshair are displayed on the left of the *Status Bar*. The coordinates follow the crosshair and change accordingly.

For most lines you can view the coordinates of their points from the *Properties window,* either directly or by using the Points command in the box of the *Properties command*.

Input of Absolute Coordinates

The input of the absolute coordinates is very simple.

To input the absolute coordinates directly:

- 1. Run the desired command until the program prompts you to specify one or more points.
- 2. Press *Enter* to display the coordinates *Input form* or click the relevant button on the status bar **F**Input form.
- 3. Type the χ and γ coordinates in the respective fields.
- 4. Click *OK* to exit the Input form.

If you wish to specify further points, repeat the procedure.

Accurate Design

Tessera enables you to snap objects for easy and accurate design. By using these tools, you can design with accuracy, without having to input coordinates or make difficult calculations. You can also use the search tools to find instantly information on the drawing and its objects.

Grid

The grid is a squared set of lines that covers the whole drawing area. Its use is similar to the use of a transparent graph paper over your paper drawing. The grid enables you to align objects and to visually estimate the real distances. When you work in the *Profile* and *Cross Sections* workspaces, the grid will not be printed on paper. The size of the grid is adjusted automatically when you zoom in or out, depending on the scale.

Snap Feature

The snap feature is a quick way to locate or specify, depending on the current operation, the exact position of a point without knowing its exact coordinates. Therefore, this method is very accurate and convenient.

You can use the snap feature anytime *Tessera* asks you to specify a point or a size which can be specified by selecting a point on the screen, e.g. the rotation angle of an object. You can enable one or more snap types at the same time. The snap feature remains enabled until you disable it.

Distance and Angle Measurement



You can view the following information between two specified points.

- 1. The distance between the two points.
- 2. The angle of the straight part with respect to the horizontal axis, measured both counterclockwise and clockwise.
- 3. The distances on the X and Y axes (Dx and Dy respectively).

This information will help you verify the accuracy of your data.

You can also determine the number of the information that you will obtain. Namely, you can either perform a simple measurement of the distance and view the distance and the values of the Dx and Dy on the third section of the status bar, or you can perform a *full* measurement. In this case, the values shown on the status bar are the same as the values of the simple measurement. The values are also displayed on the screen, together with the value of the angle with respect to the horizontal axis.

To select the type of measurement

- 1. From the *Tools* menu, select the *General Options* command.
- 2. In the resulting dialogue box, select the *Display* tab.
- 3. In the *Measure Distance* group, select *Full* or *Simple*.
- 4. Click *OK* to close the dialogue box.

To measure a distance

1. From the Display menu select Measure Distance, or press the Alt+W keys, or click

the button \swarrow on the main toolbar.

2. Set the first and the second point of the distance you wish to measure.

Tessera will display the information, as described above

Distance: 1466.139 Dx: 779.081 Dy: -1242.013

6.14 Objects

Selecting Objects

Before editing the objects in your file, you must create a set of selected objects. This set may be comprised of only one object or it can be a set of multiple objects: for example all objects of the same color or all objects of the same group or category. These sets must be created *before running an editing command*. You can select objects in one of the following ways.

1. Use the mouse to select the objects and then run an editing command.

2. Run a command that creates a set of objects. Then run an editing command.

Whatever the method, when you select an editing command, *Tessera* will search for objects. There are additional commands that enable you to select drawing elements.

Selecting Objects with the Mouse

The easiest way to create a set of selected objects is to use the mouse.

How to select an object with the mouse

- 1. Activate the mode of the object you wish to select (e.g. *Drawing* mode in the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace).
- 2. Position the crosshair with the bounding box in such a way, so as to display the object category on the status bar. You can generally do that if you position the mouse pointer over the object (over a part of the object or over the line connecting parts of the object), e.g. to select a *Road* you must position the mouse pointer over a *PI*, to select a *Frame to Print* position the mouse pointer over a point within the frame.
- 3. Click the left mouse button.

The selected object will be highlighted on the screen.



By default, if you select another object with the same procedure, this object will be added to the existing set. If you want to add an object that you select to the existing set, go to the *Tools* menu \rightarrow *General Options* \rightarrow *Environment* \rightarrow *Multiple selection* and activate *Select with Ctrl*. When you select an object by using this option, the existing selection set is cleared and only the new object is selected. If you select an object by pressing and holding down the *Ctrl* key, this object is added to the existing set. On the contrary, if you activate *Select without Ctrl*, the multiple selection of objects is performed without pressing any key, only by clicking the left mouse button.

Selection Box

You can select objects by enclosing them in a selection box. A *selection box* is a rectangular field that you can form within the drawing area, by defining its two opposite corners. The *order* in which you will define the corners is important, because it determines which objects will be selected. If you create the selection box from left to right, the selected objects will be those having all their points inside the box. If you create the selection box from right to left, the selected objects will be those having at

least one point inside this box.

Deselect All

To deselect all of the selected objects, go to the *Edit* menu and select *Deselect all*.

To deselect all of the selected objects from the *Edit* menu or from the shortcut menu that appears when you right-click in the drawing area, click *Deselect All* or press the *Shift+Ctrl+N* keys.

If *Select with Ctrl* is enabled in the dialogue box of the *General Options* command, you can also deselect all objects by left-clicking on an empty spot in the drawing area.

Editing Points of Objects

When selected, the object is highlighted and its points are indicated by a box. For example, when you select a line, a box appears at every end of the lines where the line points are.

If you want to use the points in order to edit an object, select the point that enables you to run the desired editing command. To select the point of an object, simply click the left mouse with the crosshair over the desired point. The current point is highlighted and is filled with a red color. To move between the points of an object, use

the left and right arrow keys while holding down the Ctrl key, or use the buttons

on the main toolbar.

You can edit points with the mouse in order to combine main editing commands, such as *Move*, *Zoom*, etc. To activate a selected point, click again the left mouse button with the crosshair over the point.

6.15 Object Properties

Every object that you create in *Tessera* has a set of properties. These properties are displayed in the *Properties* window. The *Horizontal Alignment* workspace gives you easy access to the main properties of the objects. You can also access the properties from the *Object properties* toolbar. The best way, however, to modify the properties of a set of objects, is to use the properties window.

Properties 🛛 🛛					
Road (Road 1) , PI PI2					
Property	Value				
PI Name	PI2				
PIX	588262.373				
PLY	4555706.063				
PI ch	679.460				
Design Speed	60.000				
PI Data	Clothoid Circle Clothoid				
Angle b	146.531				
Angle g	33.469				
TS-ST CS-SC Tang PI-CC	166.830 66.830 85.278 9.388				
Maximum curve superelevation	7.000				

To View Object Properties

Go to the window of the Properties command to view and change the properties of one or more objects.

To view the properties of one or more objects

- 1. In the drawing area, select one or more objects whose properties you want to view.
- 2. From the *Display* menu, select *Properties* or press the *F11* key or click the button on the main toolbar.

You can also execute this command from the shortcut menu that appears when you right-click on the screen after you have selected an object.

The window lists all properties of the selected objects. It is comprised of two columns. The *Property* column shows the name of the property, while the *Value* column shows the current value of the property. Here you can change any modifiable property.

You can leave the properties window open while you are working. When you select an object, the *Properties* window will display the properties of the selected object. When you select objects of another category, the window will display the common properties of the selected objects. If no object is selected, the window displays the main properties, namely the layer, the color, the line type, the line width and the line type scale. If no object is selected and you select a new value from this window, then you specify the current settings for the new *drawing* elements.

To Edit Object Properties

You can change the properties of an object from the window of the *Properties* command. To change the values in this window, select the desired object and do one of the following:

- 1. Type a new value.
- 2. Select a value from a drop-down list.
- 3. Change the property through a dialogue box or a window.

To change the properties of one or more objects

- 1. From the *Display* menu, select the *Properties* command.
- 2. Select the object/s you wish to edit. In the window of the *Properties* command you can see all properties of the selected object or the common properties in the case of multiple selected objects.
- 3. Select the property you wish to change and type a new value, or select a value from a drop-down list. In some cases, when you select a property value, the button , will be displayed. If you click this button, you will be transferred to a dialogue box, where you can make the desired changes and then apply them by clicking the *OK* or *Apply* button of the box.

Main Object Properties

The objects that you create in *Tessera* have certain main properties, such as *color*, *line type*, *line type scale* and *line width*. These properties enable you to group together elements of your design, so as to facilitate the visual identification of these items, both on screen and on the printout. This makes the processing of the study easier and improves the appearance and quality of the end drawings.

Color

You can define a color separately for every object or generally for every category. Every color is characterized either by its parameters or by a predefined name. A set of objects can have the same color. You can use colors to distinguish instantly the objects on the screen. The program provides the main colors with default parameter values and a default name, but you can also define any other color you like.

To select a color for an object or a category, you can choose from the list one of the default colors or you can define a new color by clicking *Other*. The default colors are:

BLACK GREY BLUE DARK GREY GREEN LIGHT BLUE CYAN LIGHT GREEN RED LIGHT CYAN MAGENTA LIGHT RED BROWN LIGHT MAGENTA YELLOW

To Define a New Color
Color	<u>? ×</u>
Basic colors:	
<u>C</u> ustom colors:	··· 4
	Hu <u>e</u> : 160 <u>R</u> ed: 0
	Sat: 0 <u>G</u> reen: 0
Define Custom Colors >>	Color/Solid Lum: 0 Blue: 0
OK Cancel Layer	Add to Custom Colors

- 1. From the drop-down list of the *Color* property, which is displayed in the dialogue box of the *Properties* command, click *Other*.
- 2. In the dialogue box of the *Color* command, select a basic color or define a new color.
- 3. To define a new color, click the *Define custom colors* button. To define the details of the new color either fill-in the six fields on the bottom right part of the box or select the color from the palette on the top left part of the screen and adjust the brightness by using the slide bar on the right of the palette.
- 4. When you have finished, click the Add to custom colors button and then click OK.

Line Types and Line Type Scale

The line type is a repeated pattern of dashes, dots and spaces. The name and the definition of the line type describe a specific sequence of dashes and dots as well as the relevant sizes of the dashes and dots.

There are fifty-two line types in *Anadelta Tessera* and you can select the desired one from the drop-down list.



The line type scale is user-defined. The lower the value you set for the scale, the more the repetitions of the pattern per drawing unit. The default value is 1.0. The relative size of the dashes and dots is always proportional to the line type scale and their size on paper is always fixed, regardless of the print scale. Their on-screen size is always identical to their size on paper, according to the drawing scale.

Line Widths

There are six line widths in Anadelta Tessera.

— Layer	-
— Layer	
— 0.1 mm	
 — 0.2 mm	
— 0.3 mm	
 — 0.4 mm	
💻 0.5 mm	

This property adds width to the lines of your objects, both on screen and on the printout. With this item you can create thin or thicker lines, so as to distinguish them visually and to read your drawing easier, both on the screen and on the printed drawing.

The objects are printed according to their assigned value. The line width values are in millimeters and always fixed. The line width of the drawings you export to other file formats can be maintained. The line width also remains unchanged when you copy objects from one file to another.

6.16 Drawing View Options

Tessera provides many options that can help you control how your drawing will be displayed in the drawing area. The percentage of the drawing inside the drawing area is the zoom, while the point in the center of the drawing area is referred to as *center of view*. A particular zoom and observation point give you the view of your drawing. While you're processing your project, you can change the view and go quickly from one area of your drawing to another. You can zoom in or out the image of your drawing that is displayed inside the drawing area or to pan it, to save a particular view and to recall it again in the future. The absolute sizes of the drawing will not be affected when you change the zoom or the center of view, only the way in which the drawing is displayed within the drawing area will change.

Using the Zoom and Pan Commands

The easiest way to change the view is to use one of the many zoom features of *Tessera* in order to increase or decrease the scale of the drawing.

Real-Time Zoom and Pan

The *Zoom* and *Pan* commands of *Tessera* enable you to watch in real time how the view changes. With the *Zoom* command, you can zoom in or out on the drawing by rolling the mouse wheel.

How to Zoom in real time

Roll the mouse wheel. To increase the image scale (*zoom in*), roll the mouse wheel up and to decrease the scale (*zoom out*) roll the mouse wheel down. You can do the same by pressing the + and - keys respectively.

With the Pan command, you can change the center of view.

How to Pan in real time

- 1. Place the crosshair inside the drawing area.
- 2. Click the mouse wheel.
- 3. Hold the mouse wheel down and move the pointer (within the limits of the drawing area), until you view the desired part of your drawing. You can do the same by pressing the up, down, right and left arrow keys.

The Zoom Window Command

You can *zoom* in very quickly on an area of your drawing if you define its borders.

The area that you define is centered in the new view. The size of the sides of the defined window is proportional to the size of the drawing area.

To zoom in on an area by defining its borders

1. From the *Display* menu, run the *Zoom Window* command, or press the *Alt+Z* key, or

click the button 💹 on the main toolbar. The mouse pointer turns into a window.

2. Set one corner of the area by clicking the left mouse button.

3. Set the opposite corner.

You can also run this command from the shortcut menu that appears when you rightclick in the drawing area Zoom Window.

To Display the Previous View

When you're working on small parts of your drawing, you will have to *zoom out* frequently to view your whole project. The *Previous Zoom* command restores quickly the previous view.

Tessera can save an indefinite number of previous views. The *Previous Zoom* command restores only the zoom scale and the center of view and has no effect on the settings or properties of the objects.

To return to the previous view

From the *Display* menu, run the *Previous Zoom* command, or click the button *P* on the main toolbar.

To display the next view, run the *Next Zoom* command from the *Display* menu.

Centering the View to a Point

You can set a specific point in your drawing as the center of view. The *Locate Coordinates* command moves the view to a specific point in the center of the screen, without changing the zoom.

- To center the drawing within the drawing area
- 1. From the *Display* menu, run the *Locate Coordinates* command.
- 2. In the dialogue box that appears, type the coordinates of the point you wish to become the new center of view.
- 3. Click OK.

The view is shifted and the point that you have specified will be in the center of the drawing area.

Zoom on Selected Objects

In order to view on screen the desired objects, run the *Zoom on selected* command.

The *Zoom on selected* command changes the view so as to include all the userselected objects, displaying them with the highest zoom, in order to fit in the drawing area.

To display all the selected objects

- 1. Select the objects you wish to be displayed inside the drawing area.
- 2. From the *Display* menu run the *Zoom* on *selected* command or press the κ key.

Zoom on Project's Limits

To adjust the view on your project's limits, select the *Zoom extent* command.

The view that you get with the *Zoom extent* command includes all the objects of your project with the highest zoom, so as to fit in the drawing area.

To display the whole project

From the *Display* menu, run the *Zoom extent* command, or press the *F4* key, or click

the button 🔎 on the main toolbar.

Saved Views

You can save a view to recall it at a future time. *Tessera* can save up to four (4) different views.

Saving a Reference Point

When you save a view, the following data are also saved automatically:

- 1. The center of view.
- 2. The zoom coefficient.

To save a reference point

- 1. From the *Display* menu, select the *Reference points* submenu.
- 2. From the *Reference points* submenu, select *Insert* and then choose one of the four available points.

Restoring a Reference Point

You can recall a saved view any time you need to use it.

To recall a saved reference point

- 1. From the *Display* menu, select the *Reference points* submenu.
- 2. From the *Reference points* submenu, select the *Select* submenu and then choose one of the saved views.

6.17 Modifying the Program Options

You can modify many settings of the *Tessera* window from the dialogue box of the *General Options* command of the *Tools* menu. For example, you can specify the object selection method. Experiment with the available options until you create an environment that enables you to work with the maximum speed and accuracy. The settings that you can select in the tabs below can be applied to any file, even to a new project.

To change the options of Tessera

- 1. From the *Tools* menu, select the *General Options* command.
- 2. From the dialogue box of the *General Options* command, choose a tab and select the settings you wish to change.
- 3. When you have made your options, click OK.

Environment Options

The *Environment* tab that you can find in the dialogue box of the *General Options* command, controls the object selection method and the printing parameters.

General Options	×
ASCII DXF Enviroment Display Terrain	Regional Settings Cross Sections Profile 3D
Multiple selection Select with Ctrl Select without Ctrl	Drawings Printing Page definition O Auto O From user
Files Auto save every 30 minutes. File type registration .ADF Automatic check for new version	Hints Automatically show Automatically hide Automatically hide 8.0 seconds
	OK Cancel

You can make the following settings:

- 1. Method of multiple object selection.
- 2. Printing page definition.
- 3. Registration of .ADF files with *Tessera*.

Display Options

The *Display* tab in the dialogue box of the *General Options* command controls mainly the way in which the main items of the program are displayed. For example, you can modify the type and size of the fonts that will be used when viewing fixed texts.

General Options	×
ASCII D Enviroment Display Terra Antialiasing CPU Graphics card x4	XF Regional Settings in Cross Sections Profile 3D Data input Angle input on intersections © Degrees © Grad
General Gamma correction 2.2	ıge
	OK Cancel

You can make the following settings:

- 1. Antialiasing of figures.
- 2. Define the number of data shown when measuring the distance.
- 3. Select the fixed text font.
- 4. Filling the Select Objects/Zoom quadrilateral (window).

Text Font

You can define a font and a font size for the on-screen texts. Select the font from

the *Font* dialogue box that appears when you click the button ______, in the *Display* tab of the *General Options* dialogue box.

To change the font or the font size – To use bold or italics in selected text or numbers

Font				<u>?</u> ×
Eont: Aria Arial Arial Black Arial Black Arial Narrow Arial Rounded MT Bok Arial Unicode MS BankGothic Lt BT BankGothic Md BT	Font style: Regular Italic Bold Bold Italic	<u>S</u> ize: 5 9 10 11 12 14 16	A	OK Cancel
	Sample AaBbAx Bp Script: Greek		-	

- 1. Select the desired font in the *Font* dialogue box of the *Font list*, and then select the desired Script from the *Script* list.
- 2. From the Size list, select the desired font size.
- 3. From the *Style* list, select the desired style.

The *Sample* preview field shows how the text will be displayed according to your settings.

Terrain Options

The *Terrain* tab in the dialogue box of the *General Options* command contains settings for the terrain.

Ge	neral Options						×
	ASCII Enviroment Display	DXF Terrain	Cross	Sections	Regional Se	ttings 3D	
	Insert / Delete Triangulation when inser Immediately After insertion Point inclusion when inser Up to 0.5 degr	ting Breaklines erting Breaklines rees declination	/ Bounda	aries			
	Volumes Identity regions with volu 1 c.m.	ime more than		[0K	Cancel	

The settings included in this tab are:

- Instant triangulation when inserting Breaklines.
- Definition of the variation of the points that will be included automatically when inserting Breaklines or Boundaries.
- Definition of the highest value in m3 for the identification of the volumetric regions.

Cross section Options

The *Cross Section* dialogue box of the *General Options* command contains the Cross Sections settings.

ASCII D>	KF Regional Settings
enviroment Display Terrai	n Cross Sections Profile 3D
□ Decimal digits on screen	ASCII export decimal points
when editing lines	3 for Dx from axis and
when viewing Dx, Dh and	2 Elevations P
elevations	for Chainage 3
when viewing superelevations	
New project typical families :	0 2008.02.13\Csec\Default.ATE
New project's typical cross sections:	0 2008.02.13\Csec\Default.ATD
New project's drawings library :	0 2008.02.13\Csec\Default.ADR
New project wall library :	0 2008.02.13\Csec\Default.AST

The settings that you can make in the above tab are:

Set the decimal digits that appear on screen:

- when editing lines.
- when viewing Dx, Dh and elevations.
- when viewing superelevations.

Set the decimal digits for export to Ascii files:

- for Dx from axis and elevations.
- for chainage.

Select the files from which the following are obtained:

- the typical families for a new project.
- the typical cross sections for a new project.
- the drawings library for a new project.
- the walls library for a new project.

Profile Options

The *Profile* tab that appears in the dialogue box of the *General Options* command contains the Profile settings.

ASCII	DXF		Regional Settings
nviroment Displa	y Terrain	Cross Sections	Pronie 3D
Decimal digits on scre	en	_ □ Decimal digits in AS(
on Dx display	3	on Dx display	3
on Dy display	3	on Dy display	3
on slope display	2	on slope display	
	3		3
Moving Step for unfreez	ed 0.500		
segments (m)			
Automatic check of Cha input form	ainage in 🔽		

The settings you can make in this tab are:

Set the decimal digits that are displayed on screen:

- on Dx display.
- on Dy display.
- on slope display.

Set the decimal digits for export to Ascii files:

- on Dx.
- on Dy.
- on slopes.
- Set the moving step for unfreezed segments.
- Enable the automatic check when inputting data based on chainage.

Ascii Options

The *Ascii* tab in dialogue box of the *General Options* command contains settings for data export to Ascii files.

General Op	tions					×
Environ	ient ASCII	Display	Terrain DXF	Cross Section	ns Profile Regional Setting	3D gs
C Auto C Win C Dos	o dows For : Format	mat				
Angles Deg Gra	in prees ds		Azimuth by • X axis • Y axis			
					ОК	Cancel

The settings you can make in this tab are:

- Selection of the text format (Windows / Dos) for the import or export of text files (For compatibility with older versions).
- Selection of the way the angles will be displayed.
- Selection of the way the angles will be displayed with respect to the x or y axes.

DXF Options

The *Dxf* tab in the dialogue box of the *General Options* command contains settings for data import from Dxf files.

Ge	neral Options					×
	Enviroment ASCII	Display	Terrain DXF	Cross Sections	Profile Regional Settings	3D
	General Options	orts				
				[OK	Cancel

Select *Import Viewports* when a file is not imported correctly.

6.18 Project Management

The communication between the three workspaces and the transfer of data from one workspace to another is done from the *Project Management* dialogue box.

🐺 Project Manageme	ent				_ 🗆 ×
Rename 🗙 Delete	•				
Road Road 1	Horizontal Alignment 84 stations	Profile not existant	Cross Sections non existant	Composite Cross Sect non existant	i
Updates Selected roa Quick update From Horizonta	ad information al Alignment to Profile Horizontal Alignment		Jpdate From Horizontal Alignment	To Profile	
From Horizont From Profile to From Cross Se Update 3D	al Alignment to Cross Sec Cross Sections ections to Horizontal Align	ment	Terrain update Update diagrams Update road profile Terrain on Pavement Line Terrain on Roadway Line Update structures	,	🔽 Update
					ОК

To display the box, click the button on the main toolbar or execute the *Manage* command from the menu *Project*. In the dialogue box you can request the update of one workspace from another (e.g. *from Horizontal Alignment to Profile*). To update, first select the desired road from the list on the top part of the box. Next, if you wish to update with the main options, click the corresponding button of the *Quick Update* group in the *Updates* tab. This deletes the old data and creates all data from the beginning. Or, in the *Update* group, select from the two drop-down lists the workspaces where the updates will take place. All the updates that are to take place will be displayed in the checklist under the drop-down lists. You can uncheck any update you do not want to take place. In all cases, click the *Update* button, to carry out the update.

Selected Road Information

Once you have selected the road as described above and gone to the *Selected road information* tab, this dialogue box informs you on the updates that must take place so that the road is synchronized in all three workspaces.

Update Cross Sections from Horizontal Alignment

If, from the drop-down lists of the Update group, you select to update from *Horizontal Alignment* to *Cross Sections*, the resulting options are:

- *Terrain Update:* Only if this command is active, the *Terrain* is updated. In case this update has already been performed once and you wish to update again, click the *Update* button. In the resulting dialogue box you can specify the update as well as the line to which the terrain points will be transferred.
- *Update Diagrams:* Select this command if you modify any of the diagrams in the *Horizontal Alignment* mode and you wish to update the corresponding ones in the *Cross Sections*.
- Update Cross Sections: Select this option to update the cross sections. A dialogue

box appears in which you can specify the actions to be performed.

The following dialogue box includes all the above windows that appear for the *Updates* (*Terrain Update, Update Cross Sections*). Namely, if you select only the *Terrain Update*, the window appearing includes the *Terrain Update* and *Cross section compare* groups, if you select only the *Update Cross Section*, the window includes the *Cross Section Synchronization* and *Cross section compare* groups. If you select to update all fields (*Terrain Update, Update, Update Diagrams, Update Cross Sections*) the following window appears.

Update cross sections
Terrain update
Insert points at line
NGD Natural Ground
Recreate cross sections
Cross Sections synchronization
🗖 Add new
🗖 Delete old
Cross section compare
 with Chainage
🔿 by Name
OK Cancel

In this window, you can select from the drop-down list of the *Terrain Update* group the line onto which you want to insert the terrain points. With the *Recreate cross sections* option the program deletes any existing cross sections and updates again the terrain.

In case new cross sections have been inserted in the *Horizontal Alignment* mode, you can select the *Add new* field in the *Cross section synchronization*, in order to add these new cross sections to the *Cross sections mode*, without affecting the existing cross sections. In the opposite case, namely if you delete certain cross sections from the *Horizontal Alignment*, then in the aforementioned group you must select the *Delete old* field, in order to delete these cross sections without affecting the remaining ones. Finally, in the *Cross section compare* group, you can select the way in which cross

sections will be updated, i.e. either based on the *Chainage* or the *Name*.

Update Cross Sections from Profile

If, in the *Update* group, you select from the drop-down lists to update *from Profile to Cross Sections*, the resulting options are:

- Update Road Profile: This option transfers the road profile elevations to the Cross sections mode.
- *Create Cross Sections:* Deletes any existing cross sections and creates new ones, where the terrain is an horizontal straight section that crosses the axis and has an elevation equal to the *Terrain Profile*.
- *Update Diagrams:* Select this command if you modify any of the diagrams in the Profile mode and you wish to update the corresponding ones in the *Cross Sections*.

Update Profile from Horizontal Alignment

If, in the Update group, you select from the drop-down lists to update from the

Horizontal Alignment to Profile, the resulting options are:

- *Terrain Update:* Only if this command is enabled, the *Terrain* is updated.
- *Update Diagrams:* Select this command if you modify any of the diagrams in the *Horizontal Alignment* mode and you wish to update the corresponding ones in the *Cross Sections*.
- *Update Road Profile:* In case you have deleted the road profile from the Profile, you can transfer it from the *Horizontal Alignment* but only if you first update the *Horizontal Alignment from the Profile*.
- *Terrain on Pavement line:* Provided that the widths of the road design have been defined correctly (Road Design → Road Preferences → Widths tab), you can transfer the *Pavement* lines to the *Profile* by selecting this command.
- *Terrain on Roadway line:* Here too, you must have defined correctly the widths in order to be able to transfer the *Roadway* lines to the *Profile* mode.
- Update structures: This command updates the structures in the Profile.

Update Profile from Cross sections

If, in the *Update* group, you select from the drop-down lists to update *from Cross Sections to Profile*, the resulting options are:

- Terrain Update: This command updates the Terrain.
- *Update Diagrams:* Select this command if you modify any of the diagrams in the *Cross section* mode and you wish to update the corresponding ones in the *Profile*.
- *Remote Update:* Use this command to display in the *Profile* elevations of characteristic *Cross sections* points (e.g. ditch deep point, pavement edge, etc.).

When you select the *Remote Update* command the following dialogue box appears:

Update Profile	×
Profile line to create	
New line	
from reference line	
H : from reference line A/A	
NGD Natural Ground 💽 1 🚖	
Dx: 0	
I from axis 3.750 m	
○ from diagram	
Superelevation diagram, left 🔽	
🗖 Invert Diagram Signs	
○ from reference point	
C from flag	
H and Dx form	
L. Pavement	
OK Cancel	

In this window, type in the *Profile line to create* field the desired name of the new line that will be inserted into the profile.

- If the *from reference line* group is activated, the available fields will be:
 - *H: from reference line:* From the resulting drop-down list select the line whose elevations you wish to transfer to the profile diagram.

- *A/A:* In case there are more than one lines of the same group, select which line will be the reference line based on their order of import.
- *From axis:* Specify the distance from the road axis where the elevations of the reference line points will be obtained.
- *From diagram:* Select the diagram that will define the distance where the elevations will be obtained. *Invert diagram signs:* When diagrams referring to the left part of the cross section are going to be used, you must activate this field so that their values can be assigned to the left part of the cross section.
- *From reference point:* Depending on the selected reference line, you can specify which point of this line will transfer its elevation to the *Profile*.
- *Dx:* If you have selected *From diagram* or *From Reference Point*, you can define here an extra offset to the distance of the point whose elevation will be transferred to the *Profile*.
- From the *H* and *Dx* from the drop-down list of the from flag group, you can select the cross section point whose elevation will appear in the *Profile*.

Update Horizontal Alignment from Profile

If, in the *Update* group, you select from the drop-down lists to update *from Profile to Horizontal Alignment*, the resulting options are:

- Update Road Profile: This option transfers the PIs of the tangent curve to the Horizontal Alignment.
- Update structures: This option updates the structures in the Horizontal Alignment.

Update Horizontal Alignment from Cross sections

If, in the *Update* group, you select from the drop-down lists to update *from Cross Sections to Horizontal Alignment*, the resulting options are:

• *Update roadlines:* This update transfers the roadlines, e.g. the *Pavement* roadlines and the *Roadway* roadlines, to the *Horizontal Alignment* mode. A main prerequisite for this update is the correct placement of the flags in the *Cross sections*.

6.19 Saving a File

While working on a file, you must save it at regular intervals. If you want to create a new copy of your file without altering the original file, you can save it under a different name.

To save a file:

1. From the *File* menu, select the *Save* command, or press the *Ctrl+S* keys, or click the

button **I** on the main toolbar . If you have already saved and named your file, *Tessera* automatically saves the changes you have made and you can continue editing the file. If this is the first time you save the file, the *Save as* dialogue box appears on the screen.

- 2. In the *File Name* field of the *Save as* dialogue box, type the new name of the file (the file extension is not required).
- 3. Click the *Save* button.

Tessera files have the .ADF extension.

6.20 How to Select and Save Files

The program will frequently ask you to give the path and the name of a file. This enables the program to read the file and use its data, e.g. when you open a program file or when inputting data.

Open					<u>? ×</u>
Look jn:	Projects		G 🦸 🖻 🖽		
My Recent Documents Desktop My Documents My Computer	Backup Demo1.ADF Demo2.ADF				
My Network	File <u>n</u> ame:	Demo1.ADF	•	<u>O</u> pen	
Places	Files of type:	Tessera files	•	Cancel	

You can do this from the Open dialogue box.

In this box, first you must go to the location (drive, folder, subfolder) where your file is. To do this, use the buttons and lists of the box.

To open a file, type the full path and name of the file in the *File* name field on the bottom part of the box and click the *Open* button. You can also open a file by double-clicking its name in the *Files* field or by clicking once and then clicking the *Open* button.

The files field, apart from the files of the current subfolder, also contains the subfolders included in the current subfolder. To open a subfolder, select it and press *Enter* or double-click with the mouse.

In the *File Name* field, you can enter the full name of the file or you can activate the drop-down list of the field. The list includes the files you have opened recently, since you last started the program. You can navigate inside this window by using the *PgDn* and *PgUp* arrows or the *Home* and *End* keys to go to the beginning or to the end of the window, respectively. Next press *Enter* to select the desired file and then press *Enter* again to open it. Of course, you can open the file far more quickly by double-clicking it. To cancel the selection, simply click the *Cancel* button or press the *Esc* key.

The *Save as* dialogue box has a similar function. To save a file, you must click the *Save* button.

6.21 Closing a File

The *Close* command closes the current file. If you have saved the changes you have made recently to the file, you can close *Tessera* without saving the file again. If you have not saved the changes, *Tessera* prompts you to do so, by displaying the relevant confirmation message.

- 1. On the Windows taskbar, left-click on the button that corresponds to the desired file, in order to display the file.
- 2. From the *File* menu, select the *Close* command or press the *Ctrl+F4* keys.

6.22 To Exit Tessera

The *Exit* command closes all open files and the program. If you have saved the changes you have made recently to all open files, you can close *Tessera* without saving the files again. You can also double-click the exit button on the title bar. If you have not saved the changes, *Tessera* prompts you to do so, by displaying the relevant confirmation message.

From the *File* menu, select *Exit* or press the *Alt+F4* keys.



7 Horizontal Alignment

7.1 The Horizontal Alignment Environment

7.1.1 Workspace

Every time you create a new file or open an existing one, you are transferred automatically to the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace. If you are in another workspace, you can return to the *Horizontal Alignment* by clicking the *Horizontal Alignment* tab at the bottom of the screen or by executing the *Horizontal Alignment* command from the *Display* menu.



At the top of the screen, you can see the familiar menu bar where you can find the *File, Edit, View, Project, Tools, Print* and *Help* menus, which contain commands that are common to all workspaces, as well as special commands that are displayed or can be used only in the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace. There are also three menus, *Drawing, Terrain,* and *Road Design,* which are displayed only when you are in this workspace. Below the menu bar, you will find the main toolbar and below the latter, you will find the *State* and *Horizontal Alignment* toolbars, which contain buttons that carry out basic operations. Right below these toolbars there is the *Object Properties* toolbar, where you set the properties of the objects, such as the color, the line type and the line width, the layer to which an existing drawing object belongs, the current terrain, as well as the properties that will be assigned to every new object that is being created. This toolbar does not have any buttons, only drop-down lists.

🛃 Drawing 💽 Terrain 🛷	Road 🖨 Print 🛛 🗟 🛒	🔺 🔺 📥 🚺	errain 1 📃 💌	- A 🗰 🗉	
White 🔽 🗌 –	Continuous		0.1 mm	▼ Base ▼	🖻

On the left part of the program's window, you will find the *Element Drawing* toolbar, whose functions refer to the creation of *Horizontal Alignment* objects. This toolbar offers access to the most common commands for the creation of elements referring to the design, terrain, road and printing pages.

If desired, you can maximize the drawing area so as to occupy the full screen of your computer. You can do this either by executing the *Full screen* command from the *Display* menu, or by pressing the Ctrl+Alt+V keys.

7.1.2 Workspace Modes

There are four modes in the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace. This allocation facilitates the user to insert, edit and process the elements of the design.

• Drawing Mode:

In this mode you can enter and edit any of the drawing objects, such as lines, circles, ellipses, arcs, texts, etc. In this mode only the drawing objects can be selected on the drawing screen and you can execute only commands referring to such objects.

- *Terrain* Mode: In this mode you can insert - edit the terrain elements of your project and create the terrain model.
- *Road* Mode: In this mode you can insert - edit the roads of your project, while you can also perform the road stationing and the formation of the roadlines.
- *Print* Mode:

Here you can specify the format, the elements that will be displayed and the part of your design that will be printed to the printer or the Plotter.

Mode Toolbar

Each of the four buttons on this toolbar corresponds to a mode. Every time you click one of these four buttons, a mode is activated and the other three modes are deactivated. It is possible to activate more than one mode.

How to activate multiple modes

Press and hold the *Shift* key and click the button that corresponds to the mode you wish to activate, maintaining active the already selected mode.

By default, the first three modes are always active every time you create a new *Tessera* file.

7.1.3 Categories of Objects

Every object you create belongs to a category of the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace. Most objects, even if they have a different shape, may belong to the same category. For example, a quadrilateral and a straight part are both drawing lines.

The object categories of the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace are described below. To view the identity of an object, either select the object and run the *Properties* command, or drag the crosshair over the object (the corresponding drawing mode must be active) and read its identity in the third part of the status bar.

Drawing Elements

1. *Drawing Line:* An open or closed zigzag line, comprised of one or more straight parts.

- 2. Circle: A circle.
- 3. Circular Arc: The part of a circle.

- 4. Ellipse: An ellipse.
- 5. Elliptical Arc: The part of an ellipse.
- 6. Text: A line of alphanumeric characters.
- 7. Clothoid: A line in clothoid shape.
- 8. Parabola: A line in parabolic shape.

The drawing elements are created by defining their main points, e.g. the centre and a point of a circle's circumference. These points are an integral part of the drawing lines and you can view and modify them at any time while editing your design.

Rendering/Terrain Elements

- 1. *Terrain Point:* A point whose position in space is defined by three numbers, the coordinates X,Y,Z.
- 2. Triangle: A triangular flat surface.
- 3. Breakline: A line on which the triangles always abut and they never intersect it.
- 4. Perimeter: A closed line demarcating an area that contains triangles.
- 5. Oasis: A closed line without any triangles.
- 6. Contour lines: Lines on which every point has the same elevation.

Road Elements

- 1. Road: It consists of PIs.
- 2. *PIs:* The points that define the sides of the road's tangent curve. The points of the PIs (e.g. radius, length of clothoid) determine the position and the form of the road axis. When you select a road, you actually select the closest PI.
- 3. *Roadway Lines:* These are lines, along the road axis, belonging to the roadway surface of the current road.
- 4. *Sideslope Lines:* These are straight lines, parallel to the road axis, belonging to the surface of the sideslopes on both sides of the current road.

You cannot create the *Roadway Lines* and the *Sideslope Lines* from the *Horizontal Alignment;* they are created automatically during the calculation of the road and the update from the *Cross Sections* workspace. You can, however, select them and set some of their main properties, display them on screen, use the snap feature on them and print them as part of your final drawing.

Print Elements

Page: A rectangular surface whose dimensions correspond to the dimensions of the paper page that you have set, always according to the print scale. The part of the design that is included in the selected page is the one that will be printed when you request a printout.

7.1.4 Horizontal Alignment Display Options

You can choose which object categories or which parts of the objects (e.g. line points) will be displayed on screen.

How to define how the objects are displayed

1. From the Display menu, run the Options command, or press the F2 key, or from the

Horizontal Alignment toolbar click the button . The *Horizontal Alignment Options* window appears on the screen.



The window consists of two parts. The object categories are displayed on the left part.

- 2. Select an object category.
- 3. If you want none of the elements of the category to be displayed, uncheck the box next to the category name on the left part of the window. If you want only some of the elements of a category to be displayed, select them from the right part of the window by ticking the corresponding check box, which is displayed next to their name.
- 4. To exit the window, click the exit button \blacksquare on the title bar of the window.

When the General option is ticked, the available options are:

- *Grid:* Shows or hides the grid.
- *Volumes:* This option opens the legend with the volumetric differences (fillings, cuttings, unalterables).
 - *Fillings:* Shows or hides the fillings.
 - Unalterable: Shows or hides the unalterables.
 - *Cuttings:* Shows or hides the cuttings.
 - *Shading:* Select this field to render the regions with hatch instead of shading.
 - *Surfaces:* Select this option to hide from the legend the surfaces that cover the fillings, the cuttings and the unalterables.
 - Legend: Shows or hides the Volumes legend.



When the Drawing option is ticked, the available options are:

- *Polyline Points:* Shows or hides the polyline points.
- *Layers:* This option includes all the available drawing layers that you can enable or disable.

Horizontal Alignment Op	itions 🗵
🗹 General	Points
🗹 Drawing	Point names
🗹 Terrains	Point Elevations
🗹 Terrain 1	🗹 Triangles
✓ Roads	Triangle faces
🗹 Road 1	🗹 Shading
🗹 Snap	Elevation Shading
	🗹 Boundaries
	🗹 Legend
	Slopes coloring
	🗹 Legend
	🗹 Breakline
	🗹 Boundaries
	🗹 Contour lines
	Contour Lines Elevations
	O Curves
	O Straight lines
	I

When the *Terrain* option is ticked, the available options are:

- Points: Shows or hides the Terrain points.
 - Point names: Shows the names of the Terrain points.

• Point elevations: Shows the elevations of the Terrain points.

When both of the above options are ticked, the names of the points are displayed above the bordeline and the elevations are displayed below the borderline.

• *Triangles:* Once the triangulation is performed, the resulting triangles are displayed.

- Triangle faces: Shows the faces of the triangles.
- Shading: This option shows the morphology of the terrain.
- Elevation shading: Shows the relief in a coloured presentation according to the

elevation of points.

- Boundaries: Shows or hides the boundaries of the elevational zones.
- *Legend*: Shows or hides the Elevation Shading legend.
- *Slopes coloring:* Shows the terrain slopes in a coloured presentation.
- Legend: Shows or hides the Slopes Coloring legend.

Note: The *Elevation Shading* cannot be displayed when the *Slopes Coloring* is displayed and vice versa.

- *Breakline:* Shows the breaklines.
- Boundaries: Shows the boundaries that have been drawn (Oases, Perimeters).
- *Contour lines:* You can display the contour lines once their calculation has been carried out.
 - Contour Lines Elevations: Shows the elevations of the contour lines.
 - With the *Curve* or *Straight Lines* option, you can define the way in which the contour lines will be rendered.

Horizontal Alignment Op	itions 🗵
 ☑ General ☑ Drawing ☑ Terrains ☑ Terrain 1 ☑ Roads ☑ Road 1 ☑ Snap 	 Filled Slopes coloring Tangent Profile PIs PI detail Optical lines Axis Roadway Sideslopes Widenings Stations Lines Required side free space Available side free space Structures Structure text Filled

When the *Road* option is ticked, the available options are:

- Filled: This option draws the roadway.
- Slopes coloring: Shows the roadway slopes.
- *Tangent:* Shows or hides the road's tangent curve.
 - *Profile PIs:* Once the Profile is updated from the Horizontal Alignment, you can display the PIs of the profile.
 - *PI Detail:* Shows the centre of the circular arc of every PI, as well as the radii that correspond to the characteristic stations.
 - *Optical lines:* When a PI of the road is selected, this option displays the optical lines that define the surrounding visibility.
- Axis: Shows or hides the road's axis.
- *Roadway:* Shows or hides the roadway.
 - *Sideslopes:* Once the Horizontal Alignment is updated from the Cross Sections, you can display the sideslopes (fillings and cuttings).
 - Widenings: Shows any widenings that may have been drawn.
- *Stations:* Once the stationing is performed, you can display the stations.
 - Lines: Shows the lines that define the width of each cross section.
- *Required side free space:* Once the visibility calculations are performed, you can display the *Required Side Free Space*.
- Available side free space: This option displays the Available Side Free Space.

7.1.5 The Snap Feature

You can only snap items shown on the screen. You can not use the snap feature on drawing elements that belong to hidden or non-selectable layers.

The snap feature uses visual assistance to help you distinguish the snap type and use the snap feature more effectively. The visual assistance is comprised of the following items:

1. *Notations:* They indicate the type of snap by displaying the corresponding symbol at the point of snap.

On line point, terrain point, station or PI:	
On line:	
On grid:	
On line intersection:	
On extension:	

2. *Magnet:* Moves the pointer automatically to lock it on a snap point, when the pointer is close to this point.

With the snap feature you have the following possibilities:

- 1. Snap *drawing* elements:
- On Line point
- On Line
- 2. On Extension: to snap the extension of a line, place the crosshair over a point of the line and then move it to the desired side. Note that in order to use this type of snap, you must also select the snap on point.
- 3. *On Line section:* if the lines are not intersected, you must also select both the snap on point and the snap on extension.
- 4. Snap terrain elements:
- On terrain point
- On triangle line
- 5. Snap on grid
- 6. Snap *road* elements:
- On road PI
- On road cross section

How to activate and set the snap feature

1. From the Display menu run the Options command, or press the F2 key, or from the

Horizontal Alignment toolbar click the button . The *Horizontal Alignment Options* dialogue box appears on the screen.

- 2. From the left part of the window select Snap.
- 3. Select the type/s of snap you want to use, by ticking the relevant check box, next to the name of the snap on the right part of the window.
- 4. To close the window, click the button. \blacksquare .



When the *Snap* option is enabled, you can see all the fields that you can snap:

- *Drawing:* You can select one or more of the above available fields, in order to use the snap feature in the drawing mode.
- Road: Select the fields you wish to snap.
- Terrain: Select the desired type of snap.
- *On grid:* When this field is selected and the grid is enabled, you can use the snap feature on any point of the grid.

If certain options are disabled, this is because from the *Display* tab you have chosen not to display them. To activate them, go to this tab and choose to display them.

7.1.6 Selection of Objects

To select the objects, the corresponding mode must be activated. Therefore, for the drawing elements you must activate the *Drawing* mode, for the road elements you must activate the *Road* mode and for the print elements you must activate the *Print* mode.

Very often, especially when multiple modes are simultaneously active, it is difficult to select an object that is too close to or on top of another. In such cases, move the crosshair over the point where the desired object is and click the right mouse button. A shortcut menu will appear on the screen. This shortcut menu contains the *Object selection...* commands, which are as many as the selectable objects. Run the command that corresponds to the object you want to select.

7.1.7 Main Object Properties

With *Tessera* you can edit the main properties of the drawing objects in two ways: either from the *Object* properties toolbar or from the *Properties* command window.

The Object Properties Toolbar

You can use the lists of the *Object* properties toolbar to view directly or to change the main properties of a drawing object, such as the *Line type*, the *Line width* and the *Color*. The *Object* properties toolbar includes all the commands that you need in

order to view and change the main properties of an object. When you select an object, its properties are displayed automatically in the drop-down lists of the toolbar.

🗌 White 💽	Continuous	💌 🛛 ——————————————————————————————————	▼ Base	•
-----------	------------	--	--------	---

Color Editing

From the *Color* field (the first field), you can view and change the color of the selected object.

The drop-down menu includes the *Layer* colors (only for the drawing elements), the fifteen default colors, and all the colours you have defined from the dialogue box of the *Color* command. If the desired color is not on the list, select the *Other* option and define a new color from the dialogue box of the *Color* command.

When no objects are selected, the *current color* is displayed. When you create new drawing objects, these objects will appear in the current colour.

When multiple objects are selected, if all the drawing objects have the color property and are of the same color, then this color is displayed, otherwise the field is blank. If only drawing objects are selected and their colour is the one of the layer, the *Layer* option is displayed in the field. The *Layer* value means that the color of the object is the same as the color you have defined for the layer to which the object belongs.

To change the color of an object

1. Select the objects whose color you wish to change.

2. From the *Object* properties toolbar, activate the color selection drop-down list.

3. Select a color.

4. If you do not see the desired color, select Other.

5. In the *Color* command dialogue box, select the desired color.

6. Click OK.

Tessera will change the color of the selected objects into the color that you just selected.

Line Type Editing

From the *Line type* field, you can view and change the line type of a selected object, and set the current line type.

The drop-down list includes the *Layer* line type (only for the drawing elements) and the default line types.

When no objects are selected, the current line type is displayed. The new drawing objects that will be created, will have the current line type.

When multiple objects are selected, if all the drawing objects have the line type property and the same line type, then this type is displayed, otherwise the field is blank. If only drawing objects of different layers are selected and they all have the layer line type, then the *Layer* value appears in the field. The *Layer* value means that the object's line type is identical to the one you have defined for the layer to which the object belongs.

To change the line type of an object

1. Select the objects whose line type you wish to change.

2. From the *Object* properties toolbar, activate the line type selection drop-down list.

3. Select a *Line type*.

Tessera will change the line type of the selected objects into the line type you just selected.

Line Width Editing

From the *Line width* field, you can view and change the line width of a selected object, and set the current line width.

The drop-down list includes the *Layer* line width (only for the drawing elements) and the five default line widths.

When no objects are selected, the current line width is displayed. The new drawing objects that will be created will have the current line width.

When multiple objects are selected, if all the drawing objects have the line width property and the same line width, then this value is displayed, otherwise the field is blank. If only drawing objects of different layers are selected and they all have the line width of the layer, then the *Layer* value is shown in the field. The *Layer* value indicates that the line width of the object is the same as the one you have defined for the layer to which the object belongs.

To change the line width of an object

1. Select the objects whose line width you want to change.

2. From the *Object* properties toolbar, activate the line width selection drop-down list.

3. Select a line width.

Tessera will change the line width of the selected objects into the line width you have selected.

7.1.8 **Project Information**

You can view the data of all objects of the project in the dialogue box of the *Project data information* command of the *Tools* menu. This command opens the following dialogue box:

	formation								_ 🗆 🗵
	Hi l								
Lie	as Circles and Elfesis	Tests [Images]	Torrain Dainta [Terrain Lines	Reads Stations	Road elements	1		
	es Circles and Ellipsis	Texts Images	Terrain Points	Terrain Lines	noads stations	110dd eleinerke	1		1
	Road name								- 1
	Road 1								
					Axis		_		Pavement le
	44	50000B B	X	1510001	e e e e		Z	X X	1540005
	1	589027.7	36	4560831	.802	400.	000	589031.811	4560835
	2	507040.3	153	4560800	- 2//	404.1	266	507044.420	4560804 (
	4	589065.5	61	4560785	227	403	001	589069,636	4560788.1
	5	589078.1	.69	4560769	.702	400.	143	589082.245	4560773.0
	6	589090.7	77	4560754	.177	400.	000	589094.853	4560757.4
	7	589103.3	86	4560738	.651	400.	000	589107.461	4560741.5
	8	589115.9	94	4560723	.126	398.	538	589120.069	4560726.
	10	589128.5	02	4560707	. 501	397.	165	589132.578	4560/10.
	11	507141.2	19	4560676	551	370.	223	507145.200	4560679 (
	12	589166 4	27	4560661	026	396	000	589170 503	4560664
	13	589179.0	36	4560645	.500	396.	000	589183.111	4560648.6
	14	589191.6	44	4560629	.975	396.	331	589195.719	4560633.2
	15	589204.2	52	4560614	.450	394.	905	589208.328	4560617.1
	16	589216.8	61	4560598	. 925	392.	000	589220.936	4560602.2
	17	589229.4	69	4560583	.400	391.	394	589233.544	4560586.3
	10	589242.U E002EA 6	06	4550557	.8/5	388.	195	585245.153	4560571
	20	589267 2	94	4560532	824	388	000	589271 369	4560540
	21	589279.9	02	4560521	299	392	581	589283.977	4560524.6
	22	589293.0	56	4560505	.102	396.	625	589297.132	4560508.4
	23	589305.5	60	4560489	. 493	397.	345	589309.701	4560492
•		F00017 /		100000	200			F00001 0F7	<u> </u>
_									
									OK

This box shows all information about the objects of all project categories of the

Horizontal Alignment workspace. Each tab of the dialogue box corresponds to an object type.

You can use the dialogue box of the *Find* command to find easily any desired object:

Tessera searches the text you have typed in the field throughout the selected tab. If desired, you can request from the program to find whole words only.

How to search a text in the Information dialogue box

1. Go to the desired tab (e.g. Terrain Points) and click the button in the top of the dialogue box. The *Find* dialogue box will appear on the screen.

Find	<u>?</u> ×
Find what:	Eind Next
Match whole word only	Cancel
Match <u>c</u> ase	

- 2. In the *Find what* text field, type the text you want to find. If you want to find whole words only, then you must tick the *Match whole word only* check box.
- 3. Click the *Find Next* button. *Tessera* will select the first text that matches the criteria you have specified. If you want to continue the search to find the next text, click the same button again. Otherwise click the *Cancel* button to close the dialogue box.

When the search is over, Tessera will display the relevant message.

If desired, you can export to a text file the information you see in a tab. Simply go to

the tab whose data you want to save and click the button it to be to be the dialogue box. The *Save as* dialogue box will appear on the screen. In this box you must specify the path and the name of the file that will be created. When you click the *Save* button, *Tessera* will create a text file that will contain the tab data and will have the .txt extension. You can set the character coding from the *ASCII* tab that you will find in the dialogue box of the *General Options* command of the *Tools* menu.

7.1.9 Quick Find

You can also use the *Quick Find* command to locate the desired objects within the drawing area. You can run this command from the *Display* menu by clicking the button

This part allows you to move among the project's elements (*Text, Point, PI, Station section and Ch*).

Locate	×
Tex	d
Poir	nt
F	א 📃 📃 א צע איז
Statio	n
Cł	n.
	Locate

From here you can go to any element by simply entering its name. If, for example, you want to go to point 389 (i. e. to make it current), all you have to do is type this number in the relevant field and click the *Locate* button or press the *Enter* key regardless of the mode you are in.

7.1.10 Moving Project Elements

In the *Horizontal Alignment* mode, you can move certain elements of the project by running the *Move* command of the *Tools* menu. This command opens the following window:

🦁 Move project elements	×
Elements to move Drawing Terrain Roads	
Move by (X, Y) 0 0 0 0 Can	cel

Select the element you wish to move (*Drawing, Terrain, Roads*) from the window. In the *Move by* (X, Y) field, type in meters the desired distance by which the move will take place on the X and Y axes.

7.1.11 Colour Zones

Color Zones Adjustment

In the *Horizontal Alignment* mode you can set the colour zone of the road and terrain slopes by running the *Color Zones Adjustment* command of the *Tools* menu. When you run this command, the following window appears on the screen:

olor Zones A	djustment
Color Zones	
	- 0.50
	0.50 - 1.00
	1.00 - 1.50
	1.50 - 2.00
	2.00 - 2.50
	2.50 - Infinite
	🗠 🗙 Pavement Slopes 1 🖃 🛤
	OK Cancel

- To enter a new *Color Zone*, type in the field **L** the number that will represent the initial value of the *Zone* and then click the button **e** to register the value or press the *Enter* key.
- To delete a *Colour Zone* you must first select the *Zone/s* that you don't need by

left-clicking the colored boxes. By selecting even one *Zone*, the button is enabled. To delete the zone, click this button or press the *Delete* key.

- \bullet If you want to reverse the colours of the Zones (e.g. in the above figure, if you
 - want black to become the first color and red the last color), click the button
- If you want to place a specific colour in a *Zone*, right-click on any box to open the color palette as shown in the figure below:

Color	? ×
<u>B</u> asic colors:	
<u>C</u> ustom colors:	
<u>D</u> efine Custom Colors >>	
OK Cancel	

Select the desired color and click *OK* to confirm.

• To create a color shading based on specific colors (e.g. shades of red) you must first select the boxes that will be the standard colors (e.g. red will be the first color
and white will be the last one) and then click the button \square .

7.2 Topographical Background - Workspace - Terrain

7.2.1 Creating the Terrain Model

The terrain model consists of points, triangles, contour lines, breaklines, perimeters and oases. In the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace of *Anadelta Tessera* you can import or create the terrain model elements and edit them so as to optimize them in various ways. You can create the terrain model in the following ways:

- 1. Directly from the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace.
- 2. Import from text files (ASCII).
- 3. Import from *DXF* files.

7.2.2 Terrain Management - Properties

The *Professional* version supports the simultaneous existence of multiple terrain models. That means that it is possible to create more than one terrain in the same file. It is also possible to calculate the volumetric difference of the two terrains.

Terrain management is performed from the *Terrain Properties* management window. Here you can run all main commands referring to terrains, e.g. to create or delete a terrain.

۲	▼ Terrain Properties					
	New 🛅 Copy 💙	< Delete				
	Terrain	Visible	Selectable	Options		
1	Terrain 1	6	Z	More		
2	Terrain 2	6	Z	More		
3	Terrain 3	` `	Z	More		
L						
L						

How to open and close the Terrain Properties management window

- 1. Click the button 🔄 on the *Horizontal Alignment* toolbar. The management window appears on the screen.
- 2. Proceed to the desired modifications.
- 3. When you have finished, click the exit button to close the management window and return to the main screen.

At first, the management window contains only one terrain, which cannot be deleted. You can create new terrains and name them as you wish.

How to create a new terrain

- 1. Open the *Terrain Properties* management window, as described above.
- 2. To create a new terrain whose elements will be inserted by you, click the New

button 칠 New .

A new terrain will be created. Its name will be comprised of the word *Terrain* and a serial number, e.g. *Terrain 1, Terrain 2,* etc. Namely, every terrain has a unique name. Once the terrain has been created, you can change its name.

To change the name of a terrain

- 1. Open the *Terrain Properties* management window.
- 2. Left-click on the terrain name to activate the relevant field.
- 3. Type in a new name.
- 4. When you have finished, click the exit button to close the management window and return to the main screen.

All operations regarding the terrain (e.g. Point import) take place in the current terrain. A drop-down list in the *Object Properties* toolbar allows you to define the current terrain.

How to make a terrain current

Select the current terrain from the *Terrain* drop-down list of the *Object Properties* toolbar.

Terrain 1	•
Terrain 1	
Terrain 2	
Terrain 3	

The program allows you to create a true copy of the terrain you are editing.

How to copy a terrain

- 1. Open the *Terrain Properties* management window, as described above.
- 2. To create a new terrain, which will be a true copy of an existing one, left-click on the terrain name to activate the relevant field and then click the *Copy* button Copy

You can also delete a terrain.

How to delete a terrain

- 1. Open the *Terrain Properties* management window, as described above.
- 2. To delete a terrain, left-click on the terrain name to activate the relevant field and

then click the *Delete* key X Delete

3. If you wish to delete the terrain, click *OK* on the confirmation message that will appear.

Confirm	×
	ete Terrain 3?
ОК	Cancel

Very often, while you are working, you may choose to make certain terrains invisible, or while editing a terrain you may choose the other terrains to be displayed without being editable. You cannot edit or select the elements of a non-selectable terrain, but the elements are visible when the terrain is visible. It is possible to use the snap feature on objects of a non-selectable terrain. The terrains that are not visible will not be displayed on the screen, but you can still print them.

How to make a terrain visible or invisible/ selectable or non-selectable.

- 1. Open the *Terrain Properties* management window.
- 2. Select the fields of the terrains you want to make visible or invisible.
- 3. Double-click on the Visible field to change the icon so that it corresponds to the desired state. When a terrain is visible, then the icon looks like 🕉 while when it is not visible the icon looks like .
- 4. Select the fields of the terrains you want to make selectable or non-selectable.
- 5. Double-click on the *Selectable* field to change the icon so that it corresponds to the desired state. When a terrain is selectable, then the icon looks like \swarrow while when it

is non-selectable it looks like **#**. 6. When you have finished, click the exit button to close the management window and

6. When you have finished, click the exit button to close the management window and return to the main screen.

7.2.3 Terrain Options

Every terrain has its own elements, i.e. points, lines and triangles, as well as its own settings – options and properties, regarding the calculation of the triangles and contour lines, the insertion of points and the way the terrain is displayed on the screen.

How to change the options of a terrain

- 1. From the *Terrain* menu, select the *Terrain Properties* command, or from the *Terrain Properties* management window, enable one of the fields of the *Options* column and click the button with the three dots
- 2. Use the *Previous Terrain* or *Next Terrain* buttons \square , at the bottom right corner of the dialogue box to go to the terrain whose settings you want to change. Make sure that the name of the terrain appears on the title bar of the dialogue box.

Terrain Preferences - Terrain 1				
General View 1 View 2 View 3				
Triangulation Minimum acceptable height Maximum acceptable height Maximum face length	-100000 m 100000 m 100 m	Points insertion Points Automatic naming Prefix Next Index	D 34710	=
Calculate Contour Lines Insert a contour line every Main contour lines every	4 m 20 m			
🔹 🏟 🖌 🗋 🐁			OK	Cancel

3. Go to the desired tab and make your settings.

4. If you wish to restore the settings that applied before making your changes, click

the *Restore* from *Horizontal Alignment* button 2 at the bottom right corner of the dialogue box. If you wish to restore the default settings that the program applies to

every new terrain, click the *Set default settings* button . Finally, for the *Professional* version, if you want the current terrain settings to be copied to the

other terrains, click the Copy to all terrains button.

5. To exit the dialogue box click *OK* to confirm the changes you have made or click *Cancel* to return to the main screen.

7.2.4 Terrain Points

Terrain points appear on the screen as grey dots. You can create them one by one or import multiple terrain points from text or .DXF files. Terrain points have four properties: their x, y, z coordinates and their names.

They can be imported in the same file and in three ways. Namely, some points can be imported manually and some from a text file. They can also be imported in more than one phases, i.e. you can import points twice from a text file.

The terrain points are the base for the creation of the terrain model. All other elements (triangles, breaklines, etc.) refer to them and they cannot exist without them. The program has certain restrictions regarding the points. For example, it is not possible for two points to have the same group of three coordinates or to be less than one centimetre away from each other.

Importing Terrain Point from ASCII Files

The import of terrain points from text files is the most common, since the files that derive from the various recording instruments are in such format. Every line of such a file must correspond to a point and include the values of the four elements of the points. The elements of every point must appear in the same order from line to line.

How to import terrain points from a text file

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Import from ASCII* submenu and then run the *Terrain Points* command. This command will be displayed on the menu only if you first select the creation of a new file or open an existing one. In the resulting dialogue box you can select a file of terrain points (usually these files have the .XYZ and .GRD extensions) containing the X and Y coordinates, the elevation of the points and their names, which can be their serial number or a description (eg. S5).
- 2. From the *Browse* field find the subfolder where your file is located. If your file has a different extension than the ones stated above, select *All files* from the *File Type* drop-down list to display it. Select the desired file and click *Open*. Note that your file must not be open in another program, otherwise an error message may appear.

Anadelta Tessera 🛛 🕅				
8	Cannot open file I:\ASROAD\GROUND\000.GRD.			
	(OK			

112 Anadelta Tessera

3. The program will try to sort the file's data in four columns. At the bottom of the dialogue box, you can view the form of part of the file namely the order in which the X, Y coordinates, the terrain elevations and the names of the points have been imported. In the Separator group you must select the symbol/s that will be used for the separation of the point elements into columns, by ticking the relevant check boxes. The most common separators are the space, the comma and the Tab symbols. If another symbol is used in your file, then tick the Other check box and type the symbol in the text field. In case there are two or more separating characters in the line (usually spaces) to delimit a column, tick the Merge delimiters check box, so that the separation in columns can be carried out correctly. By default, the program reads the data of the first column as the X coordinates of the points, the data of the second column as the Y coordinates, the data of the third column as Z elevations of the points and the data of the last column as their names. If the order of the elements in your file is different, then you must select the correct order from the menu that is displayed when you left-click on the column title. You must also specify the format of your created file. If your file has been created in DOS environment, tick the DOS (OEM) check box. In the Start line field, type the number of the line from the beginning of the file, to indicate the point from which the program will start to import data. In this way you can omit lines that contain titles or/and comments, or even the import of the first points that are in the beginning of the ASCII file.

🕅 In	nport terrain po	oints from ASCII	í file			<u>_ </u>
Se L L	parator Space Tab Merge delimiters	♥ , (comma) ■ Others		•	Windows Greek Dos Greek	Start line
No	x	Y	z	Nε		
1	589554.547	4561605.233	612.000	0	×	
2	589592.808	4561620.167	612.000	1	Y	
3	589610.299	4561622.716	612.000	2	Z	
4	590095.533	4560626.193	504.000	з	Name	
5	590068.119	4560638.423	504.000	4		
6	590057.020	4560653.452	504.000	5		
7	589631.081	4561611.607	612.000	6		
8	589633.996	4561577.733	612.000	7		
9	589644.928	4561551.508	612.000	8		
10	589646.021	4561527.832	612.000	9		_
Toc it's til	hange column sou le.	irce, press on			OK	Cancel

4. Confirm by clicking *OK*. The program reads the data and imports it to the file. If a problem occurs during the file transfer, the program will display the relevant error message on the screen.

The points will appear on the screen, according to the way you have selected. If you want to check the points for possible errors (e.g. double points) you must run the *Terrain Validation* command to check and correct them.

Creating Terrain Points

Although the insertion of terrain points from *Anadelta Tessera* is not very common, it is very useful in case you want to add some points.

How to create terrain points

- 1. From the *Terrain* menu, run the Insert point command, or click the button in the *Elements Drawing* toolbar.
- 2. Use the mouse to set the position of the terrain point.

Points insertion	
Automatic naming	
Prefix	D
Next Index	34710

As regards the names of the points that will be inserted, you can either request from the program to name them automatically when they are inserted, or vou can insert then without a name and name them afterwards. from the Properties command window. You can do this from the dialogue box of the Terrain Options command. If you want the program to automatically name the new inserted points, you must tick the Automatic naming check box in the General tab of the Point insertion group. The name given by the program is comprised of the prefix that you have typed in the *Prefix* text field and of a serial number.

Editing Terrain Points

You can edit the points you have inserted, so as to give the model exactly the form that you wish. Therefore, you can edit the coordinates of the points or delete the points that you do not need.

Moving and Renaming Terrain Points

You can move the Terrain Points of your file.

How to move or rename the selected Terrain Points

×
▼
Value
11282
588894.667
4560252.751
548.000
Yes

- 1. With the mouse pointer over the desired *Terrain Point*, click the left mouse button to select the point.
- 2. Open the *Properties* command
- window A To change the name of the point, type the new name in the *Name* field. In the *Terrain Point X*, *Terrain Point Y* and *Terrain Point Z* fields, type the coordinates and the new elevation.

To move a point faster, select it, activate it and move it to its new position by using the mouse or the *Input Form* command.

Deleting Terrain Points

You can delete one or more Terrain Points, if desired.

How to delete the selected Terrain Points

- 1. Select the *Terrain Points* you wish to delete.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed when you right-click in the drawing area, run the *Delete Objects* command, or from the *Edit* menu run the *Delete* command, or

press the Del key, or from the main toolbar click the button imes

If desired, you can delete all terrain points of your file.

How to delete all the Terrain Points

From the *File* menu, select the *Delete all* submenu and then select the *Terrain Points* submenu and run the *All* command.

How to delete all the Terrain Points inside or outside a region

- 1. Select the boundary (perimeter or oasis) inside or outside of which you want to delete points.
- 2. From the *File* menu, select the *Delete all* submenu and then select the *Terrain Points* submenu and run the *Inside selected boundary* or *Outside selected boundary* command, respectively.

Deactivating Terrain Points

In many cases, there are points you want to exclude from the triangulation without deleting them, e.g. stops. The inclusion of a point in the Terrain Model is a property defined exclusively by the user. You can select not to include a point in the Terrain Model by deactivating it.

How to deactivate a point

- 1. Select the *Terrain Point* you wish to deactivate.
- 2. Open the *Properties* command window. From the drop-down list of the *Activated* field, select *No*. To activate a point, select *Yes*.

To view and activate all the deactivated points, run the *Terrain Validation* command from the *Terrain* menu.

Adding Points- Updating the Terrain Point Elevation from the Existing Model

Every time you insert a new point, this has always zero elevation. You can update the elevation of the point from the existing terrain model.

How to update the elevation of a Terrain Point

- 1. Select the *Terrain Point* you wish to update.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed when you right-click in the drawing area, run the *Adjust Elevation* command.

Updating the Terrain Point Elevation from another Terrain

You can adjust the elevations of a terrain based on another terrain. From the *Terrain* menu, run the *Adjust Elevations* command. The following dialogue box appears on the screen.

🗑 Eleva	tions Adjustment	×
То	Terrain 1	•
From	Terrain 2	•
	ОК	Cancel

From the drop-down list of the *To* field, select the terrain that will be updated and from the drop-down list of the *From* field select the terrain on which the update will be based. Next, click the *OK* button to apply the update.

7.2.5 Creating and Editing Perimeters

For the correct triangulation, before the insertion of the triangles you must insert a perimeter, which demarcates the area in which the triangles will be created. A perimeter is a zigzag line whose peaks must coincide with terrain points. Therefore, you cannot insert a perimeter unless you have first inserted terrain points.

A perimeter can be inserted in three ways:

- 1. It can be created by the user, who must define its points one by one.
- 2. It can be calculated automatically by the program.
- 3. It can be imported from a text or DXF file.

In all cases, once it is created, the perimeter can be modified so as to describe better the terrain boundaries. Perimeters are shown on screen in green.



You can insert more than one perimeters. Two perimeters cannot be intersected, but one perimeter may be enclosed in another with an oasis between the two perimeters.

Automati Calculation of the Perimeter

To save time, you can request from the program to automatically calculate the external perimeter. After this calculation, you can adjust the perimeter by adding or deleting points.

How to insert automatically a curved perimeter

From the *Terrain* menu, run the *Calculate curved perimeter* command. This results in a closed curved tangent line that includes all points of the current terrain.

Inserting a Perimeter

To insert a new perimeter, you must set the terrain points that define it. The points of a perimeter must coincide with the terrain points. This method serves mainly for the insertion of an internal perimeter.

How to set the points of a perimeter

- 1. From the *Terrain* menu, run the *Insert perimeter* command, or from the *Elements Drawing* toolbar, click the relevant button. You will see the highlighted box in the middle of the mouse cross, showing you where the perimeter point will be placed.
- 2. Define circularly the terrain points that will compose the perimeter (the mouse snaps automatically the terrain points).
- 3. Once you have finished inserting of the points, click the right mouse button to complete the procedure.

Automatic Point Inclusion

If you wish, you can request from the program to automatically include points that are located between the point you define and its previous point. To do this, go to dialogue box of the *General Options* command of the Tools menu and in the *Insert/Delete* group of the *Terrain* tab tick the Point inclusion when inserting *Breaklines/Boundaries* check box. The text field below the check box shows the maximum variation for the automatic inclusion of a point.

I▼ Point inclusion when inserting Breaklines / Boundaries		
Up to	0.5	degrees declination

Import of Perimeters from External Files

Perimeters can be imported either from ASCII text files or when importing other elements (e.g. drawing elements), which are all saved in a DXF file.

Automatic Addition or Deletion of Perimeter Points

To adjust a perimeter faster, you can use the automatic perimeter adjustment.

How to automatically adjust a perimeter

- 1. Select the perimeter you wish to adjust.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed when you right-click on the screen, run the *Adjust perimeter Expand* or *Shrink* command to delete or add points, respectively. This command opens the following dialogue box.

؆ Adjust Boundary	×
Adjustment Range	
C General	
C Local	
7 edges	
🚺 🚺 🚺 🚺 OK Cancel	

3. If you want to add/delete points along the whole length of the perimeter, activate the *General* selection field. If you want to add/delete points to only one part of the perimeter, select *Local*. If you select *Local*, you must specify the width of the sides between which the boundary will be adjusted. The default value is 7. If you want to

change this value, click the button increase it or the button to increase it. Next, you must define the perimeter part that can be adjusted by moving the mouse pointer over it to highlight it.



4. For the adjustment to take place, click the *Expand/Shrink* button . at the bottom of the dialogue box or roll the mouse wheel down. The effect is cumulative, namely more points are added or deleted as you keep rolling the wheel. The effect on the boundary can be viewed immediately on the screen. Keep clicking the button until you are satisfied with the result. If you want to undo the expansion/shrinkage, click

the *Reset* button **I** or roll the mouse wheel up.

5. When you have finished, click *OK* to apply the adjustment. This closes the dialogue box and returns you to the main screen.

Adding Points to a Perimeter

How to add points to a perimeter

- 1. Select a point of the perimeter.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed when you right-click on the screen, run the *Expand to the beginning* or *Expand to the end* command, depending on what the side you wish to insert the point (the points of the boundaries have a

counterclockwise direction). This command adds a new point to the line on screen, before or after the point you originally selected. The original point is highlighted in red, and you can place the new point by moving the mouse pointer as shown in the figure. The points on which the new point intersects are displayed in yellow, while the points that are to be added are displayed in green. The original form of the boundary is displayed as a dotted line.



If you wish, you can request from the program to automatically include points that are located between the point that you define and the previous point.

Deleting a Perimeter Point and a Terrain Point

The *Point removal* command deletes the selected PI of the perimeter/oasis and joins the previous PI with the next one. The program does not delete the terrain point. You can also run this command by pressing the *Shift+Delete* keys. If you have already created triangles and then you delete a perimeter point, the triangles will remain as they were and the terrain validation will report the errors. Therefore, you must also make the relevant corrections on the terrain model.

The *Point removal* command deletes the selected PI of the perimeter/oasis and the corresponding terrain point.

Deleting a Perimeter

You can delete one or more perimeters of the file. The procedure is similar to the one for the *Terrain Points*.

7.2.6 Creating and Editing Oases

To insert an oasis you must have at least one perimeter. The oasis demarcates an area that will be free of triangles (e.g. wherever there is a housing settlement or a lake). To insert an oasis, follow the same procedure that applies to the insertion of a

perimeter, only in this case you must click the button \bigcirc . The editing options for the oases are the same as the ones for the perimeters.

7.2.7 Inserting Breaklines

The purpose of the Breaklines is the demarcation of the triangles. Breaklines are also zigzag lines, whose peaks must coincide with terrain points. As a result, to insert them you must have first inserted terrain points. During the triangulation, the program creates the triangles in such a way, so that their sides always coincide with the breaklines and never intersect them. Thus, it is possible to simulate lines such as the tops and feet of sideslopes, the roadlines of existing roads, etc.

Breakline Insertion

One way to insert Breaklines is to define their PIs on screen by using the mouse.

Inserting Breakline with the mouse

1. From the Terrain menu, run the Insert Breakline command, or from the Elements

Drawing toolbar, click the *button*. The pointer turns into a crosshair and snaps terrain points only.

2. Define successively the terrain points that will comprise the breakline. If desired, the program can automatically include points that are located between the point that you define and the previous point. Thus, when the crosshair approaches a terrain point, the screen will also display the points that will be included into the line.



3. When you have finished inserting points, click the right mouse button to complete the procedure.

A breakline may intersect with other terrain lines (Perimeters, Oases, Breaklines), only on terrain points. In this case, the program does not allow PI insertion, while the points where the BKL is intersected are displayed in yellow.



Also, a breakline cannot refer to disabled points. For this reason, when you approach the mouse pointer to such points, a yellow circle appears around the point.

You can also insert breaklines after the creation of triangles. In this case you can choose the triangulation to be carried out immediately upon breakline insertion, so that the triangles that are affected by the inserted breakline are immediately reformed.



To do this, go to the dialogue box of the *General Options* command of the *Tools* menu and in the *Import/Delete* group of the *Terrain* tab, tick the *Triangulation when inserting Breaklines* check box.



Conversion of Drawing Lines to Breaklines

Another way to create a breakline is the conversion of a drawing line. Select the line to be converted and from the shortcut menu that appears when you click the right mouse button select the *Conversion* submenu and then run the *Convert to Breakline* command. For the conversion to take place, all line points must coincide with terrain points. The properties of the new breakline are the current ones. The drawing line remains almost unchanged.

EditingBreaklines

You can insert additional points to a breakline, delete a point from a breakline or delete the whole breakline.

Breaking and Merging Breaklines

For easier management of the lines, you can break a breakline in two or more breaklines, or you can merge multiple breaklines together into a single breakline.

Merging Breaklines

To merge two breaklines, select them both and then run the Merge lines command from the menu that is displayed when you right-click on the screen. For the merging to take place, the last PI of one breakline must be the first PI of the next breakline.

Breaking Breaklines:

If desired, you can break a brakline into two or more parts.

To break a breakline in two

- 1. Select the breakline you wish to break. Select the PI where breaking will take place.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed when you right-click in the drawing area, run the *Break at point* command.

If desired, you can break a line into many parts; each of these parts will be comprised of only two PIs.

To break a line in multiple parts

- 1. Select the breakline you wish to break.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed when you right-click in the drawing area, select the *Break lines* command.

Converting Breaklines to Drawing Lines

Zoom Window
Deselect Calculate curved perimeter Calculate adjusted perimeter Triangulation
Break lines Merge lines
Convert to drawing line

To convert a breakline into a drawing line, select the desired breakline and from the menu that is displayed when you right-click on the screen run the *Convert to drawing line* command. The properties of the new line are the current ones.

7.2.8 Terrain Validation

The terrain validation must be performed before the triangulation. This stage (before creating triangles) aims at the detailed validation of the points. Terrain validation is performed automatically when you request triangulation, but it can also be carried out at any given time, upon the user's request.

How to perform terrain validation

1. From the Terrain menu, run the Terrain Validation command, or press the Ctrl+G

keys, or from the *Horizontal Alignment* toolbar click the *start* button. The program will start validating the terrain elements. A bar appears at the bottom right of the drawing area, showing you the validation progress.

2. When validation is over, a dialogue box opens on the screen. In this box you can find and correct any errors of the terrain model. In this phase (the terrain model has not yet been created), most errors refer to the terrain geometry.

Terrain Validation	
Structure Excepted Geometry Total actions	
Terrain Elements	Action
	Merge with point 4403
📔 📔 👫 🛛 Point D34789 🎝 🔎 🗡 🔎 🔎	Merge — 🗙 🗋
	OK Cancel

The dialogue box has four tabs. The first two tabs (*Structure, Excepted*) display all kinds of problems. In the *Excepted* tab you can see the points that were exempted either by the user or by the program, according to the terrain model settings. Finally, in the *Total actions* tab, you can see the actions that will be carried out to correct the errors that have been detected during the terrain validation. The first three tabs consist of two groups.

In the *Terrain Elements* group, at the top left of the window, you can see the treestructure graph with the terrain elements where a problem was detected.

T	errain Elements
	Points
	i± Point 1626
	⊕ Point 2930
	– Point 4403 – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –
	E3318 : Is identical to point D34789
	i‡ Point 4786
	i‡⊷ Point 5025
	i∰ Point 6320
	🗄 Point 6695 📃 🗾

Left-click on the + symbol next to each element category or double-click on the category, to view the relevant elements. Left-click on the + symbol next to each element or double-click on the element to view the problems of this element. You can select an element by left-clicking on it. The name of the selected element appears in the *Selected Element* box right below.

Point 6320

Below this group there are the buttons with the relevant actions. If you click the \bowtie button, the problems of all elements and all categories will be displayed, while if you

click the 📕 button, the problems will shrink.

The *button* transfers the drawing view to the drawing area where the selected element is. This element appears highlighted on the screen. With the *transfers* and *transfers* buttons you can change accordingly the view in the drawing area.

In the *Energy* group, which is located at the right part of the window, you can define the actions that will be carried out to solve the problems that were detected. The appearance of the group depends on the current tab. You can delete, activate or deactivate the selected element, or you can select no to proceed to any action at all. If an option is not available for the particular element, either this option will not be displayed at all or it will be inactive.

Action
None
C Delete
C Deactivate

At the bottom of the window you will find the \square \land \square buttons; use these buttons to carry out an action for all elements of the selected category.

Finally, by ticking the *Merge* check box, the double points (points whose x, y, z coordinates are the same) are deleted.

7.2.9 Triangulation and Contour Line Calculation

The next step in the creation of the terrain model is the triangulation and the calculation of contour lines. Prior to this, however, you must specify the settings of the digital terrain model by clicking the *Terrain Options* command from the *Terrain* menu.

Triangulation

Triangulation Settings

To select the triangulation settings, run the *Terrain Preferences* command and then go to the *Triangulation* group of the *General* tab.



When the *Minimum acceptable height* check box is ticked, *Tessera* ignores points whose elevations are lower than the value typed in the corresponding field. When the *Maximum acceptable height* check box is ticked, the program ignores the points whose elevations are higher than the value of the field. When the *Maximum face length* check box is ticked, the program will not create triangles with faces larger than the value indicated in the corresponding field.

Triangulation

For the triangulation to take place, run the Triangulation command from the Terrain

menu, or press the *Ctrl+B* keys, or from the *Horizontal Alignment* toolbar click the button. When the *Terrain Validation* is completed, if there is no significant problem, the program will start creating the terrain model based on the inserted points, perimeters, oases and breaklines. During this process, the terrain points are joined together with straight lines to create triangles. When creating the terrain model, the program takes into account the breaklines, the perimeter, as well as any oases that you may have inserted.

When the calculation is over, if you have selected to view the triangles, and specifically only the faces of the triangles, you will see the following screen.



An empty area (as shown in the figure) means that the distance between the points of that area was higher than the one you had specified in the digital terrain model, and as a result the points were not joined to create triangles. These areas are the "natural oases", whose maximum face is the one you specified in the *Triangulation* dialogue box.

Insertion of Triangles

You can also create triangles manually. To do this, select the *Insert Triangles* command from the *Terrain* menu and then select one of the three secondary options,

which are:

- *Three Points:* With this option you can create triangles using any terrain point.
- *Repeat Last Point:* When you run this command, the first point of every triangle you create will be the last point of the previous triangle.
- *Point and face:* To draw triangles with this command, you must define only one point/face of the triangle, since its two other points are defined automatically by the existing adjacent triangles.

Editing of Triangles

You can intervene and edit the terrain model. If you run the *Triangles Editing* command from the *Terrain* menu, you will notice that the triangles under the mouse pointer are turning green. Move the pointer to the desired triangles and click the left mouse button to change the diagonal of the quadrilateral. In this way, you can visually correct any anomaly in the digital terrain model. The changes you are making appear immediately on the screen. The review and editing process is facilitated by the various methods that the program offers for the presentation of the terrain model.

Scanning Triangulation for Holes

If certain parts of the terrain model that you have created, have holes, you can request from the program not only to scan for these holes, but also to create triangles in these parts without affecting the remaining terrain model. To do this, select the *Scan Triangulation for Holes* command from the *Terrain* menu and then select one of the following available options:

- *Insert Drawing Lines:* When you select this option, the program marks the holes with drawing lines.
- *Insert Perimeters:* With this option, the program inserts perimeters instead of drawing lines in the holes.
- *Triangulation:* With the triangulation option, triangles are created in the places of the holes, without affecting the remaining terrain model.

Calculation of Contour Lines

The next step in the presentation of the terrain is the calculation of the contour lines.



The horizontal equivalent of contour lines for the current terrain is defined from the dialogue box of the *Terrain Preferences* command. More specifically, go to the *Calculate Contour Lines* group of the *General* group and in the *Insert a contour line every* text field type the distance between two contour lines. In the *Main contour lines every* text field of the same group, you can specify the elevation difference between two main contour lines.

How to calculate the contour lines

From the *Terrain* menu, run the *Calculate Contour Lines* command, or from the *Horizontal Alignment* toolbar, click the

When this operation is over, you can view the contour lines that were drawn by selecting the *View contour lines* option.



At this point, while viewing the contour lines, you can edit the terrain model in order to get a better view of the relief. To view the editing results on the contour lines, you must repeat the contour line calculation.

You can choose, from the Display options (*Curved or Straight lines* fields), how the contour lines will appear on the screen (zigzag or curved).

7.2.10 Display of Terrain Elements

The program enables you to control how the terrain elements will be displayed, both on screen and on the printout.

You can select which elements of a terrain will appear on screen and how they will appear, from the dialogue box of the *Display Options* command and from the *Terrain Preferences* dialogue box, and more specifically from the *View 1, View 2* and *View 3* tabs. Here you can define which of the terrain elements (and of the remaining project as well) will be visible in order to facilitate your work, as well as how they will be displayed. More specifically, the following apply to every terrain element:

1. *Points:* Points appear on the screen as gray dots. If desired, you can display the name and the elevation of the point. The name of the point appears at the top right of the point, while the elevation appears at the bottom right of the point. Enable this view either from the *Terrain Preferences* dialogue box, or from the *Options* command dialogue box. In all cases, select the desired terrain and tick the *Points* (to view the points), *Names* (to view the names) and *Elevations* (to view the elevations) check boxes.

Terrain Preferences - Terrain	1	
General View 1 View 2 Vie	w 3	
Shading Volume	Show / Hide Grid ☐ Points ☐ Elevations ☐ Names ☑ Breakline	Boundaries Contour lines Elevations Curves
* * *		OK Cancel
Horizontal Alignment C General Drawing Terrains Terrain 1 Roads Road 1 Snap	ptions > Points Point names Point Elevations Triangles Triangle faces Shading Elevation Shading Boundaries Legend Slopes coloring Legend Boundaries Contour lines Contour lines Contour lines Contour lines Curves Straight lines	

- 2. Breakline and Boundaries (perimeters and oases): Breaklines appear on screen as continuous red lines, while perimeters and oases appear as continuous green lines. You can activate this view either from the *Terrain Preferences* dialogue box or from the dialogue box of the *Options* command. In all cases, select the desired terrain and tick the *Breakline* check box (to view the breaklines) and the *Boundaries* check box (to view the perimeters oases).
- 3. Contour lines: They are displayed on screen as continuous lines (curved or zigzag), the main ones in yellow and the intermediate ones in purple. If desired, the contour line elevations can be displayed through the lines. You can activate the display of the contour lines either from the *Terrain Preferences* dialogue box, or from the dialogue box of the *Options* command. In all cases, select the desired terrain and tick the *Contour lines* (to view the contour lines), the *Contour Lines Elevations* (to view their elevations) and the *Curves* check boxes (to view the contour lines as curves).

You can set the curvature factor, i.e. how rounded the curves will be, by moving the

slider located in the *Terrain Preferences* dialogue box, right below the *Curves* check box. To decrease the curvature move the slider to the left, while to increase the curvature move the slider to the right.

Display of Triangles

Tessera offers you four possible views of the triangles and you can combine them to achieve the best results.

- 1. *General:* Regardless of how the triangles will be displayed, you can choose to view or hide them from the dialogue box of the *Options* command. Select the desired terrain and tick/untick the *Triangles* check box, to show or hide the triangles, respectively.
- 2. *Faces:* You can chose to view the triangle faces either from the *Terrain Preferences* dialogue box or from the dialogue box of the *Options* command. In all cases, select the desired terrain and tick the *Grid* or *Faces* check box, respectively. The figure shows an example of the way the triangles are displayed when you're using this method.



3. *Shading:* The figure shows an example of triangles with shading. You can activate the shading from the same dialogue boxes as in the case of the faces, only now you must tick the *Shading* check box of the *Shading* group in the *View 1* tab of the *Terrain Preferences* dialogue box. Use the sliders to set the brightness from the *Volume* field, as well as the color of light from the *Ambient Light* field. To set the angle of the light, left-click in the white box.



4. *Elevation Shading:* The figure shows an example of triangles with elevation shading. You can activate this view from the same dialogue boxes as in the case of the faces, only now you must tick the *Elevation Shading* check box in the *View 2* tab of the *Terrain Preferences* dialogue box. If you want to also view a legend with the elevation zones in the drawing area, tick the *Legend* check box. Likewise, to view a separating line on the color zones boundary, tick the Boundaries check box. Regarding the elevation definition of the zones, these can be defined either

automatically by the program when you click the 🗾 button or you can define them

by filling in the *Minimum elevation* and *Step* fields and clicking the button. To set the colors, there are six color combinations stored in the program memory and you can choose the desired one from the drop-down list. When you select the *Personal 1* and *Personal 2* combinations, you can create your own color combinations. To select the color of a zone, click on the zone's colored box and select a color from the resulting dialogue box. To automatically fill the boxes with interpolations of two boxes, select the desired two boxes by click the right mouse button and then click the **I** button. If you want the color zones to be reversed in

terms of elevation, click the button. If you want the color zones to be reversed in

Terrain Preferences - Terrain 1	
General View 1 View 2 View 3	
Elevation Shading	
Color Zones (m)	Interpolation Scale
0.0 - 60.0 360.0 - 420.0	Minimum Elevation 0.0
60.0 - 120.0 420.0 - 480.0	Maximum Elevation 720.0
120.0 - 180.0 480.0 - 540.0	Step 60.0
180.0 - 240.0 540.0 - 600.0	Terrain Elements
240.0 - 300.0 600.0 - 660.0	Minimum 0.0 m
300.0 - 360.0 660.0 - 720.0	Maximum 660.0 m
🔽 Legend 🔽 Boundaries Spectrum 1 💌 🗁 📰	\$ 04
🔹 🔶 📄 🗅	OK Cancel

5. *Slopes coloring: Tessera* also provides you the possibility to color the triangles according to their slopes. You can activate this view from the same dialogue boxes as in the case of the faces, only now you must tick the *Slopes coloring* check box in the *View 3* tab of the *Terrain Preferences* dialogue box. The parameters that apply to the zone coloring are the same as in the case of the elevation shading.

ferrain Preferen	ices - Terrain 1	1				
General View 1	1 View 2 View 3					
Slopes o	coloring					
-Color Zo	nes					
	- 0.50					
	0.50 · 1.00					
	1.00 · 1.50					
	1.50 · 2.00					
	2.00 · 2.50					
	2.50 - Infinite					
I Legen	d	Pav	ement Slopes 1	•		
🏘 🏟 😼	🗋 🙆 👘				OK	Cancel

7.2.11 Terrain Model Export

Exporting Terrain Points to a Text File

You can create a file that will contain the terrain points of the current terrain. The format of such files is similar to the format of the files that you use in order to import terrain points. You can set the character coding from the *ASCII* tab that you will find in the dialogue box of the *General Options* command of the *Tools* menu.



To export terrain points to ASCII files

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Export to ASCII* submenu and run the *Terrain Points* command.
- 2. Specify the path and the name of the file where the points will be saved. Terrain points will be exported to a file with the .GRD extension.
- 3. Click OK to create the file.

Exporting the Whole Terrain Model to Text Files

You can export the terrain model you have created in the *Anadelta Road Design* to text files (ASCII). The software's export files are compatible with the RDDSS (Road Design Digital Submission Specifications).

How to export the terrain model to ASCII files

1. From the *File* menu, select the *Export to ASCII* submenu and run the *Terrain Points* command. The terrain points are exported to three files, one for each category of elements. The terrain points will be exported to a GRD file, the triangles to a TRI file and the breaklines to a BKL file. You can export RLN files by running the *Drawing Elements* command of the same submenu.

V	🖉 Import from A	scii 🔀
	Terrain Elements	
	Points	
	🔽 Triangles	<u> </u>
	🔽 Breakline	.
		OK Cancel

- 2. Tick the check boxes for every category of terrain points you wish to export. In the text field, type the file name and the drive path where your files will be created. If desired, you can specify the path for each category by clicking the button next to every text field.
- 3. Click *OK* to create the files. If the terrain points don't have a name, the program will ask you whether you wish the names to be added automatically, showing you the relevant confirmation message. Click *OK* to proceed.

7.2.12 Terrain Model Import

Opening an Older Version File (Files from Anadelta ROAD DESIGN 3.xx)

In *Anadelta Tessera* you can edit files of the *Horizontal Alignment* mode of the *Anadelta Road Design 3.xx* software pack. You can open these files with the *Open* command. The program recognizes fully the terrain elements contained in such files, enabling you to continue processing your work.

Importing the Whole Terrain Model from Text Files

You can import a terrain model from text files (ASCII) by running the *Terrain Points* command from the *Import from ASCII* submenu of the *File* menu. The procedure is the same as for the export of the terrain model. The terrain elements are imported in the current terrain.

Importing Terrain Points per Cross Section

The program can add points to a terrain based on the data resulting from the cross sections. More specifically, the *Terrain Points per cross section* files command of the *Import from ASCII* submenu of the *File* menu, imports additional points from a terrain file per cross section (*.ACS). Such files are also created by the *Cross Sections* program (*Version 3.xx*), as well as from the *Cross Section* workspace ú *File* menu ú *Export to ASCII* submenu ú *Lines* command. To execute this command, you must have selected a calculated road where stationing has been performed.

Importing the Whole Terrain Model from a DXF file

The last type of files from which you can import data are files with a .DXF extension. These files guarantee compatibility when working with other drawing packages (e.g. AutoCAD), from which the DXF files are exported.

How to import the terrain model from DXF files

1. From the *File* menu, select *Import from Dxf* and then run the *Import Terrain from DXF* command.

2. The program reads the file and displays the dialogue box shown below. In the Terrain tab select whether the points will be imported from *Point* or *Polyline*. When you tick the *Create points* check box in the *Create from POINT* group or in the *Create from POLYLINE* group, the options of each group become available.

V Import from DXF	2	<
Terrain		
Create from POINT		
Create points	9: BASE	
Elevations	9: YCOS	
Names	2: BASE	
🗖 Maximum text distance	3	
Matching method	Reference order	
Create from POLYLINE		
Create points	5:0	
Minimum point variation	2	
E Breakline creation		
Create triangles	0:0	
✓ Layer sorting	OK Cancel	
Loading drawing		

- 3. Tick the check boxes for every category of terrain points you wish to import and from the drop-down lists select the layer where these terrain points are. When the *Layer sorting* box is ticked, the program will sort out the layers according to the objects that are located in every layer.
- 4. If, in addition to the terrain points, you wish to import all other data of the file in the form of drawing, you must also select the *Loading drawing* option.
- 5. Click *OK* for the file to be read. The result of this import will be displayed immediately on the screen. The elements are imported in the current terrain.

If you want all data of the Dxf file (and the terrain points) to be imported in the form of drawing, you must select *Import from Dxf* from the *File* menu and then run the *Import Drawing from Dxf* command.

7.2.13 Calculating Slope Areas

Area Calculation

With the *Calculate Slope Areas* command of the *File* menu, you can calculate the horizontal areas in groups that are determined according to the terrain slope. This calculation can be performed either for the whole area of the terrain or for a specific part. This command results in the following window:

🗑 Calculat	e Slope Areas								X
Slopes		_	[Cal	culation I	Boundary				
	- 0.50	ור	E	Point	×	Y	Z		
	0.50 - 1.00								
	1.00 - 1.50								
	1.50 - 2.00								
	2.00 - 2.50								
	2.50 - Infinite								
		-						020	2
	Pavement Slopes 1		-					0	(

If you want the calculation to be applied to the whole terrain, select from the $\boxed{Pavement Slopes 1}$ $\boxed{}$ drop-down list the desired scale according to which the areas will be displayed and then click the $\boxed{}$ button, so that the surface areas can be calculated in m², as shown in the figure below:

-Slones					
olopoo					
		•	0.50	105694.72 s.m.	
	0.50	-	1.00	0.00 s.m.	
	1.00	-	1.50	0.00 s.m.	
	1.50	-	2.00	0.00 s.m.	
	2.00	-	2.50	0.00 s.m.	
	2.50	-	Infinite	2733746.82 s.m.	

To calculate the area of a particular surface, go to the *Horizontal Alignment* mode and circle with a drawing line all the terrain points you wish to be taken into account during the calculation.

Next, click the *button to move the coordinates of the selected line to the left part of the window, as shown below:*

alculation	Boundary			
Point	×	Y	Z	
1	588446.534	4560309.738	0.000	
2	588979.152	4560401.650	0.000	
3	589195.970	4559993.938	0.000	
4	588366.405	4559906.739	0.000	
5	588444.177	4560307.381	0.000	
			D 2	

To save the results of the area measurement in text files, click the $\boxed{\blacksquare}$ button, while to open an existing text file click the $\boxed{\square}$ button.

To delete the data from the Calculation Boundary window, click the \square button.

7.2.14 Surface Calculation - Volumes

Volumes

With the *Calculate Volumes Difference* command of the *Terrain* menu, you can execute volumes calculations. The calculation is performed between one terrain that you select from the drop-down dist of the *Definition A* group and a terrain or a plane that you select from the *Definition B* group.

To select a terrain, tick the *Terrain* check box and select the terrain from the dropdown list. To select a plane, tick the *Plane* check box and select the plane from the tabs right below. Each tab corresponds to a plane definition method. If the plane is parallel to the XY plane, select the respective tab and type the elevation of the plane in the Z text field. If the plane is defined by three points, go to the respective tab and type the coordinates of each point. If the plane is defined by two points and by its angle with respect to the horizontal, display the *Axis and angle* tab and type the coordinates of the points and the angle. If you select a terrain point on the screen

and click the 🗾 button, the coordinates of this point are copied.

In all cases, when you click the *OK* button, the relevant calculations are performed. In the drawing area, the cuttings areas are displayed in red, the fillings in blue and the part of the terrain that remains unchanged is displayed in gray. From the *General* category of the *Options* command dialogue box, you can define how the volumes differences will be displayed.

Lonaio							lu.	1	1-	_
renam						Point	X	Y	Z	
Terrain 1	•									
Definition B										
C Terrain										
Terrain 1	Ψ.									
Plane										
Three Points	Axis and Angle	Calc	ulation Boundary	1						
	,				1					
Point 1	0.000	0.000	0.000	1						
	-									
Point 2	0.000	0.000	0.000	2						
Point 3	0.000	0.000	0.000	2						
		·								

7.2.15 Adjusting the Elevations

From the *Road Design* menu of the *Horizontal Alignment* mode, select the *Adjust Elevations* command. With this command you can adjust the elevations of a terrain to another terrain.

To execute this command, follow the steps below:

- Import a terrain (File ú Import from ASCII ú Terrain Points).
- Create a new Terrain (from the Horizontal Alignment toolbar ú 🛸).
- In the *Object Properties* toolbar, activate the second terrain that you created and then import the desired terrain in the same way as described above.
- When both terrains have been imported from the *Road Design* menu, click the *Adjust Elevations* command. The following window will appear on screen:

🗑 Eleva	tions Adjustment	×
To	Terrain 1	•
From	Terrain 2	•
	ОК	Cancel

- In the *To* field select the terrain that will get the elevations, while in the *From* field define the terrain from which the elevations will be obtained.
- Click OK to close the window and to perform the adjustment of elevations.

7.2.16 Slope Analysis

With slope analysis you can control the rainwater run-off, provided that the horizontal and vertical road design are completed.

Selecting the Slope Scale

To select the desired scale, go to the *Road Design* menu, select the *Road Preferences* command and define the slope scale in the *Slope Analysis* tab. The following window appears on the screen:

Road Preferences "Road 1"	×
🗐 🔟	
Slopes Diagram Stationing	Terrain Sampling PI Slope Analysis
Sampling	
Maximum step (m)	
1	
, Minimum step (m)	
0.05	
Color scale	
. 050	
0.50 . 1.00	
1.00 . 1.50	
1.50 - 1.30	
2.00 . 2.50	
2.00 - 2.30	
2.50 · Inninite	
	Description 1
	Pavement Siopes 1
	0K Cancel

In the *Sampling* group you can define the *Maximum* and the *Minimum steps* according to which the program searches the slope differences in the parts of the road. The bigger these steps are, the quicker the analysis, but with less accuracy.

In the *Color scale* group, you can select the desired scale from the Pavement Slopes 1 drop-down list.

7.3 Road Design

7.3.1 Introduction

This chapter explains all operations that you can perform from the *Road* mode of the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace or that are directly related to the design of a road. The data of the tangent curve are entered graphically, showing also the distance of the PI to be inserted from the previous one, or numerically (by typing the coordinates of the PIs). They can also be imported from a text file or you can convert a drawing line to a tangent curve.

Before the road is calculated, you must check all properties of the road, the properties of the PIs and the general preferences. You can select from numerous sequences of transition curves and turns for every PI and for two successive PIs. For every PI or couple of PIs, the program suggests the appropriate values for the length or the parameter of the clothoid or the tangent offset.

You can also intervene graphically to the axis before or after the cross section calculation or even after the stationing. Every time you move an object, the program checks whether there is an acceptable solution. You can insert the cross sections numerically, but it is also easy to insert graphically the cross sections, as well as widenings and shoulders. This insertion is even easier when you use the snap feature on terrain point, drawing, etc.

After the calculation of the axis, you can view and edit the superelevation diagram by applying different rules and different parameters. After the statioting, you can immediately update and view the Profile workspace with the profile of the natural terrain, as well as the *Cross Section* workspace with the natural terrain per cross section. In the final stage, when you update from the *Profile* and *Cross Sections* workspaces, you can view in the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace data referring to the road profile, the roadlines and the sideslopes of the road.

7.3.2 Creating a New Road

If you have opened a HOR file, *Tessera* recognizes automatically the roads contained in the file and there is no need to recalculate them. In this case, you can also see the sideslope and roadway lines, if any.

A road in *Tessera* is comprised of PIs. The procedure that you should follow to insert and calculate a new road has seven stages:

- 1. Definition of the names and coordinates of the road PIs .
- 2. Determination of the curve type at each road PI and of the corresponding values (e. g. Radius).
- 3. Determination of the road's specifications regarding its widths and the superelevation diagram.
- 4. Calculation of the road and PI data editing in case an error occurs during the calculation of the road.
- 5. Definition of widenings and medians.
- 6. Creation of cross sections.
- 7. Update of the other two workspaces.

Inserting a Road

To insert a new road, you must first specify the coordinates of its PIs and then the geometric characteristics of every PI.

How to insert the PIs of a road

1. From the Road Design menu, run the Insert road command, or from the Elements

Drawing toolbar, click the *button*. The highlighted square in the middle of the mouse cross shows you the place where the PI will be inserted.

- 2. Use the mouse to specify in ascending order the position of the PIs of the road's tangent curve, or use the *Input Form* dialogue box or the dialogue box of the snap feature for more accuracy, working from the beginning to the end of the road.
- 3. When you have finished importing PIs, click the right mouse button to end the procedure.

If you want to set the road PIs with higher accuracy, you can do this from the window of the *Road PIs* command.

You can also create a tangent curve from a drawing line. Simply select the drawing line and from the menu that will be displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, select the *Convert* submenu and run the *To road* command. A new road will be created, whose PIs will be the points of the drawing line. The order of the PIs is the same as the order in which the points of the drawing line were inserted.

Importing a Road from a Text File

You can import the tangent curve of a road from text files (*ASCII*). To do this, select the *Import from ASCII* submenu of the *File* menu and run the *New road tangent curve* command. A dialogue box will appear on the screen, where you can select a tangent curve file (such files have usually the .XYV extension), containing all data required for the calculation.

Each line of the file corresponds to a PI. A comma separates the data on every line. The first data is the code that corresponds to the type of turn. The codes of the transitions are listed in the following table.

Code	Type of turn
1	Clothoid – Circle - Clothoid
2	Parabola – Circle - Parabola
3	Compound
4	Clothoid – Circle – Egg-shaped – Circle –Clothoid
5	Clothoid – Circle – Clothoid (two PIs) / Hairpin bend
6	Clothoid – Circle – Circle – Clothoid
10	Auxilliary PI (Used only when the previous PI is 4 or 5 or 6)

The codes from 1 to 3 refer only to the PI of the particular line. The codes from 4 up to 6 refer to the PI of the particular line and to the next one, which is always indicated by the code 10.

The other data that you must input is the PI name and the X and Y coordinates. Then, and according to the type of the PI, you must input the necessary elements and the method that you have selected for the calculation of the PIs. To do this, go to the *Project* menu ú *General Preferences* command ú *Calculations* tab ú *Elements input type* group.

Elements input type		
Clothoid - Parabola	Compound	Parabola
● A → L, DR	Phi -> DR	Cubic
C L⇒A, DR	ODR->Phi OT-mask Phi DD	C Cubic OSE (GR)
U DR -> A, L	U Tang -> Phi, DR	C Symmetrical SPTC
Parabola using	Parabola projection	C Cubic corrected
Projection	 Exact 	C w p
C Length	C Approximative	O 4th Degree

For the clothoid and the parabola (codes 1 and 2), first you must input the parameter or the length of the clothoid or the leading tangent offset (depending on the selected calculation method), and then the radius and the corresponding value at the entrance. For the compound, you must input the angle of the leading curve or the leading tangent offset or the tangent length following this order, and then the radius of the trailing curve, the radius of the main circular arc, the radius of the exit arc and finally the angle of the exit arc or the trailing tangent offset or the tangent length for the exit. For the double PIs, the values are the leading element and follow the radius of the first circular arc, the radius of the second circular arc and the trailing element. For the auxiliary PIs (code 10) no additional data is needed, since all the necessary data have been input for the previous PI.

Importing a Road from a Project

To transfer a calculated road from an existing file to the current project, you must go to the *File* menu and run the *Load Road* from *Project* command. The following window will appear on the screen:

Road Selection	
Select road:	
Road 1	•
ОК	Cancel

Here, you can select the road you wish to import. Click the *OK* button to view the calculated road, which maintains not only its PI data but also its sideslopes.

Terrain Profile

When the road design is performed, you can view what the terrain profile will be, without having to update the *Profile* workspace. In this way, you can view the slopes of the terrain at the point where the road has been designed. Thus, you can detect possible problems (big terrain slopes) and correct them by moving the road design. To do this, select the *Terrain Profile* option from the *Road Design* menu. A window will appear on the screen, showing the designed terrain profile.

7.3.3 Road Properties

The specifications of a road depend on many factors. The specifications that must be adhered to are usually those stipulated by the relevant regulations or by the supervising authority or, finally, by the project's needs. In any case, the careful setting of the road's specifications is a main prerequisite when designing a road, in order for the road to have the desired layout.

How to set the specifications of a road in Tessera

- 1. Select the desired road and from the *Road Design* menu select the *Road Preferences* command.
- 2. From the dialogue box of the *Road Preferences* command, select a tab and proceed to the desired settings.

Road Preferences "Road 1"	×
🗐 🙆	
General Widths Slopes Diagram Stationing To	errain Sampling PI SI
Description Design Speed (km/h) Allowed Speed (km/h) 60 Start Ch (m) Coeff. of Transverse Fr 0 Type of road Group A - Separate carriageways Group A - Single carriageway Group BI Group BI	iction Visibility Mult. Factor 1.3 Type © Road © Raliway Line
C Group BIII Vehicle type C Passenger vehicle 4m C Truck (heavy vehicle) 8m C Semi-trailer 10m C Bus 1 (typical bus) 8.5m C Bus 2 (long type) 9m C Bus 3 (megaliner type) 11.7m	Terrain type Flat Hills / Mountains To all Pts
	OK Cancel

3. When you have finished setting the preferences, click OK to close the dialogue box.

You can make settings about:

- The elements of the road PIs (General, PI and Slopes tabs).
- The road widths (*Widths* tab).
- The necessary parameters for the calculation of the superelevation diagram (*Slopes* and *Diagram* tabs).
- The stationing preferences (Stationing and Terrain Sampling tabs).

Chainage

The chainage of the road axis is performed according to the order in which the PIs were inserted, starting from the first PI.

Starting Chainage

The initial value of the starting chainage is zero. If your design concerns only a section of a road, obviously the *Starting Chainage* is different. This is defined from the dialogue box of the *Preferences* command.

How to define the Starting Chainage

From the *Road Design* menu, run the *Road Preferences* command.
 In the displayed dialogue box, select the *General* tab.
 In the *Start Ch* text field, type the *Staring Chainage* of the road.
 Click the *OK* button.

Reverse Chainage

Chainage is performed according to the order in which the PIs were inserted, i.e. zero chainage coincides with the first road PI that you inserted and is independent of the PI names. To reverse the chainage, select the road, right-click in the drawing area, and from the displayed menu run the *Reverse road* command. The program will rename the PIs and update the stations of the horizontal alignment based on the new chainage. In addition, the widenings will be transferred to the opposite side of the road. In order for the profile and the cross sections to comply, you must proceed to the relevant update.

7.3.4 **PI Properties**

The properties of the PIs are defined from the *Road Design* menu, by selecting the *Road Preferences* command. Set the properties in the corresponding fields of the *General* and *PI* tabs, in the dialogue box shown below:

Road Preferences "Road 1"	×
General Widths Slopes Diagram Stationing Terrain Sampling Pl Sl	Ŀļ
New Pt properties	
Clothoid - Circle - Clothoid	
C Parabola Circle Parabola	
Circular arc radius (m)	
200 > 149.192	
Clothoid data	
Parameter	
100	
Length (m)	
Tangent offset (m)	
0.52 To all PIs	
OK Cancel	ī

In the General tab, you can set all the parameters required for your project. The required data is the road(s) design speed V(km/h), the coefficient of transverse friction f and the maximum curve superelevation q. Type these values in the *Design speed* (km/h) and *Coefficient of transverse friction* fields of the *General* tab respectively, and in the *Maximum curve superelevation* field of the *Limit Values* group

in the *Slopes* tab.

To set the type and the data of the calculated curve at every new PI, go to the *PI* tab. In this window and only in the Professional version, you can select the new PIs to be of the *Clothoid* –*Circle* – *Clothoid* or *Cubic Parabola* type, by ticking the relevant check box. In the *Standard* version, the new PIs are bound to be of the *Clothoid* – *Circle* – *Clothoid* version, the new PIs are bound to be of the *Clothoid* – *Circle* – *Clothoid* version, the new PIs are bound to be of the *Clothoid* – *Circle* – *Clothoid* version, the new PIs are bound to be of the *Clothoid* – *Circle* – *Clothoid* version, the new PIs are bound to be of the *Clothoid* – *Circle* – *Clothoid* version, the new PIs are bound to be of the *Clothoid* – *Circle* – *Clothoid* version, the new PIs are bound to be of the *Clothoid* – *Circle* – *Clothoid* version, the new PIs are bound to be of the *Clothoid* – *Circle* – *Clothoid* version, the new PIs are bound to be of the *Clothoid* – *Circle* – *Clothoid* version, the new PIs are bound to be of the *Clothoid* – *Circle* – *Clothoid* version, version, version versi

$$R = \frac{V^2}{127(q+f)}$$

In the *Circular arc radius* text field, enter the curvature radius *R*. The minimum suggested value for the curvature radius, which is displayed next to the field, derives from the above formula and depends on the design speed, the coefficient of transverse friction and the maximum curve superelevation that you have entered in the *General* tab. You have the option to change the minimum radius, if desired.

In the last three fields, you can set the parameter A of the curve, the length of the clothoid L as well as the offset ε , by using either the clothoid or the parabola (*Professional* version) as transition curve. According to literature, when the transition curve is a clothoid, these three values are related with the following formulas:

$$L = \frac{A^2}{R} \quad \varepsilon = \frac{L^2}{24R}$$

If you change, for example, the length of the clothoid, then the offset and the parameter A will also change. Depending on the calculation method you have selected from the *Project* menu ú *General Preferences* ú *Calculations* tab ú *Elements input type* group, only one of the three text fields is active.

When the transition curve is a parabola, the formulas applied for the calculation of the values will change according to the type of the parabola, which is also selected from the *Elements input type* group of the *Calculations* tab in the dialogue box of the *Project* menu.

When you have made all the desired settings as described above, and if these are the settings that you usually work with, it is recommended to click the *OK* button. The *To all PIs* button replaces all the values of the existing PIs of the road with the ones you have entered in the dialogue box.

7.3.5 Editing PIs

Adding PIs to a Road

You can add as many PIs as you want to an existing road.

How to add a PI to a road

- 1. Select the road you wish to edit by placing the mouse pointer over a PI and clicking the left mouse button.
- 2. From the shortcut menu, which is displayed if you right-click in the drawing, select *Extend towards start* or *Extend towards end*, depending on the direction towards which you wish to insert the new PI.
- 3. Specify the position of the new PI. If the new PI is inserted between two existing PIs, the program displays a confirmation message, and you must select whether the PIs that are next to the new one will be renamed.
| PI numbering. | | × |
|----------------------|-----------------|--------|
| Do you want next PIs | names to be cha | anged? |
| (<u>Y</u> es | No | |

MovingPIs on a Road

You can easily move the PIs with the mouse. Left-click to select and highlight the desired PI and then simply drag the PI to the desired place. When you drag the PI, the L1 and L2 distances between the PI you are dragging and its two adjacent ones (previous and next) appear on the left of the status bar.

You can also change the position of the PI from the window of the Properties command.

Properties	<u>×</u>	
Road (Road 1) , PI PI3		
Property	Value	
PI Name	PI3	
PIX	589425.261	
PLY	4560160.417	
PI ch	793.423	
Design Speed	60.000	
PI Data	Clothoid Circle Clothoid	
Angle b	161.556	
Angle g	18.444	
TS-ST CS-SC Tang PI-CC	114.383 14.383 57.544 3.146	
Maximum curve superelevation	7.000	
<u> </u>		

When this window is open and you select the desired PI, you can define the new position of the PI by typing the X and Y coordinates in the *PI X* and *PI Y* text fields.

Batch Moving of Road PIs

From the *Road PIs* command window you can carry out a batch editing of the PIs positions.

How to carry out a batch move of the road PIs

- 1. Select the desired road and then run the *Road PIs* command from the *Road Design* menu.
- 2. The program displays the following window, which is comprised of twelve columns that correspond to the serial number of the PI, the X and Y coordinates of each PI, the distance from the previous PI, the angle from the previous section, the leading clothoid parameter, the leading clothoid length, the leading tangent offset, the circle radius, the trailing clothoid parameter, the trailing clothoid length and the trailing tangent offset. Each line of the window corresponds to a PI.

	PIX (m)	PIY (m)	Distance from previous PI (m)	Angle relative to previous (*)	Clothoid parameter	Clothoid length (m)	Tangent Offset (m)	Circle radius (m)	Clothoid parameter	Clothoid length (m)	Tangent Offset (m)
11	589027.736	4560831.802			100.000	50.000	0.521	200.000	100.000	50.000	0.52
12	589343.536	4560442.944	500.940		100.000	50.000	0.521	200.000	100.000	50.000	0.52
3	589425.261	4560160.417	294.110	-22.948	100.000	50.000	0.521	200.000	100.000	50.000	0.52
4	589416.594	4559945.676	214.915	-18.444	100.000	50.000	0.521	200.000	100.000	50.000	0.5

- 3. Change the values in the desired text fields by typing the new coordinates and then press the *Enter* key to save the value.
- 4. Click the *OK* button to confirm the changes or click *Cancel* to restore the original settings.

Renaming Road PIs

The program renames the PIs of a road in ascending order and according to the order in which the PIs were inserted. To change the name of a PI, run the *Properties* command and in the *PI name* field change the name of the PI.

Deleting a Road PI

You can also delete a road PI.

How to delete a road PI

- 1. To select the road PI you wish to delete, place the mouse pointer over the PI and click the left mouse button.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, select the *Delete PI* command.

Graphical Change of the Radius

You can move graphically the radius of a road PI.

How to move graphically a radius

- 1. Select the PI whose radius you wish to change.
- 2. You will notice that a yellow box appears at the point that corresponds to the center of the circular arc.
- 3. If you place the mouse pointer there, the color changes.
- 4. With the mouse pointer in the square, click the left mouse button to lengthen or shorten the radius of the selected PI's circular arc.

7.3.6 Editing Road Stations

From the *Road Design* menu, run the *Road Stations Table* command. In the displayed window you can proceed to the batch editing of the stations positions.

🗑 Sta	tions			IX
	< 🗉 🥔			
	Cs name	Ch.	Dist. from prev.	
1	POB	0.000		
2	1	20.000	20.000	
3	2	40.000	20.000	
4	3	60.000	20.000	
5	4	80.000	20.000	
6	5	100.000	20.000	
7	6	120.000	20.000	
8	7	140.000	20.000	
9	8	160.000	20.000	
10	9	180.000	20.000	
11	10	200.000	20.000	
12	11	220.000	20.000	
13	12	240.000	20.000	-
			OK Cano	cel

The above window has three columns: Station *name, Chainage* and *Distance from previous station*. There are also three buttons:

- : Insert new station.
- 🔀: Delete selected station.

E: Numbering of next station based on the name of the selected one.

7.3.7 Editing PI Data

Once you have imported all the PIs of a road's tangent curve, the next step for the calculation of the road is to define the data of every PI.

How to input the data of a road's PI

- 1. Display the window of the *Properties* command.
- 2. Select the road you wish to edit.
- 3. Select the PI you wish to edit.
- 4. In the *Properties* command window, select the value of the *PI Data* property. Click the three-dots button , appearing when you select the box.
- 5. The following dialogue box appears on screen:

PI Data			×
Name	Angle b (*)	Angle g (*)	_
ILL I	J161.5556]18.4444	
Curve Type			
Clothoid Circle Clothoid			•
Curve data			
Circular arc radius (m)			
200		Def. Values	
Clothoid data	115.470 < A <	115.470	
Leading		Trailing	
Parameter		Parameter	
100		100	
Length (m)		Length (m)	
50		50	
Tangent offset (m)		Tangent offset (m)	
0.520543		0.520543	
	OK	Cancel	Apply

Follow the same procedure to change the data of a road's PI, regardless of whether the road is calculated or not.

From the *Curve Type* field, select the desired type of curve for the PI. The parameter fields change based on the curve type.

7.3.8 Types of Transition Curve

Anadelta Tessera offers various types of transition curves, both in the Standard and in the Professional version.

How to change the type of transition curve

- 1. Display the *Properties* command window.
- 2. Select the road you wish to edit.
- 3. Select the PI you wish to edit.
- 4. In the *Properties* command window, select the value of the *PI Data* property. Click the three-dots button , appearing when you select the box.

Transition Curves in the Standard Version

There are three available types of transition curves in the *Standard* version: the simple clothoid, the compound and the clothoid circle clothoid (two PIs).

Simple Clothoid

The most common type of curve is the clothoid. When you select *Clothoid Circle Clothoid* from the drop-down list of the *Curve Type* field, the dialogue box of the *PI Data* command opens as follows:

PI Data			×
Name PI3	Angle b (*) 161.5556	Angle g (*)	1
Curve Type			
Clothoid Circle Clothoid			•
Curve data			
Circular arc radius (m) 200		Def. Values	
Clothoid data	115.470 < A <	115.470	
Leading		Trailing	
Parameter		Parameter	
100		100	
Length (m)		Length (m)	
50		50	
Tangent offset (m)		Tangent offset (m)	
0.520543		0.520543	
	OK	Cancel	Apply

In the *Circular arc radius* text field, you can edit in meters the radius of the circular arc of the turn. The radius *R* can even get a zero value if the road axis follows a zigzag line (in case you have to depict an existing state). If the values in the fields are such, that it is impossible to calculate the curve, then the fields appear in red. Enter the data for the leading transition curve in the text fields of the left column and the data for the trailing transition curve in the text fields of the left column, since you have the option to create asymmetrical turns. Depending on how the parameter, the length and the offset derive, according to your selection in the *Calculations* tab of the dialogue box of the *General Preferences* command, only one of the three text fields is active. Also, the *Clothoid data* field displays the minimum and maximum values you have set for the clothoid (A,L,ε). The clothoid values derive from the aesthetic convention 1/3 < A/R < 1m, and by applying the relation A2=L*R the result is R/9 < R < L or R/3 < A < R.

When the curvature radius R changes, the values of the clothoid length also change, while a change in the length of the clothoid also changes the value of the offset ε .

Any change of the parameters affects the value of the A/R ratio (= $\sqrt{L/R}$). The limits of this ratio depend on the PI angle, therefore the maximum value derives from the CS-SC>=0.15TS-CS convention, while the minimum value derives from the TS-CS>=0.4E E convention.

The A/R ratio must be within the range of the suggested values. The minimum value of this ratio ensures the minimum clothoid length for adjusting the cross slope or the superelevation. It also ensures the minimum length imposed by reasons of dynamics. The minimum value of the ratio is replaced by the minimum value of the aesthetic convention (1/3) for angles wider than 182 degrees, while the maximum value is replaced by the maximum limit of the aesthetic convention for angles narrower than 137 degrees. The minimum value can be skipped for high curvature radii where the use of clothoid is not required. The maximum value can also be skipped for road design with high clothoid parameter values without an intermediate circular arc. When the curvature radius R changes, the suggested limits of the selected parameter also change accordingly.

When you click the *Def. Values* button, the program enters in the fields of the selected parameter the minimum value that has been calculated based on the radius, for the entrance and the exit. You can choose whether the field will be filled with the minimum or average or maximum value of the parameter from the menu that is displayed if you click the right mouse button.

Compound Curve

The next transition curve is the compound. When you select the *Compound* option from the drop-down list of the *Curve Type* field, the *Curve parameters* group of the *PI Data* command is displayed as shown in the figure:



The group has three columns with text fields. In the *Radius (m)* text field of the middle column, you can edit in meters the radius of the turn's circular arc. Enter the data for the leading transition curve in the text fields of the left column (*Leading Data*) and the data for the trailing transition curve in the text fields of the right column (*Trailing Data*). Here, in the *Radius (m)* text field, you can edit in meters the radius of the circular arc at the entrance or exit of the turn. According to the calculation method you have selected for the compound curves in the dialogue box of the *General Preferences* command, only one of the other three text fields is active: the central angle $\varphi(^{\circ})$, the *Offset* (m), namely the distance of the *cangent (m)*. The other two fields are automatically calculated by the program and their data are displayed in the box.

Clothoid – Circle – Clothoid (2 PIs)

If you want to design a hairpin bend between two PIs, you must select the *Clothoid circle clothoid* (2 PIs) from the drop-down list of the *Curve Type* field. The *Curve data* group in the dialogue box of the *PI Data* command box is displayed as shown in the figure:



The group has two columns with text fields. Enter the data for the leading transition curve in the text fields of the left column (*Leading Data*) and the data for the trailing transition curve in the text fields of the right column (*Trailing Data*). In the *Circular arc radius (m)* text field of each column, you can edit in meters the radius of the circular arc of the turn. It is known that, depending on the position of the road PIs and the value of the offset, there is only one value for the radius that abuts on both PIs. When you click the *Def. Values* button, the program calculates this value according to the current value of the leading and trailing offset and enters the result in the relevant fields. According to the calculation method you have selected for the compound curves in the dialogue box of the General Preferences command, only one of the other three text fields is active: *Cloth. Parameter, Cloth. Length (m)* or *Tangent offset (m)*. The other two fields are automatically calculated by the program and their data are displayed in the box.

Transition Curves in the Professional Version

The *Professional* version offers three additional types of transition curves: cubic parabola, transition curve of two adjacent PIs with two circular arcs, and egg-shaped curve.

Cubic Parabola

By selecting the *Cubic parabola* from the drop-down list of the *Curve Type* field, the dialogue box of the *PI Data* command is displayed as shown in the figure:

Curve data Circular arc radius (m 200	ı)	Parabola ty Cubic Cubic 0 Cymme	pe O C DSE (GR) C 4 trical SPTC	Cubic corrected Ith Degree
Leading Parameter 100	Parab	ola Data	Trailing Parameter 100	-
Projection (m) 50 Tangent offset (m 0.538909	Lengt 50.07	h (m) 77955	Projection (m) 50 Tangent offset (0.538909	Length (m) 50.077955 m)

In the *Circular arc radius* text field, you can edit in meters the radius of the circular arc of the turn. In the text fields below, enter the data for the leading and trailing transition curves in the left and right columns, respectively. According to the calculation method you have selected for the length and the offset in the dialogue box of the *General Preferences* command, only one of the three text fields is active. Also, in the *Parabola Type* group, you can select one of the available cubic parabola types, which can be different from one PI to another.

Clothoid - Circle - Circle - Clothoid

If you want to design a hairpin bend between two PIs with two different curvature radii, you must select the *Clothoid circle circle clothoid (2 PIs)* from the drop-down list of the *Curve Type* field. The *Curve data* group in the dialogue box of the *PI Data* command is displayed as shown in the figure:



The group has two columns with text fields. Enter the data for the leading transition curve in the text fields of the left column (*Leading Data*) and the data for the trailing transition curve in the text fields of the right column (*Trailing Data*). In the *Circular arc radius (m)* text field of each column, you can edit in meters the radius of the circular arc. It is known that, according to the position of the road PIs and given the value of a radius and the value of the leading and trailing offsets, there is only one value for the second radius that abuts on both PIs. Therefore, when you change the value of the leading radius also changes automatically. If you change the leading offset, the leading radius will change accordingly. When you click the *Def. Values* button, the program suggests certain values for both radii, according

to the angles of the two PIs and the values of the leading and trailing offsets. The suggested values are shown in the corresponding fields. Right below and depending on the calculation method you have selected for the clothoid in the dialogue box of the *General Preferences* command, only one of the other three text fields i.e *Parameter, Length(m)* or *Offset(m)*, is active. The other two fields are automatically calculated by the program and their data are displayed in the box.

Egg-shaped Curve

By selecting the *Clothoid circle egg-shaped circle clothoid (2 PIs)* from the drop-down list of the *Curve Type,* the *Curve data* group in the dialogue box of the *PI Data* command is displayed as follows:



The group has three columns with text fields. In the *Circular arc radius (m)* field of each column, you can edit in meters the radius of the circular arc of the turn. By clicking the *Def. Values* button, the program calculates the radii of the circular arcs according to the angles of the two PIs and the values of the leading and trailing offsets, and enters the results directly in the corresponding fields. Enter the data for the leading transition curve in the text fields of the left column (*Leading Data*) and the data for the trailing transition curve in the text fields of the right column (*Trailing Data*). Depending on the calculation method you have selected in the *Elements input type* of the *Calculations* tab, in the dialogue box of the *General Preferences* command of the *File* menu, only one of the other three text fields i.e *Parameter, Length(m)* or *Offset(m)* is active. The other two fields are automatically calculated by the program and their data is displayed in the box.

7.3.9 Superelevation Diagram

Methods for the Calculation of the Superelevation Diagram

To specify the preferences that will apply for the calculation of the superelevation diagram, run the *Road Preferences* command from the *Road Design* menu and then go to the *Diagram* tab. The following dialogue box will open:

Road Preferences "Road 1"
 10
General Widths Slopes Diagram Stationing Terrain Sampling PI SI
Superelevation regulations
German regulations
C American regulations
Uuter boundary line half added slope on tangent
Inner superelevation calculation based on
C Uniform pavement superelevation
Einear interpolation on the clothoid
Distance for joining superelevations (German/Linear) Between same direction turns 10 Between opposite direction turns 10
OK Cancel

In this dialogue box, first select the method for the calculation of the superelevations. All of the following shall apply to curves of the clothoid-circular arch-clothoid type. In the case of the simple circular arc, the program ignores your selection of the superelavation calculation method. Even in the case of double PIs, these are considered as a single curve for the purposes of the superelevation diagram.

When you select the *German Preferences* option, the program assumes that the superelevations change (from the dual-grade station to the single-grade one) from the beginning of the curve, namely from the position where TS station will be inserted afterwards. It also assumes that the end of the curve (TS station) is the restoration point of the superelevations in the dual-grade station state. The start and end points of the circular arc (CS and SC) are identified with the start and end points of the single-grade station. The figure shows two examples of superelevation diagrams that have been calculated in this way.



The first example has been calculated based on uniform pavement superelevation, which will be analyzed hereinafter, while the second one was based on linear interpolation on the clothoid. Apart from the two lines of the superelevation diagram, the figure also shows the curvature diagram, with the characteristic positions TS, CS, SC and ST.

When you select the *American Preferences* option, the program assumes that the superelevation of the external side at point SC (beginning of curve) and at point ST (end of curve) has already changed to zero value. The start and end points of the circular arc (TS and CS) are identified, as stated above, with the start and end points of the single-grade station. The points where the superelevation variation begins and ends (on tangents) derive from linear calculation. The figure shows two examples of superelevation diagrams that have been calculated in this way.



From the dialogue box shown below,

Road Preferences "Road 1"		×
a a		
General Widths Slopes Diagram Stationing Terrain S	ampling P	I SIII
Superelevation regulations		
 German regulations 		
C American regulations		
Duter boundary line half added slope on tangent		
Inner superelevation calculation based on		
C Uniform pavement superelevation		
 Linear interpolation on the clothoid 		
Distance for joining superelevations (German/Linear) Between same direction turns 10 Between apposite direction turns		
	OK	Cancel

you can also select the superelevation calculation method inside the curve. If you select *Uniform pavement superelevation*, the superelevation of the inner side of the road will maintain the value it has on the tangents, until the superelevation of the outer side assumes the value that corresponds to the state of the single-grade station of uniform superelevation. The state of uniform superelevation is maintained until it assumes its maximum value at the CS point; this value remains the same until the SC point. From SC to ST, the procedure is reversed.

If you select *Linear interpolation on the clothoid,* the superelevation of the road's inner side changes linearly (from the value on tangent to the maximum value) and regardless of the change of the superelevation on the outer side. The above figures show the two alternative solutions of superelevation diagrams (inner roadline) for each of the first two calculation methods.

The Distance for joining superelevations matters only when the German Preferences and Linear interpolation on the clothoid check boxes are ticked. When the turns are of the same direction and the distance between the end of the trailing transition curve (ST) and the beginning of the leading transition curve of the next turn (TS) is shorter than the distance you have typed in the Between same direction turns text field, then the left and right superelevations will remain unchanged between the two turns.



In the case of two consecutive opposite direction turns, if the distance between the end of the trailing transition curve (ST) and the beginning of the leading transition curve of the next turn (TS) is shorter than the distance you have typed in the *Between opposite direction turns* text field, then at the exit of the first turn the left and right superelevations are restored gradually to the 0% value, and not to the values of the normal cross section (-2%, 2% or -2.5%, 2.5%), while the zero point of the superelevations is not ST, but the center of the TS-ST distance, where the superelevations of the next turn begin.



Superelevation Diagram Values

To set the values of the superelevation diagram, namely the superelevation values on tangents and turns, go to the *Road Design* menu, run the *Road Preferences* command and make your settings in the dialogue box of the *Slopes* tab.

Road Preferences "Road 1"		x
📄 🔟		
General Widths Slopes Diagram S	tationing Terrain Sampling Pl Sl 💶	F
Superelevations on tangents (%)		
Pavement left 2.5	Pavement right 2.5	
Shoulder left 4	Shoulder right 4	
Limit values (%) Maximum curve superelevation		
Shoulders © Edge superelevation difference	8	
C Superelevation on curve external	6	
Max added slope of boundary lines (Ds	max)	
Minimum boundary lines added slope (D	s min)	
Added slope of boundary lines (on turns	without transition curve)	
Superelevation variation on tangents %	(on turns without transition curve)	
Pw.	To al Pis	
	OK Cancel	

Enter the values of the superelevations on a road's tangents in the *Superelevations on* tangents (%) group fields. In the *Pavement left* and *Pavement right* text fields, enter the left and right superelevations of the pavement, respectively. Enter the left and right superelevations of the shoulder in the *Shoulder left* and *Shoulder right* text fields, respectively.

In the *Maximum curve superelevation* field, enter the value of the maximum superelevation along the circular arc. This setting shall apply to all PIs and to update them you must click the *To all PIs* button. If you want the superelevations on tangents to apply also to the turn, then the value that you will enter in the field must be negative to the value that you entered for the tangent (*e.g. -2% or -2.5%*). If you want to change the maximum superelevation at a particular turn, you can do this from the window of the *Properties* command.

In the *Shoulders* group, select how the program will calculate the shoulders. Detailed explanations on the fields are provided in another chapter, where the calculation of shoulder elevations is analysed.

In the *Max added slope of boundary lines (Ds max)* field, enter the maximum variation rate of the outer roadline (maximum longitudinal slope) between the value of the normal cross section (-2% or -2.5%) and the maximum value. This is required in the case of short clothoid lengths, in order to avoid breaks at the roadlines.

The *Minimum boundary lines added slope (Ds min)* field affects the elevation diagram that will derive, by determining the minimum variation rate of the outer roadline (minimum longitudinal superelevation) between the value of the normal cross section (-2% or -2.5%) and the positive value (2% or 2.5%). This is required in the case of long clothoid lengths, in order to avoid superelevation values near 0% for the road section that will be calculated. The figure shows how this value affects the superelevation diagram for both calculation methods, when the value in the relevant field is 1%.



The Added slope of boundary lines (on turns without transition curve) field matters only when the clothoid length is zero and the value specifies the variation rate of the outer roadline (longitudinal slope) from the value of the normal cross section (-2% or - 2.5%) to the maximum value. This is required for the calculation of the necessary length for the cross slope variation. This length is calculated in conjunction with the value of the next field.

The Superelevation variation on tangents % (on turns without transition curve) matters only if the clothoid length is zero and determines the percentage of the attenuation length (%) on the tangent with respect to the total attenuation length that is required. The total superelevation attenuation length is the length required for the cross slope variation from the position of the normal cross section to the position of the maximum superelevation.

When a PI element that affects the superelevation diagram changes, then, when you click *OK* to close the dialogue box of the *Road Preferences* command, the following confirmation message will appear on screen,

Warning	×
Recalculate super	elevation diagram?
(<u>Y</u> es	No

prompting you to confirm the recalculation of the superelevation diagram. If you select *No*, in order for the roadlines to be recalculated, go to the *Road Design* menu, select the *Recalculate* submenu and run the *Superelevations* command.

7.3.10 Displaying the Superelevation Diagram

To view the superelevation diagram for the current road, run the *Superelevation Diagram* command of the *Road Design* menu. The following tab appears:



The three lines correspond to the curvature diagram (grey line), the superelevation of the left roadline (red line) and the superelevation of the right roadline (yellow line). Of course, in order that these lines are displayed, the calculation of the road must have already been performed.

As you will see, this tab has a menu entitled *Diagrams* and a toolbar (apart from the main one) with the operations that you can carry out from here. The only purpose of this tab is the graphic presentation of the superelevation diagram of the selected road, and therefore you cannot edit the diagram directly with the mouse, you can only change the preferences.

If you wish to change the values of the diagram, you must either run the *Edit Diagrams* command of the *Diagrams* menu, or change the values of the superelevation diagram settings from the *Diagram* and *Slopes* tab of the *Road Properties* dialogue box,

which are displayed if you click the 🗾 button.

If you want to increase the horizontal axis scale with respect to the vertical V/X, run the *Stationing* command of the *Diagrams* menu or click the \checkmark button or press the *F5* key. If you want to reduce the horizontal axis scale with respect to the vertical V/X,

run the *Spacing* command, of the *Diagrams* menu or click the *state* button or press the *F6* key.



If you want to define the exact ratio of the V/X scales, run the *Scale X/Y* command of the *Diagrams* menu. The dialogue box shown in the figure will appear on screen; type the value of this ratio in the text field of this box.

If you don't want to view the axis and the curvature diagram, click the \pm button. To view them again, simply click the same button again.

7.3.11 Setting the Widths

You can set the widths of the various elements of a roadway from the dialogue box of the Widths tab, which is displayed if you run the *Road Preferences* command of the *Road Design* menu.

Left pavement width	Right pavement width
Left lane width 3.75	Right lane width 3.75
Left lane axis distance	Right lane axis distance
Left emergency lane	Right emergency lane
Shoulder width left 0.75	Shoulder width right 0.75
Left Median	Right Median
Trafic lane width 3.75	

The tab has two groups of text fields. Enter the widths for the left and right part of the road in the text fields of the left and right column, respectively. The widths that you must enter are explained below in the order they appear:

- the pavement width, namely the distance from the road axis to the end of the course layer,
- the lane width (a), which is used in the calculation of the Ds slopes of the superelevation diagram,
- the distance of the semiaxis (auxiliary axis) from the cross section axis (mostly double branch cross sections),
- the emergency lane width,
- the shoulder width, namely the distance between the end of the course and the end

of the shoulder's surface,

• the median width, namely the distance between the road axis and the end of the median.

Based on this data, during the calculation of the road the program will calculate the boundary lines, namely the pavement line, the shoulder line, the lines of the auxiliary axes and the median lines. These widths refer to the beginning of the road and they are fixed and equal to the values entered in the corresponding fields. If you want to enter a variation of the widths between two chainages, you can do this after the road has been calculated, by inserting the appropriate widening type.

Warning	×	
Recalculate bou	indary lines?	
·····		
(<u>Y</u> es	<u>N</u> o	

If you modify any of the widths after the road has been calculated, click the *OK* button to close the dialogue box of the *Road Preferences* command. A confirmation message will appear on the screen, prompting you to confirm the recalculation of the boundary lines.

Warning		×
Recalculate super	elevation diagrar	n?
(<u>Y</u> es	No	

If you modify the lane width, a message will appear, prompting you to confirm the recalculation of the superelevation diagram. If you select *No* and you want the boundary lines to be recalculated, select the *Recalculate* submenu from the *Road Design* menu and run the *Roadlines* command.

7.3.12 Calculation of a Road

If the data you have entered for the PIs are not acceptable, the program will display the corresponding error messages, in the message window at the bottom of the screen.

For example, if the trailing clothoid of a PI (PI1) and the leading clothoid of the next PI (PI2) overlap, it is evident that the road cannot be created and the corresponding message is displayed. The program will give you the Tang + Tang? total value and the PI1PI2 distance. The error is that this value is higher than the PI1PI2 distance, therefore the difference of these two values gives the value of the error, namely how many metres are missing. You can solve this problem by modifying the curvature radius or the clothoid length (leading or trailing accordingly). Even if the leading clothoid and the trailing clothoid of a PI overlap, a message will appear, informing you at which PI this overlap occurs. You can deal with this problem either by increasing the PI angle or by decreasing the length of the clothoid (leading or trailing accordingly).

After the calculation of the road, you can edit the PIs, as previously described. When an element of the PI that affects the layout geometry changes, then the relevant part of the curve is recalculated automatically.

If the move is interrupted at a point where calculation is not possible, an error message will appear in the message window at the bottom of the screen, explaining why there is no solution.

The calculation of the road includes the calculation of the axis curve, the calculation of the roadway – pavement roadlines and the calculation of the superelevation diagram. Both during the calculation of the roadlines and during the superelevation diagram, the program takes into account various elements, which are analyzed in separate paragraphs.

UndoRoad Calculation

If you wish, you can undo the road calculation, in order to edit or change its elements. Undoing the calculation does not affect the values you have defined until now for each PI. Simply run the Undo *Road Calculation* command from the *Road Design* menu. This is useful for inserting and editing road elements without direct control by the program.

7.3.13 Widenings

Inserting and Editing Pavement Widenings

The concept of pavement widening in *Tessera* means to increase or decrease the semiwidth of the pavement on its left or right side. You can use the widenings to configure the roadlines of the pavement. The program creates automatically two types of roadway widenings. The first type refers to the roadway widening for the creation of additional traffic lanes, while the second type refers to the automatic widening of the pavement on curves.

Inserting and Editing a Pavement Widening

Select the desired road where the widening will be inserted and then, from the *Road Design* menu, select *Widenings* and then *Pavement Widening*.

The program creates a movable drawing of the widening with a yellow triangle. The widening is defined by the position of the mouse pointer. With the mouse you can also specify the road side where the widening will take place. Once you have selected the appropriate position, click the left mouse button to insert the widening. Note in the figure below that the new widening configures the roadlines of both the paveway and the pavement.





Properties		×
Pavement widening (Road 1)		•
Property	Value	
Chainage	430.275	
Widening width	2.000	
Widening length	5.000	
Widening radius 1	2.000	
Widening radius 2	2.000	
Widening Type	Normal	

Next, run the *Properties* command, to open the window shown in the figure. Immediately after the insertion, the new widening remains selected. If you have somehow unselected the widening, you can select it again by clicking the mouse with the pointer inside the corresponding auxiliary triangle (the white one).

In the first field of the window, edit the value of the chainage where the widening will be inserted. In the second field, enter the widening width, which can be positive for moving away from the road axis, or negative for moving towards the road axis. In the next three fields, enter the widening length, as well as the first and second curvature radii respectively, as shown in the figure.



In the last field, enter the type of widening, which concerns mainly the form of the rounding arcs that are being used.

When you close the window, the program will insert the widening according to the data you have entered, from the point you have specified until the end of the road. Upon insertion of a pavement widening, a respective shoulder modification is also inserted with the same characteristics. Namely, a change in the road's width (widening) also affects (modifies) the shoulder (pavement roadlines), while this does not occur when inserting shoulder widenings, a procedure described in a following paragraph.

Next, you can insert another widening, with negative width value (using the same principle as described above) at another position after the first widening, in order to create a road section like the one shown in the figure:



In this example, the value entered for the first widening is +2 and for the second widening is -2.

Note that it is possible to insert additional widenings between the aforementioned two ones. If the widening that you are inserting overlaps with an already existing one, or if the values you have entered are not compatible, then the program will inform you about this error and will not take into account the widening when configuring the roadlines, while the arrows indicating the beginning and the end of the widening as well as the corresponding triangle will turn yellow.

The procedure for editing widenings is the same that applies to the editing of all elements (Cross sections, PIs, points, perimeters, etc.). Namely, you must select the desired element and click the right mouse button. To select a widening, left-click inside the triangle of the desired widening and then right-click to display the widening editing menu. Select *Properties* to display the dialogue box and enter the new data. Any editing action on a widening applies also to the respective shoulder.

To delete a widening, select it and then right-click in the drawing area; from the displayed menu select *Delete object* "*Widening.... (Road...)"*. If the respective shoulder widening is also selected, then in the shortcut menu, the *Delete* command will be displayed and you can use it to delete both widenings.

Inserting and Editing a Pavement Widening on Curve

If you wish to insert a widening on a curve, select the road PI where the widening will be inserted and from the *Road Design* menu select the *Widenings* submenu and then run the *New Widening on Curve* command. The program will calculate the required widening based on the vehicle type that you have defined in the *Road Design* menu \rightarrow *Road preferences* command \rightarrow *General tab* \rightarrow *Vehicle type* group.

- Vehiele tue e
venicie (ype
C Passenger vehicle 4m
Truck (heavy vehicle) 8m
Semi-trailer 10m
O Bus 1 (typical bus) 8.5m
🔿 Bus 2 (long type) 9m
O Bus 3 (megaliner type) 11.7m

The procedure for editing a curve widening is the same that applies to the editing of all elements. Left-click inside the triangle of the widening and then right-click to display the widening editing menu. Select *Properties* and enter the new data.

Inserting and Editing a Shoulder Widening

The concept of shoulder widening in *Tessera* means to increase or decrease the semiwidth of the roadway on its left or right side. Use the shoulder widenings to configure the roadlines of the pavement. As mentioned in the previous paragraph, when inserting a pavement widening, the shoulder widening is inserted automatically. However, it is possible to insert shoulder widenings separately.

To insert the particular shoulder widenings (without changing the pavement width), from the *Road Design* menu select *Widenings* and then run the *New Shoulder Widening* command. The insertion procedure is the same as the one described in the previous paragraph for the pavement widenings.

The procedure followed for editing shoulder widenings is similar to the one for editing widenings, regardless of whether or not the shoulder has resulted from the insertion of a corresponding pavement widening. In case that the shoulder corresponds to (i.e. it has the same starting chainage) a pavement widening, every editing action on the particular widening will also affect the parameters of the shoulder. Therefore, you

must edit shoulder widenings only after you have edited the corresponding pavement widenings. When you change the chainage position of a shoulder widening that corresponds to a pavement widening, the shoulder will no longer correspond to this particular widening.

Everything we have mentioned previously for the pavement widenings also applies when you insert or edit a shoulder that overlaps with an adjacent one. To delete the shoulder widening, select *Delete object* "*Shoulder widening (Road...)"* from the shortcut menu.

Inserting and Editing Medians

The concept of the median in *Tessera* means to create a zone in the middle of the pavement. This zone is defined by two roadlines, the left and the right median line. Note that, during the creation of the road's cross sections, the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace supplies the *Cross Sections* workspace with the diagrams of the left and right medians. These diagrams can be used for determining the inner roadlines of the pavement (in the case of double branch cross section) or/ and for inserting a pavement encasing material based on the diagram (e.g. kerb, N. Jersey).

Inserting a Median

Set the widths for the left and right median in the same way you set the left and right semiwidth of the road, separately for every road of the project. You can set the widths of the median from the dialogue box that is displayed in the *Widths* tab of the *Road Preferences* command of the *Road Design* menu. In all cases, enter the widths of the left and right median in the relevant fields of the dialogue box that is displayed on the screen.

In this way, a median is inserted in the center of the roadway. The width of the median is the same from the beginning to the end of the road. To view the roadlines of the medians, you must have selected the display of the road's boundary lines.

Median Widening

In this paragraph you will see how to modify the medians of a road. To add a median widening, activate the *Road* mode and select the desired road. From the *Road Design* menu, select the *Widenings* submenu and then run the *New Median Widening* command.

The program will make a moveable yellow draft drawing of the median, at the chainage you have specified with the mouse. With the mouse you can also select the side of the road where the widening will take place.

Next, select the widening and run the *Properties* command. In the first field of the window, edit the value of the chainage where the widening will be inserted. In the second field enter the value of the widening. This can be positive for moving away from the road axis or negative for moving towards the road axis. In the next three fields, enter the widening length, the first curvature radius, and the second curvature radius, respectively. In the last field enter the type of the widening, which is mainly the type of the rounding arcs that are being used.

When you close the window, the program will insert the widening according to the data you have entered, and will configure the corresponding median boundary line from the position you have specified until the end of the road.

Editing a Median

The procedure for editing medians is the same that applies to the editing of all

elements (Cross sections, PIs, points, perimeters, etc.). Left-click inside the triangle of the desired median and then right-click to display the relevant menu. Select *Properties* and enter the new data.

Deleting a Median Widening

To delete the median widening, click the right mouse button and from the displayed menu select the *Delete object* "*Median widening (Road...)"* command.

7.3.14 Stationing

When the calculation of the road is completed, stationing can take place. Stationing is the calculation of the position of stations on the road axis. The stations are inserted according to the preferences defined in the *Stationing* tab of the *Road preferences* command of the *Road design* menu. By default, the program places stations at the beginning and at the end of the road, as well as at the beginning and at the end of every curve (stations TS and ST). If you wish, you can insert stations at the other main points of the curves, such as at the beginning and the end of the circular arcs (stations CS and SC), at the center of the circular arc (station D) as well as at the points where the verticals from the center of the circle to the tangent intersect with the road axis (stations CP and PP, approximately in the middle of the transition curves).

The name of the first station is POB, while the name of the last station is POE. The cardinal cross sections of every curve get a composite name composed of one letter (TS, CP, CS, CC, SC, PP, ST) and one number, which is identified with the numbering of the respective PI (e.g. CS1, CP1 for PI 1). The names of the other, non-cardinal cross-sections derive from serial numbering, starting with the number you have assigned.

For the tangents, the program starts after the last station of the previous curve (e.g. ST1) and continues to insert stations at the distance that you have predefined in meters (e.g. d=20) up to the last station before the next curve (e.g. TS2). The distance of the last station from the beginning of the next curve will be greater than the *Minimum space* at end of *segment* that you have defined in the *Stationing* tab.

For the curves, the program starts after the first cardinal station (e.g. TS1) and continues to place stations at the distance that you have predefined in meters (e.g. d=10) up to the last station before the middle of the curve (e.g. CC1). The distance of the last station from the middle of the curve will be greater that the *Minimum space* at end of *segment* that you have defined in the *Stationing* tab.

If desired, stations that follow after the middle of the curve can be inserted symmetrically with respect to the previous ones. The same procedure is actually repeated, starting from the end of the curve and towards the middle. To do this, *the Symmetrical stationing on turns* field must be selected. The cardinal stations CP, PP, CS and SC are interpolated at the corresponding positions without affecting the distances between the non-cardinal stations.

Stationing Options for the Current Road

To set the stationing options, go to the *Road Design* menu, run the *Road Preferences* command and select the options in the *Stationing* tab. This command results in the dialogue box shown in the figure. Here you can select the stationing options.

Road Preferences "Road 1"		×
.		
General Widths Slopes Diagram Stationing Terrain S	ampling Pl	SI I I
Stationing options		
Stationing on tangents every (m) 20		
Stationing on turns every (m)		
Minimum space at end of segment (m)		
Minimum distance from Cardinal Cross Section (m) 0		
Starting cross section number		
Stationing Normalization on tangents For cross sections less than:		
Stationing Normalization		
Symmetrical Stationing		
Symmetrical Stationing on Turns		
Insert station CP		
✓ Insert station CS		
✓ Insert station CC		
	0K	Cancel

You can enter the distance between the stations on tangents and the corresponding distance on turns in the *Stationing on tangents every* (m) and *Stationing on turns every* (m) fields.

In the *Minimum* space at the end of segment field, you can enter the minimum distance that the last station must have from the end of each segment. A segment is any tangent or turn. If the *Symmetrical stationing on turns* has been selected, a segment is the half of the curve. In the *Min. Distance from Cardinal Cross Section* field enter the minimum distance that a cross section must have in order to be inserted before or after a cardinal cross section.

In the *Stationing normalization on tangents* group, you can optimize the positions of the cross sections on tangents. This applies to tangents having fewer cross sections than the number you have entered in the *For cross sections less than:* field. In this case, the program will insert the last cross section of the Tangent in the middle of the distance between the penultimate cross section and the next cardinal cross section. If you also activate the *Symmetrical stationing* field, then the position of first and last station of the tangent will be inserted at an equal distance from the beginning and the end of the tangent.

In the last four fields you can select, if desired, the symmetrical stationing on the turns and the characteristic points where stations will be inserted, by ticking the relevant check boxes.

To confirm the parameters you have entered, click the *OK* button. If you change the stationing preferences after the program has already inserted stations, when you close the dialogue box, the program will display a confirmation message for the recalculation and the re-insertion of the stations of the selected road.

Automati**đ**nsertion of Stations

From the *Road Design* menu and the *Stationing* submenu, run the *Stationing* command

or, on the *Horizontal Alignment* toolbar click the 2 button, or press the <A/t>+<U> keys, to proceed to the calculation and insertion of stations according to the aforementioned options.

Inserting a New Station

To insert a station, from the Road Design menu, run the New Station command or, on

the *Elements Drawing* toolbar click the button. You will notice a green line, which is vertical to the axis of the selected road. Every time you use the mouse, this line moves to the position where the mouse pointer is. Select the desired position and insert the station by clicking the left mouse button. To specify the exact chainage and the name of the inserted station, select the station (by left-clicking on it) and run the *Properties* command, to display the relevant dialogue box. Repeat the process for all stations you wish to insert.

Deleting a Station

To delete a station, select the station you wish to delete, click the right mouse button and select the appropriate command (Delete cross section) from the displayed menu.

You can also delete all stations of a road. To do this, select the road and from the *Stationing* submenu of the *Road Design* menu run the *Delete stations* command. You can also carry out the same operation if you select the *Delete* submenu from the *File* menu and then run the *Stations* command.

Editing Stations

To edit a station, select with the mouse the road where the station is and then select the station.

You can move between stations with the <Ctrl>+<+> keys for the next station and the <Ctrl>+<+> for the previous station. Right click on the screen to display the shortcut menu. From there, run the Properties command to display the dialogue box shown in the figure:

Properties	2	×	
Road (Road 1) , Station 31 (37/58)	•	
Property Value			
Name	31	1	
Chainage	647.822		
Angle	0.000		
Station X	589322.627		
Station Y	4560289.813		
Terrain elevation	393.185		
Pavement superelevation left	-2.000		
Pavement superelevation right	-2.000		
Shoulder superelevation left	-4.000		
Shoulder superelevation right	-4.000		
Left pavement width	5.000		
Right pavement width	7.250		
Roadway width left	5.750		
Roadway width right	8.000		
Sideslope start left	0.000		
Sideslope start right	0.000		
Sideslope end left	0.000		
Sideslope end right	0.000		
Distance from previous	20.000		

The first three fields are the name of the station, its chainage and its angle with respect to the vertical to the road axis.

If you change the *Name* of a non-cardinal station, the program will prompt you to confirm the name (code) changes for all of the next non-cardinal stations. If you change the *Chainage* of the station, the station moves, while at the same time the terrain elevations and the values mentioned below are updated. If you change the Angle, you can rotate the level of the station with respect to the vertical to the road axis.

The Station X, Station Y, Terrain elevation and Road profile elevation fields are only for information purposes and their values are updated automatically after each change of the station chainage. The Terrain elevation field is updated only when the *Triangulation* has already been performed. The *Road profile elevation* field is updated only when the road profile has already been calculated in the *Profile* and *Update road profile* from *Profile* to *Horizontal Alignment*.

The *Pavement superelevation left, Pavement superelevation right, Shoulder superelevation left* and *Shoulder superelevation right* fields are also for information purposes and their values are automatically updated every time you change the superelevation diagram.

The next four fields refer to the pavement and roadway left and right semiwidths. These fields are updated automatically by the program every time you insert, edit or delete a pavement or shoulder widening, and every time the road is calculated. This automated process is referred to as initial update.

They are also updated every time the Roadlines are updated from *Cross Sections* to *Horizontal Alignment,* in order to reflect the real widths, as they have been calculated in the *Cross sections* after applying the *Typical cross section* or after a change in the coordinates has taken place at Cross section level. It is also possible for the user to change their values directly. However, any future change in the widenings will restore the initial update of the widths. You can achieve the same result by runing the *Recalculate Roadlines* command from the *Road Calculations* submenu of the *Road design* menu. Any update or change of the widths has a direct effect on the layout of

the roadlines, the pavement and the roadway.

The Sideslope start left, Sideslope start right, Sideslope end left and Sideslope end right fields are updated automatically by the program when the *Horizontal Alignment* is updated from the *Cross Sections* workspace. If the value of any of these fields changes, then the corresponding roadline also changes automatically.

Finally, at the bottom of the dialogue box you can see the distance of the current station from the previous one.

Stationing on Cross Section Chainage

In case you have a complete project (Horizontal Alignment, Profile, Cross Sections) and you wish to change the horizontal alignment and to maintain the already existing stations, go to the *Road Design* menu and from the *Cross Section Stationing* submenu run the *Stationing on Cross Section Chainage* command. This command results in the following window,

tationing o	n Cross Sed	tion chai	nage				×
Selected cr	oss sections (0/54					
C.Section	Chainage	Bran	Typ. Cross S	ection	-		
POB	0+000.00	1	* Points *				
1	0+020.00	1	* Points *				
1 2	0+040.00	1	* Points *				
🌒 3	0+060.00	1	" Points "				
4	0+080.00	1	* Points *				
15	0+100.00	1	* Points *				
0 🕕 6	0+120.00	1	* Points *				
0.7	0+140.00	1	* Points *				
0.8	0+160.00	1	* Points *				
9	0+180.00	1	* Points *				
10	0+200.00	1	* Points *				
11	0+220.00	1	* Points *				
12	0+240.00	1	* Points *				
13	0+260.00	1	* Points *				
14	0+280.00	1	* Points *				
15	0+300.00	1	* Points *				
16	0+320.00	1	* Points *		•		
Cross section	on selection						
Chain	age from	0.000	to	1000.64	0		
Тур. С	Cross Section	View3D			-	Delete existing stations	
						Vames from Cross Section	
Branc	hes (🖲 one br	anch 🔿 tv	io branche	25		
-	© ₹ (0.0	Select	Desele	ect	Stationing	
						Stationing	, xut

where you can select the cross sections you want to transfer to Horizontal Alignment. Moreover, if the *Delete existing stations* and *Names from Cross Sections* check boxes are ticked, you can delete the older stations of the layout and transfer the names of the cross sections to the Horizontal Alignment, so that the two workspaces are synchronized. Once you have made the desired settings, click the*Stationing* button to perform the road design stationing.

Cross Section Terrain

After the stationing, you can see what the terrain will be like in every cross section without having to update the Cross Sections workspace. To do this, select the *Cross section window* command from the *Road Design* menu. A window will appear on the

screen where the terrain of the selected cross section will be drawn. To move to the next or previous cross section, you must click the relevant button at the top of the window.

7.3.15 Creating Service Roads

The *Professional* version features the automatic creation of the axes of service roads parallel to the main artery. To use this command, select the road where the main artery is. From the *Road Design* menu, run the *New Road by Copying Tangent Curve* command. The following dialogue box appears on screen:

Insert	×
Tangent curve distan	ce
ОК	Cancel

In the *Tangent curve distance* field, type the distance of the service road from the axis of the artery. The value of the distance is positive if you want the new road to be inserted to the right of the artery and negative if the road is inserted to the left. When you click *OK*, the program will create the axis of the new road in parallel to the artery. The radius of each PI of the new road will be decreased or increased according to the distance of the two roads.

Stationing Based on another Road

The calculation and insertion of stations (e.g. road 2) can be performed by taking into account the stations of another road (e.g. road 1). The positions of the stations of road 2 will result from the intersection of the extension of the main road stations with the axis of road 2. Also, the names of the stations of road 2 will be the same as the names of the stations of road 1.

This operation is performed from the *Road Design* menu, where you must select the *Stationing* submenu and then run the *Stationing (Partial/Dependent)* command. In the resulting dialogue box,

Stationing	×
From Ch To Ch Depending on road]
Station Orientation Perpendicular to second 45 Perpendicular to main road With central projection	e
ОК	Cancel

type the chainage of the section where partial stationing will take place in the *From Ch. and To Ch.* fields. For the stationing to take place as described above, tick the *Depending on road* check box and from the drop-down list, select the road based on

which the stationing will be performed. In the case of service roads, in the *Station Orientation* group, tick the *Perpendicular to main road* option. Finally, press *OK* for the stationing to take place.

For more information regarding the composite cross sections and the partial/dependent stationing, refer to the chapter Composite Cross Sections - Horizontal Alignment.

7.3.16 Editing Diagrams

During the calculation of the road, apart from the calculation of the axis curve, the program calculates automatically the diagrams of the road, based on the data you have entered and the settings you have made.

You can view, edit and export these diagrams in text file format or you can load diagrams from text files. To view the diagrams, run the *Edit diagrams* command from the *Road Design* menu. When you run this command and a road has been selected, the following dialogue box appears on screen:

🖁 Road (Diagrams "Road 1"		
$\square \times$	Δ Δ. 💭 🖻	Ē 🥔	
Diagram:	Superelevation	diagram, right	
S/N	Ch	Size	Radius
1	0.000	-2.000	0.000
2	223.612	-2.000	0.000
3	273.612	7.000	0.000
4	357.822	7.000	0.000
5	407.822	-2.000	0.000
6	654.450	-2.000	0.000
7	704.450	-7.000	0.000
8	812.452	-7.000	0.000
9	862.452	-2.000	0.000
10	1019.991	-2.000	0.000
			OK

Everything described in this paragraph applies to all three workspaces: *Horizontal Alignment, Profile* and *Cross sections*.

From the *Diagram* drop-down list, select the desired diagram of the selected road. The diagram is displayed in the area right below, consisting of a table with three columns and variable number of lines. When importing – editing a diagram, you must keep in mind that you are actually importing or editing the breaking points (PIs) of the diagram. Each line corresponds to a breaking point (both the end and the beginning). The titles of the columns are shown in gray in the first line. Their names are *S/N, Ch., Size* and *Radius.* The program fills in the first column automatically with the serial number of the breaking point; it is displayed in gray and the user cannot intervene. In the second column you must always enter the *Chainage*, in the third column you must enter the value of size represented by the diagram, and in the fourth column you must enter the curvature radius for the particular PI of the diagram (only for diagrams of pavement, roadway and profile width).

174 Anadelta Tessera

If you click the \Join button, the diagram will be deleted. The program will display a warning message, prompting you to confirm the deletion. If you want to delete the diagram, click *Yes*.

To change the name of a diagram, click the \square button. Enter the new name of the diagram in the corresponding text field of the dialogue box and click the *OK* button.

To delete all data, click the selected diagram.

If you click the **button**, a new diagram will be created. This button displays a drop-down list with the available types of diagrams. Select the type of the diagram you wish to create. The creation feature is only in the *Cross Sections* workspace and not in the *Horizontal Alignment*. If you select *New generic use diagram*, the program will display a dialogue box where you must enter the name of the new diagram in the relevant field.

After the diagram has been created, you can enter the data in the relevant fields. To select a field, left-click on it and then start typing. Press the *Enter* key to confirm the data you have entered and to move to the next field on the right. You can also move between the fields by using the up, down, right and left arrow keys. If you are at the end of a line, you can press the *Enter* key to move to the first field of the next line.

To insert a new line at the end of the table, simply select the cell that corresponds to the last column and line and press *Enter*. If you want to insert a new line between two existing lines, select the immediately next line and press the Ctr/+I keys. The new line will be inserted right above the selected one. If you wish to delete a line, simply select the line and press the Ctr/+D keys.

7.3.17 Terrain Sampling

To define the terrain sampling width for the cross sections of road, go to the *Road Design* menu, run the *Road Preferences* command and open the *Terrain Sampling* tab.

Road Preferences "Road 1"	×
🔒 🔊	
General Widths Slopes Diagram Stationing Terrain Sampling Pl	sı ◀ ▶
Cross section width left Station width right	
Station zone length	
ОК	Cancel

In the *Cross section width left* and *right* fields, enter the desired terrain width of every cross section.

You can use the *Station zone length* field to set the zone length when you don't have a terrain model but only points above or close to the cross sections level. To change the terrain sampling way, go to *Project* menu \rightarrow *General Preferences* command \rightarrow *Calculations* tab \rightarrow *Cross section elevations calculation* way group \rightarrow *By station zones*.

Cross section elevation calculation way
By triangles
C By station zones

In this case, the program creates a natural terrain, displaying on the cross section axis, the points contained in a zone around every station.

7.3.18 Horizontal Alignment Statistics

If you select the *Horizontal Alignment Statistics* command from the *Tools* menu, the following window will appear on the screen:

🕅 Hor. Alignment Statistics				
 Drawing Base b1 b2 b3 Terrains Terrain 1 Roads Road 1 Land Property 	= F = T = (= M = M = E	Points Triangles Contour lines Minimum Elevation Maximum Elevation Boundaries	13585 26953 0 368.00 660.00 0	

Here you can view all elements and data used in each mode of the horizontal alignment. More specifically, you can view:

- the number of elements existing in the drawing.
- the terrains with the points, boundaries, triangles, etc.
- the roads with their elements (PIs, cross sections, etc.).

7.3.19 Structures

Overview

Tessera makes the calculation and management of the structures a simple procedure. It is better to insert the *Structures* from the *Horizontal Alignment* after having completed the *Road Design* at all three levels (Horizontal Alignment, Profile, Cross sections). Then the program will automatically insert the *Structures* and will configure their faces and sideslopes. You can also insert a *Structure* at the *Cross section* level before the design is completed, as you can also insert them directly from the *Profile*. In this case, the calculation is performed gradually. In all cases, the calculation is an easy procedure, with successive corrections and repetitions. The program can accommodate a number of values, enabling the complete parameterization of the structures.

The following drawing shows all angles that are required for the implementation of a structure, namely:

- Angles of 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th wing wall: the angles between the wing walls and the verticals to the sides of the structure.
- *Side Angle*: the angle between the vertical to the side of the structure and its axis.
- *Structure Angle*: this is determined by the vertical to the structure axis and the road axis.



Inserting a new structure

To insert a new structure, select *Structures* from the *Road Design* menu and then run the *New Structure* command. You will notice a blue rectangle, which is vertical to the axis of the selected road and follows the mouse pointer. Select the appropriate chainage and then insert the structure by clicking the left mouse button. To specify the exact chainage and the name of the selected structure, run the *Properties* command from the shortcut menu. Repeat the procedure for all the structures you wish to insert.

Deleting a structure

To delete a structure, select the desired structure, click the right mouse button to display the shortcut menu and run the *Delete object "structure"* command.

You can also delete multiple structures of a drawing. To do this, select the road and from the *File* menu select the *Delete* command and then *Structures*.

Resetting a structure

This operation configures the cross section of the structure, so that the left and right ends of the bottom slab of the structure pass through the intersection points of the road's sideslopes with the natural terrain. Namely, it is the automatic calculation of the structure that leads to the cancelation of any changes (elevations and/or slope) affecting the placement of the structure. To reset a structure, select *Structures* from the *Road Design* menu and then select *Reset structure*; or, from the shortcut menu select *Reset structure*. In case you have more than one structures and you wish to reset them all, select *Structures* from the *Road Design* menu and then select *Reset all*. You can also *Reset* the structures from the *Structure cross section* window of the shortcut menu.

Every time the Chainage or the angle of a structure changes, the structure is reset automatically.

Adjusting sideslopes to structures

To run this command, go to the *Road Design* menu, select *Structures* and then select *Adapt sideslopes to structures.* If, for any reason, the sideslopes cannot be adjusted according to the structure, you can achieve that by running this particular command.

Batch Structure Naming

Run this command to name simultaneously all structures of your project, regardless of their type (Box or Tubular structure). To do this, select *Structures* from the *Road Design* menu and then select *Batch Structure Naming*. The following window will appear on the screen:

🗑 Batch structure namir	ng (Road 1)	×
Box structures name Tubular structures name Start numbering from	Select action	
	Close	

In the *Box structures name* and *Tubular structures name* fields, type the name you wish to assign to all structures. In the *Start numbering from* field, type the first number for the numbering of the structures. In the *Select action* field, select one of the available actions, which refer either to the naming and the numbering of the structures separately for each type, or to the naming and the numbering regardless of the structure type.

Click the *Apply* button to apply the settings you have made, or click the *Close* button to close the window and return to the horizontal alignment workspace.

Structure cross section
In the window that is displayed when you run the *Structure cross section* command from the shortcut menu, you can see a virtual cross section to which the structure you have inserted in the horizontal alignment is adjusted. In the following figure you can see some of the values of the structure cross section that you can edit.



The other values that you can edit are the following:

Fixed value: Select which of the available options will become the fixed value. The fixed value can be the left or the right elevation, the axis elevation and the slope. The field of the element that gives the fixed value becomes inactive. Then, any change in one of the other three fields leads automatically to the change of the remaining two fields.

Slope: Define the desired slope of the structure.

Left and right edge elevation: In these fields you can change the elevations of the left and the right edge of the structure, respectively.

Axis elevation: In this field you can change the elevation that the structure will have, with respect to the axis.

Structure Properties

After the insertion of a structure, you can define the properties of this structure. Select the structure, right-click to display the menu and run the *Properties* command. The following window will appear on the screen:

Church and (Rev. and west)		_
Structure (Box curvert)		
Property	Value	
Name	Box culvert	
Ch.	538.267	
Angle	0.000	
Туре	Box culvert	
Width (clearence)	2.000	
Height (clearence)	2.000	
Fixed value	Left elevation	
Slope (%)	0.000	
Left edge elevation	398.509	
Axis elevation	398.509	
Right edge elevation	398.509	
Left side angle	0.000	
Right side angle	0.000	
Wing wall angle 1	45.000	
Wing wall angle 2	45.000	
Wing wall angle 3	45.000	
Wing wall angle 4	45.000	
End Length	1.500	
Cornice height	0.250	
Slab thickness	0.070	
Cornice margin	0.125	
Right topsoil	0.300	
Wing wall ext.I height	0.250	

The settings you can make are the following:

Name: Here you can change the name of the structure.

Ch.: Specify the exact position of the structure.

Angle: In this field you can set the desired angle of the vertical to the structure's axis with respect to the road's axis.

Type: From the drop-down list of this field you can select between the two available types of structures (Box and Tubular culvert).

Width (clearance): Set the width.

Height (clearance): Set the desired height of the structure.

Left and right side angle: Rotate the structure's entrance and exit.

Wing wall angle 1, 2, 3, 4: In these fields you can specify the angle of the wing walls.

End length: On the right and left of each wing wall there is an extra wall, parallel to the construction roadline that is represented by a line at the end of the sideslope. In this field you can specify the length of this wall.

Left and right grate width: Specify the desired grate width on the left and the right side of the structure. This option is displayed in the properties window when one or both sides of the structure are in a cutting.

All other properties of the structures have already been described in the *Structure Cross Section* paragraph.

Update structures

To update the *Profile* with the structures you have created in the *Horizontal Alignment,* select the *Management* command from the *Project* menu or click the relevant icon. Next, in the *Update* group, tick the *Update* structures check box to update both the Chainage and the elevation of the structure. If you go to the Profile workspace, you will notice that there are three symbols referring to the structure; the middle one shows the elevation on the axis while the other two symbols show the elevations of the left and right edge.

If you are not satisfied with the result, you can edit certain properties of the structure

in the Profile mode. To view the properties of the structure, select the structure by clicking the left mouse button, and then run the Properties command from the shortcut menu. To apply the changes you have made in the Horizontal alignment, select *Update structures* from *Profile* to *Horizontal Alignment*.

Exporting Structures Data to an ASCII file:

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Export to ASCII* submenu and run the *Structures Data* command.
- 2. Specify the path and the name for the file you wish to save. The structure data will be exported to a file with the .CSV extension.
- 3. Click OK to export the data.
- To export the data you must go to the Horizontal Alignment workspace.

7.3.20 Intersections

Creating an Intersection

To insert an intersection, select the two roads where the intersection will be created (for multiple selection use the ctrl key) and from the menu that is displayed if you click the right mouse button, select the *New intersection* command. Alternatively, from the

Elements Drawing toolbar, click the button. In the case of a crossing, if you select the first method for creating an intersection, the first selected road will be the main road, while if you select the second method, the main road will be the one with the widest roadway. If both roads have the same roadway width, then the main road will be the one with the widest pavement.

A rhombus or a triangle will appear on the screen, at the point where the two roads intersect; this is the symbol of the intersection and you can also use it to select the intersection. You can also view the configuration of the roadlines and medians of the intersection that have been calculated according to the predefined *Intersection Preferences (Default)* of the program.

Intersection Preferences (Default)

By default, the preferences for the intersections are defined by using the *Intersection Preferences (Default)* command of the *Intersections* submenu in the *Road Design* menu. A dialogue box with four tabs will appear on the screen. In the *Quarter tab*, you can set the preferences for the transition of an intersection's quarters (radii, offsets, etc.) and for the configuration of the necessary traffic lanes. In the *Large Channelising Island* and *Small Channelising Island* tabs, enter the settings for the construction of the channelising islands. Finally, in the *General* tab, enter the preferences for the median and the widenings of the main road.

Intersection preferences

An intersection can have the shape of a crossing (cross) or a T shape. Apart from the relevant configuration, the shape is symbolized by the corresponding selection symbol, which can be a rhombus or a triangle respectively. These symbols appear in yellow for all intersections, except for the symbol of the selected intersection that appears in blue. When you select an intersection, you also select the current quarter, which appears in white. A direction arrow of the same color corresponds to the current quarter.

In case that the intersection has the shape of a crossing, all its quarters are active, while when the intersection has a T shape, only two of its quarters are active. The inactive quarters have only the *Move to:* group.

To define the preferences of an intersection, select the intersection by clicking its symbol and from the menu that is displayed if you click the right mouse button, select

the *Intersection preferences* command. The following window will appear on the screen:

ntersection Preferences	en la	'hannalizina	idand 2	Geografi	×
Hth Quarter Angle: 102.82 gon ✓ Auto C One radius (• Three Radii RAS C Three Radii AASHTO C One radius Taper C Taper 2 radii C Clothoid	R1 50 R2 25 R3 75		Angle 1 (22.5 Angle 3 (17.5	gen) gen)	
Direction to: Left Left Left turn lane		Width 3.5	Lengt 50	h	
Right Deceleration lane	•	Width 3.75 3.75	Lengt 90 90	h	
Leading triangula Maximum constr	r island uction R	Distance 1 5.5 25	Dista 4.5	nce 2	
	ок	Ca	ncel	Apply	

The Intersection preferences window has seven tabs. The first four tabs refer to the settings of the quarters, the next two tabs refer to the channelising islands and the last tab features the general settings of the intersection. In this window, where the 4 th quarter is the current one, you can define the preferences for the type of the quarter transition (radii) as well as some other parameters referring to traffic (extra lanes).

In the 4th Quarter group, you can view the angle formed by the two axes (in degrees) and select one of the six available transition ways:

- One radius: only one circular arc
- Three radii RAS: three circular arches with 2:1:3 radius ratios according to the RAS-K-1 regulations. When the radius of the middle circular arc changes, the other two radii change automatically, provided that the Auto check box has been ticked.
- Three radii AASHTO: three circular arcs with leading and trailing offsets on both sides, according to the AASHTO regulations.
- One radius Taper: a circular arc between 2 Tapers. The leading and trailing Tapers are characterized by offsets and L:T ratios (Longitudinal to Transverse, length to offset), according to the AASHTO regulations.
- Taper 2 radii: two circular arcs after a Taper, according to the RAS-K-1 regulations, when there is no deceleration lane. The Taper is characterized by an offset and a L: T ratio and is always formed on the side of the superior road.
- Clothoid: a circular arc between two clothoids, a leading and a trailing one, with the relevant parameters.

In the Direction to: group you can define the desired movements of vehicles, as well as whether there will be a left turn, deceleration and acceleration lanes and a

triangular island. This group has further settings, that you can view by clicking the button as shown below:

Direction to:				
🔽 Left	Width	Length	Taper	Right
🔽 Left turn lane	3.5	50	60	1.75
🔽 Right	Width	Length	Taper	Emergency lan
Deceleration lane	3.75	90	30	0.5
Acceleration lane	3.75	90	30	0.5
	1			
	Distance 1	Distance 2	Distance 3	Radius
🔲 Entrance island	5.5	4.5	0.5	0.5
Maximum construction R	25		·	
	120			

The Left turn lane data are shown in the following figure:



In the *Right* field, enter the width of the section of the left turn lane that will be on the right of the road axis, according to the direction of the lane. The minimum value that this field can accept is 0 and the maximum value is the sum of the width of the left turn lane and the minimum width of the median or the hatch. In this way, the widenings of both sides of the main road that are required for the configuration of the left turn lane with the median or hatch are set indirectly (*General* tab next).



The data of the *Deceleration lane* are shown in the following figure:

In the *Emergency lane width* field, enter the distance of the marginal strip from the edge of the paveway. This width is applied to the whole length of the deceleration lane and can differ from the width of the main road's *Emergency lane*. The update takes place automatically in the transition section by using a different width for the guidance strip with respect to the width of the corresponding paveway widening.



The data you define for the *Triangular Island* are shown in the following figure:

In this figure, the gray indicators show you how the triangular island was constructed. To view these indicators, you must have enabled the *Auxiliary data* field of the *Intersections* group in the *General* category of the *Horizontal Alignment Options*. *Distance 1*, *Distance 2* and *Radius* define the start point for the construction of the triangular island. *Distance 1* is the distance between the triangular island that will be constructed and the gray auxiliary line near the marginal strip. The user must then select the appropriate transition so that the marginal strip (or the edge of the paveway) snap on the aforementioned indicator.

The *Channelising island 2* is displayed as follows:

Intersection Preferences		X
1st 2nd 3rd 4th	Channelising island 2 General	
	E Force small	
Entrance radius	Exit radius	
15	15	
Head radius	End radius	
0.75	0.75	
Minimum width	Maximum width	
2.5	5	
Head offset	Edge distance	
2	40	
End width	Width decrement on end	
2.5	1	
	OK Cancel Apply	

In the *Display* field you can define, if desired, whether or not there will be a channelising island at the intersection. You can also tick the Force small field if you want to insert a small channelising island when there is a left turn lane, which, depending on the way the channelising islands are created by the program, would automatically lead to the insertion of the big one.

In this tab you can also enter all the desired parameters for the channelising island, either big or small.

In the following figure you can view the basic elements that contribute to the calculation of the big channelising island:



First the channelising island is defined between the two arcs formed by the entrance and exit tracks of the superior road. The radii that are used for the tracks are entered in the *Entrance radius* and *Exit radius* fields, respectively. The program adjusts these radii by one meter, showing you the relevant message, so that the width of the resulting channelising island is between the limits of the *Minimum width* and *Maximum width* fields.



The arc with Head radius rounds up the front part of the channelising island, as shown

in the detail of the above figure. The head radius is also adjusted by the program, to give the *Head offset* from the limit of the passing lanes of the superior road. In case of modification, the corresponding message is also displayed. Then the channelising island is limited by two tangent lines, to the two original arcs. The tangents start from the point that you define in the *Edge distance*. This distance is calculated by the limit of the passing lanes of the superior road.



The end of the channelising island is defined by first applying the *End width* between the two tangents. Next, the channelising island is further limited by applying the *Width decrement* on end by designing a parallel to the tangent, on the side of the entrance lane. The channelising island closes at the back section by applying an arc with *End radius.* The elements related to the calculation of the channelising island end are shown in the detail of the above figure.

The program inserts automatically a small channelising island if there is no left turn lane on the main road. The *Channelising island 2* tab appears as shown in the following dialogue window,

Intersection Preferences		×
1st 2nd 3rd 4t	h Channelising island 2 General	
Small Channelising Island		
🔽 Display	Hide hatch	
Entrance radius	Exit radius	
12	12	
Head radius	End radius	
0.75	0.75	
Width	Center distance	
3	10	
	Edge distance	
	20	
	OK Cancel Apply	

which, apart from certain characteristics of the big channelising island, also contains the extra options *Width* and *Center distance*.

The channelising island is first defined between the two arcs that are formed by the entrance and exit tracks of the superior road. The radii used for the tracks are defined in the *Entrance radius* and *Exit radius* fields, respectively. These arcs are tangent to two parallel lines, whose in-between distance is equal to the *Width*. These two lines are parallel to a straight line that derives from the curve of the secondary road's axis by 6 degrees around a point whose distance from the boundary of the passing lanes of the superior road is the *Center distance*.

The arc with *Head radius* rounds up the front part of the channelising island. Then, the channelising island is limited by two lines which are tangential to the two original arcs. The *Road distance* determines the point from which these straight lines begin. This distance is calculated by the boundary of the passing lanes of the superior road. The end of the channelising island is defined by applying an arc with *End radius*. The aforementioned values are shown in the figure below:



In the *General tab,* you can set the general preferences for the medians and the widenings of the main road. The tab is displayed as shown below:

Intersection Preferen	ces		×
1st 2nd 3rd Main road median.	4th Channe	lising island 2 General	🗐
Minimum width	Maximum width		
Head radius	Minimum length		
Island margin			
Main road widenings			
Widening before intersection	Left 1.75	Right 1.75	
Width decrement after	Left 1.75	Right 1.75	
intersection		Suggest values	
		(
	OK	Cancel Apply	

In the *Main road median* group, you can enter the minimum and the maximum width, the head radius, the minimum length as well as the margin of the island. These values are displayed in the following figures:

190 Anadelta Tessera



The lengths of the transitions before and after the intersection are the same. They differ only if the value of the *Minimum length*, which refers to the length of island 1, is higher than the value of the *Transition* of the *Left turn lane*. In this case, the value of the length of island 1 becomes higher than the value of the transition length of island 2 and equal to the *Minimum length*.

In cases such as when you wish to edit the width of the traffic lanes or the *Right field* of the left turn lanes (2nd or / and 3rd quarter) for the correct and automatic setting of the widenings, which are automatically inserted before and after the intersection, press the *Suggest values* button in the *General* tab.

7.4 Printing

7.4.1 Preferences Setting

The *Print* menu contains the settings for the appearance of the *Horizontal Alignment* printouts.

Page Setup

First you must set the preferences for the paper, such as the feed tray, the orientation and the paper size.

How to setup the print page

- 1. From the *Print* menu, select the *Page Setup* command.
- 2. From the *Print Setup* dialogue box, in the *Name* field of the *Print* group select the desired printer by choosing from the dropdown list one of the available printers of the system. The other fields of the group show information about the selected printer, such as the status, the model, the port or the location of the printer, as well as any additional user-defined information comment.

Print Setup			<u>?</u> ×
Printer			
<u>N</u> ame:	HP Officejet Pro L7600 Series	•	Properties
Status: Type:	Ready HP Officeiet Pro L7600 Series		
Where: Comment:	OfficejetProL7600		
Paper		- Orientation	
Sige:	A4 💌		Portrait
Source:	Printer Auto Select	A	C Landscape
Network		OK	Cancel

- 3. Click the *Properties* ... button to change the Windows printer options for the selected printer. A dialogue box opens, enabling you to adjust settings that are not controlled by *Tessera*.
- 4. In the *Size* field of the *Paper* group, select from the dropdown list one of the available paper sizes. From the *Source* field, select one of the available paper feed trays.
- 5. In the *Orientation* group, select the orientation of the text on the paper for printers that support landscape orientation (Horizontal) or portrait orientation (Vertical). You can change the orientation to achieve a text rotation of 0 or 90 degrees by selecting *Vertical* or *Horizontal* option, respectively. The document icon shows the orientation of the paper on the selected printer. The letter icon shows the orientation of the text on the page.
- 6. *Vertical:* Orientates and draws so that the short end of the document represents the top part of the page.
- 7. *Horizontal:* Orientates and draws so that the long end of the document represents the top part of the page.

If you change the current printer, then the settings that are supported by the new printer will be kept, while for the other settings the default settings of the new printer

shall apply.

Print Settings

This paragraph explains the dialogue box of the *Print Preferences* command, where you can define the print settings (data, options) for the whole file. The print preferences are common to every road contained in the file, as well as to the background (terrainrendering) and the drawing objects. The dialogue box has three tabs. The *General* tab contains settings referring to the scale, the grid type and the type of paper that the printer uses. In the *Print elements* tab you can choose whether the drawing objects will be printed or not. Finally, in the *Options* tab, you can make settings referring to the decimals that will be used for the numbers that will appear in the printout.

Horizontal Alignment print preferences	×
General Print elements Options	
Scale Printer has 1 to 1000 by X © Discrete pages 1 to 1000 by Y	
Grid Type	
C None C With full lines C With "crosses"	
Fort height in cm	
"Cross" size 1 in C m C cm of page	
Font height in cm	
0K	

rizontal Alignment print preferences	
Decimal digits for road elements (lengths) 2 Decimal digits for road elements (angles) 3 Decimal digits for terrain elements	
2 Angles In degrees In grads	
PINAKIDA	
	ОК

Setting the Print Scale

Before inputting the pages to be printed, you must set the scale.

To set the scale

- 1. From the *Print* menu, select the *Print Preferences* command.
- 2. Type the scale in the text field of the *Scale* group of the *General* tab, e.g. type 1000 in the field if you want to print on a 1:1000 scale.

The scale setting affects the way that many objects appear on the screen, mainly the height of letters in all texts and the dimensions of the print frames. Therefore, you must set the scale as soon as you start to draw your design.

Selecting Drawing Objects for Printing

In the *Print elements* tab you will find the *Drawing* check box. Tick this box to print the drawing objects. Note that only the drawing elements that belong to printable parts will be printed.

Printing the Grid and Coordinates on the Print Page

You can choose to print the grid and its coordinates at the margins of the page and at its points. You have three options:

- *None:* The grid will not appear at all.
- *With full lines:* the grid will appear in the form of straight lines, which are parallel to the coordinates axes and extend up to the margins of the print page.
- *With "crosses":* the grid appears in the form of crosses, equally spaced one from another.

To select how the grid will be printed

- 1. From the *Print* menu, select the *Print Preferences* command.
- 2. In the *Grid Type* group of the *General* tab, select one of the available options.

If you choose the grid to appear on the printout, in the per text field you must type the actual distance (meters) between the lines or crosses.

If you have chosen to print the grid, you can also select the coordinates of the grid to appear at the margins of the print page.

To select how the grid coordinates will be printed

- 1. From the *Print* menu, select the *Print Preferences* command.
- 2. In the *Grid Type* group of the *General* tab, tick the *Show coordinates around frames* check box and in the *Font height in cm* field, type the height of the letters in centimeters.

If the selected form of the grid is the cross, then you must set the size of the cross and select the option that shows the coordinates on every cross.

How to define the form of grid crosses

- 1. From the *Print* menu, select the *Print Preferences* command.
- 2. In the *Grid Type* group of the *General* tab, type the dimensions of the cross in the *"Cross" Size* field. If the dimensions you type is the actual distance, tick the *m* check box, while if it is in centimeters of printable paper tick the *cm* of page check box.
- 3. If you want the coordinates of the center of each cross to be printed next to the crosses, tick the coordinates at "*crosses*" check box and in the *Font height in cm* field type the height of the letters in centimeters.

Setting Decimal Points for the Print Elements

In the *Options* tab, set the number of the decimal points for the lengths of both the road and the terrain. You can also set the angle measurement unit.

7.4.2 Selecting Terrain Objects

In the dialogue box of the *Terrain elements printing preferences* command of the *Print* menu, you can specify which of the terrain objects will be printed and how. The dialogue box is divided in as many tabs as the terrains in the file (*Professional version*). Each one of the terrain tabs has two tabs, the *Lines preferences* tab for the lines

🐺 Terrain elements prin	ting preferences						_ 🗆 ×
Terrain 1 Terrain 2							
Print							
Line preferences Text op	tions						
	Color		Туре		Thickness	DXF Layer	
Points	Black.	-	Continuous	-	0.2 mm	POINTS	
🔽 Triangles	Gray	•	Continuous	*	0.1 mm	TRIANGLES	
🔽 Breakline	Red	•	Continuous	¥	0.1 mm	BREAKLINES	
🔽 Boundaries	Green	*	Continuous	•	0.1 mm	BOUNDARIES	
🔽 Contour lines	Light Blue	•	Continuous	•	0.1 mm 🔄	ISO	
Main contour lines	Blue	•	Continuous	•	0.1 mm	M_ISO	
Set defaults	Set as d	efaults					
							0K.

and the Text options tab for the texts,

💱 Terrain elements printing preferences	
Terrain 1 Terrain 2	
Print Print	
Line preferences Text options	
Color Font Size DKF Layer	
Point Names Black Anal 0.100 POINTS_N	
Point elevations Black Arial 0.100 POINTS_H	
Contour lines elevations	
Main contour lines elevations Blue Arial 0.140 M_ISO_N	
See defaulte See an defaulte	
	OK.

If there is a terrain that you don't want to print, untick the *Print* check box in the tab of the relevant terrain. Each tab has check boxes for each one of the terrain object categories that are available in *Tessera*. If you don't want to print one or more of these terrain objects, untick the relevant check boxes. You can make settings for the objects that will be printed from the relevant fields that are on the same line with the element. For the lines you can change the color, the type of line and the width, always in the terms of printing. The last column refers to the export to DXF format.

You can also change the color of the texts. To change the text font, select the *Font* field and click the button with the three dots into open a font dialogue box. In this box, you can choose a new font or whether the characters will appear bold or italic. To change the font height, simply type the new height in the *Size* field, in centimeters of printing paper. Here too, the last column refers to the export to DXF format.

7.4.3 Road Objects Selection

In the *Road elements printing preferences* command dialogue box of the *Print* menu, specify which road objects will be printed and in what form. The box is divided in as many tabs as the roads in the file (*Professional version*). Each road tab has four sub-tabs, the *Lines preferences* for the lines,

🐺 Road elements printing	preferences				_ D ×
Road 1 Road 2					
Print Road					
Line preferences Text opti	ons Settings Pl tab	les			
	C 1.		•	*11.1 march	DUEL
Tappent	Grau		Continuous	0.1 mm	TANGENT
De Avial	Dark Grav		August August -	0.1 mm	4x45
Pavament	Dark Gray		Continuous	0.1 mm	PAVEMENT
P Rosdway	Bad		Continuous	0.1 mm	BRADWAY
Madims	Fied		Continuous		ISLANDS
j♥ meuaris	Uption Direct		Continuous		ISDARDS
l♥ Ditch edge			Continuous	U1mm	DITCH
l inveit	Пвяск		Dashed	0.1 mm	DITCH
	Black		Dashed	0.1 mm •	
✓ Cutt. construction limit	Brown		Continuous 💌	0.1 mm	
Fill construction limit	Green		Continuous 💌	0.1 mm 💌	
Cutting sideslope start	Brown		Continuous 💌	0.1 mm	SPRAN_CUT
 Filling sideslope start 	Green	-	Continuous 💌	0.1 mm 💌	SPRAN_FILL
Cut. Sideslopes	Brown	•	Continuous 💌	0.1 mm 💌	SLOPES_CUT
Fil. Sideslopes	Green	•	Continuous 💌	0.1 mm 💌	SLOPES_FILL
🔽 Radii	Black	-	Axial 💌	0.1 mm	RAD
PI tables	Black	-	Continuous 💌	0.1 mm 💌	TABLE
🔽 Auxiliary lane	Dark Gray	Ψ.	Dashed 💌	0.1 mm 💌	LANES
Structures	Black	Ŧ	Continuous 💌	0.1 mm	STRUCTURES
Set defaults	Set as d	efaults			
					Εντάξει

the Text options for the texts

Line preferences Text options Settings PI tables				
	Calor	Fout	Cine	DVE Lawer
PI names	Black	Arial	0.2	PIS
Station names		Arial	0.1	STATIONS
		Arial	0.15	HECTOMETER
		Arist	0.2	
		And	0.2	DIC
J✓ Centers	Black	Ana	0.1	
Distance between	Black	Anal	0.1	DISTANCES
Structure text	Black	Arial	0.1	STRUCTURES
		1		
Set defaults	Set as defaults			

the Settings for printing the road,

Line preferences Text options Settings PI tables		
✓ Print cross sections outside boundary lines		
E Dist contex lines inside heundary lines		
Finit contour lines inside boundary lines		
Pint points inside boundary lines		
Print all cross sections, on the right of road		
Print distance between in circlular arc		
Station names orientation		
C Perpendicular to axis		
Parallel to axis		
Maximum printable radius length (m): 100		
Sidealana hatab atao (ar Duf (a))		
Sidestope natch step for Dist (m); 1		
Set defaults Set as defaults		

the PI Tables for setting the elements that will be printed in the tables of the road PIs.

Line preferences Text options Settings PI tables			
Classic Double Compound			
Description	Symmetrical	Leading	Trailing
Design Speed	V		
✓ × coordinate	×		
Y coordinate	Y		
Angle b	ь		
Angle g	9		
Radius	R		
CC Chainage	CC Ch.		
Length PI-CC	PI-CC		
Length TS-CS-CC-SC-ST	POE		
Length CS-SC	CS-SC		
Clothoid Length	L	L1	L2
Clothoid parameter	A	A1	A2
Tangent offset	DR	DR1	DR2
I ang Length	Tang	Tang	Tang'
Length TS-CS-CC	TS-CC	TS-CC	CC-ST
Length CS-CC	CS-CC	CS-CC	CC-SC
Set defaults	Set as default	\$	

If there is a road you don't want to print, untick the *Print road* check box in the relevant tab of the *Road* elements printing preferences window. Each tab has check boxes for each one of the road object categories that are available in *Tessera*. If you don't want to print one or more of these road objects, untick the relevant check box/ es. In the Color, Type, Size and DXF Layer fields you can make settings for the objects that you have selected to print.

7.4.4 Inserting and Editing Pages

The printing process is based on the use of print pages. Namely, you must specify an area that will contain the elements that will be printed. The dimensions of the print page are proportional to the paper page you have defined in the *Page Setup* dialogue box and to the print scale. In the dialogue boxes of the *Preferences, Terrain printing preferences* and *Road printing preferences* commands you can select the elements that will be displayed in this area.

Inserting Print Pages

You can insert a print page very easily, by using the mouse.

To insert a print page

- 1. From the *Print* menu, run the *New Page* command or, on the *Elements Drawing* toolbar, click the button.
- 2. Position the page by defining its center, either by clicking the left mouse button or by entering the center's coordinates with the assistance of the *Input Form* command.

The page number is written at the top of the print page, according to the order the page was inserted.

It is possible to insert a new page, which is conjoined to another existing page, so that they coincide on one of their sides.

How to insert a print page next to an already existing one

1. From the *Print* menu, run the *New conjoined page* command, or on the *Elements*

Drawing toolbar, click the 🛄 button.

- 2. Joint the page with another page by placing the pointer into an already existing page, on the side you wish to join the pages. The page will be placed next to the existent one.
- 3. Left click to finalize the make the position of the page.

Editing Print Pages

You can change the position of a print page, or rotate the page, in order to get the position in the drawing. You can also delete a print page.

Moving and Rotating Print Pages with the Mouse

You can move or rotate a print page by using the mouse.

To move a print page with the mouse

- 1. Select the page by left clicking in it.
- 2. Left click again on the selected page.
- 3. Move the page to its new position by defining its center with the left mouse button. You can also move the page by entering the coordinates of its center with the assistance of the *Input Form* command.
- To rotate a print page with the mouse
- 1. Select the page by left clicking in it.
- 2. Having selected the page, position the crosshair on the rotation control point (top right of each page) to highlight it and to make it appear in white color. Click again the left mouse button.
- 3. Rotate the page by moving the crosshair in circular direction. When the page reaches the desired position, click again the left mouse button to finalize (confirm) the position. You can also rotate the page by using the *Input Form* command.

Moving and Rotating Print Pages

You can also perform the actions of the previous paragraph from the window of the *Properties* command.

To rotate and move a print page

- 1. Select the page by left clicking in it.
- 2. Having selected the page, run the *Properties* command from the shortcut menu, which is displayed if you right click in the drawing area. The following dialogue box will appear on the screen:

200 Anadelta Tessera

Properties 🛛 🖄		
Page	▼	
Property	Value	
Center X	589136.981	
Center Y	4560501.834	
Angle	40.411	
Margin top (cm)	0.000	
Margin bottom (cm)	0.000	
Margin left (cm)	0.000	
Margin right (cm)	0.000	

- 3. Enter the new values of the X and Y coordinates of the page center in the respective value fields of the *Center X* and *Center Y* properties.
- 4. In the value field of the *Angle* property enter the new value of the rotation angle of the print page with respect to the horizontal direction.
- 5. In the value fields of the *Margin top* (*cm*), *Margin bottom* (*cm*), *Margin left* (*cm*) and *Margin right* (*cm*) properties type the desired margins of the page.
- 6. In all cases, click the exit button X, at the top left of the window, to close the *Properties* command window.

Deleting a Print Page

If you want to delete a print page, the program enables you to do so as follows:

To delete a print page.

- 1. Select the page by left clicking in it.
- 2. Having selected the page, run the *Delete Object "Page"* command, from the shortcut command which is displayed if you right click in the drawing area, or on the main

toolbar click the 🔀 button.

The other pages will be renumbered, so that there is no gap in their numbering.

PI Tables

When the *Print* mode is activated, an outline appears near every PI, indicating the position where a small table with the PI's data will be printed. The data that will be printed in this table, are selected from the dialogue box of the *Road Print Preferences*. You can move and rotate these tables exactly as you would do for the print pages. You can also request from the program to rotate them, so that they become parallel to the selected print page. Simply select the print page and from the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right click in the drawing area, run the *PI Table Orientation* command. This command rotates only the tables whose PIs are within the margins of the selected page.

If you have moved or rotated some tables, run the *Reset PI Tables* command from the *Print* menu. The tables will be restored to their original positions and they will be rotated, either to become parallel to the print page to which they belong or, if there is no print page, to become vertical.

7.4.5 Preview

When you have finished making settings for the print preferences and the print pages, according to those described in this chapter, you can first display the print preview and then print your drawing.

To preview a print page

1. From the *Print* menu, run the *Print* command. The *Print Horizontal Alignment* window will appear on the screen.



- 2. Click the maximize button on the title bar to view the window on full screen. This window is comprised of the following:
- *Preview:* the bottom part of the window where the image of the whole or part of the selected page is displayed.
- *Toolbar:* this is located at the top of the window. It carries the buttons that control the transition from page to page and the modification of the size of the page's viewable area. More specifically, the buttons on the toolbar are the following in order of appearance:



- *First Page:* Left click on the <a>[[, button to view the first page.
- *Previous Page:* Click on the **I**, button to view the previous page.
- *Next Page:* Click the 🛄, button to view the next page.
- Last Page: Left click the 🛄, button to view the last page.
- *Zoom In:* Click the *i*, button to zoom in on the page. This feature does not affect the print size.
- Zoom Out: Click the File, button to zoom out on the page. The zoom feature does not affect the print size.
- *Full Page:* Click the *I*, button to view the whole page.
- *Print Page:* Click the , button to set the options before printing and to print the pages.
- *Page Elements:* This section is located below the preview section and shows information regarding the page that appears in the preview page, as well as information on the selected printer and the useful dimensions of the paper.

7.4.6 Printing a Page

You can print a page by running the *Print* command of the *Print* menu. This command results in the dialogue box shown in the figure:

Print		<u>? ×</u>
Printer		
<u>N</u> ame:	HP Officejet Pro L7600 Series	▼ Properties
Status:	Ready	
Type:	HP Officejet Pro L7600 Series	
Where:	OfficejetProL7600	
Comment	t	Print to file
Print rang	e	Copies
• <u>A</u> I		Number of copies: 1 🚊
C Page	\$ from: 1 to: 1	
C Selec	otion	123 123
B&W pr	inting	OK Cancel

How to print the Horizontal Alignment

- 1. From the *Print* menu, run the *Print* command. The *Print Horizontal Alignment* window will appear on the screen.
- 2. Click the 🔛 button.
- 3. In the *Print* dialogue box, make the desired settings.
- 4. Press the OK button to start printing.

In this dialogue box, you can also select whether the drawing will be printed in black and white by ticking the B & *W* printing check box, at the bottom left of the dialogue box, or to print to a file, by ticking the *Print to file* check box. If you wish, you can print only part of the print pages in more than one copy.

Printing all pages, selected pages or a range of pages

- 1. From the *Print* menu, run the *Print* command. The *Print Horizontal Alignment* window will appear on the screen.
- 2. Click the 🔛 button.
- 3. In the *Print* dialogue box, which is below the *Print range* field, enter the part of the document you wish to print.
- To print all pages of the file, select the *All* check box.
- To print a range of pages, select the *Pages* check box and enter the range of pages you wish to include in the printout, by typing the number of the first page in the *From:* field and the number of the final page in the *To:* field.

To print two or more copies simultaneously

1. Click the *Print* button.

2. In the *Copies* field, enter the number of the copies you wish to print.

To print a copy of the whole document, tick the *Collate* check box before printing the first page of the next copy. If you prefer to print all the copies of the first page and then print all the copies of the next pages, untick the check box.

Alternatively, you can print only one print page, the current one. To do this, select the page and then run the *Print* command from the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right click anywhere in the drawing area. The next steps are identical to those described above.

7.4.7 Export to DXF File

You can export the contents of the horizontal alignment to .DXF format, so as to process them in another drawing program.

How to export data to a DXF file

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Export to DXF* command.
- 2. In the displayed dialogue box, enter the name of the file in the *File Name* field.
- 3. In the *File Type* field, enter the type of the file, depending on the desired version, *14 or 2000*.
- 4. In all cases, click the *Save* button to finish the creation of the file.

In the dialogue boxes of the *Print Preferences, Terrain Printing Preferences* and *Road Printing Preferences* commands you can set the form of the elements and how they will be displayed, as well as which elements will be exported to your file and to which layer. Therefore, it is advisable to preview first the whole or part of the design. Before exporting the file you must also have set the correct scale based on which the size of the data font is determined. Throughout the program, the size of the elements (names, terrain point elevations, PI names, cross sections and other texts) are in cm. In the DXF file this value is expressed in "universal" m. The conversion is performed with the use of the drawing scale.



8 Profile

8.1 Creating a Road Project

With Anadelta Tessera you can start creating a new Profile project in two ways:

- 1. You can request the automatic creation of the Profile based on the elements that you have inserted in the *Horizontal Alignment* or in the *Cross Sections* workspaces.
- 2. You can create directly a new Profile project that you can process only when working in the *Profile* workspace and then, if necessary, to create the *Cross Sections* of the same road.

Creating a New Profile Project

This procedure is useful in case you wish to use the program only for creating a single profile, and also for making measurements by using cross sections.

In the *Profile*, a terrain line is comprised of points and a set of coordinates (Chainage, H), and each set corresponds to the chainage of a station and to the elevation of the terrain on the axis where the station is. The new project that you are creating is empty, namely it doesn't contain any stations or lines. All the elements of the profile (stations, terrain elevations, etc., apart from the road profile) must be created by the user, as described in the next paragraph.

How to create a new Profile file

From the *File* menu, select the *New Project...* submenu and run the *Profile* command.

Creating or Updating a Profile from the Horizontal Alignment or the Cross Sections workspace

This procedure is performed after you have completed the horizontal design of the road in the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace or after you have created the *Cross Sections* independently and you wish to create and edit the *Profile*. In the first case, the cross sections that will comprise the *Profile* are those that have derived from the road stationing, while in the second case the cross sections are the ones of the Cross Sections workspace.

How to create the Profile from the Horizontal Alignment

- 1. From the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace, select the road whose *Profile* you wish to create or update.
- 2. From the *Project* menu, run the *Manage* command, or click the <u>S</u> button on the main toolbar. In the *Quick Update* group, click the *From Horizontal Alignment to Profile* button. The following confirmation message will appear on the screen:

Warning	×	
?	Do you want Profile of road "Road 1" to be updated with terrain, diagrams, tangent, structures;	
	<u>Y</u> es <u>N</u> o	

3. Click *Yes* to continue. The program will create the *Profile*. A message appears at the end of the procedure, informing you that the procedure has been completed. To run

the command, you must have performed stationing on the selected road. When this type of update takes place, the main terrain line and its points are created. The left and right superelevation diagrams, as well as the tangent diagram are also transferred. Finally, if there is a road profile diagram in the *Horizontal Alignment*, then this diagram is copied to the main tangent curve of the *Profile*.

Alternatively, you can fully define which elements of the *Profile* will be updated. To do this, use again the *Manage* command. From the *Update* group of the *Updates* tab in the command's dialogue box, select *From Horizontal Alignment* in the first drop-down list and *To Profile* in the second drop-down list. Next, select which updates will take place by ticking or unticking the relevant check boxes and then click the *Update* button.

Update	
From Horizontal Alignment 💽 To Profile	•
 Terrain update Update diagrams Update road profile Terrain on Pavement Line Terrain on Roadway Line Update structures 	🗹 Update

The program will create the *Profile* workspace, if there is no profile for the selected road; next, in *Profile* workspace, the program will create the *Terrain* line if you have requested it or by default if this is the first time this workplace is being created. If certain cross sections of the road in the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace are outside the terrain model, these cross sections get the elevation of the previous cross section and the program shows you a warning message, informing you about the inability to find natural ground for these cross sections. If your project does not have a terrain model or points, the *Terrain Line* will be created anyway, but all elevations of its cross sections will be zero. You can use the aforementioned commands to update again the *Profile*, after having edited the road design in the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace.

How to create the Profile from the Cross Sections

- 1. Go to *Cross Sections* workspace that corresponds to the road whose *Profile* you wish to create or update.
- 2. From the *Project* menu, run the *Manage* command, or click the Subtton on the main toolbar. From the *Update* group of the *Updates* tab in the command's dialogue box, select *From Cross Sections* in the first drop-down list and *To Profile* in the second drop-down list. Next, select which updates will take place by ticking or unticking the relevant check boxes and then click the Update button. The program will create the *Profile* workspace, if there is no profile for the selected road; next, in *Profile* workspace, the program will create the *Terrain* line if you have requested it or by default if this is the first time this workplace is being created. The diagrams of the Cross Sections workspace, as well as any new line that originates from selected points of the Cross Sections. You can use the aforementioned procedure to update again the *Profile*, after having edited the *Cross Sections* workspace.

208 Anadelta Tessera



8.2 Workspace

Every time you open or create a *Profile* project, you are transferred to the *Profile* workspace. The biggest part of the screen in this workspace is occupied by the graphic representation of the profile. At the bottom of the screen, you can view (if any) the superelevation and tangent diagrams.

To go to the Profile workspace

From the *View* menu run the *Profile* command, or select the *Profile* tab at the bottom of the main screen. The program transfers you to the *Profile* workspace.



Similarly to the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace, at the top of the screen you will find the familiar menu bar, with the *File, Edit, View, Project, Tools, Print* and *Help* menus. A new menu has also been added to the *Profile.* Below the menu bar, you will find the main toolbar and below the latter you will find the *View* toolbar, which contains buttons that carry out operations relevant to the elements that are displayed on the screen, especially in the drawing area.

210 Anadelta Tessera



On the left of the screen, you can see the *Element Drawing* toolbar that contains various operations, which have been categorized in four groups. From now on, the first group will be referred to as Drawing, the second as Edit, the third as Print and the fourth as Bruckner.

The status bar at the bottom of the screen is comprised of four sections. The first section shows the coordinates of the current position of the crosshair (chainage and absolute elevation), as well as the elevation discrepancy between the station and the terrain elevation at the particular chainage. The second section displays the Input Form, if available. Next to it you can see the type of the line, e.g. Natural Ground, Tangent Curve, etc., on which the crosshair is located. The fourth and last section shows information about the selected station or PI of the profile.

The profile, the surface diagram and the Bruckner diagram are usually displayed in skewed scale (different scales for the X and Y axes). You can define the scale ratio for the display of the profile on screen from the dialogue box of the Scale X/Ycommand of the View menu. Type the ratio in the dialogue box and then click the OK button.

Provide new ratio	×
Provide scale ratio X / Y :	
10.000	
OK Cancel	

You can increase this ratio by 20%, if you run the Zoom out command (<F5>) from the View menu, or decrease the ratio by using the Zoom In command (<F6>). You will

have the same result if you click the 🗾 buttons for zooming out and the 💆 buttons for zooming in. You will find these buttons on the View toolbar. If you want the profile zoom ratio on the screen to be the same as the one you have set for printing, press on the same toolbar the $\frac{1}{2}$ button.

8.3 **Profile Workspace Modes**

There are five modes in the *Profile* workspace. This allocation facilitates the user to insert, edit and process the elements of the design. By default, the *Profile* mode is always active every time you create a new *Tessera* file.

Profile Mode

In this mode you can create, edit and print the profile of a road.

In the *Profile* mode you can create two types of lines: the terrain lines and the tangent curves. A terrain line consists of one or more points that are visible to the user. Every point of this line has a set of coordinates x and h, that corresponds to the distance of the station from the beginning of the road (Chainage) and to the elevation of the terrain on the station. The terrain line points are displayed on the screen and they are contained in a small box in order to be more distinguishable. You can insert more than one natural ground lines. The program considers the first inserted line as the main line. The terrain lines have always points at the same chainages. Tangent curves are also comprised of one or more points that are visible to the user. Every point of a tangent curve has a set of coordinates (x, h) that correspond to the chainage and the elevation. A rounding radius corresponds to every PI. By default, the value of the first and last PI's radius is zero. Here too, you can insert more than one tangent curves, but the first tangent curve is always considered as the main or current one. The graphical representation of the lines is displayed in the drawing area. You can move left, right, up and down within the drawing area by using the respective arrow keys or the mouse.

The current point is the selected point, which appears highlighted in pink on the screen. The relevant information on the current point is displayed at the bottom right of the screen, in the last section of the status bar. In case that the current point belongs to a tangent curve, the following information is displayed in the order described below: the PI serial number from the beginning of the line, the distance of the point from the beginning, namely from its Chainage (X), its absolute elevation (H) and the rounding radius (R). Regarding the natural terrain, the following information is displayed in the order described below: the station name, the station chainage, the absolute elevation (H) and the elevation difference between the terrain and the current tangent curve (Dh).

At the bottom of the drawing area and below the profile graph, you can see the data axes (or tables) of the various lines whose names are displayed on the left. The available data tables are: *Station name, Chainage, Terrain elevation, Natural terrain slope, Distance between successive cross sections, Road profile elevation S, Roadline slope S+DS, Distance between tangent curve points, Tangent curve slope, Oblique slope left, Oblique slope right, Level discrepancy, Superelevation right, Superelevation left and Display data.* The first five tables, which refer to the *Natural Ground,* are shown in green and they are displayed when there is even a single terrain line. The next five tables are shown in red and they are displayed when there is both a terrain line and a tangent curve.

You can choose which tables will be displayed on screen, as well as the order in which they will be displayed. To move a table, select it by clicking the left mouse button and move it to the desired position. More specifically:

1. Click the left mouse button to select the data axis or table you wish to move. The color of the table changes automatically from green (in the case of a Natural ground table) to purple.

212 Anadelta Tessera

2. Left-click on the selected table to drag-and-drop it to the desired position.

To select which axis data will be displayed from the *View* menu, run the *Display Options* command, or press the F2 key, or click the \blacksquare button on the *View* toolbar.

8.4 Profile Display Options

1. From the *View* menu, run the *Display Options* command, or press the *F2* key, or click the 💷 button on the *View* toolbar. The following dialogue box appears on screen:

V Display options	
General ♥ Drawing ♥ Table data ♥ Diagrams ♥ Terrains ♥ Road profiles ♥ Structures ♥ Mandatory points Snap	Grid

- 2. Select one of the item categories that are displayed on the left part of the window.
- 3. If you want none of the items of the category to be displayed, untick the box next to the name of the category. If you want only some of the items of a category to be displayed, select them from the right part of the window by ticking the corresponding check box, which is displayed next to their name.
- 4. To exit the window, click the exit button \blacksquare on the title bar of the window.

When the *General* option is ticked, the only available option is:

• *Grid:* Select this field to display the grid.



When the *Drawing* option is ticked, the available options are the same as in the *Horizontal Alignment*, namely:

- *Polyline Points:* Shows or hides the polyline points.
- *Layers:* In this field you can see all the available layers of the drawing and you can choose to show them or hide them.

🗑 Display options	
♥ Display options General ♥ Drawing ♥ Table data ♥ Diagrams ♥ Terrains ♥ Road profiles ♥ Structures ♥ Mandatory points Snap	 Station name Chainage (m) Terrain elevation (m) Ter. slope(%) Dist. between (m) Road profile el.(m) S S + DS Distance (m) Tan.Curve slope(%) Oblique slope left Oblique slope right Lev. discrepancy(m) Superel. right Superel. left
	 Lev. discrepancy(iii) Superel. right Superel. left Display data Per cross section Interpolate every (m) 20.000 Hide successive identical values

When the *Table* data option is ticked, the available options are:

- Station name: Shows or hides the station names axis.
- Chainage: This axis shows the Chainage per point.
- *Terrain Elevation:* The terrain elevation per point.
- Terrain slope %: The terrain slope between successive cross sections.
- Distance between (m): The distance between successive cross sections.
- *Road profile elevation (m):* Shows the road profile elevation per point.
- S: The longitudinal slope of the road per point.
- *S*+*DS*: The longitudinal slope of the roadlines per point.
- Distance: The distances between successive points of the tangent curve.
- Tangent curve slope: The slopes between successive points of the tangent curve.
- *Oblique slope left:* The oblique left slope per point.
- *Oblique slope right:* The oblique right slope per point.
- *Elevation discrepancy:* The elevation discrepancy between road profile and terrain.
- *Superelevation right:* The values of the right superelevations per point.
- Superelevation left: The values of the let superelevations per point.
- *Display data:* This option refers to all of the aforementioned data that is shown per point. You can choose to display this data:
 - *Per cross section:* The data is shown per cross section chainage.
 - *Interpolate every (m):* The data is shown per fixed distance, which is set in the immediately next field.
 - *Hide successive identical values:* In the case of interpolation, select it to hide the similar values for successive points.

V Display options		
General ♥ Drawing ♥ Table data ♥ Diagrams ♥ Terrains ♥ Road profiles ♥ Structures ♥ Mandatory points Snap	 ✓ Superelevation left ✓ Superelevation right ✓ Tangents curves ✓ Axis 	

When the *Diagrams* option is ticked, the available options are:

- *Superelevation left:* Shows or hides the left roadline of the superelevation diagram.
- *Superelevation right:* Shows or hides the right roadline of the superelevation diagram.
- Tangent curves: Shows or hides the tangent curve diagram.
- Axis: Shows or hides the axis of the superelevation diagram.



When the *Terrains* option is ticked, the available options are:

- *Natural Ground:* Shows or hides the Natural ground line.
- *Current terrain:* Select the terrain whose data will appear on the screen (e.g. in the data tables below the drawing). In the window shown in the figure above, both grounds are selected but the current terrain is Natural Ground 1.

V Display options	
General Drawing Table data Diagrams Terrains Road profiles Structures Mandatory points Snap	 ✓ Tangent ✓ Tangent ✓ Curve ✓ Tangent 1 ✓ Tangent ✓ Curve Current tangent curve ④ Tangent ① Tangent 1

When the Road profiles option is ticked, the available options are:

- Tangent: Shows or hides the tangent curve and road profile set.
 - Tangent: Shows or hides the tangent curve of the road profile.

- *Curve:* Shows or hides the road profile curve.
- *Current tangent curve:* Select the tangent curve whose data will appear on the screen (e.g. in the data tables below the drawing). The current tangent curve will be the one that will share its data with the Horizontal Alignment and the Cross Sections during the update procedures.

🗑 Display options	
Øisplay options General Ø Drawing Table data Ø Diagrams Terrains Road profiles Structures Mandatory points Snap	Mandatory point 1 Mandatory point 2 Mandatory point 3

When the *Mandatory points* option is ticked, the only available option is:

• *Mandatory point ...:* The names of all mandatory points that have been inserted appear on the right part of the window. From there, you can show or hide the desired points.



When the *Snap* category is ticked, all fields that correspond to objects that can be snapped with the mouse pointer appear on the right part of the window.

8.5 Bruckner Mode

In this mode you can edit the data of the mass haul diagram (Bruckner) and insert the

haul lines. To go to this mode, click the relevant ^{Bruckner} button as shown in the figure below. The drawing area displays the *Bruckner* diagram, as this derives from the cross section data.



In the *Bruckner* mode, you can see the line of the algebraic sum of the cubes. Every point of this line has a set of coordinates (x, h) that corresponds to the Chainage and to the algebraic sum of the available masses (cuttings – fillings) from the beginning of the road. The cross section points can be seen on the screen and they are surrounded by a small square frame (true cross sections) or a rhombus (interscalar cross sections, inserted automatically into the surface diagram). The haul lines on the other hand, are horizontal lines that intersect with the cube line at two points at minimum. You can insert more than one haul line. The graphical representation of the lines is displayed in the drawing area. You can move left, right, up and down within the drawing area by using the respective arrow keys or the mouse. To select a haul line, left-click on it. The color of the line changes from yellow to blue.

At the bottom of the drawing area and below the surface graph, you can see the data axes or tables of the various lines whose names are displayed on the left. The tables are: *Station chainage, Station name, Distance between successive cross sections, Cuttings area, Fillings area, Self-Distributions (m2), Cuttings (m3), Fillings (m3), Volume difference* and *Bruckner*. The first three tables are green, the next three tables are yellow, the last three axes are red and the last one is gray.

8.6 Surface Diagram Mode

In this mode, the drawing area displays the road surface diagram, as this derives from the measurement of the cross section areas. To go to this mode, click the relevant

Surf. Diagr., button as shown in the figure below.



In the *Surf. Diag.* Mode, you cannot create or edit any of the cross sections that you see. In the drawing area there are three lines: the cuttings line, the fillings line and the line of the sums. The cuttings line, which is displayed in red color, is comprised of sets of coordinates (x, y), which represent the station chainage and the area of the station cutting (in m2). Respectively, the fillings line is displayed in green color and its ordinate corresponds to the area of the station filling (in m2). The aforementioned two lines represent the areas before deducting self-distributions. By default, the area of the surface diagram after the deduction of self-distributions is displayed in gray color and corresponds to the algebraic sum of the aforementioned two lines.

The line points are displayed on the screen and they are contained in a small box to be more distinguishable. At the points where, either the line of the sums intersects the horizontal axis, or the line of the fillings or the line of the cuttings becomes zero (shifting from a cross section that lies entirely in a cutting or filling to a mixed cross section and vice versa), the program inserts automatically an interscalar cross section, which does not correspond to any of the cross sections that are displayed in the *Cross Sections* workspace. This serves for the more accurate calculation of the mass haul diagram (Bruckner). All lines have points at the same places.

The axes or tables at the bottom of the drawing area are the same as those that are displayed in the *Bruckner* mode.

8.7 Terrain Profile Line

If you have created a profile project without having the *Horizontal Alignment*, or if you wish to insert a second terrain line which will correspond, e.g. to the terrain profile below a roadline, then you must insert the line points in one of the ways that are described below.

Creating a Terrain Line with the Mouse

You can create a terrain line directly in the *Anadelta Tessera* environment by setting its points one by one with the mouse.

To create a terrain line with the mouse

1. From the *Profile* menu, run the *Insert Terrain* command, or from the *Edit* toolbar,

click the 📶 button (green).

- 2. Use the mouse to define the positions of the terrain line points within the drawing area. To define a profile more accurately, use the *Input Form* dialogue box. If the line that you are inserting is the first one, then the axes referring to this line and its points (namely the cross sections of the road) are also displayed. In the case of secondary terrain lines, then you're actually defining only the elevations, since the cross sections and their in-between distances have already been set when you inserted the first terrain line.
- 3. When you have finished, press *Esc* or right-click anywhere on the screen to complete the insertion of points.

The profile and the relevant data on the axes are displayed on the screen

Creating a Terrain Line by Typing Absolute or Relative Coordinates

You can insert a line by typing its data on a list.

How to create a Terrain line from the window of the Line edit command

1. From the *Profile* menu, run the *Line edit* command. The following window appears on the screen:

1	♥Line edit _□×					×		
📝 🦯 📫 Natural Ground						•	ан	
			~ ~ 1			~ [
	A/A	Station	Uh.	н		Dx	Slope	4
	1	POB	0.000	507.014	0.	000	0.000	
	2	1	20.000	512.124	20.	000	25.547	
	3	2	40.000	516.056	20.	000	19.662	
	4	3	60.000	518.015	20.	000	9.792	
	5	TSI2	77.395	518.513	17.	395	2.864	
	6	4	97.395	518.734	20.	000	1.106	
	7	5	117.395	520.446	20.	000	8.560	
	8	CSI2	127.395	521.182	10.	000	7.358	
	9	6	147.395	522.004	20.	000	4.109	
	10	7	167.395	522.162	20.	000	0.790	
	11	8	187.395	523.056	20.	000	4.471	
	12	CCI2	201.222	523.788	13.	827	5.295	
	13	9	215.048	525.074	13.	827	9.298	
	14	10	235.048	526.226	20.	000	5.761	
	15	11	255.048	528.003	20.	000	8.884	•
Γ	Move next						OK	

2. Click the *(button (green))* at the top left of the window. A dialogue box appears on the screen, where you must type a name for the new curve.

Name change			×
Terrain name	"Natural Ground"		
	ОК	Cancel	

3. When you have finished typing, click the *OK* button to return to the dialogue box and start typing the points.

The main section of the dialogue box is comprised of a table with six columns and a variable number of rows. Each row corresponds to a cross section. The titles of the columns are shown in gray on the top. The columns are: A/A, Station, Ch., H, Dx and Slope%. The program fills in the A/A column automatically with the serial number of the cross section and the user cannot intervene. In the other columns you can enter the cross section data. If you haven't inserted any other terrain line yet, then only the first row of the table will be filled. If there is already a natural ground, then this is considered as the main one and the data in the Station and Ch. columns will be copied to the new ground. In this case, you cannot edit the data of the row in the Station, Ch. and Dx columns. In other words, the Chainages of the new line are always the same as the ones of the main line and you can only intervene to the elevation of the line at the station.

In the *Station* column, enter the name of the station you wish to be displayed at the profile axis. The positions of the points can be defined in one of the following ways:

- 1. If you know the chainage and the elevation of the points that will comprise the line, type them in the *Ch*, and *H* columns respectively.
- 2. If you know the distance of a point from its previous point, type it in the Dx column.
- 3. If you know the slope of a point with respect to its previous point, type it in the *Slope%* column.

When you change the data of one cell, the other cells of the row are updated automatically.

To select a field, left-click in it and then start typing. If you wish to restore the data of the cell, press the *Esc* key. Press the *Enter* key to confirm the data you have entered and to move to the next field on the right. You can also move between the fields by using the up, down, right and left arrow keys. If you are at the end of a row, you can press the *Enter* key to go to the first field of the next row.

Regarding the main line of the terrain, if you wish to insert a new station at the end of the table, go to the sixth column of the last station and press the *Enter* key. If you want to insert a new station between two existing stations, select the immediate next station and press the Ctrl+I keys. The new station is inserted automatically in the middle of the distance between the selected station and its previous one. If you wish to delete a station, simply select the desired station and press the Ctrl+D keys.

Importing Terrain Lines from a Text File (.txt)

If the points of a terrain line are available in digital form (ASCII text files) and you wish to import all of them to your project along the road axis or parallel to the road, you can use the specialized operation of batch point insertion. This method is very useful when you wish to transfer a profile from one file to another.

How to import the Natural Ground from an ASCII file

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Import from ASCII* submenu and then run the *Terrain Profile* command. The *Open* dialogue box appears on the screen.
- 2. Select the desired file and click Open.

The text files that the program searches to find have the .txt extension and must be comprised of at least three columns.

Line "Natural Gro	und"			
Starting chainage	: 0.000			
PI	Chainage	Elevation Tang	. Curve Elev.	Elev. diff.
POB	0.000	507.014	510.099	3.085
1	20.000	512.124	512.186	0.063
2	40.000	516.056	514.273	-1.783
3	60.000	518.015	516.360	-1.654
TS12	77.395	518.513	517.956	-0.557
4	97.395	518.734	519.085	0.351
5	117.395	520.446	520.199	-0.248
CSI2	127.395	521.182	520.755	-0.427
6	147.395	522.004	521.869	-0.135
7	167.395	522.162	522.982	0.821
8	187.395	523.056	524.097	1.041
CCI2	201.222	523.788	524.872	1.084
9	215.048	525.074	525.653	0.579
10	235.048	526.226	526.790	0.564
11	255.048	528.003	527.937	-0.065
SCI2	275.048	529.551	529.095	-0.456
12	285.048	530.691	529.677	-1.014
13	305.048	532.651	530.841	-1.810
STI2	325.048	533.257	532.000	-1.257
14	345.048	533.340	533.078	-0.262
15	365.048	534.288	534.076	-0.212
16	385.048	535.624	534.985	-0.640
17	405.048	536.000	535.427	-0.573
18	425.048	536.000	535.358	-0.642
19	445.048	535.611	534.779	-0.832
20	465.048	534.092	533.788	-0.304
21	485.048	532.573	532.760	0.187
22	505.048	531.961	531.732	-0.229

These columns are the station name, the station Chainage and the station Elevation. The first rows of the file may contain comments on the starting chainage and the name of the line, but the program will ignore them. The rows containing the data are separated by a row that must contain at least three consecutive dashes (____). In case that the terrain line that you wish to import is the main one, the program will ignore them and the contents of the second column. In the opposite case, the program shall ignore them and the points of the new line will have the same distances as the ones of the main line files, while their elevations will be those that the program has read from the file. Obviously, the file must have as many stations as the already existing Natural Ground.

If the file does not comply with the aforementioned requirements, then the program will not be able to read the file and will display the relevant error message.

Copying a Terrain Line

You can create a copy of a terrain line with elevation offset.

How to copy a terrain line

- 1. Select the desired terrain line and from the *Profile* menu run the *New terrain with Offset* command, or from the menu which is displayed if your right-click anywhere in the drawing area, run the *Copy with offset* command.
- 2. The program will prompt you to enter the elevation of the first station of the new line, showing you the message *Enter profile point on the Status bar*. Enter the new point either by clicking the left mouse button in the drawing area or by using the *Input Form* command.

The profile of the new curve will be displayed on the screen. The other points of the curve will be inserted with respect to the position of the first station.

You can also copy the main line of the natural ground from the window of the *Line edit*

command. Just click the button. A dialogue box appears on the screen, where you must type a name for the new curve. Click the *OK* button. The program will create a new terrain line, which will be a true copy of the main line, without any elevation offset. Next, you can proceed to the offset by clicking the dH button at the top of the window, and type the value in the *Move line by Dh*, as described in the following section.

8.8 Terrain Profile Editing

You can edit the Terrain lines that you have created, so as to give them the desired form.

Changing the Name of a Terrain Line

To change the name of a terrain line, from the *Profile* menu run the *Line edit* command and then click the *Name Change* button. In the resulting dialogue box, type the new name. Next, click the *OK* button.

Properties	×
Natural Ground	•
Property	Value
Name	Natural Ground
Color	Green
Points	35

You can also edit the name of a line from the window of the *Properties* command, which is displayed if you click the right mouse button after you have selected the line you wish to rename. Simply run the command to open the window and in the field that corresponds to the *Name* command, type the desired name.

Moving a Terrain Line

You can move a terrain line with respect to the elevation.

To move a line with the mouse

- 1. Select the line you wish to move.
- 2. From the menu that is displayed when you right-click in the drawing area, run the *Move* command.
- 3. The program will prompt you to set a reference point, by showing you the relevant message in the third section of the status bar. Set a reference point either by clicking the left mouse button in the drawing area or by using the *Input Form* command.
- 4. In the next step, the program will prompt you to set an end point, by showing you the relevant message in the third section of the status bar. Proceed as described above. The line will be transferred to the position you have specified.

This type of transfer has the meaning of vertical shift. Therefore, although you can specify both points with a different chainage, only their elevation discrepancy is taken into account.

You can also move the line from the window of the *Line edit* command.

How to move a curve from the window of the Line edit command

- 1. From the *Profile* menu, run the *Line edit* command or select a terrain line and then, from the menu which is displayed if your right-click anywhere in the drawing area, run the Line edit command.
- 2. From the drop-down list at the top of the displayed window, select the curve (if not selected) you wish to move. The data of the selected curve are shown in the table in the middle of the box.
- 3. To move the curve, click the is button on the right of the drop-down list. The following dialogue box appears on the screen:



- 4. In the *Move line by Dh* text field, type the distance at which you wish to move the curve, entering a positive sign for moving the line upwards and a negative sign for moving the line downwards.
- 5. Click the *OK* button. The curve will be moved within the drawing area and the table data will be updated with the new values.

You can also move only part of a terrain line by elevation or by the X axis (in the case of the main curve).

Inserting a Point on a Natural Ground Line

You can insert one or more points on a Natural Ground line.

To insert a point on a terrain line with the mouse

- 1. With the mouse pointer over a point of the terrain line, select the *Terrain* line by clicking the left mouse button.
- 2. Select the point next to the point you wish to insert.
- 3. From the menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, run the *Extend to left* or *Extend to right* command, depending on which direction you wish to insert the point.
- 4. The program will ask you to specify the position of the new point, by showing you the relevant message on the *Status* Bar. Set the point either by clicking the left mouse button on the screen or by using the *Input Form* command.

The point will be inserted at the position you have specified. Every time you insert a point on a line, a point with the same chainage will also be inserted on every terrain line of the project, while its elevation will be calculated through a linear interpolation from the neighboring points of the lines. Inserting a new point actually means inserting a new station into the road. The new station will be named after its serial number, namely, if the terrain lines have 25 stations, the name of the new station will be 26. Of course, you can rename the station, if desired.

You can also insert a point on the main natural ground from the window of the *Line edit* command.

Moving a Terrain Line Point

You can move a terrain line point easily and quickly by using the mouse.

How to move a terrain line point

- 1. With the mouse pointer over a point of the terrain line, select the line you wish to edit by clicking the left mouse button.
- 2. Highlight the point you wish to move.
- 3. Specify the new position of the point. You can move the point vertically or horizontally. Regarding the horizontal offset, this is only possible up to the positions of the two neighboring stations.

At the same time, the points of the other curves on the same station will be moved horizontally, in order to get the same chainage, but they will maintain their H elevation.

You can do the same from the dialogue box of the *Line edit* command.

How to move a terrain line point from the window of the Line edit command

- 1. From the *Profile* menu run the *Line edit* command, or select a terrain line and then, from the menu which is displayed if your right-click anywhere in the drawing area, run the *Line edit* command.
- 2. From the drop-down list at the top of the window, select the terrain line (if not selected) you wish to move. The data of the selected line are shown in the table that is displayed in the middle of the box.
- 3. If the selected line is not the main one, you can intervene only in the *H* and *Slope* columns, namely you can move a point only by elevation. When the *Move next* check box is ticked, the points at the far right of the point that you're moving are also moved by the same distance. If the terrain line is the main one, you can move the points horizontally, by editing the data in the *Ch*, and *D*x columns.

Batch Editing of Terrain Line Points

You can carry out a batch editing of the points positions either from the window of the *Points* command in the *Properties* or from the window of the *Line edit* command.

P	🖗 Points list (Natural Ground) 🛛 💶 🗙				
	Dist. from Start	Elevation			
1	0.000	507.014			
2	20.000	512.124			
3	40.000	516.056			
4	60.000	518.015			
5	77.395	518.513			
6	97.395	518.734			
7	117.395	520.446			
8	127.395	521.182			
9	147.395	522.004			
10	167.395	522.162			
11	187.395	523.056			
12	201.222	523.788			
13	215.048	525.074	Ţ		
, ,		1 k	_		

How to carry out batch editing of the profile points

- 1. Select the profile you wish to edit by leftclicking on it with the mouse when the pointer is on one of the profile points.
- 2. Display the *Properties* command window. In the value field of the *Points* property, click the button with the three dots ... the right of the field. The window of the *Points list* command appears on the screen. This window has two columns, which correspond to the *Distance from Start* and to the *Elevation*. Each line of the window corresponds to a line point.
- 3. Change the values in the desired fields by typing the new coordinates.
- 4. Every time you change a value, press *Enter* to confirm the new value.

Deleting a Terrain Line

You can delete very easily any terrain line you don't want to be included in your project any longer.

How to delete the selected terrain line

- 1. With the mouse pointer on a point of the terrain line, select the line you wish to delete by clicking the left mouse button.
- 2. From the *Edit* menu, run the *Delete* command, or, from the menu that is displayed if

you right-click on the screen, run the *Delete Objects* command, or press the *Del* key. If the line you selected to delete is the main one, this action also deletes all lines of the Natural Ground.

Deleting a Terrain Line Point

You can delete one or more points of a terrain line.

How to delete a terrain line point

- 1. With the mouse pointer on a point of the terrain line, select the line you wish to edit by clicking the left mouse button.
- 2. Select the point you wish to delete.
- 3. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, select the *Delete Point* command.

This action also deletes the points of every terrain line that are at the same chainage. You can also delete a point from the dialogue box of the Line edit command, if you select the line that corresponds to the station to be deleted and then press the Ctrl+D keys.

8.9 Road Properties

If you run the *Road preferences* command from the *Profile* menu, the following dialogue box will appear on the screen:



The box has two tabs, where you can make various settings for the road and the Bruckner diagram.

The General tab offers the following settings:

- *PI start radius:* Enter the value of the PI radius that the program will give to every new tangent PI that you insert.
- *Starting chainage:* In this field you can enter the starting chainage of the road.
- *Eye elevation:* In this field you can enter the value of the elevation for the calculation of the minimum radius, in order to ensure the necessary sight distance.
- Left and right lane width: Enter the road's traffic width for the calculation of the Ds.
- Design Speed: Enter the road's design speed.
- Speed V^{85} : Enter the working V^{85} speed.

When you have finished your settings, click the *OK* button to save the changes and return to the *Profile* workspace.

8.10 Creating and Inserting a Tangent Curve

The next step in the design of the *Profile* is the insertion and editing of the road's tangent curve. The end purpose is to determine the elevation of the terrain road profile. You can insert the tangent curve PIs and their data in three ways.

- 1. Batch import of lines from text files (.txt)
- 2. Insertion of PIs within the *Anadelta Tessera* environment.
- 3. Conversion of a natural ground line to tangent curve.

Importing a Tangent Curve Line from a Text File (.txt)

If the tangent curve PIs and their data are available in digital form (ASCII text files) and you wish to import them into your design, you can do this anytime, either during the first stage of your design or while editing your design, and for as many times as you wish. This method is very useful when you wish to import into the program tangent curves from other files.

How to import a tangent curve from an ASCII file

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Import from ASCII* submenu and then run the *Tangent curve* command. The *Open* dialogue box appears on the screen.
- 2. Select the desired file and click *Open*. The text files that the program searches to find have the .txt extension and must be comprised of at least three columns. These columns are the tangent curve *Name*, its *Chainage* and its *Elevation*. The ASCII file may contain the PI rounding radii and you can import them into a column, which must be the next column after the elevation. The first lines of the file may contain comments, but the program will ignore them. The rows containing the data are separated by a row, which must contain at least three consecutive dashes (____).

Line "Tangent" Starting chainage	: 0.000					
PI	Chainage	Elevation	Radius	т	d	Slope%
KO	-18.497	508.169	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
K1	73.210	517.739	300.000	7.302	0.089	10.435
K2	227.916	526.351	39766.435	50.481	0.032	5.567
K3	334.775	532.571	3779.774	16.064	0.034	5.821
K4	413.023	536.461	783.629	39.612	1.001	4.971
K5	588.789	527.429	599.806	33.013	0.909	-5.139
K6	637.010	530.259	0.000	0.000	0.000	5.869

If the file does not comply with the aforementioned requirements, then the program will not be able to read the file and will display the relevant error message. After the file has been read, a new tangent curve will appear in the drawing area.

Creating a Tangent Curve

You can create one or more tangent curves by specifying the tangent curve PIs.

How to create a tangent curve with the mouse

- 1. From the *Profile* menu, run the *New Tangent Curve* command, or from the *Edit* toolbar, click the button (red).
- 2. Use the mouse to define the positions of the tangent curve PIs within the drawing area. To define a PI more accurately, you can use the *Input Form* dialogue box.
- 3. When you have finished, press *Esc* or right-click anywhere on the screen to complete the procedure.

In this phase, you can see on your screen the tangent curve, which is displayed in red, as well as the elevations of the road profile per cross section. You can also see

the road profile, if it can be calculated with the current values of the PI rounding radii. The next step is to edit the default value of the rounding radii of the tangent curve PIs. If you wish to change the default value that the program assigns to the rounding radii, go to the *Profile* menu, run the *Road properties* command and change the value in the *PI initial values* text field.

You can also insert a tangent curve from the window of the *Line edit* command.

How to create a tangent curve from the window of the Line edit command

- 1. From the *Profile* menu, run the *Line edit* command.
- 2. Click the button (red) at the top left of the window. A dialogue box appears on the screen, where you must type a name for the new tangent curve.
- 3. When you have finished typing, click the *OK* button to return to the previous window and start typing the points. You will notice that the tangent curve that you have created appears highlighted in the drop-down list.

When a tangent curve is selected, the main section of the dialogue box is comprised of a table with six columns and a variable number of rows. Each row corresponds to a PI. The titles of the columns are shown in gray on the top. The columns are: A/A, Ch, H, Dx, Slope% and Radius. The program fills in the first column automatically with the serial number of the cross section and the user cannot intervene. In the other columns you can enter the PI data from left to right. It is not mandatory to fill all columns. Only the first column of the table appears filled.

To select a field, left-click in it and then start typing. If you wish to restore the data of the cell, press the *Esc* key. Press the *Enter* key to confirm the data you have entered and to move to the next field on the right. You can also move between the fields by using the up, down, right and left arrow keys. If you are at the end of a row, you can press the *Enter* key to go to the first field of the next row.

The horizontal position of a PI can be defined in the following ways:

- In the Ch. column you can specify the PI chainage.
- If you know the distance of a point from its previous point, but you don't know its chainage, type the distance in the *Dx* column.

The position of a point with respect to the elevation can be defined in the following ways:

- In the *H* column you can specify the PI elevation.
- In the *Slope*% column you can type the slope of the point with respect to its previous point.

In the *Radius* field you can type the value of the PI rounding radius. When you enter data in one of the table's cells, the other cells of the same row are updated automatically.

Regarding the tangent curve PIs, if you wish to insert a new PI at the end of the table, select the last field of the last PI and press *Enter*. If you wish to insert a new PI between two existing ones, select the immediate next PI and press the Ctr/+I keys. The new PI will be inserted right above the selected one and at the half distance. If you wish to delete a PI, simply select the desired PI and press the Ctr/+D keys.

Conversion of a Terrain Line to Tangent Curve

To convert a terrain line to a tangent curve, select the desired terrain line and from

the menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area run the *Copy terrain* to new tangent curve command.

Inserting and Editing Tangent Curve Radii

To complete the calculation of the road profile, you must insert the rounding radius for every PI. This is done from the *Properties* command window.

Properties	×
Tangent, PI 2	▼
Property	Value
Name	Tangent
Point X	227.916
Point Y	526.351
Radius	39766.435
min Hw	1900.000
Т	50.481
f	0.032
T1, T2	50.240, 50.232
Points	7

How to insert the value of a PI rounding radius

1. Select (highlight) the desired PI and run the *Properties* command.

2. From the window of the *Properties* command enter the value of the rounding radius in the*Radius* field. In this window you can also view the minimum curvature radius of the curve, which ensures the required sight distance. The minimum radius is calculated based on the value you have entered in the *Eye elevation*, in the *Road preferences* of the *Profile* menu.

When you close the screen window, the road profile appears rounded according to the value of the curvature radius, but only if this value is compatible with the other data (namely, only if the curvature radius does not overlap the curvature radii of the adjacent PIs).

You can also edit the curvature radii from the dialogue box of the *Line edit* command. Select the desired tangent curve and in the last column, type the new radii values.

Finally, when a tangent line has been calculated, you can change the curvature radius of a PI and view the result in real time. If you select with the left mouse button the flags of the desired PI, you will notice that their color changes. You can increase or decrease the PI radius by left-clicking the (left or right) flag. Move the mouse to the left or to the right to increase or decrease the flag, respectively. Finally, click again the left mouse button to finish the procedure, or click the right mouse button to restore the flags to their original position. The yellow flags indicate overlapping of successive circular arcs which are not displayed.

8.11 Editing a Tangent Curve

You can edit the tangent curves that you have inserted, so as to give them the desired properties.

Changing the Name of a Tangent Curve

To change the name of a tangent curve, click the \square button from the window of the *Line edit* command. A dialogue box appears on the screen, where you must type a new name. Next, click the *OK* button.

You can also edit the name of a tangent curve from the window of the *Properties* command. Simply run the command and in the *Name* field, type the desired name.

Moving a Tangent Curve

You can move a tangent curve both horizontally (Chainage) and vertically (elevations). The steps to follow are those described above for moving the terrain lines. The only difference refers to the relative position of the two points that define the movement, while their difference in the horizontal direction is also taken into account (in addition to the vertical direction).

You can also move the tangent curve from the window of the *Line edit* command. The procedure is the same as the one described above for the vertical movement of terrain lines.

Adding a PI to a Tangent Curve

You can add one or more points to a terrain line. The insertion of a PI to a tangent curve will not affect the other tangent curves.

You can do the same from the dialogue box of the *Line edit* command.

Moving a Tangent Curve PI

You can move the PI of a tangent curve by applying the same procedure that you would use for the terrain lines. A PI can only be moved within the boundaries of its two adjacent PIs. The same action is possible from the dialogue box of the *Line edit* command. You can also move points from the window of the *Points* command, as well as from the window of the *Properties* command.

Deleting a Tangent Curve and Tangent Curve PIs

Delete a tangent curve or a PI in the same way that you would use to delete a terrain line or a terrain line point.

8.12 Road Profile Calculation Data

The road profile that corresponds to the tangent curve of a road is calculated automatically upon the insertion of the road's tangent curve and based on the initial rounding radii of the tangent curve PIs. The road profile is re-calculated automatically every time you edit the data of any of its PIs. To view the data of a PI, select the PI and run the *Properties* command.

In the resulting window, you can see the tangent length and the curve arrow in the τ and d fields respectively.

Moreover, on the axes at the bottom of the drawing area, you can see the road profile data for every cross section.

Copying a Road Profile to a Terrain Line

You can copy the road profile of a tangent curve to a terrain line. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, run the *Copy road profile to new terrain* command. A new terrain line will be created, whose points will coincide with the road profile of the tangent curve.

8.13 Mandatory Points

The mandatory points enable the setting of the coordinates from which the road profile will pass.

How to create mandatory points

- 1. From the *Profile* menu, run the *New mandatory point* command, or click the button in the *Edit* section of the *Elements Drawing* toolbar.
- 2. Use the mouse to define the position of the mandatory point.

The names of the inserted points are determined automatically by the program upon insertion of the points. Select a point and right-click in the drawing area to open the *Properties* shortcut menu. Enter the new name in the *Mandatory point name* field.

Moving and Renaming Mandatory Points

Properties	×
Mandatory point (Mandatory po	pint 2) 📃 💌
Property	Value
Mandatory point X	226.259
Mandatory point Y	521.929
Mandatory point name	Mandatory point 2

How to move or rename the selected Mandatory Points

- 1. Select the *Mandatory Point* you wish to move, by clicking the left mouse button when the pointer is on the point.
- 2. Open the *Properties* command window by right-clicking in the drawing area. In the *Mandatory point name* field type the new name, if you wish to change it, and in the *Mandatory point X* and *Mandatory point Y* fields type the coordinates.

To move a point faster, select it, activate it and move it to its new position by using the mouse.

Editing Mandatory Points

From the *Profile* menu, run the *Mandatory Points Edit* command. The following window will appear on the screen:

Mandatory points			
	< Contract of the second se		
No	Ch.	Elevation	Name
1	106.641	514.114	Mandatory point 1
2	226.259	521.929	Mandatory point 2
3	345.080	529.744	Mandatory point 3
L			
		пк	Cancel

This window is comprised of the following columns:

- *No:* The serial number of every point.
- Ch.: The chainage of every point.
- *Elevation:* The elevation where a specific mandatory point is located.
- Name: The name of every point.

In this window you can edit all data of a point. If you wish to add a point and you know its *Chainage* and *Elevation*, click the respective D button; an empty line will appear on the screen where you can enter the characteristics of the point. If you wish to delete a mandatory point, click the respective button.

8.14 Profile Data

The data displayed on the profile axes can be viewed in the form of a table, from the window of the *Display Data* command of the *Profile* menu.

Chaina	ge Station name	Terrain elev.	Road profile el.	Elev. difference	S	S+dS	Oblique slope left	Oblique slope right
1 0.00	0 POB	507.014	510.099	3.085	10.435	10.435	10.730	10.730
2 20.00	0 1	512.124	512,186	0.063				
3 40.00	0 2	516.056	514.273	-1.783				
4 60.00	0 3	518.015	516.360	-1.654				
5 77.39	5 TSI2	518.513	517.956	-0.557	6.592	6.592	7.050	7.050
6 97.39	5 4	518.734	519.085	0.351	5.567	6.280	5.717	7.034
7 117.39	5 5	520.446	520.199	-0.248			7.550	8.258
8 127.39	5 CSI2	521.182	520.755	-0.427			8.944	8.944
9 147.39	5 6	522.004	521.869	-0.135				
10 167.39	5 7	522.162	522.982	0.821				
11 187.39	5 8	523.056	524.097	1.041	5.592	5.592	8.959	8.959
12 201.22	2 CCI2	523.788	524.872	1.084	5.626	5.626	8.981	8.981
13 215.04	8 9	525.074	525.653	0.579	5.661	5.661	9.003	9.003
14 235.04	8 10	526.226	526.790	0.564	5.712	5.712	9.035	9.035
15 255.04	9 11	529,002	527 927	.0.065	5.763	5 763	9.067	9.067

To save the data of the window in a text file, click the Save button. The Save dialogue box appears on the screen. Go to the subfolder where you wish to save your file and type the file name. Finally, click the Save button.

If you tick the Interpolation between cross sections check box, the program checks the profile data in the *S*,*S*+*DS*, *Oblique slope left* and *Oblique slope right* columns with respect to a fixed distance and shows the results by adding new rows to the table. The distance between the chainages where the check takes places is defined from the *View* menu \rightarrow *Display Options* command \rightarrow *Table data* \rightarrow *Display data* group.

If you tick the *Hide successive identical values* check box, the program only shows the first of a column's values that are identical and in adjacent cells. Obviously, if all cells of a row are empty, the program will not show the row at all.

The aforementioned two check boxes do not affect only the data displayed in the dialogue box, but also the data of the axes displayed in the program window.

8.15 Printing

The profile printing and the creation of a freezed segment take place in a different mode than the profile editing, as we have already mentioned. To go to this mode, click

the **Print** button on the *Status* bar.

In this mode you can create a freezed segment and print the profile. You can also define the positions where the flags will be displayed during printing. If you wish to return to the profile editing mode, click again the relevant *Profile* button.

This mode has many differences compared to the profile-editing mode. First of all, you cannot edit any lines. When you click the button, the *Print* group of the *Elements drawing* toolbar is activated; the print pages are displayed in the drawing area in blue, one next to the other, from left to right. The drawing must be positioned at the top of the page, between the first and the second horizontal lines.



The space between the second and the third line is occupied by the data axes or tables of the profile, and some space on the left of the first page is reserved for the scales and the titles of the axes. Very often, in order for the elevation of the *Profile* to fit in the page margins, you must create a freezed segment or a break. You can have as many breaks as necessary. If there are more than one pages in the printing area, then the pages are separated by blue vertical lines. The dimensions of the print pages are proportional to the true dimensions of the paper and to the scale that has been set. You can set the true dimensions of the paper from the *Print* menu \rightarrow *Page Setup* command \rightarrow *Paper* group \rightarrow *Size* field.

Pr	int Setup				<u>? ×</u>
	Printer				
	<u>N</u> ame:	HP Officejet Pro L7600 Series		•	Properties
	Status:	Ready			
	Туре:	HP Officejet Pro L7600 Series			
	Where:	OfficejetProL7600			
	Comment:				
	Paper		_	Orientation	
	Sige:	A4	-		Portrait
	<u>S</u> ource:	Printer Auto Select	3	Å	C Landscape
	Net <u>w</u> ork			OK	Cancel

Based on these dimensions, and more specifically on the page height, the program calculates how many centimeters will be occupied by the profile drawing and how many by the data axes, always with reference to the print scale that you have set.

Use the *Profile print* preferences command of the *Print* menu to select the data that will be printed in the profile. Set the elevation and length scales from the *Parameters* tab.

Lines Table Data General Data Parameters	
Print scales Length 1000 Elevations 100 Superelevation diagram cm corresponds to a superelevation of 6.000 % Curvature diagram minimum radius corresponds to 1.000 cm ✓ Print drawings	Able data order Available element groups Actual length Natural ground elevations 1 Tangent Curve elevations Road Profile elevations Slopes S Natural ground elevations Stations Distance between Chainage Chainage Curvature diagram Superelevations left Superelevations right

In the same tab you can set which data will be printed as axes or tables at the bottom of the page, and in which order. The available data axes or tables are shown on the right of the frame in the order they will appear on the printed profile. To select whether a table will appear or not, tick or untick respectively the check box beside the table's name. To change the order of appearance, select the table (left-click on it) to highlight it (the field fills with color) and then drag and drop the table's name up or down.

In the Lines tab

Print Preferences									×
Lines Table Data General	Data	Pa	arameters						
Line			Color		Line type	Thickness		DXF Layer	
Natural Ground	${\color{black}\overline{\checkmark}}$	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$	Green 💌	·	Continue		11 💌	NATURAL GROUND	
Natural Ground 1	Γ	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$	Brown	·	Continue		11 💌	NATURAL GROUND	
Tangent	₽	₹	Red 💌	·	🛛 Dashed 💌		11 💌	TANGENT	
Road profile	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$	₹	Red	·	Continue		11 💌	PROFILE	
Mandatory points	₹	₹	Black	·	Continue		11 💌	MANDATORY_POIN	
Structures	₽	₹	Black 💌	·	Continue		11 💌	STRUCTURES	
				_					
Save "Default"			Load "Default"				A	pply OK	

you can specify which lines will be printed and displayed, as well as the properties (color, line type, thickness) that the lines will have both on screen and on the printout.

In the Table Data tab,

nt Preferences					2
Lines Table Data General	Data Parameters				
Table Stations	Digits Color	Font	Size	DXF Layer	•
Stations	2 🔹 🔲 Black	▼ Arial	0.150	DIATOMES	Γ
Distance between Distance between	2 🔹 🔲 Black	Arial	0.150	APOSTASEIS_METAXY	
Chainage Chainage	2 🔹 🔲 Black	▼ Arial	0.150	KM_POS	
Chainage Chainage	1 🔹 🔲 Black	▼ Arial	0.150	XILIOMETRHSH	
Distance from page Distance from page	2 🔹 🔲 Black	Ariol	0.150	DIST_FROM_PAGE	
Curvature diagram Curvature diagram	2 DBlack	Arial	0.150	DIAG_KAMPYLOTHTAS	
Superelevation diagram	2 DBlack	Arial	0.150	DIAG EPIKLISEWN	
Cunacalaurationa laß					-
Save "Default"	Load "Default"		Γ	Apply OK	

you can specify the form of the data that will be printed on the axes (axis title, decimals, font color, font, size, etc.). To apply the changes you have made, click the *Apply* button. To save your settings in order to apply them to every project, click the *Save Default* button. To restore the default settings, click the *Load Default* button. To close the dialogue box and return to the *Profile*, click the *OK* button.

Creatinga Freezed Segment

To be able to move within the screen of the print mode, proceed as described above. Namely, you can use the up, down, left and right arrow keys to move to the respective directions, or use the mouse wheel; to move by double-step, hold the *Shift* key down and press the respective arrow key. In this screen you can also move the whole profile or only a part of the profile in order to create a freezed segment. To do this, use the *PageUp* and *PageDown* keys.

To create a freezed segment, run the *Freeze segment* command of the *Print* menu. The whole procedure is as follows: Highlight the last point of the area to which you wish to assign a certain reference level and run the *Freeze segment* command from

the *Print* menu, or click the button, or press the *Ctrl+L* keys.

Note that a new horizon elevation appears on the selected station. Now the area before the current point is "frozen". That means that its position on the screen will not change. Namely, if you move the drawing within the screen (*PageUp* and *PageDown* keys), the whole drawing will move up and down except for the frozen area. Repeat the freezing procedure for the other areas of the profile to create the freezed segment. The vertical step according to which the profile moves when you press the *PageUp* and *PageDown* keys also depends on the current magnification, but you can set it from the *Tools* menu \rightarrow *General Options* command \rightarrow *Profile* tab \rightarrow *Minimum moving step for unfreezed segments* field.

The Unfreeze segment command of the Print menu "unfreezes" the (frozen) area

where the current profile belongs. You can run this command by clicking the \square button or by pressing the *Ctrl+U* keys; you can also run the *Unfreeze All* command to unfreeze the whole profile.

Editing Flags

In the print mode, a flag with the PI data is displayed on every PI. To move a flag you must first select it. Next, activate it (by left-clicking inside the circle of the selected flag), move the crosshair to the desired flag position and click again the left mouse button. If you don't want a particular flag to be displayed, select it and from the menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, run the *Hide flag* command. If you want to view again the particular flag, select the respective tangent curve PI and from the menu that is displayed if you right-click on the screen, run the *Show flag* command. To delete all flags, go to the *Print* menu, open the *Flags* secondary menu and run the *Delete All* command. To restore the deleted flags, run the *Reset all* command from the same menu.

If you have moved a flag, you can align it, in order for the flag to get the same chainage as the tangent curve PI. To do this, select the flag and run the *Align by Ch.* command from the menu that is displayed if you click the right mouse button. You can do the same for all stations by running the *Align all by Ch.* command. If you want, apart from the horizontal alignment, to bring all flags to the elevation of the selected one, from the same menu run the *Align all by Ch.*, *H* command; if you wish to align all flags so that their distance from the PI is the same as the one of the selected flag, from the same menu run the *Align all by Ch.*, *Dx* command.

Preview and Print

By running the *Print profile* command of the *Print* menu, you can preview and print the profile.

To print from the *Print* profile window, where you can preview a page to be printed, click the last button with the printer icon. In the *Print* dialogue box, make the desired settings. Click the *OK* button to start printing.

8.16 Export to DXF File

From the *Profile* workspace you can export four types of DXF files. These files contain the Profile (with or without the Superelevation Diagram) or the separate Superelevation Diagram or one of the Surface Diagrams or the Bruckner Diagram.

How to export data to a ASCII file

- 1. From the *File* menu and the *Export to DXF* submenu, select *Profile* or *Superelevation diagram* or *Bruckner diagram* or *Surface diagram*.
- 2. Enter the name of the file in the dialogue box of the *File* Name field.
- 3. In the *File Type* field, select the type of the file according to the desired version, *14* or *2000*.
- 4. In all cases, click *Save* to finish the creation of the file.

To set the form of the elements and how they will be displayed, as well as which elements will be exported to your file and to which layer, go to the *Print* menu and open the dialogue box of the *Profile Print Preferences* command, in the case of the *Profile*, or the *Superelevation Diagram Print Preferences* command in the case of the Superelevation Diagram.

For this action, it is best to preview first the whole drawing or part of it. Before exporting the file, you must have also set the proper drawing scales by which the data font size will be determined. Throughout the program, the sizes of the data (names, terrain point elevations, PI names, station names and any other text) are given in cm. In a DXF file this size is translated into "universal" m. The conversion takes place by using the drawing scale.

8.17 Export to ASCII File

To export a curve or a tangent curve or any other element to an ASCII file, go to the *File* menu and from the *Export to ASCII* submenu run the *Terrain profile* or *Tangent curve* or *Bruckner diagram* command. The *Save as* dialogue box will appear on the screen. In this box you must specify the path and the name of the file that will be created. When you have finished, click *OK* to create the file. To export *Drawing elements, Line types* and *Hatches,* follow the instructions for the respective commands of the *Horizontal Alignment*.

8.18 Printing the Superelevation Diagram

You have the option to print the superelevation diagram separately. Its form is determined according to the selections you have made in the dialogue box of the *Superelevation diagram print preferences.* To print the diagram, run the *Print superelevation diagram* command of the *Print* menu.

8.19 Bruckner Diagram

When you go to the *Bruckner* mode, the Bruckner diagram is displayed in the drawing area. The Bruckner toolbar is also activated at the left of the screen. The elements of the diagram derive from the quantities that were calculated during the cross section calculation in the *Profile* workspace. If the cross sections change, when you enter the *Bruckner* mode, the program will show you the relevant confirmation message for updating the diagram. If you wish to update the *Bruckner* diagram at any other time,

click the button on the Bruckner toolbar.

At crossings with other roads, it is possible to have local increase of cuttings or fillings. In this case, the line of the cubes is vertical. To insert a crossing you must be in the *Bruckner* mode.

How to insert a crossing in the Bruckner diagram

- 1. Click the *b*utton on the *Bruckner* toolbar. A white vertical line appears in the drawing area and moves according to the mouse movement, snapping the chainages of the diagram cross sections.
- 2. Left-click to select the chainage where you will insert the crossing.
- 3. Select the side to which the crossing will be moved, by left-clicking a point on the left or on the right of the line. Depending on where the pointer is located, a white arrow appears on top of the line, showing you which part will be moved.
- 4. When you move the mouse pointer, the selected part of the diagram also moves. Move the diagram to the desired position and left-click to finish the procedure.

You can cancel the insertion procedure at any time by pressing the *Esc* button.

How to insert a haul line into the Bruckner diagram

- 1. Click the button on the *Bruckner* toolbar. A blue horizontal line appears in the drawing area and moves vertically, following the mouse movement. The length of the line changes according to the vertical position of the line, so that the line always starts and ends on the line of the cubes.
- 2. Left-click to select the vertical position where you will insert the line.
- 3. Select the first point of the line and then the second point by clicking the left mouse button. The points where the line can stop, are points where the line intersects the diagram. When you approach a point, its color changes from white to blue. The haul line will be drawn between the two selected points.

The insertion of the haul line into the drawing area indicates the way in which the cuttings will be hauled and moved towards the fillings. Note that you can specify the critical distances of the diagram in the *Bruckner* tab of the dialogue box of the *Road properties* command.

Road properties	×
General Bruckner	
Free haul distance Lf (m):	100.000
Excavation cost Cf (EURO/m3):	2.000
Haul cost m (EURO / m3 / km):	0.500
Overhaul distance Ldep (m):	1200.000
Borrow transfer distance Lb(m):	2000.000
Transfer diastance limit X0 (m)	7100.000
	OK Cancel

You can also specify what the overhauls will be and where they will be hauled, or what the borrows will be and where they will be transferred from. Also, the transfer line is drawn on every concavity, so as to trim the edges of the convexes or concaves. The relevant areas in m3 and the start and end chainages of every section are also shown. You can insert more than one haul line, as long as they do not overlap horizontally.

If desired, you can change the number of concavities that a haul line crosses. Select the haul line and from the menu that is displayed when you right-click in the drawing area, run the *Line section points* command. The line will be displayed again with the maximum length it can get, and you must specify the new section points as previously.

If you are not satisfied with the position of a haul line, you can shift it vertically. Leftclick on the line to select it, so that its color changes from yellow to blue, and then activate it by left-clicking it again. Next, transfer the line by moving the mouse pointer to the desired position and left-click to finalize the line position. Next, the program will prompt you to specify the start and end points of the haul line, as you did for the insertion of the line.

If you wish the program to move the selected haul line to the appropriate position in order to minimize the filling transfers, run the *Optimize haul line* command. To do this,

click the 🗴 button on the *Bruckner* toolbar.

You can delete a haul line very easily.

How to delete a haul line

- 1. Select the haul line you wish to delete.
- 2. From the *Edit* menu, run the *Delete* command, or, from the menu that is displayed if you right-click on the screen, run the *Delete Objects* command, or press the *Del* key.

After the insertion and optimization of the haul lines, the program calculates automatically all mass hauls that are required for the construction of a road. These actions are reflected on the *Mass haul diagram* (Bruckner) and the calculations are summarized in the *Mass haul table*. To print this Table from the *Bruckner* mode, run the *Print mass haul diagram* command from the *Print menu*. The *Print preview* window will open as shown in the figure.

V	Print prev	/iew ▶ 🔍 E	A 🛛 🖨							<u>- 0 ×</u>
I	Chair	hage			Transfers			Overbaul	Borrow	
- ×<=0.100					×>0					
H	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	
H	From	То	m3	MЗ	MAM (km)	MAM - 0.100	km*m3	m3	m3	
H									317.01	
H			1786 <i>.5</i> 5							
H									26.65	
H			255.47		_					
H									399.02	
H			362.45		_					
H								4722.52		
H.	Tota	als:	2404.47					4722.52	742.68	
HF	Officejet Pr	o L7600 Serie	es		Portrait		Page 1 /	1		

To view the first page, click the 🚺 button. To view the previous, the next or the last page, click the 🚺 🚺 💟 buttons respectively. Click the 🔍 button to zoom in on the displayed page or click the 🔍 button to zoom out. This feature does not affect the print size. Click the 📝 button to set the print options. Click the 🔛 button to print the table. Click the 🖃 button to open Microsoft Excel and to transfer the table's data into this program.


9 Cross Sections

9.1 Introduction

The cross sections of a road are created and edited in a workspace other than the *Horizontal Alignment* and *Profile* that we have described in previous chapters. The *Cross Sections* workspace offers special functions that can cover the needs of the most demanding users. Before starting the detailed presentation of every function, and for the better understanding of how this workspace works, we shall describe briefly the structure and philosophy of the *Cross Sections* workspace.

The tab of the *Cross Sections* workspace contains the cross sections of a road. Every cross section of the road is identified by a chainage and a name. The chainages and names of the cross sections can derive either automatically, if this information already exists either in the *Horizontal Alignment* or in the *Profile* workspaces of the specific road, or they can be imported from a serial text file, or, the user can enter them one by one.



A Cross Sections project is comprised of one or more cross sections.

Every cross section is identified by its chainage, which is the main value used for arranging the cross sections in their workspace. You can view and edit one by one the cross sections of a project on the screen. The program also offers special operations for batch editing.

Any intervention on the natural relief of the ground until the road acquires its final form is represented in a cross section by using the appropriate lines. When a road's cross section is in the initial stage, namely before you start configuring it, it usually contains only one line, the "*Natural ground*" line. The Natural ground line depicts the ground surface before any intervention. In most cases, at least one more line is added, the "*Artificial ground*" line, during the final stage of the cross section processing. The Artificial ground line depicts the final surface of the ground, as this will derive after the execution of tasks, either in the case of a cutting or a filling. Regarding the cross sections, you must use further lines to fully describe the geometry of the street. For this reason, the program offers a variety of lines that the user can

select and use according to the project's needs and characteristics (e.g. benches, unsuitables, paving layers, etc.).

The simplest form for processing a cross section is to design every line by defining each point individually, as you would do if you were to design the cross sections manually. In this case, the program must calculate the areas that are formed between the lines, in order to draw up the mass table. For this reason, the lines are grouped in main categories - families, depending on their functional role. For example, in the aforementioned cross section, the program will automatically calculate separately the two areas that are formed between the natural ground and the artificial ground, in order for you to know the surface of the cutting and filling.

In a more advanced processing stage, the user may insert, e.g. the Artificial ground, without having defined accurately the starting and end points. The program will define these points during the calculation. The program will automatically extend or cut-off the edges of the Artificial ground, so that the latter "wraps" upon the Natural Ground.



The use of special lines for every task enables the program to automatically calculate the sections of the lines, as well as the produced (lengths-areas), in order to draw up quickly and easily the tables of quantities. The arrangement and standardisation of the lines, as well as the cross reference of the relevant calculated quantities to the mass table columns are referred to shortly in the program as "*Typical Tasks*". Of course, the user is free to parameterize the lines – members of the aforementioned families and to create new ones, according to the specific requirements of every project.

The typical cross sections are a parametric way to describe the lines that comprise a cross section. Just like cross sections, they are also comprised of four main parts, the branches, the topsoil, the sideslopes and the pavings.

The typical cross sections, which constitute the most automated stage in the cross section processing, are also based on the typical tasks. By using a typical cross section, the user does not create one by one the lines of every cross section, but he defines the form of the cross section qualitatively and geometrically, both in the cutting and filling. In practice, this means the creation of a cross section like the one shown in the figure:



The user must have defined, always in the typical cross section, the characteristics of the cross section, such as the number of branches, the way that the road profile elevation will be applied, the number of paving layers, the thickness and the geometry (widths, superelevations, sideslope layers' slopes) of the layers, the sequence of the sideslopes' slopes, as well as the extent of the topsoil. A typical cross section can be defined in an absolute or in a dynamic way. When using the absolute definition, the main sizes that characterize a typical cross section, e.g. road profile elevation, pavement width, roadway width, superelevations, have fixed values and they do not depend on the chainage where the typical cross section will be applied. When using the dynamic definition, the values of the main sizes of the typical cross section are not fixed, but they change based either on the chainage or on the relevant diagrams (profile, superelevation, width, etc.), or by special functions (as in the case, e.g. of the shoulder superelevations calculation).

Having all the aforementioned data when calculating automatically the cross section, the program will determine the form of the cross section (cutting, filling or composite cross section), create automatically the required lines, place them by elevation and by horizontal alignment, set their points based on the geometrical characteristics that you have defined, and finally it will calculate the areas or the lengths of the lines.

The typical cross sections, as well as the typical tasks, can also be found in separate files of an external library (directory ...\Anadelta\Tessera\Csec) and you can import them at will, into every cross section project – file, thus creating an internal library of Typ. Cross Sections and Tasks, especially set up for the particular project. The user is also enabled to export to the external library both the set of the typical tasks that he has created for a project as well as the typical cross sections that have been created by the user or have derived from modifications in existing cross sections.

You can also create, edit, import and export various diagrams to/from serial text files (ASCII). The diagrams in the cross sections workspace are used for stating a change in a value, e.g. superelevation, width, elevation, etc. with respect to the chainage. The user is also enabled to import and export several other data of his choice. For example, you can easily import or export the points of a line, e.g. the Artificial ground line or the Natural ground line from/to a serial text file (ASCII), or to import – export certain drawings to/from external library files, or to proceed to the batch assignment of the excavation percentages of every cross section (soil, rock, etc.) based on an external file.

Finally, some of the program's special functions enable you to import, copy, cut, paste, delete, and edit multiple lines for a group of selected cross sections.

This chapter describes the operations that you can carry out in the *Cross Sections* workspace. These operations are classified into the following categories:

- *File operations:* Select files for editing, import data from files, export data to files, view ASCII files for reading, delete files.
- Cross section operations: Add and delete a cross section, change the chainage.
- *Calculation operations:* Calculation of cross sections, assignment of drawings, creation of lines, copy, deletion and move of lines. The operations of this category can be carried out in two easy ways, either for multiple cross sections at the same time or separately for every cross section.
- *Printing operations:* Setting of printing and printer parameters, cross sections printing, mass tables printing.
- Operations for files with multiple roads (Professional version): Join cross sections of various roads into a composite cross section, change the current road, add a new road, delete an existing road.

The stages that are usually followed during the design of a road's cross sections are:

- 1. Creation of workspace and cross sections.
- 2. Cross section management.
- 3. Set up of typical tasks.
- 4. Creation and editing of lines.
- 5. Update of cross sections with the profile, width and superelevation diagrams.
- 6. Cross section calculation application of typical cross section.
- 7. Addition of special lines to the cross sections.
- 8. Operations of batch cross section management.
- 9. Operations of batch line management.
- 10.Calculation of a road's areas.
- 11.Mass table drawing-up calculation of volumes.
- 12.Printing of cross sections, export to files.

9.2 Creating a Project

With *Anadelta Tessera* you can start creating a new *Cross Section* project in two ways:

- 1. You can request the automatic creation of the cross sections based on the elements that you have inserted in the *Horizontal Alignment* or in the *Profile* workspaces.
- 2. You can create a new file that will contain only the *Cross Sections* workspace. The file that you are creating is empty, namely it doesn't contain any cross sections, and you must create them manually. This procedure is useful in case you wish to use the program only for carrying out measurements on a project.

Creating a New Cross Section Project

This procedure is useful in case that the road project has been designed and you wish to use the program only for measuring the project's cross sections.

How to create a new Cross Sections file

From the *File* menu, select the *New Project...* submenu and run the *Cross Sections* command.

The file that you are creating is empty, namely it doesn't contain any cross sections or lines. All elements, such as cross sections, lines, etc., must be either created by the user or imported from a text file (ASCII).

A *Cross Sections* project is comprised of one or more cross sections. In order for the program to calculate an area, every cross section must have at least two lines the one of which being the Natural Ground (e.g. Natural Ground and Artificial ground). All points of a line comprised in a cross section, have a set of coordinates (x, h), that corresponds to the distance of the point from the road axis (distance from axis) and to the absolute elevation of the terrain at the point.

Creating or Editing Cross Sections from the Horizontal Alignment

This procedure is performed after you have completed the horizontal design of the road in the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace and you wish to create and edit the road's cross sections.

This action enables the program to create the cross sections and the Natural Ground line for every cross section in the *Cross Sections* workspace. If your project does not have a terrain model or points, the cross sections will be created anyway, but they will not have the Natural Ground line.

How to create the Cross Sections from the Horizontal Alignment

- 1. From the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace, select the road whose *Cross Sections* you wish to create or update.
- 2. From the *File* menu, run the *Update cross sections* command. The following confirmation message will appear on the screen:



Click Yes to continue. The program will create the cross sections.

To run the command, you must have performed stationing on the selected road.

You can also create the *Cross Sections* from the *Horizontal Alignment* in the dialogue box of the *Manage* command of the *Project* menu. Select the road from the relevant list at the top of the dialogue box and then click the *From Horizontal Alignment to Cross Sections* button in the *Quick Update* group. The procedure is the same as the one described above. A message appears at the end of the procedure, informing you that the procedure has been completed.

When this type of update takes place, the program creates the road's cross sections, together with the main terrain line and its points for every cross section. Also, the pavement width diagram, the roadway width diagram, the left and right superelevation diagrams, the left and right semiaxis diagrams, as well as the diagrams that the user has created from a drawing line (diagrams of the existing road and other diagrams) are also transferred. Note that through this type of update the cross sections are created again from the beginning and any data that existed in the *Cross Sections* workspace before the update will be deleted.

Alternatively, you can fully define which elements of the *Cross Sections* will be updated. To do this, use again the *Manage* command. From the *Update* group of the *Updates* tab in the command's dialogue box, select *From Horizontal Alignment* in the first drop-down list and *To Cross Sections* in the second drop-down list. Next, select which updates will take place by ticking or unticking the relevant check boxes and then click the *Update* button.

The program will create the *Cross Sections* workspace, if there is no such workspace for the selected road; next, in the *Cross Sections* workspace, the program will insert the cross sections with the Natural Ground line if you have requested so, or by default if this is the first time this workplace is being created.

You can use the aforementioned commands to update the *Cross Sections*, in case you have modified the road design in the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace.

Creating a Cross Section Project from a Profile Project

The elements that the *Profile* supplies to the *Cross Sections* workspace are the station names with the respective chainages, an indicative Natural Ground with two points, and the road profile diagram.

The first point of the natural ground is on the cross section axis and at the elevation defined by the Profile, while the second point is a little further to the right, at the same elevation.

How to create the Cross Sections from the Profile

- 1. Go to the *Profile* workspace that corresponds to the road whose *Cross Sections* you wish to create or update.
- 2. From the *Project* menu, run the *Manage* command.
- 3. In the Update group of the Updates tab, select From Profile in the first drop-down

list and *To Cross Sections* in the second drop-down list and then tick the *Create Cross Sections* check box. Click the *Update* button to create the cross sections. If you wish to also update the *Cross Sections* with the road profile diagram, tick the *Update* road profile check box. To update the other diagrams, tick the relevant check box.

Update			
From Profile	•	To Cross S	ections 💌
 ✓ Update road profile □ Update diagrams □ Create Cross Sections 			
			🔽 Update

9.3 The Workspace

This paragraph describes the *Cross Sections* workspace. The particular workspace has many differences compared to the other two workspaces that have been described so far. To go to the *Cross Sections* workspace, click the *Cross Sections* tab at the bottom of the screen, over the status bar, or run the *Cross Section* command from the *View* menu. The tab is displayed only if you have carried out the cross section creation procedure.



Similarly to the *Horizontal Alignment* and *Profile* workspaces, at the top of the screen, you will find the familiar menu bar, with the *File, Edit, View, Project, Tools* and *Help* menus. There are also four new menus: *Actions, Batch Actions, Parameters* and *Print.* Below the menu bar, you will find the main toolbar and below the latter, you will find the View toolbar, which contains buttons that carry out operations relevant to the elements that are displayed on the screen, especially in the drawing area.



At the left of the program's window you will find the *Lines* toolbar, whose functions refer to the creation and editing of the cross sections lines.

×жн

<u>۸</u> آ There are also the scroll bars, while in the middle of the cross section (at the point where the x abscissa equals to zero), you can see the road axis, which is displayed as a red axial line. If you do not wish to view the axis line, click the

button on the View toolbar. If you wish to view the axis line, click again the same button. If you wish to view a grid in the drawing area, click the second button on the View toolbar.

Cross Sections Typicals		
🗅 🗙 🖻 📫 🗩 🗇	b 2	
7 0+	167.39	-
Road profile el. : 522.98 Cross section type :		10/35
with Typical 💌 😧	🖉 Cal	culation
Applied Typical :		
View3D		-
Branchee Desing Sto	nee [Topsoil
Quan. Quantities	Gene	ral Data
Mass Table Columns	m	m²
Topsoil	25.62	7.47
Filings	18.61	19.26
Cuttings	6.92	3.37
Sub-Base Course	12.95	2.65
Base Course	12.34	2.53
Wearing Course	10.50	1.47
Shoulder	1.50	0.21

To select a line on the screen, place the crosshair over the line and click the left mouse button. A selected line is highlighted (it changes color) and a small blue box appears on every point of the selected line. The active point of the line is displayed with a pink box. If you have selected the fifth, sixth, seventh or eighth button of the *View* toolbar or any combination of them, then the slopes, the horizontal distances, the vertical distances and the coordinates of the points are displayed over the straight parts or the points of the selected line.

After the calculation of the cross section, you can choose to also view the calculated areas on the screen. Simply left-click on the region whose area you wish to view. The area is activated immediately and the region is filled with color, so that its boundaries can be viewed clearly.

In the drawing area you can see all lines that comprise a cross section, and you can select and edit those lines. In the *Cross Sections* workspace, you can view and edit only the selected cross section.

The *Cross Section* data management window is displayed at the left of the main screen window. The management window is primary, since here you can execute most of the operations referring to a cross section, while you can also view all parameters of the cross section calculation, as well as the calculated quantities/areas. The name and the chainage of the current cross section (the one you see on your screen) in the file, are displayed in the *Cross Section selection* drop-down list of the window. You may choose not to display the management window. Simply click the first button from

the left of the View toolbar E. If you wish to display again the window, click again the same button. If the management window is closed, the name and the chainage of the cross section appear in green letters at the top left of the drawing area.

The status bar is displayed at the bottom of the screen and exactly below you can see the message window.

The status bar is comprised of four sections. The first section shows the coordinates of the current position of the crosshair (distance from axis and absolute elevation). The second section enables you to display the *Input Form*, if available. Next to the input form, in the third section, you can see the type of the line (e.g. Natural Ground) where the crosshair is located, or read various messages – instructions that the program shows to guide you during the execution of the various commands. The fourth and last sections display information on the selected line (total line points, serial number of the selected point and coordinates of the selected point).

The message window is the space where the program displays various messages about the problems that are detected during the calculation of a cross section. The messages are divided in three categories: information, warning and error.

Cross Section Options	×
Snap	
🔽 on point	
🔽 on line	
on sections	
🔲 Hide all except Natural Ground	
🦳 Show line points	
🔲 Batch area selection	

The snap can be set from the dialogue box shown in the figure. This box appears by running the *Options*

command of the View menu or by clicking the button on the *View* toolbar or by pressing the *F2* key. If you select the *Show line points* check box, the points of all lines that are included in the cross section are displayed. If you select the *Batch area selection* check box, you can select all areas that are created after the cross section calculation by pressing and holding the *Ctrl* key.

9.4 Road Properties

If you run the *Road preferences* command from the *Parameters* menu, the following dialogue box will appear on the screen:

Road Preferences		×
General Percentages Benches		
Description		
Starting Chainage 0.0	000 m	
Pavement tangent Left 2.5	Right 2.5 %	
Shoulder tangent 4.0	4.0 %	
Shoulders © Edge superelevation difference	8.0 %	
C Superelevation on curve external	6.0 %	
Maximum superelevation for berms	10.0 %	
Max paving layers' ledge superelevation (for length calculation)	10.0 %	
OK	Cancel	

The box has three tabs, where you can make various settings for the road, the benches and the excavation percentages of the cross sections.

In the General tab, you can enter the description of the road in the Description text field and, if you wish to change the starting chainage of the road, enter the value in the Starting Chainage text field. In the shoulders group you can specify the shoulder calculation way and the values of the left and right elevation of the shoulders, as described in the next chapter. The Benches tab contains all the necessary settings for the automatic creation of while in the benches, Percentages tab you can specify the percentages of every soil category and the bulking factors for every category. When you have finished, click the OK button to save your changes and return to the Cross Sections workspace.

9.5 Cross Sections Management

Moving Between Cross Sections

For moving between cross sections, the *Cross Section* data window features two buttons, one drop-down list and a scroll bar, but you can also use the dialogue box of the View toolbar.

If you click the solution of the Cross Section data window, the program transfers

you to the previous cross section (based on the chainage) while the button transfers you to the next cross section. You can do the same by pressing the *Page Up* or *Page Down* keys respectively. The cross sections are sorted out in ascending order according to their chainage.

There are also two extra functions, enabling you to go to any of the project's cross sections. The first function is executed from the *Cross Section selection* drop-down list in the *Cross Section* data window. In this list, you can see the name and the chainage of the current cross section. If you left-click on the list, a menu appears where all the cross sections of the current project are sorted out by chainage, and you can choose the cross section where you wish to go.

7	0+167.39	•
POB	0+000.00	
1	0+020.00	
2	0+040.00	
3	0+060.00	
TSI2	0+077.39	
4	0+097.39	
5	0+117.39	
CSI2	0+127.39	•

The second function that you may use to find a cross section, is executed with the assistance of the scroll bar, which is located at the top of the *Cross Section data* window.



Here, you can select the cross section that will appear on the screen as follows: Leftclick on the rectangular box on the scroll bar. The name and the chainage of the current cross section in the file are displayed in the *Cross Section selection* drop-down list. Hold the left mouse button down and scroll until you see the name of the desired cross section; then release the mouse button.

Locate	×
Chainage	
Cross section	
[Locate

The last search function can be executed with the Cross

Section data window open or closed. Click the Pal button on the View toolbar to open the dialogue box. The box has two text fields and a button. If you wish to go to a cross section whose chainage is known, type the chainage in the *Chainage* field and then click the *Locate* button. If there isn't any cross section at the specified chainage, the program will transfer you to the immediate next cross section. If you wish to go to a cross section whose name is known, type the name in the *Cross section* field and then click the *Locate* button.

Cross Section Insertion

In the *Cross Sections* workspace, the user can add the desired cross sections to a road.

How to insert a new cross section

New cross section	×
Cross section nam	e 📶
Chainage (m) :	177.395
OK	Cancel

- 1. From the *Cross Section* data window, click the button.
- 2. The dialogue box appears on the screen, where you must enter the data of the new cross section (name and chainage). The program fills automatically these fields (namely, it gives the name of the current cross section with an accent and selects a chainage with respect to the next cross section), but you can still enter the values you desire.
- 3. When you have finished, click the *OK* button to create the new cross section, which will be displayed in the drawing area. This cross section will be empty, namely it will not have any lines.

You can also add a cross section when importing lines from ASCII text files. Another feature is the batch import of cross sections from another project.

Changing the Cross Section Chainage and Name

This paragraph describes the way in which the name and the chainage of a cross

section are specified. This can be done by clicking the \square button. A dialogue box appears on the screen. In the *Name* field, type the new name (code) of the cross section by using any combination of capital letters and numbers.

In the *Chainage* field, type the chainage (in meters) of the cross section in the project. This data will appear in the section that shows information on the current cross section. Although the same file may contain two cross sections with the same name, it is not possible to have two cross sections with the same chainage. Therefore, if you accidentally type a chainage that has already been assigned to another cross section, the program will show you the following error message,



informing you that the cross section cannot be transferred.

Deleting Cross Sections

Confirm			×
2	Delete cr	oss section POB?	, I
	<u>Y</u> es	No	

To delete a cross section, click the \Join button. In the resulting window, click *Yes* to confirm that you wish to delete the cross section, otherwise click *No*. You can also delete multiple cross sections at once.

9.6 Typical Tasks

9.6.1 Creation - Management of Typical Tasks

The lines comprising each one of the program's cross sections are grouped in families. This sorting out of the lines has a qualitative meaning. It allows every line, depending on its family, to locate cross-sections and to calculate areas, by using the appropriate lines. It also serves to determine how the lines will appear both on the screen and on the printouts, as well as to the absolute parametric drawing-up of the mass and paving tables.

This standardisation of the lines (tasks) and the linkage of the calculated quantities to the mass table columns are referred to shortly as *Typical Tasks*. The determination of the typical tasks is one of the main operations of the program and must be done before starting to draw the cross-station.

From the *Parameters* menu, run the *Typical Tasks* command to open the window in which you will specify the typical tasks.

🖁 Typical Tasks	×
🔲 Select/Order Tasks 🔠 Select/Order Mass	Table Columns
Families - Tasks	Mass Table Columns
Horizer Simp FDL FDL FDL FDL WLL ERD LGD PVL Drain Layer [Sub-Base Course] Wearing Course [Wearing Course] Surfacing [Surfacing] Bedding Layer [Sub-Base Course] Precoating [Precoating] Binder Course [Binder Course] Base Course [Base Course] Shoulder [Shoulder] SSC FRDW OWL EML BNC Texe Statement S	
	Exit

Import of Typical Tasks from a File

To import typical tasks from an external file into the current project, go to the *File* menu, open the *Insert* submenu and run the *Typ. Tasks* command. Before running this command, however, you must be certain that you do not need the current typical tasks that you are using for your project. It is advisable to export them first into a file and then to replace them, because the import of a typical tasks file deletes the current typical tasks and replaces them with the ones contained in the file.

You can import the typical tasks either from a typical tasks file (*.ATE) or you can use the typical tasks of another *Tessera* file (*.ADF).

How to import typical tasks from another file

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Import* submenu and run the *Typ. Tasks* command.
- 2. The *Open* dialogue box appears on the screen. From the *File Type* field, select the type of file (*.ATE or *.ADF), then select the desired file and click *Open*.

Creation of Typical Tasks Files (*.ATE)

The typical tasks can be saved in the external library (directory ... \ANADELTA\TESSERA\CSEC). The default extension of these files is ATE.

How to export typical tasks to a text file

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Export* submenu and run the *Typ. Tasks* command.
- 2. The *Export Typ. Tasks* dialogue box appears on the screen. Enter the file name and click the *Save* button.

Typical Tasks of a New File

The typical tasks of a new project are also imported automatically from a typical tasks file (*.ATE). This file is selected from the *General Options* dialogue box of the *Tools* menu. More specifically, the full name and the path of the file are displayed in the *New project's typical cross sections* field of the *Cross Sections* tab. If you wish to select a new file, click the \square button. Select the desired typical tasks file from the dialogue box that will appear on the screen. Once you've made your selection, click the *Open* button to return to the *General Options* dialogue box, and then click the *OK* button to close the dialogue box and return to the main screen.

9.6.2 Families

The typical tasks are comprised of families. The main available task families are those listed below, together with a description of the behavior of every family's lines during the calculation and the area measurement of the cross sections.

NGD (*NATURAL GROUND*): This family – task represents the natural ground level before any intervention into the cross section. The *Natural Ground* line of every cross section does not extend nor is it cut-off automatically. It always remains unchanged during the calculation of cross sections and contributes to the formation of the *Natural ground* envelope. It cannot be used in the typical cross section.

TSL (TOPSOIL): This family – task represents the excavation line for the removal of the *Topsoil.* It is always below the natural ground, usually parallel to it, at a depth of 0.2 - 0.3 m, without this being mandatory. After the calculation of a cross section, this task contributes to the formation of the *Natural ground* envelope. The tasks belonging to this family cannot be used in the typical cross section.

SIMP (IMPROVEMENT, FOUNDATION): The tasks of this family usually represent improvements that are being made always under the natural ground and sometimes under the road (in the case of a cutting) for the improvement of the ground, or excavations for the foundation of walls. These tasks require a section with the current natural ground envelope. After being calculated, they contribute to the formation of the Natural ground envelope. The tasks belonging to this family cannot be used in the typical cross section.

FDL (FOUNDATION LAYER): The tasks of this family usually represent lines over the natural ground envelope, after the natural ground has been formed by the *Topsoil* and the *Improvements - Foundations.* These are layers of materials for the foundation of walls, or layers of materials before the filling. After being calculated, they contribute to the formation of the Natural ground envelope. They cannot be used in the typical cross section.

NGD.ENV. (NATURAL GROUND ENVELOPE): This is the bottom envelope that derives from the natural ground and the topsoil. If there are also tasks of the SIMP and FDL types, these also form the natural ground envelope according to the order they are inserted. The natural ground envelope is a fictitious line and does not correspond to a task, but it is used as a boundary for the creation of the *Artificial ground* line. It is comprised of the lower elevation points of the lines belonging to the NGD, TSL, SIMP families and of the upper elevation points of the lines belonging to the FDL family.

AGD (ARTIFICIAL GROUND): This task represents the final level of the artificial ground works in a cross section. In order to be calculated, it requires a section with the final natural ground envelope. Its top part where the paving and the encasing solids will be laid is the *Ledge*. The lateral oblique parts are the sideslopes. After being calculated, it shapes the artificial ground envelope. The tasks belonging to this family can be used in the typical cross section.

PVL (PAVING LAYERS): The tasks of this family represent the paving layers, e.g. Courses (Surfacing, Wearing Course, Binder Course, SubBase Course), mining materials (Base, SubBase, Drain Layer, Grading Layer), roadway shoulders, special constructions that are being used mainly for the detachment – endistancement of the encasing solid from the edge of the course, and generally lines over the artificial ground that comprise the paving. They require a section with the current artificial ground envelope, which they also shape after they have been calculated. The tasks belonging to this family can be used in the typical cross section.

GTT (*GUTTER*): The tasks of this family represent the encasing solids of the roadway's paving materials (kerb channels, gutters, N.Jersey). They are sorted out in the cross section by branch (left, right) and by side (left, side, centre). They are either supported on or shape the underlying PVL. They are calculated together with the corresponding PVL and they require a section with the artificial ground envelope, which they also shape after they have been calculated. The tasks belonging to this family can be used in the typical cross section.

SSC (COATING): The tasks of this family usually represent the sideslope coatings with topsoil in the fillings (parallel to the sideslopes or not) or the construction of retention zones or rock traps in the cuttings, on the external side of the gutters. They require a section both with the natural ground envelope and with the current artificial ground envelope, which they also shape after they have been calculated. The tasks belonging to this family can be used in the typical cross section.

AGD.ENV. (ARTIFICIAL GROUND ENVELOPE): This is the top envelope that derives from the tasks of the AGD, PVL, SSC and GTT families. It is a fictitious line and does not correspond to any task. It assists during the calculation of all tasks above the Artificial Ground.

EML(*EMBANKMENT LAYER*): The tasks of this family represent layers that are laid over the natural ground envelope (e.g. the separation of the filling in various filling materials). They must be laid by elevation, from the lower to the upper one. They are laid under the *Artificial Ground* and they are calculated starting from the lower one. They require a section both with the *Artificial ground* and with the current envelope of the artificial ground's bottom layer, which they also shape after they have been calculated. They cannot be used in the typical cross section.

EML.ENV. (EMBANKMENT LAYER ENVELOPE): It is the envelope that derives from the natural ground envelope and the tasks of the EML family, which shape it according to the order they are applied. The envelope of the artificial ground's bottom layer is a fictitious line and does not correspond to any task, but it assists during the calculation of all tasks under and inside the Artificial ground and over the natural ground envelope.

BNC (BENCH): The tasks of this family usually represent the anchoring benches (tasks for the stabilization of the fillings) or improvements that do not shape the natural ground envelope (namely, they do not contribute to the shaping of the Artificial ground). They require a section with the bench envelope or with the Artificial ground, depending on which one is the first to meet. After having being calculated, they shape the bench envelope. They cannot be used in the typical cross section.

BNC.ENV. (BENCHENVELOPE): It is the bottom envelope that derives from the natural

ground envelope, the artificial ground and the tasks of the BNC family, which shape it according to the order they are applied. The bench envelope is a fictitious line and does not correspond to any task, but it assists during the calculation of all works under the Artificial ground and the natural ground envelope.

UNS (UNSUITABLES): The tasks of this family represent works referring to unsuitables (e.g. excavation works, whose products cannot be reused for filling). They require a section with the unsuitables envelope, which they shape after they have been calculated. They cannot be used in the typical cross section.

UNS.ENV. (UNSUITABLES ENVELOPE): It is the bottom envelope that derives from the natural ground envelope and the tasks of the UNS family, which shape it according to the order they are applied. The unsuitables envelope is a fictitious line and does not correspond to any task, but it assists during the calculation of all tasks under the natural ground envelope.

DRW (*DRAWING*): The tasks – lines of this family do not affect nor do they contribute to the calculations of sections, they do not extend and they can be of any shape. The user can either draw them freely or import them from a drawing library. These tasks can be used in the typical cross section.

WLL (WALL): The tasks of this family represent the supporting – backing walls that stabilize the slideslopes of cutting and filling, respectively. These are the first to shape the artificial ground envelope. If they are active**, then they shape the Artificial Ground task during the calculation of sections. These tasks cannot be used in the typical cross section.

ERD (EXISTING ROAD): The tasks of this family usually represent the artificial ground envelope of an existing road. They are used when making improvements on an existing road. During the cross section calculation, the lines of the AGD, PVL and GTT tasks are formed in such a way, so as to coincide with the particular task, at the part where the ERD line is higher than them, in order to outline the roadway of the existing road. The tasks if this family cannot be used in the typical cross section.

GRL (GUARDRAIL): This family represents the guardrails with barriers that are inserted automatically by the program, when applying the typical cross section. They do not take part in calculations. Their position depends on the elevation of the filling and they can be used in the typical cross section.

LGD (LONGITUDINAL DRAIN): The tasks of this family usually represent the configuration that takes place for the placement of longitudinal drains under the artificial ground envelope. They require a section with the artificial ground envelope and they can be used in the typical cross section.

* Additional parameters (branch, road side, bearing line etc.) for tasks of the PVL, GTT and WLL types that are inserted outside the typical cross section can be specified from the *Properties* dialogue box.

**Active are the walls whose value in the *Shapes Artificial Ground* field is *Yes*.

9.6.3 Families - Tasks

In the left part of the *Typical Tasks* window there is the *Families – Tasks* group. The code of every family is shown in capital letters in the table of the *Families – Tasks* group. The family codes have been strictly defined by the program and it is not possible for the user to change them. When you select a family of lines, you can view the members of every family that correspond to the various types of a family's tasks - members. Left-click on the + symbol next to each task family or double-click on the family name, to view the tasks of this family. You can select a task by left-clicking on it. The tasks are displayed in a tree structure below the code of the family to which they belong, and they are connected to their family with a line.

Regarding the calculation of the areas, the quantities that result automatically during the calculation of a cross section refer to the whole task and not to an individual line that belongs to this type of task. Therefore, you must create as many types of tasks as the quantities you wish to measure separately. If, for example, you intend to use

two base layers in a cross section, and you wish the program to calculate the lengths or the areas separately for each layer, you must define two different types of tasks, e.g. "Base 1" and "Base 2". With these two tasks and through the proper linkage of the quantities, the quantities can be calculated either as two separate final quantities-columns of the mass table, or both quantities can be seen as a single final quantity in the same column of the "Base" mass table. It is also possible to combine the above two possibilities.

In order to create a new task you can:

- 1. Add define the new task in the task group.
- 2. *Create* the mass table column where the task will send its quantities, if you wish the task to be calculated separately.
- 3. *Link* the particular task with the desired column of the mass table.

Adding a New Task

You can add to every family as many members – task types as you wish, but you can delete only the members that you have added. The only exception constitute the tasks of the Natural ground, Topsoil and Artificial ground, which are unique in their family.

How to create a new task

- 1. Run the *Typical Tasks* command of the *Parameters* menu and then right-click on the name of an existing task that belongs to the same family to which the new family will belong. From the displayed menu, select *New Task.* Alternatively, right-click on the family name and select *New Task for family...*
- 2. This option opens the dialogue box where you can specify the parameters for the new task.

New Task	×
Family : PVL	Selected mass table columns
Name : New Drain Layer	Mass table column Coefficient
Color : Light Magenta	
Type : Continuous 💌	
Thickness : 0.1 mm	
DXF Layer : Stragistikh	
Show on screen	
Print line	
Print legend Dis Dis. from axis	OK Cancel

- 3. In the *Name* field, type the name of the new task. The color, the line type (full, axial, dashed, dotted, etc.) and the thickness of the line on the printout are defined from the relevant drop-down lists. In the *Dxf Layer* field, type the name of the Layer to which the line will belong when the drawing is exported to a DXF file. If you do not wish the line to be displayed on the screen or on the printout, untick the Show on screen and Print line check boxes respectively. If you wish to print the line coordinates as a legend below the drawing of every cross section, tick the *Print legend Dis. Dis from axis* check box.
- 4. To exit the dialogue box, click OK to confirm the changes you have made or click

Cancel to return to the main screen.

You can link the quantities from the right part of the box in the *Selected mass table columns* group, or in the *Mass Table Columns* group.

The default parameter values are the corresponding values of the existing task that you clicked before, in case you have selected a task.

Setting the Task Properties

To set the properties of a task, select the desired task, click the right mouse button, and from the displayed menu run the *Task properties* command. Then proceed as described above for the new tasks.

Deleting Tasks

To delete a task, select the task, click the right mouse button, and from the displayed menu run the *Delete task* command.

Linking a Task with Columns

The calculated quantities of a task are linked with the relevant columns of the Mass Table by assigning a task quantity to a column, from the following dialogue box:

New Task		×
Family : PVL	Selected mass table c	olumns
Name : New Drain Layer	Mass table column	Coefficient
Color : Light Magenta		
Type : Continuous 💌		
Thickness : 0.1 mm		
DXF Layer : Stragistikh		
Show on screen		
Print line		
Print legend Dis Dis. from axis	OK	Cancel

Here you can define to which columns of the mass table the selected task will contribute; these columns will be displayed in the table of the *Selected mass table columns* group. To add a new column, right-click on the table and from the displayed menu, open the *Add column* submenu and then select a column. This menu contains all columns of the *Mass Table Columns* group. In the *Coefficient* column of the table, type the coefficient in the row where the column name appears. To remove a column, select the desired column, click the right mouse button and from the displayed menu run the *Remove mass table column* command.

9.6.4 Mass Table Columns

At the right part of the *Typical Tasks* window there is the *Mass Table Columns* group. This group corresponds to the columns of the mass – paving table. The user is free to create and delete final quantities at will. Every task of the *Families – Tasks* group can be linked to as many *Mass Table Columns* as you wish. This enables you to further group certain quantities and to view them all in one column of the mass table. This

linkage is specified by the user, who can also add/remove a whole quantity or a percentage of a quantity to/from a mass table column. Below each column you can view which tasks have been assigned to that particular column.

Adding a New Mass Table Column

To create a new mass table column, run the *Typical Tasks* command of the *Parameters* menu, right-click on an existing column, and from the displayed menu, run the *New mass table column* command. This option opens the dialogue box where you can specify the parameters for the new column. The values in the fields of this dialogue box are the same as the ones in the existing column that you had selected before running this second command.

New mass table column	×
Name:	
Fillings_1	→ →
Mass Table	Quantities legend
First Line:	🗖 Display
J	
Second Line:	Area
1	
	OK Cancel

In the *Name* field, type the column – quantity name, which will appear both in the dialogue box of the typical tasks and in the cross section legend on the printout. Apart from the name, there are also two groups, one for the way in which the quantity will be displayed in the mass table and one for the way in which the quantity will be displayed in the cross section drawing legend (quantities legend).

In the *Quantities Legend* group, tick or untick the *Display* check box, depending on whether you wish or not to view the particular quantity in the cross section drawing legend (quantities legend). From the *Quantity type* drop-down list, select the type of the quantity that the program will calculate. Namely, select the area or the length.

Regarding how the quantity will be displayed in the mass table, there are two lines in which you can describe the particular quantity. If you wish, you can copy in the *First*

Line field the name that you specified in the *Name* field, by clicking the *b*utton.

Setting the Parameters for a Mass Table Column

To set the parameters for a mass table column, select the desired column and from the displayed menu, run the *Mass table column properties* command. Then proceed as described above for the new columns.

Deleting a Column

To delete a Mass Table column, select the column, click the right mouse button, and from the displayed menu, run the *Delete mass table column* command.

Linking a Column with Tasks

A Mass Table column can be linked with the appropriate quantities of calculated tasks. To do this, right-click on a column and from the displayed menu open the *Add new task* submenu and select the task you wish to assign to the selected column. This submenu contains all tasks of the *Family – Tasks* group. A quantity is transferred to a column by means of a coefficient, which, when multiplied by the quantity, gives the value that will be added numerically to the selected final quantity. Initially, this coefficient equals to one. To change the coefficient of a task, select the task that has been added below the column, click the right mouse button and from the displayed menu run the *Coefficient Change...* command. The following dialogue box appears on the screen,

C	oefficient change	l
	Mass table column : "Fillings" 1.000	
	OK Cancel	

and you can type the new coefficient. If you wish to delete a task from a column, select the desired task, click the right mouse button and from the displayed menu run the *Remove task* command. The program will prompt you to confirm the deletion by showing you the relevant confirmation message. Click *Yes* to delete the task and complete the procedure.

9.6.5 Order of Columns and Tasks

At the top of the initial dialogue box of the Typical Tasks, there are two buttons. By clicking the *Select/Order Tasks* button, the following dialogue box appears:

A	Tasks order	- O ×
Г	Appearance order in Dx - H legend	
	Available tasks	
	✓ Roadway	
	Drain Layer	
	Wearing Course	
	Surfacing	
	Bedding Layer	
	Typical Slopes	
	🗖 Guideline	
	Precoating	
	Binder Course	
	Base Course	
	SubBase Course	
	Shoulder	
	Gutter	
	Duter Wall Filing	
	Sideslope Coating	
	Outer Gutter Filing	
L		
		ПК
		UN

while by clicking the *Select/Order Mass Table Columns* button, the following dialogue box appears:

Q	7 Qu	antity Columns order		_ 🗆 🗵
P	App	earance order in quantity legen	d	
	Av	ailable mass table columns		
		Wearing Course		
		Surfacing		
		Binder Course		
		Precoating		
	\square	Foundation Excavation		
	$\mathbf{\nabla}$	Base Course		
	\square	Topsoil		
	$\mathbf{\nabla}$	Sub-Base Course		
		Gutter		
		N.Jersey		
	\square	Shoulder		
	\square	Outer Gutter Filling		
	\square	Sideslope Coating		
		Walls		
		Foundation Lauer		<u> </u>
-				
			0	JK.

In the first field of the *Appearance order in Dx-H legend* group, you can select the lines whose coordinates will be printed on a legend at the bottom of the cross section. In the second field of the *Appearance order in quantity* group, you can select the areas or lengths that will be printed below the name and chainage of the cross section. If you want to view a quantity or a task, tick the check box next to its name. If you wish to change the order of appearance, then use the mouse to select the desired quantity or task and then drag-and-drop it to the desired position.

9.7 Creation - Automatic Insertion of Lines

The existence of natural ground is a necessary prerequisite for the calculation of a cross section. As a general rule for the lines that comprise the cross sections, if you haven't requested their automatic creation by the program, you must insert them yourself. The user can insert lines in two ways:

- 1. By creating a line within the *Anadelta Tessera* environment.
- 2. By proceeding to the batch import of lines from ACS text files.

Creating Lines

You can insert individual lines to a cross section by specifying each line's points. To insert a line, you must first go to the cross section to which you wish to add the line.

How to create a line with the mouse

- 1. From the *Actions* menu, run the *Insert Line* command, or click the *Lines* button on the *Lines* toolbar.
- 2. The following dialogue box appears on the screen:

New Line		×
Task AGD Artificial Grou	nd	•
Define with points	⊖ fro	m library
ОК		Cancel

- 3. From the *Task* drop-down list, select the typical task to which the line will belong (e.g. [NGD] Natural Ground for the natural ground), and in the *Define* group tick the with points check box and then click *OK*. The *with points* option means that the line will be defined by the manual insertion of points, while the *from library* option means that a user-selected new drawing will be imported from the drawings library. This option is very useful for line categories such as [DRW] Drawing, [WLL] Walls, etc., which have a default form.
- 4. Define the line points with the mouse within the drawing area, using also the snap feature or the *Input Form* command.
- 5. To finish the point insertion procedure, click the right mouse button anywhere on the screen.

Creating a Line by Typing Absolute or Relative Coordinates

You can insert a line by typing its data on a list. This data can be either the absolute coordinates, namely the distance from axis (X) and the absolute elevation (H), or data relevant to the previous point of the line, such as the distance from the previous point and the elevation discrepancy. The usual direction in which the points of a line are inserted is from left to right. For closed shapes, use the clockwise direction.

How to create a line from the window of the Edit line command

1. From the *Actions* menu, run the *Edit line* command, or click the *ine* button on the *Lines* toolbar. The following window appears on the screen:

V	Lin	e edit	-OX			
∕ कर क						
Li	Line : NGD Natural Ground					
De	Define with : Axis Dis. and Elevation					
	A/A	×	Н			
	1	-25.000	515.497			
	2	-22.989	516.000			
	3	-14.521	518.066			
	4	-4.004	521.628			
	5	0.000	522.162			
	6	13.802	524.000			
	- 7	14.687	524.272			
	8	24.096	528.000			
	9	25.000	528.193			
Г						
			_			

2. Click the *local* button. A menu with all the available typical tasks will be displayed, and you must select the task to which the line will belong.

[AGD] Artificial Ground [AUX] Guideline [AUX] Typical Slopes [BNC] Bench [DRW] Drawing [EML] Embankment Layer [ERD] Existing Road [FDL] Foundation Layer [GRL] Guardrail [GTT] Gutter [GTT] N. Jersey [LGD] Longitudinal Drain [NGD] Natural Ground [OWL] Outer Wall Filling [PVL] Base Course [PVL] Bedding Layer [PVL] Binder Course [PVL] Drain Layer [PVL] Precoating [PVL] Shoulder [PVL] SubBase Course [PVL] Surfacing [PVL] Wearing Course [SIMP] Soil Improvement [SIMP] Wall Foundation [SSC] Outer Gutter Filling [SSC] Sideslope Coating [TSL] Top Soil [UNS] Unsuitables [WLL] Wall

3. When you select the typical task, you will return to the first window. In the *Line* drop-down list at the top of the box, you should see the name of the line that will

be created (same as the selected typical task). From the *Define with* drop-down list, select the type of data that you will input.

A table occupies the main part of the dialogue box. Each line of the table corresponds to a point of the selected line. The titles of the columns are shown in gray at the top. The number of columns varies and depends on how you have selected to define the points. The available columns are: A/A, Ch, H, Dx or Length and Dh or Slope. The A/A column is always displayed and shows automatically the serial number of the cross section. The user cannot intervene into this column. In the other columns you must enter the data of the points.

To select a field, left-click in it and then start typing. Press the *Enter* key to confirm the data you have entered and to move to the next field on the right. You can also move between the fields by using the up, down, right and left arrow keys. If you are at the end of a row, you can press the *Enter* key to go to the first field of the next row.

You can insert points in five ways:

- 1. If you know the X, H coordinates (distance from axis and elevation in meters) of the points that will comprise the line, select from the *Define with:* drop-down list the the *Axis Distance* and *Elevation* option and type the relevant data in the X and H columns respectively.
- 2. If you know the horizontal and vertical distances of a point from its previous one, select from the *Define with:* drop-down list the *Dx* and *Dh* from previous option, and then enter the horizontal distance in the *Dx* column and the vertical distance in the *Dh* column.
- 3. If you know the slope of a point with respect to its previous point and the horizontal distance between these two points, select from the *Define with*: drop-down list the *Dx* and *Slope from previous* option, and then enter the horizontal distance in the *Dx* column and the slope in the *Slope* column.
- 4. If you know the slope of a point with respect to its previous point and the vertical distance between these two points, select from the *Define with:* drop-down list the *Dh* and *Slope from previous* option, and then enter the vertical distance in the *Dh* column and the slope in the *Slope* column.
- 5. If you know the slope of a point with respect to its previous point and the slope distance between these two points, select from the *Define with:* drop-down list the *Length* and *Slope from previous* option, and then enter the distance in the *Length* column and the slope in the *Slope* column.

Every time you enter data into one column, the other columns are updated automatically.

To insert a new point at the end of the table, simply select the last column of the last row and press *Enter*. If you want to insert a new point between two existing points, select the immediate next point and press the Ctrl+I keys. The new point will be inserted right above the selected one and at the half of the distance from the previous point. This is the initial value, but you can change it. If you wish to delete a point, simply select the row that contains the data of that point and press the Ctrl+D keys.

From the same dialogue box you can carry out further operations to edit a line.

9.8 Importing a Line from a Text File

Importing a Line from a Text File (ACS)

This procedure is useful in case you want to import into your file the terrain survey for every cross section (mostly for purposes of measurement) which is available in digital form (ASCII text files). You can apply this procedure at any given time, either during the initial stage of the design or at a later stage, when processing your design.

Especially for the Natural Ground import, the program will also create cross sections, if necessary. Namely, the program reads the text file and updates the Natural Ground line of all cross sections in your project. If the text file contains lines referring to cross sections that are not included in the project, then the program will create these cross sections and will load the Natural Ground line to them.

How to import a line from an ASCII text file

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Import from ASCII* submenu and then run the Lines command. The *Import Lines from ASCII* dialogue box appears on the screen.
- 2. Select the desired file and click *Open*. If there aren't any cross sections in your project (e.g. the file has derived from the creation of a new cross section project), then the program will assume that the line refers to the Natural Ground line and will create the cross sections and the Natural Ground that corresponds to every cross section.
- 3. If there is even one cross section in your project, the program will display the following dialogue box,

Load lines from ASCII	×
ASCII file : I:\Tessera\Tessera_EN\Projects\1.ACS	
Line in which points will be inserted :	
DRW Drawing	
Move points :	
Horizontal : C as is C by Dx.	
Diagram Dx 0.000	
Vertical:	
Diagram Dy 0.000	
OK Cancel	

where you must define, from the *Line in which points will be inserted* drop-down list, the line in which the points will be inserted. You can also select, if desired, whether the lines will be moved horizontally or vertically when inserted.

To do this, tick the *Move points:* check box and next define the offset value. In the *Horizontal* and *Vertical* groups, you can define the horizontal and vertical offsets, respectively. If you wish to move the line by a fixed value, tick the by *D*x or by *D*y

check box and type the distance in the Dx and Dy text fields respectively. The as is option means that the line will not be moved towards the selected direction. If you want to move the line towards a direction by a variable distance, which will be different from cross section to cross section and will be determined by the program from a diagram, select the by Dx + diagram or by Dy + diagram option respectively. In this case, you must select from the Diagram drop-down list the diagram that will be used. You can also add a fixed length to the values of the diagram; simply enter the desired length in the Dx and Dy text field. If required, you can also choose to invert the diagram signs.

- 4. After you have made the desired settings, click the *OK* button to proceed to the next stage.
- 5. If you have selected a typical task of the *WLL, GTT* or *PVL* families, the program will display the following dialogue boxes:

brancii			
Uniform	•		
Side			
Center	•		
 will be calculated la 	ast		
	fter		chu
Artificial Ground IAI	GD1	-	1
		_	
I manage and an a pro-			

perties of "Wall"	
Side	
Right 💌	
Filing (Buttress)	
C Cutting (Support)	
Sideslopes slop 100.00 %	
OK Cano	el

perties of "N.Jersey"	x
Branch	
Uniform	
Side	
Center	
 Shapes paving layers 	
C Bedded on paving lar	
Artificial Ground [AGD]	
OK Cancel	1

- 6. Specify the properties of the inserted line and click the *OK* button to proceed.
- 7. Finally, the program will ask you to specify the way in which it will check whether a cross section in the ACS file exists in your file. Namely, you must select whether the check will be carried out based on the cross section's name or chainage, as shown in the figure below:



If you want the cross sections to be updated based on their names, click the Name button, or, if you prefer the update to take place based on the chainage, click the *Chainage* button.

8. Click the button for the update to take place; the line is displayed in the drawing area.

Specifications of Text Files (ACS).

The cross section data in a file of this type is arranged by groups. Every group-cross section starts with a row with an * and is followed by a row that includes the name and chainage of the cross section (or the distance from the previous cross section) separated by at least one space (e.g. AA 0.00). The cross section points are shown in the next rows (one per row). Every row of a point has two numbers, the first being the distance of the point from the axis and the second its elevation; the two numbers are separated by at least one space.

If the first row of the file has a number, then it is a file with relative chainages, otherwise the file contains absolute chainages. In the case of absolute chainages, the number written next to the name of every cross section represents the absolute chainage of the cross section and the order in which the cross sections appear in the file is insignificant. In the case of relative chainages, the number at the beginning of the file represents the starting chainage and the number written next to the name of every cross section represents its distance from the previous cross section; in this case, the order in which the cross sections appear in the file is critical.

9.9 Editing Lines

The program offers various secondary functions, enabling you to edit the lines you have inserted, so as to give them the desired form and properties.

Main Line Properties

The appearance of a line, both on screen and on the printout, is defined from the *Typical Tasks* dialogue box. From there you can select whether a line will appear on the screen and whether it will be printed. You can also select the color, the type and the width of the line.

Moving a Line

When you move a line, the whole line is transferred, without any changes regarding the orientation or the relative positions of the points with respect to each other. To ensure the necessary accuracy, use the *Input Form* command or the snap feature.

How to move one or more lines at the same time with the mouse

- 1. Select the lines you wish to move.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, run the *Transformations* command and then run the *Move* command.
- 3. Specify the reference point, based on which the line will be moved.
- 4. Specify the end point, namely the point where the reference point will be placed.

Once you have specified the second point, the line is moved to its new position.

How to move a line horizontally or vertically

- 1. Select the line you wish to move.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed when you right-click in the drawing area,

select the *Edit line* command, or click the button on the *Lines* toolbar. The particular line must appear selected (highlighted) in the *Line* drop-down list of the resulting dialogue box. Otherwise, select it.

3. To move the line horizontally or vertically, click the *button* button or the *button*, respectively. One of the following dialogue boxes appears on the screen, depending on the button that you clicked:

Horizontal move 🔀	Vertical move
Movy line by :	Movy line by :
OK Cancel	OK Cancel

In all cases, type the value of the offset in meters in the *Move line by:* field.

4. When you have finished, click the *OK* button to move the line and to return to the *Edit Line* dialogue box. Now you can view the new coordinates of the line that you moved. To return to the main screen, click the exit button on the right of the title bar.

Note that it is also possible to move multiple lines at the same time.

LineRotation

You can rotate a line by selecting a center and a rotation angle towards the horizontal direction.

How to rotate lines

- 1. Select the lines you wish to rotate.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, run the *Transformations* command and then run the *Rotation* command.
- 3. Use the mouse or the *Input Form* command to specify a point that will become the rotation center.
- 4. Set the rotation angle either by specifying again a point on the screen, or by entering the angle with the *Input Form* command. If the angle value is positive, the line will be rotated in a counterclockwise direction.

Once you have set the rotation angle, the rotation result appears on the screen.

Changing the Line Size

You can scale up or down a set of selected lines, while maintaining their proportions with respect to each other. To scale the lines up or down, specify a reference point and a length, which will be used as the scale coefficient, or enter the value of the coefficient.

How to change the size of lines

- 1. Select the lines you wish to scale up or down.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, run the *Transformations* command and then run the *Scale* command.
- 3. Use the mouse or the *Input Form* command to specify the reference point.
- 4. Set the scaling percentage by specifying a point on the screen with the mouse or by typing the percentage value (e.g. "200" for doubling the size) with the use of the *Input Form*.

Obviously, to scale up an object, the percentage that you will enter must be higher than 100, while to scale down you must enter a percentage lower than 100.

Mirroring Lines

You can mirror certain lines, either by the horizontal or by the vertical axis, by specifying an axis point. The original lines will be deleted.

How to mirror lines

- 1. Select the lines you wish to mirror.
- 2. From the shortcut menu, which is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, select the *Transformations* command and then select *Mirror by X* or *Mirror by Y*, depending on the desired mirroring direction.
- 3. Use the mouse or the *Input Form* command to specify a point from which the horizontal or the vertical mirroring axis will pass.

Once you have set the point, the mirroring result is displayed on the screen.

Inverting the Direction of Lines

Lines are usually inserted in a clockwise direction. If you wish to change the direction of a line, namely if you want the first point to become last, the second point to

become last but one, etc., run the Invert direction command.

How to invert the direction of a line

- 1. Select the desired line.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, run the *Transformations* command and then run the *Invert direction* command.

Parallel Offset of Lines

You can offset a line in parallel.

How to offset a line in parallel.

- 1. Select the line you wish to offset.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, run the *Transformations* command and then run the *Offset* command. The following dialogue box appears on the screen:

Line offset		×
	Offset distance:	
	ОК	Cancel

- 3. In the Offset distance text field, type the value of the offset in meters.
- 4. This offset is first performed separately for every part of the line, offsetting it in parallel to the initial point. In this way, a new line is created and every part of this new line has a fixed distance from the original line (offset function). Therefore, if the value you have entered in the *Offset distance* field is positive, the offset will be upwards (assuming the direction is clockwise), while if the value is negative, the offset will be downwards.
- 5. When you have finished, click the *OK* button. This closes the dialogue box, returns you to the main screen and applies the offset.

Line Duplication

You can create a duplicate of a line, offset by a certain distance.

How to duplicate a line

- 1. Select the line you wish to duplicate.
- 2. From the menu that is displayed if you right-click anywhere in the drawing area, run the *Duplicate* command.
- 3. The following dialogue box appears on the screen,

Move by	×			
×: 0.000	Y: 0.500			
Relative distance				
OK	Cancel			

where you must enter the offset data of the new line with respect to the old one. If the *Relative distance* check box is ticked, in the X and Y text fields enter the horizontal (Dx) and the vertical (Dy) distance between the new and the old line. If the *Relative distance* check box is not ticked, then in the X and Y text fields enter the coordinates that the new point will have, namely the point that you had selected before running this command.

4. Click *OK*. This closes the dialogue box and applies the duplication.

The new line that has been created will appear on the screen. This line belongs to the *Drawing* typical task. It is also possible to duplicate multiple lines at the same time.

Deleting a Line

You can delete one or more lines, if desired.

How to delete lines

- 1. Select the lines you wish to delete.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area,
 - select the *Delete objects* command, or click the \bowtie button on the main toolbar, or press the *Del* key.

If you accidentally delete a line, you can restore it by using the Undo command. It is also possible to delete multiple lines at the same time.

9.10 Editing Line Points

Inserting a Line Point

You can insert one or more points to a line.

How to insert points to a line from the main screen

1. Select the line point next to which you will insert another point.

- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click on the screen, run the *Expand to the beginning* or *Expand to the end* command, depending on which side you wish to insert the point (the points of the boundaries have a counterclockwise direction). This command adds a new point to the line on screen, before or after the point you originally selected. The original point is highlighted in red, and you can move the new point by using the mouse pointer.
- 3. Set the position of the new point either by clicking the left mouse button or by using the *Input Form* command.
- 4. To finish the point insertion procedure, click the right mouse button. The insertion procedure for the last point that would be inserted to the line is cancelled and the procedure ends.

You can also insert a point from the window of the *Edit line* command.

Moving a Line Point

You can move the points of a line, so as to give the line the desired shape.

How to move a line point

- 1. Select the line you wish to edit and the point you wish to move.
- 2. Activate the selected point. The point will start moving, following the movement of the mouse pointer.
- 3. Specify the new position of the point.

You can also move a point from the window of the *Edit line* command.

Editing a Line Point

From the dialogue box of the *Edit point* command you can edit the position of a line point with respect to its previous or next point.

How to edit a line point

- 1. Select the line you wish to edit.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, run the *Edit point* command. The following dialogue box appears on the screen:

Edit previous	×
0000	
41.Artificial Ground	
Edit	
previous point	<u> </u>
Reference point :	3/8
X	H
10.000	522.442
Point to edit : 2/8	
×	н
-6.652	522.908
Define with :	
Dx and Dh	
Jonandon	
Dx	Dh
6.652	0.466
move previous	
Apply	ОК

Select a line point and then edit the selected point or its next point or its previous point. The name of the selected line is shown at the top of the box. To change line, activate the box and select the new line from the drawing area. The selected point is the reference point and its data are shown in the *Reference point*: group. You can change the reference point from the toolbar at the top of the box. If you click the first button, the first point of the line will become the reference point. If you click the second button, the previous (from the selected) point will become the reference point. If you click the third button, the next point will become the reference point. If you click the first point of the line will become the reference point.

- 3. After you have set the reference point, specify the point to be edited by choosing *previous point* or *current point* or *next point* respectively from the *Edit* drop-down list.
- 4. Edit the point by entering the appropriate data in the Point to edit group. Simply type the new coordinates of the point in the χ and γ text fields. You can also specify the position of the point with respect to the reference point. By selecting from the *Define with:* drop-down list the *Dx* and *Dh* option, you can edit the relative distances from the reference point, by typing the relevant values in the *Dx* and *Dh* fields. The *Dx* and *slope* option allows you to edit the values of the point's horizontal distance and slope with respect to the reference point. With the *Dh* and *slope* option, edit the value of the point's vertical distance and slope with respect to the reference point. When the *move previous* check box is ticked, the points on the left of the point that you're moving are also moved by the same distance. When the *Move next* check box is ticked, the points on the right of the point that you're moving are also moved by the same distance.
- 5. For every change you are making, click the *Apply* button to move the point and update all fields with the new values.
- 6. To close the dialogue box and return to the main screen applying the changes, click the OK button.

Deleting a Line Point

You can delete one or more points of a line.

How to delete a line point
- 1. Select the line you wish to edit.
- 2. Select the point you wish to delete.
- 3. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, select the *Delete Point* command or press the *Ctrl+Del* keys.

You can do the same from the dialogue box of the *Edit line* command.

Copying Line Points

You can copy the points of a line to another line.

How to copy the points of a line

- 1. Select the line whose points you wish to copy. From the menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, run the *Copy points* command.
- 2. Select the line to which the points will be copied. From the menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, run the *Paste points* command. The points of the line will be erased and the new points will be copied.

If you run the *Paste points* command without having selected a line, the program will create a new line and will open a dialogue box, where you must select the project to which the new line will belong. By clicking the *OK* button, the program will create the new line to which the points of the initial line will be copied.

9.11 Creation - Management of Diagrams

When the cross sections are updated from the profile, this means that the profile diagram is inserted. This diagram contains all of the profile elements (PIs, curvature radii) and serves for the determination of the roadway elevation on every cross section.

How to update the Cross Sections from the Profile

- 1. Go to the *Cross Sections* workspace of the road you wish to update.
- 2. From the *File* menu, run the *Update from Profile* command. A message will appear on the screen, informing you that the update has been completed successfully. To proceed and return to the cross sections workspace, click *OK*.

You can also update the *Cross Sections* from the *Profile* by using the *Manage* command of the *Project* menu. This command opens the following dialogue box: To proceed to the update, either click the *From Profile to Cross Sections* button in the *Quick Update* group of the *Updates* tab, or click the *Update* button of the *Update* group, after you have selected *From Profile to Cross Sections* in the two drop-down lists of the group. If you use the second way, you can select whether the diagrams and the chainages of the road's cross sections will be updated too, by ticking or unticking the relevant check boxes. You can use the aforementioned commands to update again the *Cross Sections*, in case you make any changes in the *Profile* workspace.

Note that you can also create and edit the profile diagram from the cross sections workspace.

Management of Cross Section Diagrams

From the diagram management window, you can view the profile diagram, as well as all diagrams that are transferred to the *Cross Sections* when updating from the other two workspaces. From the same window you can create your own diagrams, in order to use them either during the cross section calculation that is based on the typical cross section, or for operations that are based on diagrams.

To open the management window, run the *Diagrams* command of the *Parameters* menu. The lines that have been created or edited in this way, can be copied to the *Profile* and to the *Horizontal Alignment*, by using the *Manage* command.

Importing Cross Section Diagrams from Text Files

To import diagrams from an ASCII text file, go to the *File* menu, select the *Import from ASCII* submenu and run the *Diagrams* command. A dialogue box appears on the screen. Select the desired diagram file and click the *Open* button. The following dialogue box appears on the screen,

Load Diagrams from ASCII	×
ASCII file :	
I:\Tessera\Tessera_EN\Projects\1.ADG	
 in Pairs 	
New Diagram]
O Singly	
New Diagram] [
OK Cancel	

where you must select the file format.

The file must have the format shown below,

	0.00	2.50	0.00	
11	0.00	-2.20	0.00	<u> </u>
	219.57	-2.50	0.00	
	452.91	-7.00	0.00	
	573.02	-7.00	0.00	
	806.35	-2.50	0.00	
	990.12	-2.50	0.00	
00				
	0.00	2.50	0.00	
	219.57	-2.50	0.00	
	266.45	2.50	0.00	
-	452.91	7.00	0.00	
	573.02	7.00	0.00	
	759.48	2.50	0.00	
-	806.35	-2.50	0.00	
	990.12	-2.50	0.00	
				v
				Þ

and the ADG extension. The data of the diagram in a file of this type is arranged in three columns. Every row has three numbers, the first being the chainage of a point in the diagram, the second being the value of the diagram size and the third being the rounding radius on the point; these three numbers are separated by at least one space. The same file may contain diagrams that are separated in left and right diagram. The end of every group – diagram is marked by a row with two zeros. If the text file contains a diagram, tick the *Singly* check box and from the drop-down list, select the diagram to which you wish to import the text file data. If both diagrams (left and right) are included in the text file, tick the in *Pairs* check box and from the relevant drop-down list select the diagram in which the data will be saved.

Click the OK button to import the diagram to the file. If you select *New Diagram* from the drop-down list, the screen displays the relevant dialogue boxes, in which you must type the names of the diagrams to be imported. Type the name of every diagram and then click the OK button.

Exporting Cross Section Diagrams to Text Files

The drawings can be saved in an external text file.

How to export the drawings to an ASCII file

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Export to ASCII* submenu and run the *Diagrams* command.
- 2. The following dialogue box appears on the screen: If you wish to include only one diagram in the text file, tick the *Singly* check box and from the drop-down list select the diagram you wish to export. If you want to export a pair of diagrams to the text file, tick the in *Pairs* check box and from the relevant drop-down list select the desired diagram.
- 3. The relevant dialogue box appears on the screen.
- 4. Specify the path and the name for the file you wish to save. The selected diagram will be saved in a file that will have the name that you specified and the ADG extension.
- 5. Click OK to create the file.

9.12 Cross Sections Calculation

For the cross sections to be calculated, the user or the program must create the main components of the lines, then extend or trim parts of these lines, so as to create between them closed surfaces, and finally measure the area of these surfaces. The calculation of a cross section and the setting of the calculation parameters are carried out through the *Cross Sections Data* management window. This operation can be carried out collectively for all of the project's cross sections.

Before you press the <u>Calculation</u> button for the program to "close" the cross section, you must first select the type of the cross section from the *Cross Section Type* drop-down list.



Select one of the following types: *with Points, with Typical, with Paving Typical, from Composite Road*. If you prefer to apply a typical cross section, use the drop-down list to select the typical to be applied.

Applied Typical :	
View3D	•

The cross section type determines the way in which the program will proceed during the calculation, namely:

- When the cross section type is *with Points,* the program does not create any new lines, but extends or trim the existing lines.
- If you have selected the with *Typical* type, the program deletes the existing lines of the PVL, GTT, AGD, LGD and SCC families and creates new lines of the PVL, GTT, AGD, LGD, DRW, GRL and SCC families. If the cross section includes lines of other families, these lines will not be deleted and they will be used for the shaping of the cross section's typical. The lines that are inserted to the cross section and the way in which these lines will be calculated, are directly related to the selected typical cross section that will be applied.
- When calculating *with Paving Typical*, the procedure is the same as the one of the calculation *with Typical*; the only difference here is that the typical's paving section (that corresponds to a cutting or a filling) is applied to every cross section, leaving the *Artificial Ground* line unchanged, in the exact shape that it had before the paving typical is applied.

Cross Section Calculation Parameters

The cross sections, as well as the typical cross sections, are comprised of four layers: the branches, the topsoil, the sideslopes and the pavings. You can define the form of these elements from the following tabs of the *Cross Sections Data* window:

Quan.	Quantities	Gen	eral Data
Branches	Paving-Slo	pes	Topsoil
C use Typic	al defaults:		
· use speci	ific configurat	ion	-
G Single Single	branch		
Road p	vofile el.		
0.000	F from	Profile	
10.000		TIONS	
C Two br	anches		
Left Bra	inch		
Road	profile el.		
0.00	0 🔽 fro	m Profi	e 📗
Δsie [10		
0.00		en Diner	
10.00	0 1 4 110	ni Diagi	am
Right B	ranch		
Road	l profile el.		
0.00	0 🔽 fra	m Profil	e
Axis [) x		
0.00	0 🗖 🗖 fra	m Diag	am
0.00		mologi	ani i

Quan.	Quantities General Data	
Branches	Paving-Slopes Topson	
C use Typ	oical defaults crític configuration	
🗌 🗌 with	free points	
Dept	n: 0.300	
C in:	egments	
C in r	egion around axis	
🖲 in i	egion around slopes	
Be	agion width in fill	
Left Right		
1.000	1.000	
Be	egion width in cut	
Left	Bight	
1.000	1.000	
-Road Reh	abilitation	
Tops	oil exception	
Edit	paving	

Branches: The cross sections can have one or two branches. A single- branch cross section is the one whose paveway is continuous. An axis appears in the middle of the single-branch cross sections; the road profile elevation is applied to this axis. The singlebranch cross sections are split in two sections, the left and the right section. If the paveway is split, then the cross section is constituted of two branches. The two branches can have a fixed distance between them or the distance can vary from one cross section to another. To set the parameters for a particular cross section, go to the *Branches* tab of the *Cross Sections Data* window.

The central axis also appears in the two-branch cross sections,

but there are also two secondary semiaxes, one on the left of the central axis and the other on its right. Each of the semiaxes corresponds to a branch. The road profile elevation is applied to both semiaxes. Every branch of the cross sections is split in two parts, left and right.

Topsoil: You can set the topsoil type in four different ways. If you use any of the first three ways, the topsoil is created automatically by the program and it is parallel to the Natural Ground line. By using the fourth way, you can create an independent line. To select one of the four ways, go to the *Topsoil* tab of the *Cross Sections Data* window.

You can also select whether the topsoil will extend parallel to the Natural Ground line and in segments (which are user-defined) or around the road axis or around the points where the Artificial Ground Line intersects with the natural terrain or, finally, whether under the Natural Ground there will be a line having its own geometry. In the first three cases you must enter the topsoil depth, while in the cases where there are slopes in a region around the axis or the slopes, you must enter the right and left distances separately for the cuttings and the fillings. If you do not wish to have any topsoil, the value in the *Depth* text field must be zero. All values are in meters (m). If you have selected the topsoil to be in segments, then use the mouse to specify these segments in the drawing area. Select the topsoil line and more specifically the right part of the segment you wish to modify, and from the menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, run the Change Topsoil command. In this way you can specify whether there will be topsoil in the particular segment.

Cross Section with Points

If the cross section is *with Points*, then, when the program searches for intersections, it will not delete any lines, but it will attempt to close the cross section by extending or trimming the appropriate lines. For calculations of this type, you must set the parameters referring to the branches and the topsoil.

The roadway elevation cannot be defined parametrically if the cross section is *with Points* (you cannot use the typical cross section). The road profile elevation is the elevation of the intersection point between the axis (or the semiaxes in the case of two-branch cross sections) and the Artificial Ground line.

If your cross section has two branches, in order to view both semiaxes you must set their distances from the main axis of the cross section.

Cross Section with Typical

If you select the *with Typical* calculation way, the existing paving lines that have been inserted automatically by the program, as well as the Artificial Ground line, regardless of how it was inserted, are both deleted and re-created based on the user-selected typical cross section. The user is not limited when using this method for calculating a cross section. If you wish, some of the parametrical values of a cross section to which a typical cross section is applied, can be different than the values that you have set for the typical cross section, without having to change the typical cross section itself.

To set the topsoil, from the *Topsoil* tab you can select the same settings that you have selected for the typical cross section by ticking the use *Typical defaults* check box. If you wish to configure the topsoil of the particular cross section in another way, tick the use *specific configuration* check box and define the way in which the topsoil will be calculated.

To define the branches and the road profile elevation on the axis (or the semiaxes), from the *Branches* tab, you can also select between the defaults and the specific configuration, by ticking the respective check box. In the second case, you can choose whether a cross section will have one or two branches by ticking the relevant check box. To set the road profile elevation, type the desired value in the *Road profile el* (absolute way). If you wish the roadway elevation value to be relative to the road profile diagram, tick the *From Profile* check box (relative way). For two-branch cross sections, if you wish both semiaxes to have a fixed distance from the main axis of the cross section, type the distance is not fixed, then the program can calculate the distance based on the cross section chainage and a specific diagram. All you have to do is tick the *From Diagram* check box and the program will calculate the distance that derives from the Dx diagram of the left or the right semiaxis.

Quan.	Quantities General Data Paving-Slopes Topsoil
Pavings	nical defaults
- C use spe	ecific configuration
Left Fill Sh.	Cut Sh.
Inner Le.	Inner Ri.
🔽 Apply S	elected Drawings
Sideslopes C use Typ	pical defaults
 use spe 	ecific configuration
Filing	Right
Fill 2:3	Cut 2:1 Soil Tr

To create the paving and slope lines, you must set their parameters. To do this, go to the *Paving* -*Slopes* tab, which contains two groups, one for the *Pavings* and one for the *Slopes*. Here too, you can tick in every group the use *Typical defaults* check box to apply the typical to the cross section or you can use a *specific configuration* by ticking the relevant check box.

In addition, by unticking the *Apply Selected Drawings* check box, you can deselect, at the particular cross section, the drawings that have been applied based on the typical. To display again these drawings, tick the same box.

Pavings: This is the set of lines and structures over the Artificial Ground and the Artificial Ground Ledge. These lines comprise the cross section paveway and they can be created either directly by the user or from the typical and then be applied to the cross section.

Sideslopes: This group refers to the sloped segments of the Artificial Ground. They can be created either by defining a sequence of slopes from the typical or the user can create them by designing them directly into a specific cross section. The sideslopes are applied until an intersection with the final natural ground envelope is found. Their configurations for the cutting and for the filling are different.

As you will see analytically in the next chapter, a typical cross section in *Anadelta Tessera* may contain many sets of pavings and many sets of sideslopes. However, only one set of pavings or sideslopes is selected and applied when the specific typical cross section is first applied to a cross section. Next, for a particular cross section, you can select any of the predefined configurations that you have defined in the typical and apply this configuration both to the left and to the right part of every branch. To do this, tick the *with specific configuration* check box and select the desired configurations from the relevant drop-down lists. The same applies to the sideslopes. Namely, here too you must tick the *with specific configuration* check box in order to select from the drop-down lists the type of the configuration (cutting or filling) and then the slopes sequence for the specific configuration.

Cross Section with Paving Typical

The calculation method with paving typical is the same as the one with typical, the only difference is that the Artificial Ground task will not be deleted. Namely, during the calculations, the program uses all elements of the typical cross section that refer to the paving, but it does not use the elements that refer to the Artificial Ground. The Artificial Ground is calculated in the same way as in the case of the calculation *with Points*.

The settings that you can make are the same as the settings of the cross section with typical; the only difference here is that the *Sideslopes* group is inactive.

The lines referring to the paving are the lines of the PVL (Paving Layer), SSC (Coating) and GTT (Gutter) types. The cross section type does not play any role as regards the "closing" of the other lines (e.g. benches, improvements, unsuitables, etc.), since these lines have nothing to do with the use of the typical cross section.

LineCalculation Properties

Every line that belongs to the PVL (paving layer) or to the GTT (gutter) family has certain additional properties compared to the lines that are defined from the typical tasks and that play a role in the calculation – closing of the particular lines and therefore of the cross sections containing these lines. You can set these properties from the following dialogue boxes.

Properties		×	Properties	×
PVL SubBase Course			GTT Gutter	•
Property	Value		Property	Value
Task	PVL SubBase Course	•	Task	GTT Gutter
Line ID	42		Line ID	40
Branch	Unique		Branch	Unique
Side	Center		Side	Left
Calculation order	42		Based/Shapes	Based
Points	5		Foundation line	34
			Points	6
			J	
,				

To open either of these boxes, select a line of the PVL or GTT family, click the right mouse button and from the displayed menu select *Line properties*.

Since a cross section may have two branches, a basic information for a line belonging to either of the above families is the branch to which this line belongs. In the case of a single-branch cross section, your only option is *Unique*, while in the case of a two-branch cross section, you can select *Left*, *Right* or *Undefined*, depending on the branch to which the line belongs. You can also select the side to which the line belongs by entering the appropriate side, namely *Left*, *Right*, *Centre* or *Undefined*, in the relevant field. Finally, if a line belongs to the encasement solids (GTT), you must define whether the solid will be based on a paving layer or whether it will shape the paving layer. If the solid is based on a line, in order to define this line you must select the mouse pointer to select the foundation line of the solid within the drawing area. The field is updated with a number, which corresponds to the particular line, and once you've run the calculation of the typical, the solid will be based on this line.

Especially for the encasement solids, their branch side also defines the behavior of the layers when they meet such solids. Therefore, if they belong to the *Left* or *Right* side, the layers meeting this solid end there and they do not continue on the other side of the solid, namely outside the road. On the contrary, when the solid is in the *Centre*, then the layers it meets up to the foundation layer are automatically split in two identical layers, one on the left and one on the right of the solid.

As you will see in details in the next chapter, which refers to the typical cross sections, all of the aforementioned lines are sorted out in order of calculation. If the cross section derives by applying a typical (*with Typical or with Paving Typical*), the order of calculation for every line is predefined. If the cross section is calculated *with Points*, the calculation order of the lines belonging to the aforementioned families, corresponds to the order these lines were created or inserted. In order for you to get the desired result, you must set the calculation order manually. To do this, run the Line properties command as described above and then select the *Calculation Order*

field. Click the three-dot button on the left of the field, and use the mouse pointer to select the line after which the selected line will be calculated.

Excavation Percentage

To set the excavation percentage for the current cross section, open the *Quan.* tab of the *Cross Sections Data* window.

Branches	Paving-Slop	es Topsoil		
Quan.	Quantities	General Data		
Excavation	n percentage			
K1.Soil		70.00 %		
K2.Semi-r	ock	20.00 %		
K3.Rock		10.00 %		
K4		0.00 %		
K5		0.00 %		

In the tab fields, type the excavation percentages, which can be grouped in up to five categories. If you change the percentages, click again the *Calculation* button to calculate the new quantities. You can also proceed to the batch calculation of the excavation percentages for all cross sections.

9.13 Quantities - Areas

During the calculation of a cross section, the program calculates the length and the area of every cross section line. You can select the area by clicking the left mouse button on the relevant region within the drawing area. By selecting the area, the relevant region is colored. The data of the selected area appears at the bottom of the *Status bar*.

From the *Quantities* tab of the *Cross Section Data* window, you can quickly check all calculated quantities (length - area) of the current cross section, as these quantities are linked together in the columns of the mass table.

Quan. Quantities General Data Mass Table Columns m m² Topsoil 25.62 7.47 Filings 18.61 19.26 Cuttings 6.92 3.37 Sub-Base Course 12.95 2.65 Base Course 12.34 2.53 Wearing Course 10.50 1.47 Shoulder 1.50 0.21
Mass Table Columns m m² Topsoil 25.62 7.47 Filings 18.61 19.26 Cuttings 6.92 3.37 Sub-Base Course 12.95 2.65 Base Course 12.34 2.53 Wearing Course 10.50 1.47 Shoulder 1.50 0.21
Topsoil 25.62 7.47 Filings 18.61 19.26 Cuttings 6.92 3.37 Sub-Base Course 12.95 2.65 Base Course 12.34 2.53 Wearing Course 10.50 1.47 Shoulder 1.50 0.21
Filings 18.61 19.26 Cuttings 6.92 3.37 Sub-Base Course 12.95 2.65 Base Course 12.34 2.53 Wearing Course 10.50 1.47 Shoulder 1.50 0.21
Cuttings 6.92 3.37 Sub-Base Course 12.95 2.65 Base Course 12.34 2.53 Wearing Course 10.50 1.47 Shoulder 1.50 0.21
Sub-Base Course 12.95 2.65 Base Course 12.34 2.53 Wearing Course 10.50 1.47 Shoulder 1.50 0.21
Base Course 12.34 2.53 Wearing Course 10.50 1.47 Shoulder 1.50 0.21
Wearing Course 10.50 1.47 Shoulder 1.50 0.21
Shoulder 1.50 0.21

In the window of the *Quantities* command of the *Actions* menu, you can view all calculated quantities of the current cross section. You can also run this command by clicking the button on the *Lines* toolbar.

This command opens the following dialogue box, which contains two tabs:

298 Anadelta Tessera

Qu	antities		
Leng	ths - Areas of lines	Mass Table Columns	
A/A	Task	Length	Area
1	Area''Top Soil'	25.616	7.466
2	Area''Fillings''	18.607	19.255
3	Area"Cuttings"	6.920	3.372
4	Area''SubBase Co	12.950	2.651
5	Area'Base Course	12.343	2.529
6	Area"Wearing Col	10.500	1.470
-7	Area"Shoulder"	0.750	0.087
8	Area''Shoulder''	0.750	0.121
_			

Qui	antities					
Leng	ths - Areas of lines	Mass Tabl	e Columns			
A/A	Mass table columr	Length	(±) Length	Area	(±) Area	Cur.Meters
1	Topsoil	25.616	0.000	7.466	0.000	1
2	Filings	18.607	0.000	19.255	0.000	1
3	Cuttings	6.920	0.000	3.372	0.000	1
4	Sub-Base Course	12.950	0.000	2.651	0.000	1
5	Base Course	12.343	0.000	2.529	0.000	1
6	Wearing Course	10.500	0.000	1.470	0.000	1
- 7	Shoulder	1.500	0.000	0.208	0.000	2
				OK		Cancel

In the *Lengths – Areas of lines* tab, you can see in a table all the lines of the current cross section, as well as the lengths and areas that have been calculated for these lines.

In the *Mass Table Columns* tab of the same window, you can see all columns of the mass table for the particular cross section, together with the *Length, Area* and *Current Meters* quantities for each column. If desired, you can change the quantities contained in these columns. If the cross section is recalculated, the quantities are restored automatically in their original values. If you want to add or subtract a fixed

value to/from the quantities, then enter the desired value in one of the (\pm) Length and (\pm) Area columns, respectively.

9.14 Sideslopes Coating

The program can create automatically a sideslope coating, which is parallel to the sideslopes of the current cross section, even if such coating does not exist in the typical cross section. The sideslopes coating is inserted after the calculation of the cross section.

How to create the sideslopes coating for a cross section

- 1. From the Actions menu, run the Insert Sideslopes Coating command, or click the button on the Lines toolbar.
- 2. The following dialogue box appears on the screen:

Sideslope Coating
Task
SSC Sideslope Coating
Select starting point
Start from point 1 of "42.SubBase Course"
Thickness: 0.300
Use Paving Slopes 📃
Side : 💿 Left 🔿 Right
Ledge superelevation same with starting segment
C Fixed -7.000 %
OK Cancel

- 3. In this box, select from the *Task* drop-down list the typical task to which the new line will belong. The list shows only the typical tasks that belong to the SSC family. The task to select is usually the *Sideslopes Coating*.
- 4. The next step is the determination of the line's starting point. Select the line that contains the point from which the coating will begin and make this point current. Then click the *Select starting point* button. You will notice that the message exactly below the field changes from *Starting point not defined* to a message that describes the selected point, e.g. Start from point 2 of Shoulder. The Side field is updated automatically with the side of the selected line that contains the starting point of the sideslopes coating. Next, in the *Thickness* field, type in meters the distance of the coating from the sideslope. If you wish to also use the paving sideslopes for creating the line, tick the *Use Paving Slopes* check box.
- 5. Click the *OK* button to close the dialogue box; the line will be created.

9.15 Drawings

The term drawings means predefined line types, which are stored in an internal library and can be imported as a new line to a cross section. The drawings can be imported to the internal library either from a text file, or they can be created by the user.

Creating an Internal Drawing Library

To save a line of a cross section in the internal drawing library of a project, select the line and from the menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, run the *Add to Drawings* command of the *Tools* submenu.

To import drawings from a text file, go to the *File* menu, select the *Import from ASCII* submenu and run the *Drawing Library* command. The *Drawing Library from ASCII* dialogue box appears on the screen. Select the desired file and click *Open*.

N.Jersey AASHTO 96 🛛 🖉						
0.000	0.000					
0.000	0.070					
0.180	0.330					
0.260	1.040					
0.560	1.040					
0.640	0.330					
0.820	0.070					
0.820	0.000					
N.Jersey 61x	80					
0.000	0.000					
0.000	0.060					
0.000	0.110					
0.180	0.360					
0.230	0.850					
0.380	0.850					
0.430	0.360					
0.610	0.110					
0.610	0.060					
0.610	0.000	-				
R		• •				

The text file with the drawings must have the format shown below, and the .ADR extension. The drawing data in a file of this type is arranged by groups. The first row of every group-drawing contains the name of the drawing. The next rows contain the points of the drawing. Every row has two numbers, the first being the X coordinate of the point and the second the Y coordinate; these two numbers are separated by at least one space. The end of every group-drawing is marked by an empty row.

You can also import drawings from the drawing management window.

New Project's Internal Drawing Library

The drawings of a new project can also be imported from an external file of drawings (*.ADR). You can select this file from the *General Options* dialogue box of the *Tools* menu. More specifically, the full name and the path of the file are displayed in the *New project drawing library* field of the i tab. If you wish to select a new file, click the **underset** button. Select the desired drawings file from the dialogue box that will appear on the screen. Once you've made your selection, click the *Open* button to return to the *General Options* dialogue box, and then click the *OK* button to close the dialogue box and return to the main screen.

Drawings Management

You can manage the drawings from the window of the *Drawing Library* command of the *Parameters* menu.



This command opens the management window that contains all drawings of a project, enabling you to view and edit the drawings of a project's internal library. The drawing that has been selected from the *Selected drawing* drop-down list appears in the centre of the window. To view the drawings, use the toolbar at the top left of the box

Let **I I**. The first button shows the first drawing. The second button shows the previous (from the selected) drawing. The third button shows the next drawing and the fourth button shows the last drawing.

If you wish to give a new name to the selected drawing, click the 🔛 button; this opens a dialogue box, where you can enter the name by which the file will appear in the library. You can even delete the selected drawing from the project's library by clicking the 🗙 button. To delete all drawings, click the 🔀 button.

To import drawings from ASCII text files, click the 🗾 button. To import the drawings

contained in the library of another *Tessera* project, click the is button. In both cases, the familiar dialogue box will open, and you can select the desired file and then click the *Open* button.

Export of Drawings to an ASCII Text File

The drawings of a project's internal drawing library can be saved in an external text file.

How to export the drawings to an ASCII file

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Export to ASCII* submenu and run the *Drawing Library* command.
- 2. Specify the path and the name for the file in which you will save your drawings. The file will have the .ADR extension.
- 3. Click *OK* to create the file.

Importing Drawing to a Cross Section

To import a drawing to a cross section, proceed in the same way as you would do for creating a line, and in the dialogue box, tick the *from library* check box. Click *OK* to open the following dialogue:

V Drawing selection
Automatic placing on axis C left • center C right
Selected drawing : N.Jersey AASHTO 96
Dependency point No

From the *Selected Drawing* drop-down list, select the drawing to be imported. The buttons on the toolbar have the same functions as the buttons in the management window.

In the *Dependence point* field, specify the point whose position you must define in order to insert the drawing to the cross section.

Click the *OK* button to close the dialogue box. The screen displays the drawing, which you must position either by using the mouse to select a point within the drawing area (in this case it is recommended to activate the snap on point feature), or by using the *Input Form.* This operation can be carried out collectively for all of the project's cross sections.

9.16 Walls

Generally, the walls in *Anadelta Tessera* are divided in two categories, depending on the position they will get. They can be either *Filling* walls, commonly used for supporting the soil at the foot of the filling slopes, or *Cutting* walls, which are commonly used to retain the soil of the cutting slope. You can insert walls collectively for all of the project's cross sections.

Generally the walls can be inserted like any other line. You can also insert a wall by selecting from a table containing the dimensions of the wall, based on the wall's position in a cross section. With this method, you can insert a wall to the current cross section and specify only the distance of the wall from the cross section axis. The height, the type and the individual dimensions of the wall are calculated automatically by the program. The dimensions are selected according to the net height of the wall, from wall tables, which contain geometrical characteristics based on the allowable tension of the ground and the slope of the filling sideslope behind the wall. The dimensions specified in these tables are as follows:



To insert a wall with this method, run the *Insert Wall* command from the *Actions* menu, or click the button on the Lines toolbar.

This command opens the following dialogue box,

Insert wall	×
Task	
WLL Wall	
Selected wall table	
Sideslope slope 30 - Ground te	nsion 500 🛛 💌
Sideslope slope after wall	100.000 %
Added wall height	0.000 m
OK	Cancel

where you can set the wall insertion parameters. Note that, before inserting a wall in this way, you must have calculated the cross section.

From the *Task* drop-down list, select the typical task to which the inserted line will belong. By left-clicking on the list, you can view all typical tasks of the family (WLL); select one of the displayed tasks. In the *Selected wall table* drop-down list, choose the table that will be used for the selection of the appropriate wall. You can select among ten tables, which contain all of the wall's geometrical data.

In the *Sideslope slope after wall* field, type the value of the sideslope slope outside the wall. A sideslope after the wall will only exist in the case of a support wall. In the *Added wall height* field, type the height that the wall will have above the natural ground or the top envelope, depending on whether the wall is positioned in a cutting or filling, respectively.

In all cases, click OK to insert the wall to the cross section, or click *Cancel* to abort the procedure. The OK button transfers you to the screen, where you must specify the position of the wall. The shape and the dimensions of the wall change each time, in order for the wall to be adapted to the existing geometry of the lines. Click the left mouse button to finalize the position of the wall, or click the right mouse button to stop the procedure without inserting the wall.

Properties of the WLL Family Lines

You can select whether the presence of the walls in the cross section will modify or not the Artificial Ground. If you select the Artificial Ground not to be affected, then its configuration will not depend on whether it meets or not the wall line, while in the opposite case, the Artificial Ground will change according to the type and shape of the wall. On the contrary, the Paving Layers, the Encasement Solids and the Sideslopes Coating will always stop on the wall line.

To edit the properties of a wall, select the wall and run the *Properties* command.

Properties 🛛 🖄				
WLL Wall	▼			
Property	Value			
Task	WLL Wall 📃 🗾			
Line ID	52			
Aut. Wall Trace	No			
Side	Left			
Wall Type	Filling			
Sideslopes Slope (%)	100.000			
Shapes Artificial Ground	Yes			
Points	9			

The above figure shows the dialogue box with the wall properties that you can edit.

If you want the wall line to take part in the shaping of the Artificial Ground, select Yes in the *Shapes Artificial Ground* drop-down list. Otherwise select No (inactive wall); the wall line will exist in the cross section (mainly for the measurement of the cross section area) but it will not modify the *Artificial Ground*. If you select Yes (active wall), then the Artificial Ground will change from the first point of its intersection with the Wall line, according to your selections as regards the other properties of the wall.

For the Artificial Ground to be shaped again, after you have activated or deactivated the wall, the cross section must be recalculated.

Importin**g**Vall Tables

To import tables from an ASCII text file, go to the *File* menu, select the *Import from ASCII* submenu and run the *Walls Library* command. The *Import Walls Library from ASCII* dialogue box appears on the screen. Select the desired file and click *Open*.

The file must have the format shown below,

	0.00	100.00							_
	0.40	0.70	0.30	0.30	0.30	0.50	0.30	0.00	
	0.90	1.20	0.30	0.30	0.30	0.80	0.30	0.00	_
	1.20	1.50	0.30	0.40	0.60	0.80	0.30	0.20	
	1.70	2.00	0.30	0.40	0.60	1.00	0.30	0.20	
	2.20	2.50	0.30	0.40	0.60	1.30	0.30	0.20	
	2.70	3.00	0.30	0.50	0.75	1.45	0.30	0.20	
	3.20	3.40	0.30	0.50	0.90	1.90	0.30	0.30	
	3.70	3.90	0.30	0.60	0.95	2.45	0.30	0.30	
	4.20	4.30	0.30	0.60	1.00	3.00	0.40	0.30	
	4.70	4.80	0.30	0.60	1.40	3.10	0.40	0.30	
	5.20	5.20	0.30	0.70	2.00	3.10	0.40	0.40	
	5.70	5.70	0.30	0.70	2.20	3.20	0.40	0.40	
	6.20	6.20	0.30	0.80	2.20	3.30	0.40	0.40	
	6.60	6.60	0.30	0.90	2.50	3.10	0.50	0.40	
	7.00	7.00	0.30	1.00	2.80	3.20	0.50	0.50	
									-
4								1	۶.

and the .AST extension. The wall data in a file of this type is sorted out in groups, depending on the allowable ground tension and the ground's sideslope slope behind the wall. The first row of every group contains two values, the sideslope angle in degrees and the allowable ground tension. These two values are separated by at least one space (e.g. 0 300). The next rows show the dimensions of the walls with respect to the useful wall height H?. By order of appearance, the data shown in the table are: H?, h1, bo, bu, b1, b2, d1 and d2. When importing a wall, the program, based on the calculated H?, provides the dimensions of the wall by using the other values of the row corresponding to the H?. The end of every group is marked by an empty row.

Wall Tables of a New File

The wall tables of a new project are also imported from a wall table file (*.AST). This file is selected from the *General Options* dialogue box of the *Tools* menu. More specifically, the full name and the path of the file are displayed in the *New project wall library* field of the *Cross Sections* tab. If you wish to select a new file, click the **under Section**. Select the desired typical tasks file from the dialogue box that will appear on the screen. Once you've made your selection, click the *Open* button to return to the *General Options* dialogue box, and then click the *OK* button to close the dialogue box and return to the main screen.

Exporting Wall Tables to an ASCII Text File

The wall tables can be saved in an external text file.

How to export wall tables to an ASCII file

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Export to ASCII* submenu and run the *Walls Library* command.
- 2. Specify the path and the name for the file you wish to save. The wall tables will be exported to a file with the (*.AST) extension.
- 3. Click *OK* to create the file.

9.17 Benches

The *Insert Bench* command of the *Actions* menu is used for inserting automatically a bench into the current cross section. You can also run this command by clicking the

button on the *Lines* toolbar. This command results in the creation (if required for the cross section) of a bench line, which always belongs to the *Bench Typical Task* (BNC). The shape and the insertion way of the benches depend on the parameters that you have set in the *Benches* tab of the *Road Preferences*. You can also insert benches collectively for all of the project's cross sections.

Bench Preferences

To set the bench insertion preferences, run the *Road Preferences* command of the *Parameters* menu and then open the *Benches* tab. The resulting dialogue box has two groups.

Road Preferences		×
General Percentages Benches		
☐Insertion Preferences		τШ
Minimum terrain slope	20.000 %	
Maximum terrain slope	200.000 %	
Minimum horizontal step	2.000 m	
Minimum vertical step	0.500 m	
Calculation Preferences		- 11
with minimum hor. & vert. step	•	
Start benches from Botto	om 💌	
Horizontal step	2.500 m	
Vertical step	1.000 m	
Benches superelevation	6.000 %	
Minimum distance of adjacent benches	1.000 m	
<u> </u>		
OK	Cancel	

The *Insertion Preferences* group contains settings referring to the criteria according to which the program will determine whether a bench will be inserted or not to a cross section. In the *Minimum terrain slope* (%) and *Maximum terrain slope* fields, enter the minimum and maximum slope that two successive points of the natural sideslope must have, in order for a bench to be inserted between them. In the *Minimum horizontal step* and *Minimum vertical step* fields, enter the minimum horizontal and vertical distance that two successive points of the natural terrain must have, in order for a bench to be inserted between them. A bench cannot be inserted between points whose slope is between the limits that you have set, but their in-between vertical distance does not exceed the minimum value.

The *Calculation Preferences* group contains settings referring to the shape of the inserted bench. In the *Start benches from* field, specify the way in which the benches will be inserted. Namely, if you wish to insert the first complete step to the highest or to the lowest point of the section to which the bench will be inserted, from the relevant drop-down list select *Top* or *Bottom*, respectively. In the *Horizontal step* field, enter the horizontal distance – width of the benches, while in the Vertical step field enter the bench height. In the *Benches superelevation* field, enter the

superelevation of each bench. When inserting benches automatically, the program uses the insertion preferences to determine the segments to which the bench lines will be inserted and then shapes the lines according to the bench preferences. If there are two adjacent bench segments and you wish to join them into a single part, enter the desired value in the *Minimum distance of adjacent benches* field. The program joints automatically the benches whose in-between distance is smaller than the value which has been entered in this field and leaves the benches whose distance is longer than this value unaffected.

The shape of the benches is determined according to the method that you have selected from the drop-down list at the top of the *Bench Preferences* group. With the option with minimum horizontal step, the width of the benches equals to the value that you have entered in the *Horizontal Step* field. If this cannot be applied (usually at the end of the line), the resulting bench is wider but never narrower. The option with minimum vertical step is similar, only here the bench height remains fixed at the value that you have entered in the *Vertical Step* field. With the option *with minimum horizontal and vertical step*, the width of the benches is the value in the *Horizontal Step* field and their minimum height is the value that you have entered in the *Vertical Step* field. If this cannot be applied, the program will make the benches wider.

9.18 Batch actions

Many of the operations of the *Cross Sections* workspace can be carried out collectively for a group of cross sections. Most of these operations can be found in the *Batch Actions* menu. Any command contained in this menu opens a relevant dialogue box. These dialogue boxes contain, among others, two common groups: *Selected cross sections* and *Cross section selection*.

C.Section	Chainage	Bran	Typ. Cross Section	
POB	0+000.00	1	* Points *	
1	0+020.00	1	" Points "	
12	0+040.00	1	* Points *	
13	0+060.00	1	" Points "	
🜗 TSI2	0+077.39	1	* Points *	
1 4	0+097.39	1	* Points *	
15	0+117.39	1	" Points "	
CSI2	0+127.39	1	* Points *	
9 🕘 🌔	0+147.39	1	* Points *	
🖉 7	0+167.39	1	View3D	
8 🌗	0+187.39	1	* Points *	
\rm CCI2	0+201.22	1	" Points "	
9 9	0+215.05	1	* Points *	_
10 🌗	0+235.05	1	* Points *	
11 🐌	0+255.05	1	* Points *	
🜗 SCI2	0+275.05	1	* Points *	
12 🜗	0+285.05	1	" Points "	
13 🐌	0+305.05	1	* Points *	
🌗 STI2	0+325.05	1	* Points *	
14 🌗	0+345.05	1	" Points "	
15 🐌	0+365.05	1	* Points *	-1

Cross Section selection	
Chainag from : 0.000	to : 630.429
Typ. Cross Section View3D	¥
Branches @ one branch	C two branches
	elect Deselect

From these groups you can select the cross sections you wish to edit.

The *Selected cross sections* group is comprised of a window with four columns, which contain the names of all cross sections of the current road, their chainages, the number of the cross section's branches, and the calculation way of the cross section. To select a cross section from the table, left-click on the cross section and its line will

appear colored. An icon appears on the left of every cross section's name. The \checkmark icon appears next to the calculated cross sections, while the $\frac{1}{2}$ icon appears next to the uncalculated cross sections. The number of the cross sections that have been selected for editing and the total number of cross sections appear next to the name of the group (e.g. 10/26).

To select only one cross section, select the cross section from the window and press the *Space* bar on the keyboard. If you wish to deselect the cross section, click again the same button. You can also carry out these operations by using the *Insert* and *Delete* keys respectively, or by double-clicking with the mouse. The selected cross sections appear in blue fonts. To select all cross sections, click the *Select* button at the bottom of the *Cross Section* selection group. To deselect all cross sections, click the *Deselect* button.

The program gives you four more options. You can select or deselect certain cross sections between two chainages. To do this, tick the *Chainage* check box and then enter the respective chainages in the *From* and *To* text fields. Click the *Select* button to add the cross sections to the existing set of the selected cross sections or click the *Deselect* button to remove them.

If you wish to select the cross sections that have been calculated based on a typical cross section, tick the *Typ. Cross Section* check box and then select the typical cross section from the drop-down list. You can also select only single-branch cross sections or only two-branch cross sections; to do this, tick the *Branches* check box and then select *one branch* or *two branches*, respectively. Finally, you can select only the cross sections that have been calculated or only those that have not been calculated, by ticking the last check box and making the appropriate selection. In all cases, click the *Select* button to add the cross sections to the existing set of selected cross sections or click the *Deselect* button to remove them. You can also combine these four options. Namely, you can select the uncalculated cross sections between two chainages.

9.18.1 Batch Cross Section Calculation

The actions referring to the calculation of a cross section can be carried out collectively for all of the project's cross sections by running the *Calculation* command from the *Batch Actions* window. The purpose of this command is to carry out batch calculations in the cross sections of the current road of a project. The calculations may also include settings for the parameters of the branches, the topsoil, the pavings, the sideslopes or/and all of the above. The window where you can make the settings and the batch calculation is as follows,

ch Cross	Section Cal	lculation		
elected cr	oss sections (0/35		Calculate selected cross sections
Section	Chainage	Bran	Typ. Cross Section	with Typical Cross section
P08	0+000.00	1	" Points "	View3D 💌
1	0+020.00	1	" Points "	C with Points
2	0+040.00	1	" Points "	C min
3	0+060.00	1	* Points *	* d6 16
TSI2	0+077.39	1	* Points *	Branches Paving Signer Torsoil
4	0+097.39	1	* Points *	and an
5	0+117.39	1	* Points *	use Typical defaults
CSI2	0+127.39	1	* Points *	Carir
6	0+147.39	1	" Points "	Cash
07	0+167.39	1	View3D	C use specific configuration
8 🛛	0+187.39	1	" Points "	Single branch
CCI2	0+201.22	1	* Points *	Roadway Elevation
9	0+215.05	1	* Points *	0.000 🔽 from Profile
0 10	0+235.05	1	* Points *	
11	0+255.05	1	* Points *	C Two branches
SCI2	0+275.05	1	* Points *	Left Branch
12	0+285.05	1	* Points *	Roadway Elevation
13	0+305.05	1	" Points "	0.000 🔽 from Profile
STI2	0+325.05	1	" Points "	Axis Dx
14	0+345.05	1	" Points "	0.000 🔽 from Diegram
15	0+365.05	1	" Points "	V
	1.00			Hight Branch
oss Sech	on selection			Hoadway Elevation
🗖 Chaini	ag from	; 0.000	tp ; 630.425	a 0.000 M from Profile
-		· · · ·		Axis Dx
🗖 Тур. С	toss Section	View30)	0.000 From Diagram
Branc	hes (🕫 one b	anch C two brand	hes
-	C 11 1		Salari Davah	
	0.6.0	uar I.	Desex	Calculation Evit

and appears as soon as you run this command.

The dialogue box is comprised of three groups: In the Selected cross sections and Cross Section selection groups you can choose the cross sections to which the calculations will be applied. In the right part of the window you will find the Calculate selected cross sections group, where you can specify the type of the calculations that will be applied, as well as the corresponding parameters. In the same group, you can specify the type of the batch calculation tasks for the selected cross sections. To define the type of the calculations, proceed in the same way as you would for a single cross section. The calculations can be performed with Typical Cross section or with Points. The as is option means that the calculation will be repeated with the same Typical, which had already been used in another calculation and is different for every cross section, or without Typical, for any cross section that had been calculated with *Points.* This is very helpful when recalculation is required after editing the terrain model, something that could affect the natural ground of many cross sections, or after changing the diagrams (profile, width, superelevation), something that affects the cross sections' calculation. It is also required for the batch recalculation of cross sections after editing one or more typical cross sections that had been used in a previous calculation. The as is option in the *Topsoil* and *Branches* tabs has the same meaning, namely the way in which the topsoil or the branches are calculated remains unchanged.

In all cases, click the *Calculation* button for the program to start the batch calculation. At the end of the calculation, the program informs you on the results by displaying the relevant message in the message window at the bottom of the program screen. Any problems that may have occurred will appear in detail in the message window. Click the *Exit* button or press the *Esc* key to close the dialogue box and return to the program's main screen.

Correction of Batch Calculation Errors

After the batch calculation, the message window shows three message categories:

- Information, referring to the start and the end of the calculation process.
- Warnings, referring to problems that occurred during the calculation of specific cross sections and that the program solved by itself. In this case, you must check whether the program has applied the correct solution to the particular cross sections.
- Errors, referring to problems that occurred during the calculation of specific cross sections and couldn't be solved. In this case, you must go to the cross sections involved, correct the problems listed in the message and request recalculation of the cross section.

Every warning or error shows the name of the cross section in which the problem occurred. To go to the cross section, select the corresponding message from the message window in order to highlight it and double click on it. Or, from the menu that is displayed if you right click in the drawing area when the message is selected, run the *Cross section selection* command.

To delete a message, select it, click the right mouse button, and from the displayed menu run the *Delete message* command. To delete all messages of a category, select the *Delete* submenu of the aforementioned menu and then select the category of messages that you wish to delete. To delete all messages from the aforementioned submenu, run the *All* command. To save the messages in a text file, from the *Save* submenu select the category of messages you wish to save. The *Save* dialogue box opens and you must select the folder where the file will be saved, as well as the file name.

9.18.2 Batch Drawing Assignment

The actions referring to drawings can be carried out collectively for all of a project's cross sections by running the *Drawings Assignment* command of the *Batch Actions* menu. This command opens the following dialog box:

Batch Desig	ın Assignme	ent			×
Selected or	oss sections (0/35		Selected drawing Ontions	
C.Section	Chainage	Bran	Typ. Cross Section	Selected drawing options	
POB	0+000.00	1	" Points "	Reference line	A/A
1	0+020.00	1	" Points "	AGD Attiticial Ground	
0 2	0+040.00	1	" Points "		
9 3	0+060.00	1	* Points *	with reference point No	3
🜗 TSI2	0+077.39	1	* Points *	All and the second second	
4	0+097.39	1	* Points *	Line in which drawing will be inserted	
95	0+117.39	1	* Points *	DRW Drawing	-
CSI2	0+127.39	1	* Points *	Distance from	
6	0+147.39	1	* Points *	reference point + Dx	
Ø 7	0+167.39	1	View3D	C axis based on diagram + Dx	
8	0+187.39	1	* Points *	C ref. pnt. + offset from diagram. + Dx	
CC12	0+201.22	1	* Points *	Diagram	D
9 🕘	0+215.05	1	" Points "	Diagani	Dx Dx
10	0+235.05	1	" Points "	Without diagram	0.000
11	0+255.05	1	" Points "	Invert Diagram Signs	
🕒 SCI2	0+275.05	1	* Points *	Elevation	
12	0+285.05	1	* Points *	C from reference line + Dh	
13	0+305.05	1	* Points *	G from reference point + Dh	
Lineria	0.005.05	•	A PARTING AND A	C sheek to have d on diagram a Dh	
Cross section	on selection			C abioloce based on diagram + Dri	
Chain	age from	0.000	ta c 630.429	 ref. pnt. + orrset from diagram. + Un 	
				Diagram	Dh
E Tup (Tross Section	Maw 2D		Without diagram	0.000
L Type of	1035 305101	Viewsb	<u>~</u>	Lover Diagram Signs	
Branc	hes	🕫 one bri	anch 🕐 two branches		
	©₹ (0 (t)	Select Deselect	Set	Exit

Here you can insert – create new lines into certain cross sections of a project, by using a template line, which must exist as a drawing in the project's internal drawing library.

In the *Selected cross sections* and *Cross Section selection* groups, which can be found in the left part of the window, you can choose the cross sections to which the calculations will be applied. It the right part of the window there are two tabs that enable you to assign drawings and insert them into the selected cross sections. From the *Selected drawing* dropdown list, select the library drawing to be inserted.

From the Options tab, select the line to be created and the way in which the drawing will be placed both horizontally and with respect to the elevation. From the Line in which drawing will be inserted dropdown list, select the typical task in which the selected drawing - template will be inserted in the cross sections, e.g. drawing, N. Jersey, etc. From the Reference line dropdown list, select the line based on which the new line will be inserted. From the *Reference line S/N* field, specify the serial number of the line that will become the reference line. The S/N matters only if the selected reference line is a line that can be found in a cross section more than once. Next, you must select a reference line point, based on which the drawings will be applied to every cross section. Select this point from the with reference point No field. The S/N of a point is shown in the status bar when the point has been selected within the drawing area. If you wish to insert the drawing to the last point of the line, you can enter a value higher than the available points, e.g. 2000, and the drawing will be inserted to the last point of the reference line. You can also enter negative values in this field. If you wish to insert the drawing to the last but one point of the line, enter the -1 value, and so on.

In the *Distance from* group, specify the horizontal position of the drawing in the cross section. You can insert a drawing in three ways:

- The first way is the *reference point* + Dx. If you select this way, the drawing will be inserted in such a way, so that its dependence point has the same X coordinate with the reference line point that the user has entered in the *with reference point* No. The horizontal distance that you enter in the Dx text field is added to this coordinate.
- The second way is *axis based on diagram* + *Dx*, namely the drawing dependence point will be inserted in such a way, so that it has a fixed distance from the cross section axis, depending on the cross section's chainage. The distance is calculated for every cross section from the diagram that the user selects from the *Diagram* dropdown list (e.g. roadway width diagram). When diagrams referring to the left part of the cross section are to be used, you must tick the *Invert Diagram Signs* check box, so that their values correspond to the left part of the cross section. The horizontal distance that you enter in the *Dx* text field is added to this diagram. If you want to use only the fixed distance of the *Dx* field with respect to every cross section's axis, select the Without diagram option.
- The third and last way to insert a drawing is to combine the above two ways. With this method, the X coordinate of the drawing's dependence point is the sum of the distance entered in the *Dx* field, the X coordinate of the reference point and the value of the diagram at every cross section's chainage.

In the *Elevation* group, enter the position that the drawing will get with respect to the elevation. There are four ways to insert a drawing with respect to the elevation:

- The first way is the *from reference line* + *Dh*. If you select this way, the dependence point of the inserted drawing will have the elevation of the reference line at the distance from axis which was specified in the previous group. The vertical distance that you enter in the *Dh* text field is added to this coordinate.
- The second way is the *from reference point* + *Dh*. If you select this way, the dependence point of the inserted drawing will have the elevation of the point which was specified in the *with reference point No* field. The vertical distance that you enter in the *Dh* text field is added to this coordinate.
- The third way is the *absolute based on diagram* + *Dh.* In this case, the drawing's dependence point will have a variable elevation, depending on the cross section's chainage. This elevation is calculated for every cross section from the diagram that the user selects from the *Diagram* dropdown list (e.g. road profile diagram). If you want to invert the signs of the diagram's values, you must tick the *Invert Diagram Signs* check box. The vertical distance that you entered in the *Dh* text field is added to the value that is calculated based on the diagram. If you want to use only the fixed distance that you have entered in the *Dh* field, select the Without diagram option.
- The fourth and last way to insert a drawing is a combination of the second and third ways. With this method, the elevation of the drawing's dependence point is the sum of the distance entered in the *Dh* field, the elevation of the reference point and the value of the diagram at the cross section's chainage.

After you have set all parameters, click the *Set* button. The program will inform you that the procedure has been completed. If an error occurs during the process, the relevant message will be displayed in the message bar at the bottom of the screen.

If you have selected a typical task of the WLL, GTT or PVL families, the program will display the relevant dialogue boxes shown in the figures. In these boxes you must set the properties of the lines that will be inserted into the cross sections, e.g. Branches, Side, etc., and then click the *OK* button to continue and finish the procedure.

When you have finished assigning drawings, click the *Exit* button to close the dialogue box and return to the main screen.

9.18.3 Batch Bench Assignment

The actions referring to benches can be carried out collectively for all of a project's cross sections by running the *Bench Insertion* command of the *Batch Actions* menu. The purpose of this command is to insert collectively bench lines of a predefined form into the cross sections of the current road of a project. This command results in the following dialogue box,

Selected cross sections 0/35 C.Section Chainage Bran. Typ. Cross Section 1 0+020.00 1 2 0+040.00 1 3 0+060.00 1 TSI2 0+077.33 1 4 0+097.33 1 5 0+117.33 1 * CSI2 0+127.33 1 * CSI2 0+127.33 1 * CSI2 0+127.33 1 * COL1 0+167.33 1 * CSI2 0+127.33 1 * Points * * 6 0+147.33 1 * Points * * * CSI2 0+127.33 1 * Points * * * COL2 0+275.05 1 * Points * * * * O 0+275.05 1 * Points * * Divisos * * * * I 0+255.05 1 * Points * * Stat benches trom Bottom * * Coss section selection	Batch Bench II	nsertion					×		
C.Section Chainage Bran Typ. Cross Section POB 0+000.00 1 Points* 1 0+020.00 1 Points* 2 0+040.00 1 Points* 3 0+060.00 1 Points* 3 0+060.00 1 Points* 5 0+117.39 1 Points* 5 0+117.39 1 Points* 5 0+117.39 1 Points* 6 0+147.39 1 Points* 7 0+167.39 1 Points* 7 0+17.39 1 Points* 7 0+167.39 1 Points* 7 0+	Selected cros	s sections 0	/35			Bench data			
● POB 0+000.00 1 * Points * ● 1 0+020.00 1 * Points * ● 2 0+040.00 1 * Points * ● 3 0+060.00 1 * Points * ● 3 0+060.00 1 * Points * ● 3 0+060.00 1 * Points * ● 5 0+117.39 1 * Points * ● 5 0+127.39 1 * Points * ● 6 0+147.39 1 * Points * ● 6 0+147.39 1 * Points * ● 7 0+167.33 1 View/3D ● 8 0+187.39 1 * Points * ● 7 0+167.33 1 View/3D ● 8 0+187.39 1 * Points * ● CC12 0+215.05 1 * Points * ● 10 0+235.05 1 * Points * ● 11 0+255.05 1 * Points * ● 11 0+255.05 1 * Doints * ● 11 0+200 to: is30.429 ■ Branches Orectina	C.Section	Chainage	Bran	Typ. Cross Section		Bench task			
1 0+020.00 1 * Points * 2 0+040.00 1 * Points * 3 0+060.00 1 * Points * 5 1 * Points * 6 0+17.39 1 * Points * 6 0+147.39 1 * Points * 7 0+167.39 1 * Points * 7 0+167.39 1 View3D 8 0+187.33 1 * Points * 0 CCi2 0+21.22 1 * Points * 10 0+235.05 1 * Points * * 11 0+255.05 1 * Points * * 11 0+255.05 1 * Points * * 11 0+255.05 1 * Doints * * 12 0-275.05 1 * Doints * * 11 0+255.05 1 * Doints *	POB	0+000.00	1	" Points "		DNC Reach			
2 0+040.00 1 * Points * 3 0+060.00 1 * Points * 1 TSI2 0+077.33 1 * Points * 4 0+097.33 1 * Points * 5 0+117.33 1 * Points * 6 0+147.33 1 * Points * 6 0+147.33 1 * Points * 7 0+167.33 1 * Points * 7 0+167.33 1 * Points * 0 CC12 0+201.22 1 * Points * 10 0+235.05 1 * Points * ▼ 11 0+255.05 1 * Points * ▼ 11 0+255.05 1 * Points * ▼ 11 0+255.05 1 * Doints * ▼ 11 0+255.05 1 * Doints * ▼ 11 0+255.05 1 * Doints * ▼ 12 0.000 to: §30.423 ™ Horizontal step 1.000 m Branches C ane branch	1	0+020.00	1	" Points "		BINC BERCH			
3 0+060.00 1 * Points * 1 TSI2 0+077.39 1 * Points * 4 0+097.39 1 * Points * 5 0+117.39 1 * Points * 6 0+147.39 1 * Points * 6 0+147.39 1 * Points * 6 0+147.39 1 * Points * 7 0+167.39 1 * Points * 7 0+167.39 1 * Points * 0 CC12 0+201.22 1 * Points * 10 0+235.05 1 * Points * 11 0+255.05 1 * Points * 11 0+255.05 1 * Doints * 11 0+255.05 1 * Doints * 11 0+255.05 1 * Doints * 12 0.000 to:: 630.423 Minimum distance of 1.000 m Branches C one branch two branches Branches C one branch two branches Branches C one branch	2	0+040.00	1	" Points "		- Investion Preferences	_		
Image: Section Selection Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D Image: Section View3D <td>3</td> <td>0+060.00</td> <td>1</td> <td>" Points "</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	3	0+060.00	1	" Points "					
4 0+097.39 1 * Points * 5 0+117.39 1 * Points * 6 0+147.39 1 * Points * 6 0+147.39 1 * Points * 7 0+167.39 1 * Points * 7 0+167.39 1 * Points * 8 0+187.39 1 * Points * CC12 0+201.22 1 * Points * 9 0+215.05 1 * Points * 10 0+235.05 1 * Points * 11 0+255.05 1 * Points * 11 0+255.05 1 * Points * Cross section selection * © core 530.423 Chainage from 0.000 tor 530.423 Branches one branch two branches Branches one branch two branches Branches one branch two branches Calculation Exit Select Deselect	TSI2	0+077.39	1	* Points *		Minimum terrain slope 20.000 5	5		
5 0+117.39 1 * Points * CSI2 0+127.39 1 * Points * 6 0+147.39 1 * Points * 7 7 0+167.39 1 * Points * 7 0+167.39 1 * Points * Minimum horizontal step 2.000 m 8 0+187.39 1 * Points * 0.500 m Minimum vertical step 0.500 m 8 0+187.39 1 * Points * 0.500 m Minimum vertical step 0.500 m 0 0 0+215.05 1 * Points * Vertical step 10 0+235.05 1 * Points * Vertical step Start benches from Bottom Cross section selection Image from : 0.000 for: 630.429 Vertical step 1.000 m Benches Image from : 0.000 for: 630.429 Minimum distance of adjacent benches 1.000 m Branches Image Image: from : 0.000 for: 630.429 Minimum distance of adjacent benches 1.000 m	4	0+097.39	1	* Points *		Maximum terrain slope 200.000 :	ε		
Image: Construction Selection Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construction Image: Frame Construct	. 5	0+117.39	1	* Points *					
 6 0+147.39 1 * Points * 7 0+167.39 1 View3D 8 0+187.39 1 * Points * CC12 0+201.22 1 * Points * 9 0+215.05 1 * Points * 9 0+215.05 1 * Points * 10 0+235.05 1 * Points * 11 0+255.05 1 * Points * SC12 0+375.05 1 * Points * Cross section selection Chainage from: 0.000 to: 630.429 Typ. Cross Section View3D Branches @ one branch: © two branches Branches @ one branch: © two branches Calculation Exit Calculation Exit 	CSI2	0+127.39	1	* Points *		Minimum horizontal step 2.000 r	n		
7 0+167.39 1 View3D 8 0+187.39 1 "Points * CC12 0+201.22 1 "Points * 9 0+215.05 1 "Points * 10 0+235.05 1 "Points * 11 0+255.05 1 "Points * Scil2 0+275.05 1 "Points * Cross section selection Chainage from 0.000 to 630.429 Typ. Cross Section View3D Typ. Cross Section View3D Branches © cne branch Chosesect Branches © cne branch Chosesect Select Deselect	6	0+147.39	1	* Points *		10.500			
8 0+187.39 1 * Points * CC12 0+201.22 1 * Points * 9 0+215.05 1 * Points * 9 0+215.05 1 * Points * 10 0+235.05 1 * Points * 11 0+255.05 1 * Points * 11 0+255.05 1 * Points * Sc12 0+275.05 1 * Deixte * Cross section selection * • Chainage from 0.000 to : 630.423 Typ. Cross Section View3D • Branches © one branch two branches @ one branch two branches 1.000 m Select Deselect	₹7	0+167.39	1	View3D		Minimum vertical step 0.500 r	n		
© CCI2 0+201.22 1 * Points * 9 0+215.05 1 * Points * 10 0+235.05 1 * Points * 11 0+255.05 1 * Points * 12 0+275.05 1 * Points * 11 0+275.05 1 * Points * 11 0+275.05 1 * Points * 12 0+275.05 1 * Points * 12 0+275.05 1 * Points * 11 0+275.05 1 * Points * 12 0+275.05 1 * Points * 12 0+275.05 1 * Points * * 12 0+275.05 1 * Points * * 13 0000 to : 630.423 * Horizontal step 1.000 m Branches © one branch two branches 1.000 m adjacent benches		0+187.39	1	* Points *		Calculation Preferences	=		
9 0+215.05 1 * Points * 10 0+235.05 1 * Points * 11 0+255.05 1 * Points * Cross section selection * ■ Chainage from: 0.000 to: Chainage from: 0.000 to: ©30.423 Typ. Cross Section View3D ■ Branches © one branch two branches @ v< 0 1	CC12	0+201.22	1	" Points "					
10 0+235.05 1 * Points * 11 0+255.05 1 * Points * Image: Construction and the second and th	9	0+215.05	1	" Points "		with minimum hor. & vert. step			
I11 0+255.05 1 * Points * Cross section selection * Deiete * * Chainage from: 0.000 tor: 630.429 Horizontal step 1.000 m Vertical step 1.000 m Branches © one branch two branches © ✓ 1 Select Deselect Calculation Exit	10	0+235.05	1	" Points "		Start benches from Bottom			
Close section selection ** Belate * Chainage from: 0.000 to: 530.429 Horizontal step 1.000 Typ. Cross Section View3D Branches © one branch © to: 530.429 Minimum distance of algoent benches © V 0 1 Select Deselect Calculation	11	0+255.05	1	* Points *	-				
Cross section Image from: 0.000 to:: 630.423 Chainage from: 0.000 to:: 630.423 Typ. Cross Section View3D Image Minimum distance of adjacent benches Branches @ one branch C two branches @ Vertical step 1.000 m Branches @ one branch C two branches @ Vertical step Calculation Exit		0.275.05	1	* Dainta *		Horizontal step 2.500 r	n		
Chainage from: 0.000 to:: 630.429 Typ. Cross Section View30 Image: Section with the section of the section	Cross section	selection				Vertical step 1.000 r	n		
Typ. Cross Section View3D Branches Image: Construction of two branches Image: Construction of two branches Image: Construction of two branches Image: Construction of two branches Image: Construction of two branches Image: Construction of two branches Image: Construction of two branches Image: Construction of two branches Image: Construction of two branches Image: Construction of two branches Image: Construction of two branches Image: Construction of two branches Image: Construction of two branches	Chainag	e hom:	0.000	to : 630.429		Benches superelevation 6.000 5	ε		
Branches @ one branch @ two branches @ V O 1 Select Deselect Calculation Exit	Typ. Cro	oss Section	View3D		-	Minimum distance of 1.000 r adjacent benches	n		
Calculation Exit	Branche	Branches @ one branch C two branches							
GVCI Select Deselect Calculation Exit									
	6	< 0.1		Select Desele	ct	Calculation Exit			

which is comprised of three groups. The *Bench data* group contains the bench insertion and calculation parameters, which are similar to those that you can set by running the *Road preferences* command. From the dropdown list at the top of the group, select the BNC typical task, to which the lines that will be created will belong.

After you have set all parameters, click the *Calculation* button. The program will inform you that the procedure has been completed. If an error occurs during the process, the relevant message will be displayed in the message bar at the bottom of the screen.

When you have finished inserting benches, click the *Exit* button to close the dialogue box and return to the main screen.

9.18.4 Batch Wall Assignment

The actions referring to walls can be carried out collectively for all of a project's cross sections by running the *Wall Insertion* command of the *Batch Actions* menu. The purpose of this command is to insert collectively wall lines of a predefined form into the cross sections of the current road of a project. This command results in the following dialogue box,

atch Wall Ir	nsertion			×
Selected or	oss sections (1/35		Select wall
C.Section	Chainage	Bran	Typ. Cross Section	Line in which wall will be inserted
POB	0+000.00	1	" Points "	WLL Wall
1	0+020.00	1	" Points "	Selected wall table
0 2	0+040.00	1	* Points *	Sideshee date 20 Gaund tension E00
1 3	0+060.00	1	* Points *	Sidestope stope 50 - Ground tension 500
TSI2	0+077.39	1	* Points *	Siderboe doos atter wall
4	0+097.39	1	* Points ×	aldeslope slope diter wait
15	0+117.39	1	* Points ×	Added wall height 0.000 m
CSI2	0+127.39	1	" Points "	
6	0+147.39	1	" Points "	Placemenet
Ø 7	0+167.39	1	View3D	Dy distance from axis
	0+187.39	1	" Points "	C based on diagram from avis + Dx
CC12	0+201.22	1	* Points *	 based of diagrammon ans + bx
9	0+215.05	1	* Points *	Diagram Dx
10	0+235.05	1	* Points *	Superelevation diagram, left v 0.000
11	0+255.05	1	* Points ×	Invert Diagram Signs
SCI2	0+275.05	1	* Points ×	
12	0+285.05	1	" Points *	
Cross section	n selection			
Chain	age from	0.000	to : 630.429	
Г Тур. С	Cross Section	View30	×	
Brand	hes (🖲 one br	anch $ c $ two branches	
	ev c) ()	Select Deselect	Insert Exit

which is comprised of four groups. The *Select wall* group contains the wall insertion parameters, which are similar to those that you can set when inserting the wall into a cross section.

The *Placement* group refers to the selection of the wall's place, since it cannot be selected with the mouse during the batch insertion. If you want the wall to be placed at a fixed distance from the axis of the cross section, tick the Dx distance from axis check box and type the distance in the Dx field. It is also possible to add a second distance to the fixed one; this second distance will derive from a diagram, depending on the cross section's chainage. To do this, tick the *based on diagram from axis* + Dx check box and from the *Diagram* dropdown list select one of the diagrams included in the file. When diagrams referring to the left part of the cross section are to be used, you must tick the *Invert Diagram Signs* check box, so that their values can correspond to the left part of the cross section. For example, if you wish to insert a wall into the left side of the pavement and at a distance of two meters from the end of the pavement, tick the *based on diagram* dropdown list, type 2 in the Dx field and tick the *Invert Diagram Signs* check box.

After you have set all parameters, click the *Insert* button. The program will inform you that the procedure has been completed. If an error occurs during the process, the relevant message will be displayed in the message bar at the bottom of the screen.

When you have finished inserting walls, click the *Exit* button to close the dialogue box and return to the main screen.

9.18.5 Soil Improvement Insertion

The actions referring to soil improvement can be carried out collectively for all of a project's cross sections by running the *Soil Improvement Insertion* command of the *Batch Actions* menu. This command opens the following dialog box:

tch soil im	provement	t insertio	n.	
Selected cr	oss sections (0/35		Soil improvement parameters.
C.Section	Chainage	Bran	Typ. Cross Section	Reference line A/
POB	0+000.00	1	" Points "	AGD Artificial Ground 1
1	0+020.00	1	* Points *	Sol Improvement Line
2 🔋	0+040.00	1	* Points *	
3	0+060.00	1	* Points *	SIMP Soil Improvement
TSI2	0+077.39	1	* Points *	Reference line points for soil improvement definition
4	0+097.39	1	* Points *	
5	0+117.39	1	* Points *	
CSI2	0+127.39	1	* Points *	Soil improvment edges distance from reference points
6	0+147.39	1	" Points "	[0.000 m
07	0+167.39	1	View3D	
9 8	0+187.39	1	* Points *	Soil improvement slopes
CC12	0+201.22	1	* Points *	100.000 % 100.000
9	0+215.05	1	* Points *	
0 10	0+235.05	1	* Points *	C Bottom parallel to Natural Ground
11	0+255.05	1	* Points *	Sloped bottom
SCI2	0+275.05	1	* Points *	
12	0+285.05	1	* Points *	Soll improvement bottom slope
13	0+305.05	1	" Points "	0.000 % 0.000
STI2	0+325.05	1	" Points "	
	0.045.05			Soil improvement axis elevation
ross sectio	in selection			Db 0 500
Chain	ana firam	0.000	by: 630.429	Difference
L Chank			0.1000.000	from Natural Ground - Dh
Tree 0		D.C		From Diagram h - Dh
Typ. C	Toss Section	View3D	<u>×</u>	Profile road profile diagram
Brand	hes	🕫 one bri	anch C two branches	Invest diagram signs
	e 🗶 - (0.0	Select Deselect	Calculation Exit

This dialogue box is comprised of four groups. In the *Selected cross sections* and *Cross Section* selection groups, which can be found in the left part of the window, you can choose the cross sections to which the calculations will be applied. In the right part of the window there are two more groups, enabling you to set the *Soil improvement parameters* and the *Soil improvement axis elevation*.

More specifically, in the Soil improvement parameters group you can set the following:

- *Reference line:* Select the line that will determine the X coordinates of the terrain points from which the sideslopes of the new *Soil Improvement* will start. This line is usually the *Artificial Ground*.
- *Reference line S/N:* Enter the serial number of the line that will become the reference line. The S/N matters only if the selected reference line is a line which can be found in a cross section more than once.
- *Soil Improvement Line:* Select the typical task in which the new line will be inserted, e.g. drawing, soil improvement, etc.
- *Reference line points for soil improvement definition:* In these fields you can set the reference line points that will determine the edges of the *Soil Improvement sideslopes* (usually 1 for left and -1 for right).
- *Soil improvement edges distance from reference points:* In these fields you can set an additional distance from the selected reference points.
- *Soil improvement slopes:* Set the slope that the sideslopes will have on the left and right part of the soil improvement.
- *Soil improvement bottom superelevations:* Define any desired superelevations that the bottom will have on the left and right part of the soil improvement.

In the Soil improvement axis elevation you can set the following:

- *Dh:* In this field, enter the elevation of the Soil Improvement with respect to the *Natural Ground* or with respect to a *Diagram*.
- *Invert diagram signs:* Tick this option when the *Dh* is calculated based on a *Diagram* and the signs of the diagram values must be inverted.

9.18.6 Guardrail management

The actions referring to guardrails can be carried out collectively for all of a project's cross sections by running the *Guardrails Management* command of the *Batch Actions* menu. The purpose of this command is to insert guardrails collectively into the cross sections of the current road of a project, according to the predefined form that you have chosen. This command results in the following dialogue box,

elected cros	is sections 0/35		Side
C.Section	Chainage	Typ. Cross Section L. R.	▲ Olde
POB	0+000.00	* Points *	V Left V Right
1	0+020.00	* Points *	Onerstion
1 2	0+040.00	* Points *	C. Delete
ا 3	0+060.00	* Points *	Chereite
🕕 TSI2	0+077.39	" Points "	(• Insert
4	0+097.39	" Points "	According to h
15	0+117.39	" Points "	h> 2.500
CSI2	0+127.39	" Points "	C Mandatana
6 🕒	0+147.39	* Points *	C Manaatory
V 7	0+167.39	View3D	
8 🌗	0+187.39	* Points *	Checking Criteria
\rm CCI2	0+201.22	* Points *	Minimum guardrail length
9 9	0+215.05	* Points *	8.000
10 🕕	0+235.05	* Points *	Minimum distance hatusan
11	0+255.05	* Points *	guardraits
🜗 SCI2	0+275.05	" Points "	15.000 Check
12	0+285.05	" Points "	- Check
ioss Section	selection		F Guardrail conforms to specification
Chainage	ho ho	m; 0.000 to;; 630.429	F Total length less than minimum
Typ. Cros	sSection [Vie	w3D	F Guardrail insertion recommended due to minimum distance
- 6	1 O 1	Select Deselect	

which is comprised of three groups. In the Side group, select the cross section side to which the guardrail will be inserted. To place guardrails left and right, tick both boxes. In the *Operation* group, select the task you wish to perform.

- *Delete:* If you select this option and click the *Apply* button, all guardrails are deleted from the selected cross sections.
- *Insert:* Select this field to activate the following options:
 - according to h: In the h> field, enter the minimum Dh according to which the guardrails will be inserted (The Dh is calculated between the elevation of the guardrail reference point and the sideslope foot.
 - *Mandatory:* The program inserts guardrails in all of the selected cross sections.

The **F** symbol appears for all cross sections in which guardrails have been placed.

After the placement of guardrails, the program performs an automatic check based on the *Checking Criteria* that you have specified. If you change these criteria, click again the *Check* button to apply the new criteria.

The Checking Criteria group has the following fields:

- *Minimum guardrail length:* In this field, set the minimum acceptable/ applicable length of a cross section or a set of cross sections, in which a guardrail can be placed. If the applicable length of a set of cross sections with guardrail is shorter
- than this value, the \mathbb{F} symbol appears for these cross sections.
- *Minimum distance between guardrails:* In this field, set the minimum acceptable distance between two successive sets of cross sections with guardrail. If the distance between two successive sets of cross sections with guardrail is shorter than this value, the symbol appears for the intermediary cross sections.

9.18.7 Batch Line Management

Anadelta Tessera offers operations for batch line management. These operations can be carried out from the dialogue box of the *Line management* command of the *Batch Actions* menu.

ch Line M	lanagemen	t		
Selected or	oss sections (1/35		Operation
C.Section	Chainage	Bran	Typ. Cross Section	Copy - paste
POB	0+000.00	1	" Points "	C Cut - Paste
1	0+020.00	1	" Points "	C Delate
2	0+040.00	1	* Points *	* Delete
3	0+060.00	1	* Points *	Origin line S/N
TSI2	0+077.39	1	* Points *	AGD Artificial Ground 💌 1
4	0+097.39	1	* Points *	by Task C by Family
15	0+117.39	1	* Points ×	Durfurfurfur
CSI2	0+127.39	1	* Points *	Destination line 5/N
6 🕒	0+147.39	1	" Points "	[DRW] Drawing 💌 0
Ø 7	0+167.39	1	View3D	11 m
8 🌗	0+187.39	1	" Points "	Modification type
🐌 CC12	0+201.22	1	* Points *	Offset by Dx, Dh
9 9	0+215.05	1	* Points *	
10 🐌	0+235.05	1	* Points *	Reference point 1
11	0+255.05	1	* Points *	- Dy Definition
SCI2	0+275.05	1	* Points *	Dx Diagram
Cross sectio	n selection			0.000 Without diagram
Chain	age from	0.000	to : 630.429	Invert Diagram Signs
	-2-	-		Dh Definition
Tvp. 0	toss Section	View3	0	- Dh Diagram
		Trans	-	0.000 Without diagram
Brand	hee	C. contra	ranala 🧖 hua kanada	Invert Diagram Signs
biand	nes i	e one o	terrori 🕡 two brancho	
-			Calast Develo	
	6 V (2.45	Deseid	Apply Exit

From this box, you can perform four operations (copy, cut, modification, delete), as described below.

The dialogue box is comprised of three groups. The *Operation* group is comprised of three sections. From the top section you can select the type of the operation to be performed, from the middle section you can select the lines to which the selected operation shall refer to, and from the bottom section you can set the line modification type and its parameters.

Batch Line Copy

You can copy the lines of all cross sections belonging to a typical task.

How to copy simultaneously all lines of a typical task

- 1. Open the dialogue box of the *Line management* command and select the cross sections you wish to edit.
- 2. Tick the Copy Paste check box in the middle section of the Operation group.
- 3. From the *Origin line* dropdown list of the middle section, select the typical task to which the copied lines belong. If certain cross sections contain more than one lines of the same typical task (e.g. two base courses), then in the S/N field enter the serial number of the line you wish to copy. If this serial number is zero, then the *by Task* and *by Family* check boxes are enabled. This means that the program will copy all lines of the selected cross sections belonging to the typical task or family of the selected typical task, respectively, depending on the ticked check box.
- 4. From the *Destination line* dropdown list of the middle section, select the typical task of the lines to which the data of the lines that you selected in the *Origin line* will be copied. If certain cross sections already contain lines of the particular typical task,

then in the S/N field enter the zero value. With this option, the program creates new lines without affecting the existing lines of the selected typical task. If you enter a value higher than zero, then the new lines that have this number will be inserted and placed in the cross sections and any existing lines with the same number will be deleted.

- 5. If you wish to modify the origin line, select the type of the modification from the *Modification type* dropdown list of the bottom section. In the remaining fields, make the necessary settings according to the selected modification type.
- 6. Click the *Apply* button to carry out the operation for the selected cross sections. The program will prompt you to confirm that you wish to copy the lines, by showing you the relevant confirmation message. To complete the procedure, click *Yes*. If the serial number of the typical task that you selected from the *Destination line* dropdown list is zero and the typical task belongs to the WLL, GTT or PVL family, the program will display the relevant dialogue boxes, enabling you to set the properties of the lines that will be created, such as Branches, Side, etc. After you have set the properties for the particular lines, click the *OK* button to proceed. To close the dialogue box, click the *Exit* button.

Batch Line Cut

You can transfer the lines of a typical task to another typical task, which already exists or will be created in any cross section, as necessary. The procedure is similar to the batch line copy, only in this case the origin lines are deleted permanently.

Line Modification

You can modify the lines of all cross sections belonging to a typical task.

How to modify simultaneously all lines of a typical task

- 1. Open the dialogue box of the *Line management* command and select the cross sections you wish to modify.
- 2. Tick the *Modification* check box in the top section of the *Operation* group.
- 3. From the *Origin line* dropdown list of the middle section, select the typical task of the lines to be modified. If certain cross sections contain more than one lines of the same typical task (e.g. two base courses), then in the *S/N* field enter the serial number of the line you wish to modify. If the selected serial number is zero, then the *by Task* and *by Family* check boxes are enabled. This means that the program will modify all lines of the selected cross sections belonging to the typical task or family of the selected typical task, respectively, depending on the ticked check box.
- 4. If you wish to modify the origin line, select the type of the modification from the *Modification type* dropdown list of the bottom section. In the remaining fields, make the necessary settings according to the selected modification type.
- 5. Click the *Apply* button to carry out the operation for the selected cross sections. To close the dialogue box, click the *Exit* button.

Deleting Lines

You can delete the lines of all cross sections belonging to a typical task.

How to delete simultaneously all lines of a typical task

- 1. Open the dialogue box of the *Line management* command and select the cross sections you wish to edit.
- 2. Tick the *Delete* check box in the top section of the *Operation* group.
- 3. From the *Origin line* dropdown list of the middle section, select the typical task of the lines to be deleted. If certain cross sections contain more than one lines of the same typical task (e.g. two base courses), then in the *S/N* field enter the serial

number of the line you wish to delete. If the selected serial number is zero, then the *by Task* and *by Family* check boxes are enabled. This means that the program will delete all lines of the selected cross sections belonging to the typical task or family of the selected typical task, respectively, depending on the ticked check box.

4. Click the *Apply* button to carry out the operation. The program will prompt you to confirm that you wish to delete the lines, by showing you the relevant confirmation message. To complete the procedure, click *Yes*. To close the dialogue box, click the *Exit* button.

Modification Types

From the *Modification type* dropdown list in the bottom section of the *Operation* group of the *Batch Line Management* dialogue box, you can select the type of the modification that will be applied to the selected lines of the selected cross sections. The selectable modification types, as well as their relevant settings, are explained in detail below.

Line offset

The line offset can be performed in four ways:

- 1. To offset lines both horizontally and vertically, from the *Modification type* dropdown list select *Offset by Dx, Dh*. In the *Define Dx* group, set the horizontal offset. The distance is given according to the cross section's chainage from the diagram that you select from the *Diagram* dropdown list. If you want to invert the signs of the selected diagram's values, you must tick the *Invert Diagram Signs* check box, so that their values correspond to the left part of every cross section. The distance that you enter in the *Dx* text field is added to this diagram. If you want to use only the fixed distance that you have entered in the *Dx* field, select the *Without diagram* option. In the *Define Dh* group, set the vertical offset. The procedure that you must follow to set the vertical offset is the same as the one for setting the horizontal offset.
- 2. To offset the lines horizontally by defining the new coordinate of a line point, from the *Modification type* dropdown list select *Move reference point to X*. In the reference point *No field* select the reference point of the line. In the *Define X* field, enter the new X coordinate. The coordinate is given according to the cross section's chainage, from the diagram that the user selects from the *Diagram* dropdown list. If you want to invert the signs of the selected diagram's values, you must tick the *Invert Diagram Signs* check box, so that their values correspond to the left part of every cross section. The value entered in the *X* text field is added to this diagram. If you want to use only the fixed value of the *Dx* field, select the *Without diagram* option.
- 3. To offset the lines vertically by defining the new coordinate of a line point, from the *Modification type* dropdown list select *Move reference point to H.* In the *reference point No* field, select the reference point of the line. In the *Define H* group, enter the new elevation of the reference point, as described above for the horizontal offset.
- 4. To offset lines in parallel by setting the distance of the parallel offset, from the *Modification type* dropdown list select *Offset*. In the *Define D* group, set the offset distance.

Line extension

To extend lines, you must add a new point to the selected lines, either at the start or at the end of the lines:

1. To add a new point at the start of the lines, by setting the horizontal and vertical distances from the first point of the line, from the *Modification type* dropdown list

select *Extend to start with Dx, Dh*. In the *Define Dx* group, set the horizontal distance of the new point from the first point of the line. In the *Define Dh* group, set the vertical distance. If you type the -1000 value in the *Dh* field, then the elevation of the new point is determined by the program in such a way, so that the new straight part has the same slope with the first part of the line.

2. To add a new point at the end of the lines, by setting the horizontal and vertical distances from the last point of the line, from the *Modification type* dropdown list select *Extend to end with Dx, Dh*. Set the distances as described above for the extension to start.

Line interpolation

You can add a point to a line in two ways:

- 1. To add a point at a fixed distance from the start of the axes, from the *Modification type* dropdown list select *Interpolation at X*. In the *Define X* group, define the position of the new point by entering the distance from the start of the axes. The elevation of the new point is determined by the program in such a way, so that the slopes of the straight parts of the line remain unchanged.
- 2. To add a point at a fixed distance from a certain point of the line, from the *Modification type* dropdown list select *Interpolation at Dx from reference point*. In *the Reference point No* field, select the reference point of the line. In the *Define Dx* group, set the distance of the new point from the reference point. The elevation of the new point is determined by the program in such a way, so that the slopes of the straight parts of the line remain unchanged.

Cropping of lines

There are four ways to crop a line:

- 1. To remove a line segment before a certain distance from the start of the axes, from the *Modification type* dropdown list select *Crop before X*. In the *Define X* group, enter the distance from the start of the axes. The line segment that will be removed is located on the left of the user-defined distance.
- 2. To remove a line after a certain distance from the start of the axes, from the *Modification type* dropdown list select *Crop after X*. In the *Define X* group, enter the distance from the start of the axes. The line segment that will be removed is located on the right of the user-defined distance.
- 3. To remove the line segment before a certain distance from a reference point, from the *Modification type* dropdown list select *Crop at Dx before reference point*. In the *Reference point No* field, select the reference point of the line. In the *Define Dx* group, set the distance from the reference point.
- 4. To remove the line segment after a certain distance from a reference point, from the *Modification type* dropdown list select *Crop at Dx after reference point*. In the *Reference point No* field, select the reference point of the line. In the *Define Dx* group, set the distance from the reference point.
9.18.8 Batch Cross Sections Management

Anadelta Tessera offers features for the batch management of cross sections. These operations can be carried out from the dialogue box of the *Cross sections* management command of the *Batch Actions* menu.

iatch Cross Section Management						
Selected or	oss sections (0/35			Action	
C.Section	Chainage	Bran	Typ. Cross Section		 Delete cross sections 	
POB	0+000.00	1	" Points "			
1	0+020.00	1	" Points "		C Delete all cross sections lines	
0 2	0+040.00	1	* Points *		(except Natural ground)	
03	0+060.00	1	* Points *		C Translate cross section lines	
TSI2	0+077.39	1	* Points *		Dw0.000 Dis 0.000	
4	0+097.39	1	* Points *		Difference Difference	
15	0+117.39	1	* Points *			
CSI2	0+127.39	1	* Points *		C Convert cross section lines into	
6	0+147.39	1	" Points "		AUX Suideine	
Ø 7	0+167.39	1	View3D			
8	0+187.39	1	" Points "			
CC12	0+201.22	1	* Points *			
9	0+215.05	1	* Points *			
10	0+235.05	1	* Points *			
11	0+255.05	1	* Points *			
SCI2	0+275.05	1	* Points *			
12	0+285.05	1	* Points *			
13	0+305.05	1	" Points "	-		
Cross section	agefrom : 0.0	000	to : 630.429 Select Dese			

From this box, you can perform four operations (cross section deletion, line deletion, line offset, modification of typical task), as described below.

The dialogue box is comprised of three groups. The desired operation is selected from the *Action* group.

Batch Cross Section Deletion

You can delete simultaneously as many cross sections as you wish from your project.

How to delete simultaneously multiple cross sections

- 1. Open the dialogue box of the *Cross sections management* command and select the cross sections you wish to delete.
- 2. From the *Action* group, tick the *Delete cross sections* check box. To delete the selected cross sections, click the *Apply* button. The program will prompt you to confirm that you wish to delete the cross sections, by showing you the relevant confirmation message. Click *Yes* to proceed or click *No* to cancel the procedure.
- 3. When you have finished, click the *Exit* button to close the dialogue box and return to the Cross Sections workspace.

Deleting all Lines, apart from the Natural Ground

You can delete all lines of the selected cross sections, apart from the line of the Natural Ground task.

How to delete all lines of the selected cross sections

1. Open the dialogue box of the *Cross section management* command and select the cross sections you wish to edit.

- 2. In the *Action* group, tick the *Delete all cross sections lines (except Natural ground)* and click the *Apply* button to proceed. The program will prompt you to confirm that you wish to delete the cross sections' lines, by showing you the relevant confirmation message. Click *Yes* to proceed or click *No* to cancel the procedure.
- 3. When the procedure has been completed, click the *Exit* button to close the dialogue box and return to the Cross Sections workspace.

Moving cross section's lines

You can move all lines of the selected cross sections. The lines are moved at fixed, user-defined distances (horizontally and vertically).

How to move all lines of the selected cross sections

- 1. Open the dialogue box of the *Cross section management* command and select the cross sections you wish to edit.
- 2. In the *Action* group, tick the *Translate cross section lines* check box. In the *Dx* and *Dh* fields, type the horizontal and vertical distance, respectively, and then click the *Apply* button to proceed. The program will prompt you to confirm that you wish to move the cross sections' lines, by showing you the relevant confirmation message. Click *Yes* to proceed or click *No* to cancel the procedure.
- 3. When the procedure has been completed, click the *Exit* button to close the dialogue box and return to the Cross Sections workspace.

Changing the Typical Task of all Lines

You can convert all lines of the selected cross sections, apart from the line of the Natural Ground, into lines of the DRW or AUX typical tasks. This feature can be very helpful in case you wish to view two different configurations in the same cross section. Namely, you can first apply a typical cross section, then convert simultaneously all lines into a *Drawing* and finally apply a second typical cross section to the project's cross sections. In this way, you will be able to view both of the applied solutions to every cross section.

How to change the typical task of all lines of the selected cross sections

- 1. Open the dialogue box of the *Cross sections management* command and select the cross sections you wish to edit.
- 2. In the Action group, tick the Convert cross section lines into check box.
- 3. From the dropdown list, select one of the typical tasks [AUX] *Guideline* or [AUX] *Typical Slopes* or [DRW] *Drawing* and click the *Apply* button to carry out the procedure. The program will prompt you to confirm that you wish to convert the cross sections' lines, by showing you the relevant confirmation message. Click *Yes* to proceed or click No to cancel the procedure.
- 4. When the procedure has been completed, click the *Exit* button to close the dialogue box and return to the Cross Sections workspace.

9.18.9 Batch Cross Section Import from another Project

Anadelta Tessera enables you to import into your current project one or more cross sections from another project. This action imports all of the desired cross sections simultaneously.

How to import cross sections from another project

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Import* submenu and run the *Cross Sections* command.
- 2. From the resulting dialogue box, select the file from which the cross sections will be

copied. Next, click *Open*. 3. The following dialogue box appears on the screen:

ert cross	sections					Į
Selected or	oss sections (1/54			Road selection	
C.Section	Chainage	Bran	Typ. Cross Section	•	File : Manual01.ADF	
POB	0+000.00	1	* Points *		Update from road	
1	0+020.00	1	" Points "		Deadd	5
12	0+040.00	1	" Points "		Hoad 1	1
8 3	0+060.00	1	" Points "			
4	0+080.00	1	* Points *		Offset new cross section's Ch by	
15	0+100.00	1	* Points *		0	
9 🜗 6	0+120.00	1	* Points *		,	
17	0+140.00	1	× Points ×		- Insert new with	
8 🌗	0+160.00	1	* Points *		C Duran in all and a set of the s	
9 9	0+180.00	1	× Points ×		Uverwrite old cross sections	
10 🐌	0+200.00	1	* Points *		 Preserve old cross sections 	
11 📗	0+220.00	1	* Points *			
12	0+240.00	1	" Points "		Typ. Tasks and Typ. Cross	
13 🐌	0+260.00	1	" Points "		Sections sync	
14	0+280.00	1	" Points "			
15 🌓	0+300.00	1	* Points *			-
16 🌗	0+320.00	1	* Points *			
17	0+340.00	1	* Points *	-		
lioss sectio	in selection	-				
Chain	age from	0.000	to : 1000.6	40		
Typ. C	toss Section	View3D				
Branc	hes (🖲 one br	anch 🕐 two branch	88		
É.	© ₹ (24	Select Desel	ect	Invest Evit	

- 4. The displayed cross sections correspond to the file you selected previously; select which of these cross sections will be imported into your project. Make your selections in the *Selected cross sections* and *Cross Section* Selection groups.
- 5. From the dropdown list of the *Road selection* group, select the road whose cross sections you wish to add into your project.
- 6. In the *Insert new with* group, define how the cross sections will be added. If you tick the *Overwrite old cross sections* check box, the program will insert all of the selected cross sections and if a cross section's chainage coincides with the chainage of an existing cross section, the latter will be deleted. If you tick the Preserve old cross sections check box, the program will only insert the selected cross sections if their chainages are different from the chainages of the cross sections that already exist the file.
- 7. In the *Offset new cross section's Ch by* text field, set the distance by which the new cross sections' chainages will be offset. Please note that the actions of step 6 above will be based on the new chainages.
- 8. If you tick the *Typ. Tasks* and *Typ. Cross Sections sync* box, the typical cross sections and the typical tasks of the source file will also be copied to your current project.
- 9. When you have finished, click the *Exit* button to close the dialogue box and return to the Cross Sections workspace.

9.18.10 Batch Cropping of Lines

After the cross section calculation, you can batch crop the right or the left part of the cross section at a user-defined distance from the axis. To do this, select the *Crop Lines* commands from the *Batch Actions* menu. The following window will appear on the screen:

rop Lines							×	
Selected on	oss sections (1/35						
C.Section	Chainage	Bran	Typ. Cross S	Section	•	Lines cropping side		
POB	0+000.00	1	" Points "					
1	0+020.00	1	" Points "					
0 2	0+040.00	1	" Points "			Crop at 0.000 m		
03	0+060.00	1	* Points *					
TSI2	0+077.39	1	* Points *					
4	0+097.39	1	* Points *					
9.5	0+117.39	1	× Points ×					
CSI2	0+127.39	1	* Points *					
6	0+147.39	1	* Points *					
Ø 7	0+167.39	1	View3D					
. 8	0+187.39	1	" Points "					
CC12	0+201.22	1	* Points *					
9	0+215.05	1	* Points *					
10	0+235.05	1	* Points *					
11	0+255.05	1	× Points ×					
SCI2	0+275.05	1	× Points ×					
12	0+285.05	1	* Points *		-			
Cross sectio	in selection				_			
Chains	age from	0.000	ta	: 630.429				
Typ. Cross Section View3D								
Brance	Branches @ one branch @ two branches							
Ē.	€₹ (- 0.	Select	Deselec	*	Apply Exit		

Select the cross sections you wish to crop. You can also select the *Lines cropping side*, as well as the cropping distance from the axis by entering the desired value in the *Crop at* field. If the segment to be removed is at the left of the axis, then you must first choose the left side and then enter a negative value in the *Crop at* field. Namely, in this case it is not enough to just select the left side.

The *Crop Lines* command removes the selected segment from the cross sections, closes the cross sections and calculates them *with Points*, leaving the Natural Ground line unaffected.

9.18.11 Natural Ground from Cross Slopes

Anadelta Tessera enables you to create terrain from cross slopes. This feature is required only in cases where an approximate presentation of the natural ground is needed, when the only known data are the profile and the cross sections. To create terrain from cross slopes, run the *Natural Ground from Cross Slopes* command from the *Batch Actions* menu. The following dialogue box will appear on the screen:

reate Terrain from Cross Slopes							
Selected or	ass sections	0/35			Cross Section se	ection	
C.Section	Chainage	Bran	Typ. Cross Section		Chainage	from: 0.000	to: 630.429
POB	0+000.00	1	" Points "		L		
1	0+020.00	1	" Points "	_		0.0	
2	0+040.00	1	" Points "		1 C V	O (II)	Select Deselect
4 3	0+060.00	1	* Points *				
TSI2	0+077.39	1	* Points *		New terrain		
4	0+097.39	1	* Points *				1. F. M. J. A.
15	0+117.39	1	" Points "		Width left	_	Width right
CSI2	0+127.39	1	" Points "		10		10
6 🕕	0+147.39	1	" Points "				
V 7	0+167.39	1	View3D		1		
8 🌗	0+187.39	1	" Points "				
CCI2	0+201.22	1	* Points *				
9 🕘	0+215.05	1	* Points *				
10	0+235.05	1	* Points *				
11	0+255.05	1	* Points *				
SCI2	0+275.05	1	" Points "				
12	0+285.05	1	" Points "				
13	0+305.05	1	" Points "				
STI2	0+325.05	1	" Points "				
14	0+345.05	1	" Points "				
15	0+365.05	1	* Points *				
16	0+385.05	1	* Points *				
17	0+405.05	1	* Points *				
18	0+425.05	1	" Points "	-			New Evit

To create a new terrain from cross slopes, you must first make the *Cross Slopes Diagram* (if it does not exist already). To create a diagram, proceed as follows:

- From the *Parameters* menu, select the *Diagrams* command.
- In the resulting dialogue box, click the button. From the resulting dropdown list, select the diagram you wish to make (in this case, the *Natural ground cross slope diagram*). The values that you will enter for the slopes will be in (%), namely for a 10% slope, simply type 10. Negative slope values mean that the ground descends from left to right.

• Enter the desired values and click the *OK* button to close the window.

In this window, it is also possible to select multiple cross sections by clicking the *Select* button, or you can select cross sections based on their *Chainage*.

In the *Width left* and *Width right* fields of the *New ground* section, type the boundaries of the ground that will be created.

Click the *New* button to erase the old ground and create a new one based on your settings.

9.19 Creating Diagram from Point

The cross sections workspace enables you to create a Dx or H diagram, regardless of whether the cross sections are calculated or there is only the natural ground line. This Dx or H diagram will be saved in the cross sections diagrams (Parameters - Diagrams). To do this, select the *Diagram from Point* command of the *Tools* menu. The following window will appear on the screen,

eate Diagr	am from p	oint		
Selected on	oss sections	0/35		Select point for diagram creation
C.Section	Chainage	Bran	Typ. Cross Sectio	ion 🔺
POB	0+000.00	1	" Points "	C από γραμμή αναφοράς
1	0+020.00	1	" Points "	Η : από γραμμή αναφοράς Α/Α
2	0+040.00	1	* Points *	NGD Natural Ground 💌 1 曼
93	0+060.00	1	* Points *	
🕕 TSI2	0+077.39	1	* Points *	20c: U
4	0+097.39	1	* Points *	🕼 anó ášoya: 3.750 m
95	0+117.39	1	* Points *	Ο από διάτρατικα
CSI2	0+127.39	1	* Points *	 One on Architect
6 🌗	0+147.39	1	* Points *	Superelevation diagram, left 💌
V 7	0+167.39	1	View3D	Αντιστροφή προσήμων διαγράμματος
9 8	0+187.39	1	" Points "	C από πρωτία πυποροάς. 1 🛋
CC12	0+201.22	1	* Points *	C and adhere availables 1
9 9	0+215.05	1	* Points *	 οπό σημαία
4 10	0+235.05	1	* Points *	Η και Δκ από
11	0+255.05	1	* Points *	L Pavement
SCI2	0+275.05	1	* Points *	
12	0+285.05	1	* Points *	
Cross sectio	n selection			
Chaina	ege from	0.000	to : 630	30.429
	inse Section	View30	1	Diagram Dx / H
		Linemon	-	
Branci	hes	🕫 one br	anch 🕐 two bra	ranches
É	€ 🖉 - (0.0	Select D	Deselect New Exit

and you must select the cross sections whose points will be included in the diagram to be created. Select the desired cross sections from the *Selected cross sections* and *Cross section selection* groups.

You can select the desired point in two ways: either by specifying directly the point or by settings the point's distance from the axis. Both ways are explained in detail below: Directly:

- By selecting the reference line through the *from reference line* field, you can enter directly the number of the reference line's point, based on which the diagram will be created (-1 for the last point, -2 for the last but one point, etc.).
- By selecting the *from flag* option, the point to be exported is the one you have already marked with a flag in the cross section (e.g. Pavement, Roadway, etc.). Indirectly:
- By selecting the reference line and then the *from axis* option, you can set directly the point's distance from the axis. When the point is located to the right of the axis, the distance has positive values, while when the point is located to the left of the axis, the distance has negative values.
- By selecting the reference line and then the *from diagram* option, the point's distance from the axis will be determined according to the diagram's values. If you wish to increase the distance determined from the diagram, enter the value of the additional distance into the *Dx* field. If you are referring to the left side and the diagram's values are positive (e.g. pavement width, roadway width), tick the *Invert diagram signs* check box.

In the *Diagram to be created* field, you can enter the desired name of the diagram. The *with distances from* and *with elevations* options refer to the type of the new diagram, namely the diagram will be created based either on the point's relative

distance from the axis or on the absolute point elevation (point profile). To save the new diagram, click the *New* button.

9.20 Excavations

The *Excavation Percentage* command of the *Tools* menu determines the excavation percentage for all of the project's cross sections, so that you don't have to define them separately for every cross section. You must, of course, use this option to determine the excavation percentage before calculating and printing the Mass Table or the cross sections drawings. The use of this command results in the following window:

👽 Excavation Percentage									
C.Section	Chainage	Soil %	Semi-rock %	Rock %	· %				
POB	0.000	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00				
1	20.000	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00				
2	40.000	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00				
3	60.000	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00				
TSI2	77.395	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00				
4	97.395	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00				
5	117.395	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00				
CSI2	127.395	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00				
6	147.395	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00				
7	167.395	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00				
8	187.395	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00				
CCI2	201.222	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00				
9	215.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00				
10	235.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00				
11	255.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00				
SCI2	275.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00				
12	285.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00				
13	305.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	-1			
•					<u>.</u>				
				OK	Cance	1			

The first and second columns show the names of the cross sections of the current road (Cross Section) and their chainages. It is not possible to edit this information here, you can only change it from the window of the *Cross Section Data* command, separately for every cross section.

The next columns show the excavation percentages, which can be separated in up to five categories. In these columns you can enter the percentages for every cross section, by typing their values in the fields of the values table. The values are entered in percentages, from 0% to 100%. The sum of a cross section's excavation percentages must be equal to one hundred.

To move between the columns, use the *Tab* key for moving from left to right, or the *Shif+Tab* keys for moving from right to left. You can also use the arrow keys to move up, down, right and left, while if you use the mouse you can go directly to the desired field by clicking the right or left mouse button.

To copy a whole set of consecutive cells, select the desired cells and click the button at the top right of the window. To select multiple fields, hold the *Shift* down and use the arrow keys. Next, select the area to which the cells will be copied and click the solution. If you wish to zero the values of certain cells, select the cells by following the aforementioned copy procedure and then click the solution.

In all cases, when you have finished, click the *OK* button to apply the new percentages to all cross sections. Finally, you can import and export the excavation percentages to/from a text file.

Names of Categories

Road Preferences X							
General	Percentages Benches						
		-11					
Cat	egory Name						
K1. So	a						
K2, Se	mi-rock						
K3. Ro	ck						
К4							
K5.							
1.0.1							
	Cance						

To change the names of the excavation percentages, open the *Parameters* menu and run the *Road Preferences* command. In the *Percentages* tab you will find the categories' names (K1, K2, K3, K4, K5), which are originally assigned by default by the program (e.g. Rock, Semi-rock, Soil). More specifically, for every category there is the *Category Name* text field. Type the desired name in this field and then click *OK* to save your settings. The titles of the columns in the window, as well as the titles of the mass table subcolumns are updated automatically.

Importing Percentages from a Text File

You can import into your project all excavation percentages for every cross section, if they are available in electronic form (ASCII text files). You can do this at any given moment, either during the initial stage of the design or at a later stage, when processing your design, and as many times as you wish.

How to import excavation percentages from a text file

- 1. From the dialogue box of the *Excavation percentage* command, click the *button*.
- 2. A dialogue box appears on the screen. Select the desired file and click the *Open* button. The file to select must have the form shown in the next section.
- 3. Finally, the program will ask you to specify the way in which it will check whether a cross section in the APS file exists in your project. Namely, the check will be based on the cross section's name or chainage.

Click the *Name* button for the check to be carried out based on the cross section name, or click the *Chainage* button if you prefer the check to be carried out based on the chainage.

Click either button for the update to take place; the new percentages are displayed on the screen.

Specifications of Percentages Text Files (APS)

The cross section data in a file of this type is arranged by columns. Each row of the file corresponds to a cross section. The form of these files is as follows:

2		20	1111.201			50	. 60	
1	POB	0.000	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
2	1	20.000	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
з	2	40.000	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
4	3	60.000	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
- 5	TSI2	77.395	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
6	4	97.395	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
7	5	117.395	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
8	CSI2	127.395	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
9	6	147.395	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
10	7	167.395	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
11	8	187.395	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
12	CCI2	201.222	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
13	9	215.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
14	10	235.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
15	11	255.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
16	SCI2	275.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
17	12	285.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
18	13	305.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
19	STI2	325.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
20	14	345.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
21	15	365.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
22	16	385.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
23	17	405.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
24	18	425.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
25	19	445.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
26	20	465.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
27	21	485.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
28	22	505.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
29	23	525.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
30	24	545.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
31	25	565.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	
32	26	585.048	70.00	20.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	

The file is comprised of the following columns: *Cross section*, showing the names of the current road's cross sections, *Chainage*, showing the chainage of every cross section, and five additional columns, *K1*, *K2*, *K3*, *K4* and *K5*, showing the excavation allocation percentages for every cross section.

Exporting Percentages to a Text File

You can export from your project to a text file all excavation percentages for every cross section.

How to export the excavation percentages to a text file

- 1. From the dialogue box of the *Excavation percentage* command, click the **Save** button.
- 2. In the resulting dialogue box, specify the path and the name of the file and click the *Save* button.

9.21 Mass Table

Before starting describing the creation of a mass table, it is worth mentioning in brief certain general information that will help you better understand this procedure.

The total mass volume is the sum of the individual volumes between two successive cross sections of the road.

These individual volumes are limited, as shown in the figure below:



- 1. By the E1 and E2 vertical surfaces of two successive cross sections.
- 2. By the $\Pi 1$ and $\Pi 2$ surfaces of the sideslopes on both sides.
- 3. By the surface of the roadway.
- 4. By the F surface of the natural ground.

The necessary data for the calculation of the individual volumes are the areas of the E1 and E2 surfaces and the λ distance between them.

Therefore, by applying the approximate formula:

$$\mathbf{V} = \frac{\mathbf{E}_1 + \mathbf{E}_2}{2} \times \lambda$$

we can calculate the volume contained between the 1 and 2 cross sections for a given λ distance between them.

Mass Volume Calculation Methods.

Two methods are commonly used for the approximate calculation of the mass volume: the method of average surfaces and the method of applicable lengths.

Let's assume that in a complete cutting (or filling) you have the successive cross sections 1,2,3,..., whose respective areas are E1, E2, E3,... The distances between the cross sections are $\lambda 1$, $\lambda 2$, $\lambda 3$, ...

Method of Average Surfaces.

By applying the familiar formula,

$$V = \frac{E_1 + E_2}{2} \times \lambda$$

the result will be:



The $\frac{E_1+E_2}{2}$, $\frac{E_2+E_3}{2}$, $\frac{E_3+E_4}{2}$, are referred to as average surfaces and therefore the calculation of the V volume with the use of the above formula is referred to as method of average surfaces.



The formula commonly used is:

$$V = \frac{E_1 + E_2}{2} \times \lambda_1 + \frac{E_2 + E_3}{2} \times \lambda_2 + ... + \frac{E_{\nu-1} + E_{\nu}}{2} \times \lambda_{\nu-1}$$

Method of Applicable Lengths.

The above formula can also be written as follows:

$$\mathbf{V} = \frac{\lambda_1}{2} \times \mathbf{E}_1 + \frac{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2}{2} \times \mathbf{E}_2 + \frac{\lambda_2 + \lambda_3}{2} \times \mathbf{E}_3 + \dots$$

$$\frac{\lambda_1}{2}, \frac{\lambda_1+\lambda_2}{2}, \frac{\lambda_2+\lambda_3}{2},$$

The 2^{2} are referred to as applicable lengths and therefore the calculation of the V volume with the use of the above formula is referred to as method of applicable lengths.



The formula commonly used is:

Through the typical tasks, the user can define the number of the available columns that may be displayed in the mass table, as well as their titles (the title must be short and it cannot occupy more than two lines per column). The program calculates, if applicable, the length and area of every typical task – line of a cross section (for the method of average areas, the program calculates the average length and area between two successive cross sections). During the mass table calculation, the length or the area are multiplied by the applicable length or by the distance between two successive cross sections (depending on the method that is applied) in order to give the respective surface and volume quantities. These quantities are summed up cumulatively. Each column of the mass table can be divided in a maximum of twenty (20) subcolumns and when the mass table is being created, you can select the subcolumns you wish to be displayed. These subcolumns are the Area with the respectively produced Volume, the Length with the respectively produced Area, the Current Meters, and, for every category of allocation percentages (K1, K2, K3, K4 and K5), the percentage, the allocated area and the allocated volume.

As shown in the figure below (mass table):

1st Line Left 2nd Line Left 3rd Line Left 4th Line Left 5th Line Left 1st Line Right 2nd Line Right 3rd Line Right 4th Line Right 5th Line Right

	General (Data	Fillings Cuttings				
Cross section	Chainage	Distance	Applicable		igo	Cou	ings
Name	Position	Between	Length	Area	Volume	Area	Volume
POB	0.000	0.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
1	20.000	20.00	20.00	40.00	800.00	22.86	457.20
2	40.000	20.00	20.00	2.25	45.00	47.63	952.60
3	60.000	20.00	18.70	1.90	35.52	40.88	764.25
TSI2	77.395	17.39	18.70	7.68	143.58	24.21	452.61
4	97.395	20.00	20.00	18.03	360.60	13.68	273.60
5	117.395	20.00	15.00	9.73	145.95	16.15	242.25
CSI2	127.395	10.00	15.00	8.29	124.35	17.84	267.60
6	147.395	20.00	20.00	9.37	187.40	12.91	258.20
7	167.395	20.00	20.00	7.14	142.80	3.37	67.40
8	187.395	20.00	16.92	18.97	320.88	3.88	65.63
CCI2	201.222	13.83	13.83	22.07	305.23	6.11	84.50
9	215.048	13.83	16.92	16.44	278.08	9.93	167.97
10	235.048	20.00	20.00	19.26	385.20	11.39	227.80
11	255.048	20.00	20.00	14.71	294.20	16.63	332.60
SCI2	275.048	20.00	15.00	9.96	149.40	23.92	358.80
12	285.048	20.00	15.00	6.25	93.75	30.27	454.05
13	305.048	20.00	20.00	0.00	0.00	37.49	749.80
STI2	325.048	20.00	20.00	0.00	0.00	28.74	574.80
14	345.048	20.00	20.00	0.04	0.80	11.01	220.20

MASS TABLE

In addition to the user-selected columns, the mass table always contains the columns that show the cross section's name, the cross section's chainage, the distance between and the applicable length (if this is the selected method), based on which the volumes and surfaces will be calculated.

9.22 Mass Table Creation

To open the mass table creation window, go to the *Print* menu and run the *Print* mass table command.

Μ	IASS TABLE					×	
ľ	🗎 Table titles	s 📑 Fixe	ed Column	is 🔏 Font	🥰 Page L	ayout	
r	Selected cro	ss sections 0	/35			Cross section selection	
	C.Section	Chainage	Bran	Typ. Cross Section		Chainage	
	POB	0+000.00	1	View3D		from (0.000	
	Ø 1	0+020.00	1	View3D		10179 0000	
	V 2	0+040.00	1	View3D		to : 630.429	
	Ø 3	0+060.00	1	View3D			
	🕑 TSI2	0+077.39	1	View3D			
	V 4	0+097.39	1	View3D		ex ci	
	Ø 5	0+117.39	1	View3D			
	V CSI2	0+127.39	1	View3D		Select Deselect	
	Ø 6	0+147.39	1	View3D			
	V 7	0+167.39	1	View3D		Calculation Method	
	V 8	0+187.39	1	View3D			
	V CCI2	0+201.22	1	View3D		No Average Areas	
	V 9	0+215.05	1	View3D		 Applicable Lengths 	
	V 10	0+235.05	1	View3D			
	V 11	0+255.05	1	View3D	-	Include unselected cr. sections	
	Selected qua	ntity columns	- sub-coli	umns Available	Columns	Selected column's subcolumns	
	Selected quantity columns - sub-columns Available Columns Selected column's subcolumns						
					Export	Print Exit	

When creating the mass table, you can first select some general information that you wish to view at the top of the mass table's first page. To do this, use the fields of the window shown below:

MASS TABLE	×
Main Title of Mass Table	
MASS TABLE	
Left titles	Right titles
1st Line Left	1st Line Right
2nd Line Left	2nd Line Right
3rd Line Left	3rd Line Right
4th Line Left	4th Line Right
5th Line Left	5th Line Right
Save "Default" Load "Default"	OK Cancel

To open this window, click the II Table Titles button. In the Main title of mass table

field, enter the main title of the table. In the next two groups, enter the left and right titles respectively.

To change the names of the titles for the *Fixed Columns* and the *Mass Haul Subcolumns*, click the *Fixed columns* button to open the window shown below:

Fixed Columns - Subcolumns	×
Fixed Columns	
General Data	Cross section/Name
Previus Subtotal	Chainage\Position
Subtotal	Distance\Between
Total	Applicable\Length
Mass Hau Subcolumns	
Mass Haul	
Cuttings	\with expansion
Transfer	
Surplus\	Cuttings
Surplus\	Filings
Volume\from start	
Char \ creates a new line	
Save "Default"	Load "Default"
	OK Cancel

In the two groups of the window, enter the titles for the axis data and for the mass haul, respectively.

Next, select the columns, namely the quantities that will be printed in the mass table, as well as the quantity type (area, volume, length, etc.). From the *Available Columns* check list, which contains all columns of the *Mass Table* that were defined in the typical tasks, select one or more columns by clicking in the box next to the column's name. The column's name will be immediately displayed on the *Selected columns - subcolumns* List. From the *Subcolumns* check list, select the desired subcolumns you wish to include in the current column. The columns and subcolumns of the *Mass Table* are displayed in the order they were entered. If you wish to change their order of appearance, use the mouse to select the column or the subcolumn you want to move, then drag-and-drop it to the desired position.

If you want to change a subcolumn's name, select the subcolumn, click the right mouse button, and from the displayed menu run the *Rename* command. In the resulting dialogue box,

🕅 Rename quantity sub-column	
Renaming of Volume	
Volume	
ОК	Cancel

type the new name of the subcolumn and click the OK button.

If you have selected to calculate the mass table for a set of cross sections by applying the method of applicable lengths, then you can choose whether the applicable length of the first and last cross section of the set will be calculated with the contribution of the previous and next cross section, respectively, by enabling the *Include unselected cr. sections* option.

Next, you can proceed to the calculation of the mass table by clicking the *Print* button. When the calculation is completed, the *Mass Table Preview* window opens and you can print the mass table.

Mass Haul

Especially for the Mass Haul column, please note that:

- The program will display the mass haul for two quantities. The first quantity is the one that has been marked with an + in the *Selected columns-subcolumns* list and is deemed positive (usually the cuttings) and the other quantity is the one that has been marked with an and is deemed negative (usually the fillings). To mark a quantity as positive or negative, select the quantity from the *Selected columns-subcolumns* list, click the right mouse button, and from the displayed menu, select *Positive for mass haul* or *Negative for mass haul*, respectively.
- When selecting columns, the table must also show the columns that contribute to the mass haul (e.g. cuttings and fillings) and then the mass haul column.
- Before the calculation of the table, you must also define the relevant expansion coefficients, in order that they are properly included in the volume calculation.

Text Font

You can select the font that will be used for printing the mass table, as well as the font size and style.

To change the font or the font size – To use bold or italics in selected text or numbers

1. In the *Mass Haul* dialogue box, click the *A* Font icon.

2. In the dialogue box of the Font command,

Font			? ×
Eont: Aria Arial Arial Black Arial Black Arial Narrow Arial Rounded MT Bok Arial Unicode MS BankGothic Lt BT BankGothic Md BT	Font style: Regular Regular Italic Bold Bold Italic	Size: 10 11 12 14 16 18 20 ▼	OK Cancel
Effects Stri <u>k</u> eout Underline <u>C</u> olor: Black	Sample AaBbAαB Script: Greek	β	

select the desired font from the *Font* list, and then select the desired script from the *Script* list.

- 3. From the Size list, select the desired font size.
- 4. From the *Style* list, select the desired font style. The *Sample* preview field shows how the text will be displayed according to your settings.
- 5. In all cases, click the *OK* button to close the dialogue box, save your settings and return to the previous dialogue box.

9.23 Mass Table Printing - Export

You can print the *Mass Table* through the environment of *Tessera*. You can also transfer the *Mass Table* data to Microsoft Excel, for further processing.

Mass Table Printing- Export

To print the Mass Table, follow the two simple steps below.

- 1. Select a printer and set its properties (paper size, orientation, etc.).
- 2. Request the calculation of the mass table quantities and the layout of the mass table according to the print preferences.

The steps for printing the *Mass Table* are described in detail below.

Printer Selection – Print Properties Setting

First you must set the print preferences, such as the orientation and the paper size.

How to set the print preferences

1. From the *Print* menu, run the *Mass Table Print* command and then click the 🔛 icon. 2. In the *Print parameters* dialogue box,

Print Setup			? ×
Printer			
<u>N</u> ame:	HP Officejet Pro L7600 Series	•	Properties
Status: Type: Where: Comment:	Ready HP Officejet Pro L7600 Series OfficejetProL7600		
Paper		Orientation	
Sige:	A4 💌		Portrait
Source:	Printer Auto Select	A	C Landscape
Network	_	OK	Cancel

select one of the available printers from the drop-down list of the *Printer* group. The other fields of the group show information about the selected printer, such as the status, the model, the port or the location of the printer, as well as any additional user-defined information – comment.

- 3. To change the print options, click the *Properties* button.
- 4. In the *Size* field (paper size) of the *Paper* group, select from the drop-down list one of the available paper sizes. In the *Source* field, select one of the available paper feed trays.
- 5. In the *Orientation* group, select the orientation of the text on the paper for printers that support landscape orientation (Horizontal) or portrait orientation (Vertical).

If you change the current printer, the settings that are supported by the new printer will be kept, while all other settings will be replaced by the default settings of the new printer.

Mass Table Preview

When you have finished setting the print preferences according to the aforementioned procedure, you can first display the print preview of the *Mass Table* and then print the table.

To preview a Mass Table

1. Click the *Print* button. The *Mass Table Preview* window appears on the screen.

🖁 Mass Table P	review								_O×			
	a 🔊 🖉 🖬		Page	1/1								
				MASS TA	BLE							
1	General Data											
1	Cross section	Chainage	Distance	Applicable	Filli	ngs	Cutt	ings				
1	Name	Position	Between	Length	Area	Volume	Area	Volume				
1	POB	0.000	0.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00				
1	1	20.000	20.00	20.00	40.00	800.00	22.86	457.20				
1	2	40.000	20.00	20.00	2.25	45.00	47.63	952.60				
1	3	60.000	20.00	18.70	1.90	35.52	40.88	764.25				
1	TSI2	77.395	20.00	18.70	7.68	143.58	24.21	452.61				
1	4	97.395	20.00	20.00	18.03	360.60	13.68	273.60				
1	5	117.395	10.00	15.00	9.73	145.95	16.15	242.25				
1	CSI2	127.395	20.00	15.00	8.29	124.35	17.84	267.60				
1	6	147.395	20.00	20.00	9.37	187.40	12.91	258.20				
1	7	167.395	20.00	20.00	7.14	142.80	3.37	67.40				
1	8	187.395	13.93	16.92	18.97	320.88	3.88	65.63				
1	CCI2	201.222	13.03	13.83	22.07	305.23	6.11	84.50				
1	9	215.048	20.00	16.92	16.44	278.08	9.93	167.97	_			
1	10	235.048	20.00	20.00	19.26	385.20	11.39	227.80				
1	11	255.048	20.00	20.00	14.71	294.20	16.63	332.60				
1	SCI2	275.048	20.00	15.00	9.96	149.40	23.92	358.80				
1	12	285.048	20.00	15.00	6.25	93.75	30.27	454.05				
1	13	305.048	20.00	20.00	0.00	0.00	37.49	749.80				
1	STI2	325.048	20.00	20.00	0.00	0.00	28.74	574.80				
1	14	345.048	20.00	20.00	0.04	0.80	11.01	220.20				
1	15	365.048	20.00	20.00	0.65	13.00	11.08	221.60				
1	16	385.048	20.00	20.00	0.00	0.00	14.81	296.20				
1	17	405.048	20.00	20.00	0.00	0.00	15.20	304.00				
1	18	425.048	20.00	20.00	0.00	0.00	17.01	340.20				
	19	445.048	20.00	20.00	0.00	0.00	24.87	497.40	-			
•		405.040	20.00	00.00	0.00	0.00	40.40	000.00				

2. Click the maximize button in the title bar to view the window on full screen.

- 3. This window is comprised of the following items:
- *Preview:* the bottom part of the window where the image of the whole or part of the table's page is displayed.
- *Toolbar:* this is located at the top of the window. It carries the buttons that control the transition from page to page and the modification of the size of the page's

viewable area	D) 🖬 🖬	P	>	D 👄			Pag	ge 1	1/1	
More specifically	tho	huttons	of	tho	toolbar	aro	tho	following	in	order	of

More specifically, the buttons of the toolbar are the following in order of appearance:

- *First page:* Left-click on the first button to view the first page.
- Next page: Left-click on the second button to view the next page.
- Previous page: Left-click on the third button to view the previous page.
- Last Page: Left-click on the fourth button to view the last page.
- *Zoom In:* Left-click on the fifth button to zoom in on the page. The Zoom feature does not affect the print size.
- *Zoom Out:* Left-click on the sixth button to zoom out of the page. The Zoom feature does not affect the print size.

- *Full Frame:* Left-click on the seventh button to return to the original view of the mass table.
- *Print:* Left-click on the eighth button to set the options before printing and to print the Mass Table.
- *Page Information:* This section displays the number of the current page and the number of the total pages of the mass table.

Mass Table Print

You can print the whole *Mass Table* or part of it in one or more copies.

How to print the Mass Table

1. In the preview window, click the 🔛 button.

- 2. In the dialogue box of the *Print* command, make the desired settings.
- 3. Click the *OK* button to start printing the Table.

If desired, you can print only part of the *Mass Table* in more than one copy.

Exporting the Mass Table to Microsoft Excel

You can transfer the Mass Table data to Microsoft Excel for further processing.

How to transfer the Mass Table data to Microsoft Excel

- 1. In the *Mass Haul* dialogue box, click the Export button.
- 2. In the resulting dialogue box, specify the path and the name of the file and click the *Save* button.

9.24 Dimensioning Points - Roadlines

To go to the dimensioning mode, lick the <u>m</u> button on the View toolbar. In the cross section you can see the dimensioning and roadlines points, which determine the dimensions on the printout and create the roadlines in the Horizontal Alighment.



For a point to be taken into account in the printout dimensioning, select the point and from the *Flags definition* form, select *Distance* if you wish to view the distance between two successive points, or *Superelevation* if you want to view the superelevation of the segment to which the point belongs. If you want to view both the *Distance* and the *Superelevation*, select both options.

During cross section calculation *with Typical*, dimensioning is performed automatically if these points have already been defined in the typical cross section.

From the second section of this form you can define how the *Horizontal Alignment* roadlines will be created. More specifically, you can define the cross section points, whose distances from the axis will be transferred to the *Horizontal Alignment* when you run the Update roadlines from *Cross Sections to Horizontal Alignment* command. This kind of definition allows for a fully parametric configuration of the roadlines in the *Horizontal Alignment*, so that the roadlines reflect the calculated structures in the *Cross Sections* in the best possible way.

9.25 Print Setup

In order to print-draw the cross sections, use the commands of the *Print* menu. The commands of this menu are:

Page Setup.
 Print Preferences.
 Cross Section Printing.

These commands must be used in the order they appear in the print menu.

Print Preferences

The cross sections printing settings include the scale, the page margins, the font size on the printout, as well as some more detailed settings. To make the aforementioned settings, run the *Print preferences* command of the *Print* menu. The resulting window has three tabs:

The Configuration tab.
 The Text options tab.
 The Settings tab.

Configuration

Cross Section Printing Pre	eferences		×
Configuration Text options	Settings		
Scales	Distance between cross sections Horizontally (cm) 0.50 Vertically (cm) 0.50	Page margins Top (cm) 0.00 Bottom (cm) 0.00 Left (cm) 0.00 Right (cm) 0.00	
□ 1/ 200 □ 1/ 250 □ 1/ 500	Cross sections per page	Dimensioning Position C on Top C over the Roadway cou (cm) 0.30 C values and arrows	
Road profile H from Profile C Construction C Profile + Dh	Vertical Printing texts Cross section : CROSS SECTIO Scale : SCALE	Terrain limits for printing Image: from construction limits (m) Left Right 2.00 2.00	
Save "Default"	Load "Defauk"	OK	ו

The *Configuration* tab enables you to set multiple scales, so that the program may select the most appropriate one. In the *Scale* group, you can set up to five scales. To enable or disable a scale, tick or untick respectively the check box to the left of the scale. You can also set directly the value of every scale, by typing it in the right check box.

In order to print the cross sections, the program places the cross sections starting from the top left part of the page and continuing down or to the left, depending on your selection in the *Cross section scanning* group. For every cross section, the program checks whether it fits into the available height and width of the page, and if not, it places the cross section by using a lower scale. If the cross section cannot be printed in any scale, then the program adds this cross section to those that do not fit

in the page and proceeds to the next cross section. When printing is completed, the program informs you on the cross sections that were not printed; these cross sections remain selected.

In the *Cross sections per page* group, tick the *Up to* check box and enter the desired value to set the maximum number of cross sections that will be printed on one page. If you wish to print on one page all of the cross sections that fit, tick the *all that fit* check box.

In the *Distance between cross sections* group, set the distances between two cross sections that will be printed on the same page. In the *Horizontally* (cm) and *Vertically* (cm) fields, enter the horizontal and vertical distance, respectively. In the same way (in cm) you can set, if desired, the margins that will be left around the page, by entering the relevant values in the *Top* (cm), *Bottom* (cm), *Left* (cm) and *Right* (cm) fields of the *Page margins* group.

In the *Natural ground printing limits* group, set in meters the natural ground and the topsoil that will be printed left and right to the extremes of the cross section works and from the axis. If you wish to print the whole natural ground, simply enter a high value, e.g. 200. If you tick both check boxes, namely *from construction* (m) or/and *from axis* (m), the program calculates both distances and draws the natural ground up to the longest resulting distance.

The *Dimensioning* group refers to the dimensioning of the cross sections' roadway and to the printing of the superelevations. If you wish to place the dimensions on top of the cross section, tick the *Position* check box. If you wish to place the dimensions at a fixed distance, over the roadway, tick the *Over the roadway* check box and in the field below, enter the distance in centimeters. In the *Superelevations* group, select whether the printout will include only the values of the superelevations or both their values and their arrows.

Road Title	Black	Arial	0.150	ROAD TITLE
Cross section Name-Ch	Black	Arial	0.150	SEC_INFO
Quantities	Black	Arial	0.100	POSOTHTES
Percentages	Black	Arial	0.100	PER_CENT
Dimensioning	Black	Arial	0.100	DIASTASEIS
Reference El.	Black	Arial	0.110	H_REF
Axis data	Black	Arial	0.110	V_AXES
Legend Dx-H	Black	Arial	0.100	DX_H
✓ Frame	Black	Arial	0.100	BOXES
✓ Scale	Black	Arial	0.100	KLIMAKA

Text options

In the *Text options* tab, you can choose which of the available texts will be displayed on the cross section printout, by ticking the respective check boxes. You can also select the font, the font color and the font size. If the cross sections are to be exported in a DXF file, in the same tab you can select the layer to which a text will be exported.

Settings

Cross Section Printing Preferences			×
Configuration Text options Settings			
Appearance order in quantity legend		Appearance order in Dx - H legend	
Available mass table columns	_	Available tasks	
Binder Lourse	- 11	Meadway Design areas	
Precoating	- 11	Dran Layer	
	- 11	Curtaging	
	- 11		
Dase Course	- 11	Turical Slopes	
Sub-Bate Courte	- 11		
	- 11		
		Binder Course	
		Base Course	
Shoulder			
Sideslope Coating			
Outer Gutter Filing		Gutter	
Walls		Outer Wall Filling	
Embankment Laver	-1	Sideslope Coating	
Save "Default" Load "Default"		OK	

This *Settings* tab is comprised of two groups.

In the *Appearance order in quantity legend* group, select the areas or the lengths that will be printed below the name and chainage of the cross section. In the *Appearance order in Dx-H legend* group, select the lines whose coordinates will be printed in a legend below the cross section drawing. Note that these settings are also available in the dialogue box of the *Typical Tasks* command.

The procedure is the same for both groups: If you want to print a quantity or a task, tick the check box next to its name. If you wish to change the order of appearance on the printout, use the mouse to select the desired quantity or task, and then dragand-drop it to the desired position.

9.26 Cross Sections Printing

To print cross sections, run the *Print cross sections* command of the *Print* menu.

Print Cross	Sections				×
👔 🥰					
Selected c	ross sections (0/35			Cross section selection
C.Section	Chainage	Bran	Typ. Cross Section		Chainage from: 0.000 to: 630.429
POB	0+000.00	1	View3D		
Ø 1	0+020.00	1	View3D	_	Tup Cross Section View3D
V 2	0+040.00	1	View3D		
V 3	0+060.00	1	View3D		
V TSI2	0+077.39	1	View3D		Branches (e) one branch () two branches
Ø 4	0+097.39	1	View3D		
Ø 5	0+117.39	1	View3D		C C Select Deselect
CSI2	0+127.39	1	View3D	_	
Ø 6	0+147.39	1	View3D		Information
V 7	0+167.39	1	View3D		
V 8	0+187.39	1	View3D		
🕑 CCI2	0+201.22	1	View3D		
9 📎	0+215.05	1	View3D		
V 10	0+235.05	1	View3D		
11	0+255.05	1	View3D		
SCI2	0+275.05	1	View3D		
12	N+285 N5	1	View3D	-	Print Exit

The buttons at the top of the resulting window open the dialogue boxes for setting the print preferences and the page setup preferences, respectively. From the *Selected cross sections* and *Cross section selection* groups, select the cross sections that will be printed.

To preview and then print the selected cross sections, click the *Print* button. A window will appear on the screen, showing the print preview for the selected cross sections.

To print the cross sections drawing, click the 🔛 button in the preview window. The dialogue box of the *Print* command opens and you can make your last settings before printing the cross sections. Next, click the *OK* button to start printing.

To close the preview window, click the *Exit* button. The *Information* group shows you how many cross sections have been selected, how many pages are required for printing the selected cross sections, and how many cross sections fit in the page margins, according to the page setup. If you printed the cross sections (not just previewed them), then only the cross sections that didn't fit in the page margins will remain selected, otherwise all cross sections that you selected before the preview will remain selected until you print them.

9.27 Data Export

Exporting Lines to an ASCII File

The cross sections' lines can be saved in an external text file.

How to export the cross sections' lines to an ASCII file

1. From the File menu, select the Export to ASCII submenu and run the Lines command.

2. The following dialogue box appears on the screen:

ave Lines b	o ASCII					2
Selected cr	oss sections l	0/35			Save line Save point	
C.Section	Chainage	Bran	Typ. Cross Section	-		
POB	0+000.00	1	View3D		Line to save	S/N
V 1	0+020.00	1	View3D		AGD Artificial Ground	■ 1 ÷
V 2	0+040.00	1	View3D			
V 3	0+060.00	1	View3D		File with Sx - H	
🕑 TSI2	0+077.39	1	View3D		to the worst th	
V 4	0+097.39	1	View3D		C File with Dx - Dh	
V 5	0+117.39	1	View3D		C File with XYH	
CSI2	0+127.39	1	View3D			
V 6	0+147.39	1	View3D		All points	
V 7	0+167.39	1	View3D		C Selected	
V 8	0+187.39	1	View3D			
CCI2	0+201.22	1	View3D		From start On	axis From end
V 9	0+215.05	1	View3D			
V 10	0+235.05	1	View3D			
V 11	0+255.05	1	View3D			
🕑 SCI2	0+275.05	1	View3D			
V 12	0+285.05	1	View3D			
V 13	0+305.05	1	View3D			
V STI2	0+325.05	1	View3D			
V 14	0+345.05	1	View3D	-		
Cross section	on selection					
		0.000				
Chain	age from :	0.000	to : 630.425	1		
_						
	€ <u>₹</u> (0.0	Select Dese	lect		Cause Eucl
-						Save Exit

From the *Selected cross sections* and *Cross section selection* groups, select the cross sections whose lines will be included in the new file.

3. Next, open the *Export line* tab and select the line you wish to export as well as the file type. Select the line from the Line to save drop-down list and in the S/N field enter the line's serial number, in case that a cross section has more than one lines of the same typical task. If the value you enter is 0, then all cross section's lines of the selected typical task will be exported. In this case, the points between the lines are separated in the text file by a set of two numbers, -98765 -98765. This separation is also taken into account when importing multiple lines from a text file. You can create three types of files. The File with Dx - H option results in a file, in which the line coordinates are determined according to the distance from the axis and the absolute elevation. With the File with Dx - Dh option, the line coordinates are determined according to the distance from the axis and the elevation discrepancy from the profile elevation in the cross section. Finally, when the File with X, Y, H option is selected, the coordinates of the lines' points are determined according to the Horizontal Alighment of the road. If you select the All points option, the resulting file contains all points of the selected line. If you select the Selected option, the resulting file contains up to three points, depending on the

ticked check boxes. One of these points is on the axis and the other two are defined from the start or/and the end of the line. The points in the file appear in ascending order according to the chainage, and the points of the same cross section are shown from left to right.

- 4. After you have set all parameters, click the *Export* button. Specify the path and the name of the file you wish to create.
- 5. Click on *OK* to create the file. The lines' coordinates will be exported to the specified file that will have the ACS extension.

How to export one line point per cross section to an ASCII file

From the *File* menu, select the *Export to ASCII* submenu and run the *Lines* command. The following dialogue box appears on the screen:

Save Lines to ASCII		×
Selected cross sections 0/35		Save line Save point
C.Section Chainage Bra	an Typ. Cross Section 🔺	Save point
POB 0+000.00 1	View3D	C από γραμμή αναφοράς
♥ 1 0+020.00 1	View3D	Η : από γραμμή αναφοράς Α/Α
2 0+040.00 1	View3D	NGD Natural Ground
3 0+060.00 1	View3D	
✓ TSI2 0+077.39 1	View3D	Δж: 0
	View3D	0.750
	View3D	💓 απο αξονα (3.700 m
✓ CSI2 0+127.39 1	View3D	C από διάγραμμα
	View3D	Superelevation diagram, left
	View3D	
	View3D	 Avia (bab) uponition arritration
✓ CCI2 0+201.22 1	View3D	C από σημείο αναφοράς 1 🔮
	View3D	
✓ 10 0+235.05 1	View3D	από σημαία
✓ 11 0+255.05 1	View3D	Η και Δχ από
SCI2 0+275.05 1	View3D	L. Pavement
€ 12 0+285.05 1	View3D	
€ 13 0+305.05 1	View3D	- File Format
STI2 0+325.05 1	View3D	C with Day H C with Day Dh C with MAH
	View3D 🔹	
Cross section selection	10 to : 630.429	0.000 m
- ex c4	Select Deselect	Save Exit

From the *Selected cross sections* and *Cross section selection* groups select the cross sections whose points will be exported to the new file.

Next, open the *Export point* tab. You can export a point in two ways: either by specifying directly the point or by setting the point's distance from the axis. Both ways are explained in detail below:

Directly:

- Select the reference line and from the *from reference point* field, enter directly the number of the reference line's point that you wish to export (-1 for the last point, -2 for the last but one point, etc.).
- With the *from flag* option, the point to be exported is the one you have already marked with a flag in the cross section (e.g. Pavement, Roadway, etc.). Indirectly:
- By selecting the reference line and then the *from axis* option, you can set directly the point's distance from the axis. When the point is located to the right of the axis, the distance has positive values. When the point is located to the left of the axis, the distance has negative values.

• By selecting the reference line and then the *from diagram* option, the point's distance from the axis will be determined according to the diagram's values. If you wish to increase the distance determined from the diagram, enter the value of the additional distance into the *Dx* field. If you are referring to the left side and the diagram's values are positive (e.g. pavement width, roadway width), tick the *Invert diagram signs* check box.

The *Point displacement* option enables you to move the selected point on the cross section according to the distance that you enter in the relevant field; the displacement does not affect the point's elevation.

After you have set all parameters, click the *Export* button. Specify the path and the name of the new file and click *OK* to create the file.

You can also export the following items to an ASCII file:

- *Percentage Export:* This command exports the percentages of every cross section. The resulting file will have the .APS extension and shall include the Cross section name, the Chainage, and the percentages of the Soil, the Semi-Rock and the Rock.
- *Cross Sections Data:* With this command you can view in a file all of a cross section's data. The file will have the .TXT extension and shall include the Cross section name, the Chainage, the X and H of the ground (point on axis), the Azimuth, the cross section Angle, the cross section Distance from the main axis, the Oblique width of the left and right pavement, and the Oblique width of the left and right roadway.
- *Calculation Data:* This type of export allows you to view in a table the way in which the cross sections have been calculated. The resulting file has the .TXT extension and includes the following information: the Cross section name, the Chainage, whether or not the chainage has been calculated, the Calculation way (with Typical or with Points), the Typical cross section that has been used, the Paving left and right to the axis, the left and right Sideslopes, as well as whether there is a left and right Guardrail.
- Applied Walls: This command exports all data of the applied walls. The resulting file will have the .TXT extension and shall include the Cross section name, the Chainage, the Side to which the wall has been applied, the wall height, and the wall type (Filling/ Cutting).

Exporting Files to DXF

From the dialogue box of the *Typical Tasks* command of the *Parameters* menu, you can select the form and the appearance of the lines, as well as the lines that will be exported to the DXF file and the layer to which they will be exported.

The form of all other elements that will be exported, is defined from the dialogue box of the *Print Preferences* command of the *Print menu*. Type the names of the layers for every category of elements in the respective *Dxf layer* text box.

How to export data to a DXF file

- 1. From the *File* menu, select *Export to DXF*.
- 2. Select the desired cross sections from the dialogue box that appears on the screen. From the *Selected cross sections* and *Cross Section Selection* groups, select the cross sections that will be printed.
- 3. Click the *Export to Dxf* button. The *Export Cross Sections to Dxf* window will open, showing you a preview of the cross sections. The window is similar to the *Print Cross Sections* window and most icons are the same in both windows. The only difference here is the *Dxf Export* icon instead of the printer icon.
- 4. Click this icon and in the resulting dialogue box, enter the name of the DXF file in the *File Name* field.
- 5. In the *File Type* field, select the type of the file according to the desired version, 14

or 2000.

6. Finally, click *Save* to complete the creation of the file.

All of the selected cross section will be included in the same DXF file. The layout will be the one that you have selected in the *Print Preferences*. Before exporting the file, you must have also set the correct drawing scale, which also determines the font size. Throughout the program, the data size (names, terrain point elevations, PI names, station names and any other text) is given in cm. In a DXF file, this size is translated into "universal" m. The conversion takes place by using the drawing scale.

Chapter 100

10 Composite Cross Sections

10.1 Horizontal Alignment

The composite cross sections presuppose that at least one or more roads (dependent – secondary) in the Horizontal Alignment workspace must have cross sections on the extension of another road's (main road) cross sections. To create composite cross sections, proceed as follows:

After the creation of the roads (main and secondary or only secondary) and the stationing of the main road, you must proceed to the stationing of the secondary road based on the main one. To do this, from the *Road Design* menu, select the *Stationing* submenu and then run the *Stationing (Partial/Dependent)* command. In the resulting window,

Stationing	×
From Ch To Ch	
Depending on road	
Station Orientation Perpendicular to second 45	
C Perpendicular to main road C With central projection	
OK Cance	

select whether the dependent stationing will be applied to the whole secondary road or to a specific part of it. This part is defined in the *From Ch.* and *To Ch.* fields. Tick the *Depending on road* field to choose the road based on which the stationing of the secondary road will take place.

In the *Station Orientation* group, select one of the available options:

• *Perpendicular to main road:* With this option, the cross sections of the secondary road become extensions of the main road's cross sections. In the *Maximum angle* field, enter the maximum allowable angle from the perpendicular to the secondary road's axis; the cross sections that have an angle higher than this value will not be inserted in the secondary road.



• *Perpendicular to secondary road:* With this option, the positions of the main road's cross sections are projected to the secondary road. The resulting cross sections are perpendicular to the secondary road. This type of dependent stationing does not generally result in composite cross sections.



• With central projection: If you select this option, then, apart from selecting the main road on which stationing will be based, you must also select another road –

axis, on which central projection will be based. With this option, the cross sections that will be created in the secondary road can be used for the creation of composite cross sections. The resulting composite cross sections will be placed at two intersecting levels, whose sections will be vertical lines, passing from the points of intersection with the central projection axis.



Next, the appropriate updates must be carried out separately for every road, from the Horizontal Alignment to Profile and from the Horizontal Alignment to Cross Sections. Then you must create the composite cross sections from the main road. To do this, select the main road, open the *Project* menu, run the *Manage* command and in the Update group, select from *Horizontal Alignment to Composite Cross Sections*.

10.2 Profile

An important tool for studying the profiles of roads that are involved in the creation of composite cross sections is the *New Tangent Curve from projection* command of the *Profile* menu. This command enables you to view the road profile of a secondary road in the current profile.

The elevation can be calculated either directly from the road profile of the secondary road or from the road profile diagram that exists in the horizontal alignment of the secondary road.

Note that a road's cross sections do not always depend on the other road.

For the aforementioned operation, open the *Profile* menu and run the *New Tangent Curve from projection* command. The resulting window that appears on the screen,

🗑 Select road	×
Height from projection (Horizontally)	
From Horizontal Alignment From Profile	
Road 3	
Cancel OK	

has two tabs, which include all of the project's available roads. To update using the data of the road profile diagram of the Horizontal Alignment, select the road that is displayed in the *From Horizontal Alignment* tab. To update using the data of the road profile curve of the profile workspace, select the corresponding road in the *From Profile* tab. Click the *OK* button to confirm your selection and return to the *Profile* workspace, or click *Cancel* to undo your selections.

10.3 Cross Sections

In the cross section's workspace of every road, you will notice that the axis of the other road appears at the positions of the composite cross sections. The axis of the current road appears in red, while the axes of all other roads appear in blue.

After the calculation of cross sections (separately for every road), you will notice that the outline of the every separately calculated cross sections appears in the cross sections space. To view the composite cross sections, you must go to the respective workspace either by using the drop-down list in the *View* toolbar, or by clicking the respective button at the bottom of the screen (in the same way that you are transferred to the cross sections of a road).

The *Oblique Widths* must be used for the dependent cross sections (of the secondary road), so that the widths, which are increased due to the obliquity of the cross section, as well as the superelevations and slopes are defined more accurately. For the batch calculation of the cross sections with the use of the oblique values, select *Calculation* from the *Batch Actions* menu and then open the *Paving-Slopes* tab to enable the *Use oblique values* option. If you want to apply the oblique values to a

particular cross section, click the 🖄 button.

After you have selected the cross sections of the secondary road by using the oblique values, keep in mind that the values of the typical cross section will be distorted (e.g. encasing solids, paveway – shoulder superelevation, sideslopes slopes).

Cross Sections Composition

In the *Composite Cross Sections* workspace, you will notice that a new menu *(Composite)* appears next to the *Batch Actions*; this *Composite* menu is enabled only if you are currently on the composite road. Therefore, to display all calculated cross sections in the composite cross sections space, from the *Composite* menu select the *Update Composite Cross Sections* command. To update only the current cross section,

from the same menu select *Update Composite* or click the button. All lines of the calculated cross sections of both roads will appear on the screen.

Composite Cross Section Preferences

To define the preferences for the calculation of composite cross sections, from the *Composite* menu select the *Composites' Preferences* command. In the resulting window that appears on the screen,
Cro	ss Section preferences 13
Г	Road calculation order
	Road
	Road 4
	Road 5
L	
	Artificial ground calculation
	• unique one
	🔿 one per road
	ПК

you can select the *Road calculation order* and the method that will be used for the composition of the cross sections.

To change the road calculation order, select the road (e.g. Road 1) and drag it below Road 2, if, for example, you want Road 1 to be the second road that will be calculated. If you want to disable a road so that it does not appear at all in the *Composites* workspace, left-click in the relevant check box to untick it. In the *Composite cross section with* group, select a unique artificial ground if you want the cross sections to have a single artificial ground line, or select many different artificial grounds, if you want the composite cross sections to have different artificial grounds.

Click the *OK* button to confirm the changes and return to the *Composite Cross Sections* workspace.

To set the preferences for a particular cross section, from the Composite menu select

Cross section preferences or click the button. The same window appears, only this time the changes you are making are applied only to the current cross section.

After the update of the composite cross section and the setting of the preferences, you can proceed to cross section calculation by running the *Calculation* command of the *Batch Actions* menu. Now all composite cross sections will have been calculated *with Points*. You will notice that some green dashed lines have appeared on the screen. These lines demarcate the boundaries of every cross section's ground, so that splitting may take place on the proper axis when you update the individual spaces from the composite cross sections. You can also enter a splitting axis manually, by clicking

the **button**.

Additional Features

The *Composite* menu offers the following additional options:

- *Update Individuals from Composites:* This command updates the individual cross sections from the composite ones.
- *Synchronize Typical Tasks:* With this option, you can synchronize the typical tasks of the composite road with the ones of the individual roads.
- *Recreate Links:* Use the link recreation option when you make certain modifications (such as deletion or update from the horizontal alignment) in the cross sections of the secondary road and you want to update the composites.

Sending Lines

Another feature is the exchange of lines between the roads that comprise the composite road. To do this, run the *Send Lines (Comp. Cross Sections)* commands of the *Batch Actions* menu. The following window will appear on the screen:

lected cr	oss sections	0/35			Sending elements	
.Section	Chainage	Bran	Typ. Cross Section		Line to be sent	A/
POB	0+000.00	1	* Points *		AGD Artificial Ground	- 1
1	0+020.00	1	* Points *	-	0 H 1	
12	0+040.00	1	× Points ×		to by lask C by Par	
13	0+060.00	1	" Points "		Available roads to send line to	
🜗 TSI2	0+077.39	1	* Points *		Read 1	
4 🌗	0+097.39	1	* Points *			
15	0+117.39	1	* Points *		Boad 5	
CSI2	0+127.39	1	× Points ×		Read & (Composite)	
9 🛯	0+147.39	1	" Points "		hoad 4 (composite)	
17	0+167.39	1	× Points ×			
8 🌗	0+187.39	1	* Points *			
🐌 CC12	0+201.22	1	* Points *			
9 9	0+215.05	1	* Points *			
10 🜗	0+235.05	1	* Points *			
11 🕒	0+255.05	1	× Points ×			
📗 SCI2	0+275.05	1	" Points "			
12	0+285.05	1	* Points *	•		
ross sectio	n selection					
Chain	age from	0.000	to : 630.42			
🗍 Тур. С	iross Section	View30)	-		
Branc	hes	🖲 one bi	ranch 🕐 two branch	es		
			star [p.u			
L.	6 V (248]	Select Desel	set	Send	Exit

In the *Line to be sent* field of the *Sending elements* group, select from the available lines of the drop-down list the line you wish to send from the composite cross sections to another road (or roads). In the *S/N* field, enter the serial number of the line that will be sent to another road. The S/N matters only if the selected line is a line that can be found in a cross section more than once (-1 to select the last line, -2 to select the last but one line etc.). To send lines of the same typical task or family, enter 0 in the *S/N* field and then select one of the two options (*by Task* or *by Family*). In the *Available roads to send line* to group, select the road to which the selected line will be sent. Click the *Send* button to send the line. Click the *Exit* button to close the dialogue box and return to the *Cross Sections* workspace.

11 Typical Cross Sections

11.1 Overview

In general, there are three ways to create a project's typical cross sections in *Anadelta Tessera*. In the first way, cross sections are created automatically from the *Horizontal Alignment* workspace and, apart from the natural ground line in every cross section, they also include the pavement width diagram, the superelevation diagram and the shoulder width diagram. In the second way, cross sections result from the data of the *Profile* workspace. In the third way, the user inserts the cross section is inserted either collectively from ASCII files (e.g. ACS files), or by the user, separately for every cross section. In all of the aforementioned cases, the user can either select to calculate the cross sections based on a typical cross section, or to insert the data of the other cross sections' lines (artificial ground, paving layers, etc.) manually.

Every cross section project has a library of typical cross sections, which are displayed in the *Typical selection* drop-down list, in the left part of the *Typical Cross Section Data* window. To open the *Typical Cross Section Data window*, go to the typical cross sections workspace by clicking the *Typicals* button at the top of the *Cross Section Data* window. To return to the cross sections workspace, click the *Cross Sections* button.

A typical cross section can be either created in the typical cross sections workspace or imported from a file (*.ATD or *.ADF). To import a typical cross section from a file, go to the *Cross Sections* workspace, open the *File* menu, select the *Import* submenu and run the *Typ. Cross Sections* command.

You can also save one or more typical cross sections in an external file, in order to use them in another project or keep them as a backup copy. To do this, go to the *File* menu, open the *Export* submenu and run the *Typ. Cross Sections* command.

A typical cross section has two formations, one for the filling and one for the cutting. The program enables you to define separately the left and the right part of the cross section for each one of these two formations. Besides, a typical cross section can be either defined in an absolute way, namely with specific widths and superelevations, or in a dynamic way, according to the respective diagrams.

When a typical cross section is applied to – calculated in a cross section of the project, it is actually adjusted to the data of the current cross section. This applies especially to the dynamic typical cross sections, whose values (widths, superelevations, etc.) depend on diagrams. These typicals are adjusted to every cross section according to their chainage and to the diagram values for the particular chainage.

11.2 Operations

To describe the typical cross section mode, we must create a new file.

Left-click on the *Typicals* button to enable the typical cross sections' creation and editing mode and to display one of the typical cross sections that are included in our project:



This mode enables you to create and test a typical cross section, by making separately the settings for all main parts of the typical.

The program screen in the *Typicals* workspace is very similar to the window of the *Cross Sections* workspace and has the same menus. The difference here is that certain commands of the *Actions, Parameters* and *Print* menus are disabled. This window also features the main toolbar and the View toolbar. The *Cross Sections* toolbar has only one button, the one that creates the line.

A new window appears now in the left part of the program screen (in the same place where the Cross Section Data window appeared in the *Cross Sections* workspace). This is the *Typical Cross Section Data* management window, which is very similar to the previous one.

a nj branch 2				
not applied.				
Calculation				
Topsoil Selected Drawings Tests Pavings Levels Sideslopes Branches				
Defaults Left Filing Pickt				
In. Le. In. Bi.				
Inner 💌 Inner 💌				
Left Cutting Right Cut Lined Tr. V Cut Lined Tr. V In. Le. In. Bi.				
Paving				
1 Fil				
2 Inner				
3 Fil Lined Tr.				
4 Cut Lined Tr.				
5 Fil Join.				

The management window is primary, since here you can make most of the settings referring to a typical cross section, while you can also view all values of the calculation parameters for the current typical cross section. The name of the current typical cross section (the one you see on your screen) is displayed in the *Typical Cross Section Selection* drop-down list of the window. Exactly below this list, there is a number, showing you to how many cross sections the current typical cross section has already been applied in your current project.

If you wish to enlarge the drawing area, you may choose not to display the management window. To do

this, click the Dutton in the View toolbar. If you wish to display again the *Typical Cross Section Data* window, click again the same button. When the management window is closed, the name of the typical cross section appears in blue letters at the top left of the drawing area.

The message window is displayed at the bottom of the screen and exactly below you can see the status bar, just like in the *Cross Sections* workspace.

When defining the typical cross section, and generally every time you define slopes or superelevations, the values must be entered in percentages, while every time you define distances, elevations, Dx, Dy values, they must be entered in meters. E.g., for a 2/3 or 1/1.5 slope (where 2/3 is the ratio of y/x) enter 66,6666 or for a 1:1 slope enter 100, while for a 3:1 slope enter 300).

11.3 Management

Importing Typical Cross Sections from a File

To import typical cross sections from an external file into the current project, use the *Typ. Tasks* command of the *Import* submenu of the *File* menu. You can import typical cross sections either from another project of *Anadelta Tessera* (*.ADF), or from a typical cross sections text file. Note that the typical cross sections text files that are exported from *Anadelta Tessera* have the *.ATD extension.

How to import typical cross sections from another file

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Import* submenu and run the *Typ. Cross Sections* command.
- 2. The *Open* dialogue box appears on the screen. From the *File Type* field, select the type of file (*.ATD or* .ADF), then select the desired file and click *Open*.

Creation of Typical Cross Sections Files (*.ATD)

You can save one or more cross sections of a project in the program's external library (*C*:*Program Files**Anadelta**Tessera**Csec*) as a typical cross sections file. The default extension of these files is .ATD.

How to export typical cross sections to a text file

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Export* submenu and run the *Typ. Cross Sections* command.
- 2. The *Save* dialogue box appears on the screen. Enter the name of the file and then click the *Save* button.

Changing the Name of a Typical Cross Section

To change the name of the current typical cross section, click the *Name Change* button in the toolbar at the top of the management window. In the resulting dialogue box,

Change name of "a nj branch 2	" <u>×</u>
Typical cross section name a nj branch 2	
ОК	Cancel

type the new name in the relevant field. Now the new name will be displayed in the typical cross section selection list.

Typical Cross Section Selection

To select a typical cross section of the project, use the drop-down list in the *Typical Cross Section Data* window.

This is the *Typical Selection* list, where you can see the name of the current typical cross section. If you left-click on the list, a menu appears with all typical cross sections of the current project, and you can choose the typical you wish to edit. When you select a typical cross section, below the list you can see whether this typical has been applied or not to any of the current project's cross sections.

TypicalCross Section Creation

By default, every new file contains some typical cross sections. You can use these typicals as they are or you can edit them in order to meet the requirements of your projects. In addition, you can create as many new typical cross sections as you want.

How to create a new typical cross section

- 1. From the *Typical Cross Section Data* window, click the *New Typical Cross Section* button.
- 2. In the resulting dialogue box that appears on the screen, enter the data of the new typical cross section (name).
- 3. When you have finished, click the *OK* button to create the new typical cross section.

The clicking of this button creates a new typical cross section, which is an identical copy of the one that was the current typical cross section before you started the creation process. The new typical cross section will be displayed in the drawing area and in the *Typical Selection* drop-down list.

Deleting a Typical Cross Section

To delete a typical cross section, click the *Delete Typical* command in the typical cross sections management window. In the confirmation message that appears, click *Yes* to confirm that you wish to delete the typical cross section, otherwise click *No*.

11.4 Main Parts

A typical cross section is comprised of certain main parts, which can be defined in a number of ways. These main parts are described below.

The simplest form of a typical cross section has only the Artificial Ground line. An example of such a typical cross section is shown below:



Select it to display the cross section. To view the cutting and filling formations, click the void or the button, respectively. The Artificial Ground is comprised of a single line. The top part of the line (the one where the paving layers are seated) is the ledge, while the side sloped parts are the sideslopes. To view the ledge parts, click

the 🖳 button. The reason for this distinction is that the points of the Artificial Ground's ledge line are defined in a different way than the sideslopes points.

The number of a typical cross section's branches is defined in the *Branches* tab. The type of the branches is not binding, since the same typical may be used for cross sections with one or two branches.

When the two branches option has been selected, you can view on the screen the left and right semiaxes, as well as the formations of the typical inside the branches. To better understand the aforementioned information, from the drop-down list select the typical cross section A nj b2:



The cross section that is displayed, corresponds to the single-branch formation. Next, from the *Typical cross section points* window, open the *Branches* tab. In this tab, choose the *two branches option*.

Now you can see on your screen what the typical's formation will appear when applied as a two- branch typical:



Therefore, you can use this typical in your project both as a single-branch typical and as a two-branch typical.

In the *Sideslopes* tab, enter the sideslope slopes for the current typical cross section. In a typical cross section, you must define the minimum sideslope slopes both for the cutting and for the filling. The sideslope slopes are not unique, meaning that in the same typical, you can enter different sets of sideslope slopes and use them accordingly when the typical is applied to your road's cross sections. For example, in the A nj b2 typical cross section, two different sideslope formations have been defined for the cutting. In the *Sideslopes* tab at the bottom of the window, you can see the available sideslope formations for the cuttings and for the fillings. Display the formation

of the cross section in a cutting by clicking the \searrow button and from the *Left Cutting* drop-down list select a different sideslope formation. The selected formation appears to the left of the cross section. To restore the cross section in its original state, select from the drop-down list its previous formation.

The meaning of the term paving in this manual and in the program includes all of a cross section's elements on the Artificial Ground (paving layers, shoulders, encasing solids, etc.), as well as the Artificial ground ledge. The left and right paving formation is not unique. Namely, in the same typical you can define various paving formations, which can be applied during the calculation of your project's cross sections. Select, for example, the typical cross section A nj b2. Next, from the *Typical Cross section Data* window, select the *Pavings* tab. At the bottom of the window, you can see the available pavings, which can be applied whether the cross section is in a cutting or in a filling. In the *Left Filling* drop-down list of the *Defaults* group, select *Fill Lined*. instead of *Fill Lined Tr*.. A new formation will be displayed in the drawing area, with a triangular ditch and a different shoulder formation. Note that although a typical cross section supports many different paving formations, all pavings must always have the same number of layers and their layers must have the same thickness.

11.5 Tests

Through the tests we can see how the typical cross section behaves in various superelevations and widths values; these values are taken from the virtual diagrams that simulate here the true superelevation and width values to which the current typical cross will be applied. Please note that the typical cross section is not modified during the tests, it is only adapted to-tested in various diagram values. When the *Tests* tab is selected, the layout of the *Typical Cross Section Data* window is displayed as shown below:

Pavings Levels Sideslopes Branches				
Topsoil Selected Drawings Tests				
Axis Profile				
Left Semiaxis Right Semiaxis				
Left Right Semi-cross section				
2.5% 2.5%				
Right existing road supere				

More specifically, you can change (\checkmark to increase or \blacktriangleright to decrease the value) the axis position, the distance of the left and right semiaxis (two-branch cross sections), the roadway width and the pavement width. In a similar way, you can also change (to decrease \checkmark or \blacktriangle to increase the value) the profile elevation and the half-cross section elevation. The values of these sizes can vary for the two sides of the road, this is why there are two sets of buttons, one for each side. Every time you change a value, the typical cross section drawing changes accordingly. To view the current value of a particular size, place and leave the mouse pointer over one of the buttons that control this size.

At the bottom of the tab there are three buttons S. Use the first button to change the superelevations of the road, like on a left turn. By clicking the second button, the superelevations get their values on the tangent, while the third button changes the superelevations like on a right turn.

At the bottom of the tab you will find the subtraction which opens a dialogue box; in this box you can choose the desired diagram and enter directly the desired values. Finally, from the drop-down list at the bottom of the tab, you can choose any of the user-created diagrams and with the assistance of the buttons on the left of the list you can decrease or increase their values.

11.6 Creation and Insertion of Levels

Every typical cross section is divided horizontally into levels (layers). The levels of the typical cross section represent the true paving layers and any change in the levels is the only reason for the creation of a new typical cross section.

Namely, you will have to create a new typical cross section or to modify the existing one only if you wish to change the number or the thickness of the typical cross section's layers in a part of your project. If you wish to change the branches, the sideslope slopes, the formation of the paving layers or the formation of the shoulder, to change the encasing solids or to insert ditches, etc., you don't have to create a new typical cross section.

Every typical cross section has at least one level that includes by default the Artificial Ground ledge; this is the bottom level. You can define as many additional levels as you wish, namely as many as the desired paving layers of your typical cross section.

Topsoil Selected Drawings Tests				
Pavings Levels Sideslopes branches				
	Level	Thickne	Uniform	
1	Level 1	0.040	~	
2	Level 2	0.050	~	
3	Level 3	0.050	~	
4	Level 4	0.100	~	
5	Level 5	0.100	~	
6	Level 6	0.100	=	
7	Level 7	0.100	-	
8	Level 8	0.350	-	
9	Level 9	0.000	~	

In the *Levels* tab, you can define the number of the paving layers and the thickness of each paving layer, but you cannot define the number and the positions of the paving layer's points. You can do this in the drawing area, by opening the *Pavings* tab and running the *Edit point* command.

To insert the layers, click the \square button. Click the button as many times as the desired number of layers. The order in which the layers appear in the *Levels* tab, from top to bottom, signifies their order by elevation. The elevation of the axis (profile elevation) is applied to the axis of the highest layer.

If there are already some layers and you create a new one, the new layer will have the same characteristics as the layer that you had selected before creating the new one and it will be added exactly below the selected layer.

For every layer you must define the following:

• *Thickness:* Set the thickness of each layer at its axis. To set the thickness, in the *Thickness* column and in the field that is on the same row with the layer's name, type the value in meters.

• *Uniform:* If your typical has two branches, you must specify whether a layer is uniform, namely whether a layer is common to both branches. In case that the current typical cross section has two branches, a third column, the *Uniform* column is displayed in the *Levels* tab. Double-click in the field of this column to make the respective layer uniform or not. This action does not affect the use of the layer in the single-branch cross section.

To delete a layer, select the layer's field and click the \bowtie button. Keep in mind that you cannot delete the last/bottom layer, which corresponds to the Artificial Ground line.

To specify the *Layer Material*, namely the material that the layer will be made of, you must change the typical task to which the layer belongs. You can do this in the drawing area, by opening the *Properties* command window. After you have selected the line, open the command's window by pressing the *F11* key or by running the command from the menu that is displayed if you click the right mouse button. Change the material from the drop-down list of the *Task* property, which contains all typical tasks that have been created in the relevant window.

11.7 Setting the Branches

The typical cross section can be defined as single (one branch) or with two branches. In *Anadelta Tessera*, you can use the same typical both for the parts where the road has a single branch and for the parts where the road has two branches.

Here we must underline that the definition of a typical cross section as a single-branch cross section or a two-branch cross section is not binding. It only means that the semiaxes of the branches are displayed in the drawing area and that you can insert lines into the inner pavings. During cross section calculation, your choice is applied as default, but you can change it for certain cross sections.

Topsoil Selected Drawings Tests Pavings Levels Sideslopes Branches
C Single branch Road profile el. 0.000 V from Profile
Two branches
Left Branch
Road profile el.
0.000 🔽 from Profile
Axis Dx 1.000 F from Diagram
Right Branch
Road profile el.
0.000 🔽 from Profile
Axis Dx 1.000 from Diagram

To set the number of branches, open the Branches tab and tick the *Single branch* check box for a typical with one branch or the *Two branches* check box for a typical with two branches. Any change in the number of branches will be reflected immediately in the typical's drawing area. In the case of a two-branch typical, both semiaxes are displayed on the screen.

If you select the two branches option, the *Left Inner Pav.* and *Right Inner Pav.* dropdown lists are enabled in the *Pavings* tab, both for the cutting and for the filling. From these drop-down lists, select the formations that the layers will have on the inner sides of the two branches; this formation refers to the pavings.

Setting the Road Profile Elevation for the Branches

You can set the road profile elevation either in an absolute way or according to the profile diagram. In the first case, type the road profile elevation in the *Road Profile el.* text field; in the second case, tick the respective *From Profile* check box. Do the same separately for every branch if the typical has two branches.

The road profile elevation is always applied to the cross section axis and at the highest level. If the cross section has two branches, then the road profile elevation is defined and applied separately to every branch. If you wish the profile elevation to be applied lower or higher than the value of the road profile diagram, type the relevant distance (in meters) in the *Road Profile el.* text field. In this case, the roadway

elevation of the cross section to which the typical will be applied, will be the algebraic sum of the user-defined value and the value that the road profile diagram has at the chainage of the particular cross section. Note that a positive distance value shifts the cross section upwards, while a negative value shifts the cross section downwards.

Distance of the Semiaxes of a Two-Branch Typical

The distance of the left or right semiaxis of a two-branch typical cross section can be either fixed or it may depend on a diagram (Dx of left or right semiaxis). In the first case, type in the *Axis Dx* text field the desired distance (in meters), while in the second case tick the *from Diagram* check box. To combine the above two cases, enter a zero value in the text field and at the same time tick the check box. In this way, the distance of the semiaxes in every cross section will be the algebraic sum of the value in the text field and the value of the Dx of left or right semiaxis diagram at the respective chainage.

11.8 Sideslopes

When defining the typical cross section, you must set the sideslopes, both for the fillings and for the cuttings. To define the formation of the sideslopes, open the *Sideslopes* tab.

As mentioned earlier, a typical cross section may contain multiple sideslope formations. To define a sideslope formation, set the sequence of the sideslope's slopes.

Te Pa	Topsoil Selected Drawings Tests Pavings Levels Sideslopes Branches					
	Defaults Filing Left Right Fill 3 slopes ▼ Fill 3 slopes ▼					
	ft Cutting Right at Cut I					
	X 🛛					
	Sideslope Formation					
1	Fill 3 slopes					
2	Cut					
3	Fil 2:3					
4	Fill Vert.					
5	Cut Vert.					

At the bottom of this tab, you will see all the existing sideslope formations for the current typical cross section. Every typical cross section must have at least two sideslope formations, one for the filling and one for the cutting. To create a new formation, select one of the formations that are listed in the table (e.g. Filling 1:3,

1:2, 2:3) and click the *lul* button. A new formation, which is a copy of the selected one, will be displayed on the screen. The initial name of this new formation is comprised of the word New and the name of the sideslope formation that you had selected before clicking the button (e.g. New Filling 1:3, 1:2, 2:3). To change the name of the formation, simply type the new name in the formation's field. When you have finished, press *Enter* to confirm the name. To delete a formation from the table,

select the desired formation and click the \Join button.

In the *Defaults* group, define the sideslope formations that you wish they are applied by default to the current typical cross section, both for the left and for the right part, as well as for the cutting and for the filling. The formations are selected from the respective drop-down lists of this group. The selected sideslope formation is applied instantly and appears in the workspace of the typical cross section. The default sideslope formations are also applied during the cross sections calculation, unless otherwise selected in the *Cross Sections Data* window during the calculation of a particular cross section or in the dialogue box of the *Calculation* command in the *Batch Actions* menu during batch calculation.

11.9 Setting the Sideslopes

To edit a formation's slopes, select the desired formation and click the \square button. In the resulting dialogue box that appears on the screen, you can edit the sideslopes.

Filling Sidesk	ope	×		
Fill 3 slope	25			
Sideslope elevation limit h 2.000				
to Calculate 8	8 and Roundings			
Calculate Sid	eslope:			
💿 with C	lassic way			
C using l	fixed width B (ON	IOE)		
M	aximum B (3m) :	3.000		
Coeff	icient B (2) :	2.000		
with re	unding			
M	aximum T (3m) :	3.000		
Coeffic	ient T (1.5) :	1.500		
	,			
No Dh:Dx	Slope %	Dh		
1 1:3	33.330	1.500		
2 1:2	50.000	1.500		
3 1:1.5	66.660	0.000		
1				
Minim	am ∆h to apply sk	ope : 0.100		
[0K	Cancel		

Setting the Sideslope Slopes

In the table at the bottom of the dialogue box, enter the slopes and the corresponding elevations. The slopes towards the natural ground are always positive and their values must be positive, regardless of the side, and regardless of whether they are referring to a cutting or a filling; all elevations are also deemed positive.

To define the formation of a cutting's slopes, in the table at the bottom of the dialogue box enter the sideslope slopes and the respective elevation for every slope. The order in which you must enter the slopes' values, is from the roadway to the ground. For the last slope, the program ignores the elevation value that you have entered and applies the slope up to the required elevation. For the cuttings' slopes, you may start from the first slope and continue setting some slopes, which will be applied by default, regardless of whether there is an intermediate section with the natural terrain. The program applies these mandatory slopes for the user-defined elevation, and then tests the first non-mandatory slope up to the particular elevation, and if no section with the natural ground is found, continues with the next slope, and so on.

To define a set of slopes as mandatory, select the last slope of the set and click the Ctrl+Y keys; use the same combination of keys to restore a slope to its nonmandatory state. The mandatory slopes are marked in blue color. The slope or the slopes that correspond to the ditches can be set as mandatory. In the case of a triangular ditch having a slope of 2/3, namely 66.66% downwards and a depth of 40cm, enter the mandatory slope -66.66 for an elevation of 0.4. The negative sign in the slope value is mandatory, because instead of approaching the ground, we are moving away from it, while the elevation, as mentioned above, does not require a sign. You can form the filling slopes in two ways. In the first way, the calculation of the slope is based on the values entered in the relevant table, as in the case of the cutting. To use this method, tick the *Classic way* check box.

Contrary to the cuttings, the order in which you must enter the sideslope slopes and the respective elevations is from the ground to the roadway. For the last slope of the filling (the slope immediately after the roadway), the program ignores the elevation value that you have entered and applies the slope up to the required elevation. The program first tests the first user-defined slope up to the respective elevation, and if no section with the natural ground is found, continues with the next slope and so on.

The second way that you may use for the calculation of the filling slopes is based on the Road Works Design Directives. To apply this method, tick the *using fixed width B* check box and in the two text fields below enter the respective values for the calculation. In the *Sideslope elevation limit h* text field, enter the maximum sideslope elevation that will be calculated with this method. For elevations higher than this value, the sideslope is calculated with the Classic way.

In the *Minimum Dy to apply slope:* field, enter the minimum elevation that the last slope of a sideslope formation (cutting or filing) must have, in order to be inserted into a cross section. If the slope elevation is lower than the value that you have entered in the field, then the slope is rejected and the last slope to be applied is the previous slope in the list of the particular sideslope formation.

If you wish to have round sideslope edges (in the cutting or/and in the filling), tick the *with rounding* check box and enter the geometrical data of the rounding in the relevant text fields.

To confirm your changes for a sideslope formation, click the *OK* button. This saves the changes, closes the dialogue box and returns you to the *Sideslopes* tab. To view these changes in the typical cross section's workspace, you must have selected the edited sideslope formation in one of the four drop-down lists of the defaults group of the tab.

We remind you the three important points that you must always take into account when setting the sideslope slopes:

- The slopes towards the natural ground are deemed positive and entered as positive values, regardless of the side, and regardless of whether they are referring to a cutting or a filling.
- All sideslope elevations must be positive. If you give a negative sign to an elevation, the program will ignore it. The direction of the sideslopes is determined solely by the sign of their slope.
- The slopes referring to ditches (negative or zero values for trapezoid ditches) must be characterized as mandatory, in case you wish the whole ditch to be applied, even if there isn't any intermediate section with the natural ground.

11.10 Pavings

This paragraph describes how to set the parameters of the pavings, namely of the part over the Artificial Ground line.

Topsoil	Selected Drav	wings Tests			
Pavings Levels Sideslopes Branches					
Defaults Left	Defaults Left Filing Right				
[Fill	▲ 160	<u> </u>			
In Le.	The los				
Tune	[mm	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Left	Cutting	Right			
Cut Line	d Tr. 💌 🛛 Cut	t Lined Tr. 💌			
In Le.		In. Ri.			
Inner	Inn	er 🔳			
DΧ	/ 🥆 F A	~ /			
Pavin	g				
1 Fil					
2 Inner					
3 Fill Lined Tr.					
4 Cut Li	4 Cut Lined Tr.				
5 FillJoin.					
1					

As we have already mentioned, *Anadelta Tessera* supports the existence of multiple paving formations in the same typical cross section. By default, there are minimum two paving formations for the single-branch cross sections (cutting - filling) and three paving formations for the two-branch cross sections (cutting - filling - inner). Of course, you can insert more than one paving formations for the cutting or the filling, as you can see in the example of the figure: there are two formations for the filling, one for the cutting and one inner paving in case the typical cross section is defined with two branches.

In the *Defaults* group, set the paving formations that you wish to be applied by default to the current typical cross section, both for the cutting and for the filling, as well as for the right, left and inner part of the typical two-branch cross sections. The selected formations are displayed in the typical cross section's workspace, in the part where the formations will be applied according to your selection. Note that any changes in the formation of the pavings can only be made from the typical cross section's workspace, therefore you can change only a paving that has been selected in the *Defaults* group. The pavings are selected from the respective drop-down lists of this group. The selected paving is displayed instantly in the drawing area. To see an example, in the *Typical* mode select the A nj b2 typical. This typical has five pavings. While in the drawing area you have selected to view the cross section in a filling, in the *Defaults* group you will notice that the Fill. paving appears selected in the filling both for the left and for the right part of the cross section. From the respective drop-down list, select the *Fill Lined Tr.* paving for the right part of the filling. You will notice that, when the new paving is applied, the cross section changes in the drawing area.

The paving formations that you select from the *Defaults* group are also applied during the cross sections calculation, unless otherwise selected in the *Cross Sections Data* window during the calculation of a particular cross section or in the dialogue box of the *Calculation* command in the *Batch Actions* menu during the batch calculation.

To create a new paving, simply click the button in the *Pavings* tab. A new line appears in the table below, where you can type the name of the new paving formation. The initial name of this new formation is comprised of the word New and the name of the paving formation that you had selected before clicking the button. Thus, the creation of a new paving results in a copy of the paving that you had selected before clicking the button.

To delete a paving, select it by left-clicking in the respective field of the table and then click the \times button. To change a paving's name, simply type the new name in the paving's field. When you have finished, press *Enter* to confirm the new name.

In the *Pavings* tab you define the number of pavings, as well as which of these pavings will be applied by default to the various parts of the typical cross section. The form of the paving (widths, layer superelevations, existence and types of shoulders, encasing solids, etc.) is defined from the drawing area. For this purpose, commands are used for inserting and editing lines in a typical cross section, as well as the *Edit point* command for the accurate calculation of a point's position in the typical.

11.11 Paving Sideslope Coating

The sideslope coating is defined from the *Pavings* tab and can be created automatically in a typical cross section. The coating is either parallel to the sideslopes (usually for the fillings) or to the slopes (usually for the cuttings).

How to set the automatic sideslope coating

1. From the *Pavings* tab of the *Typical Cross Section Data* window, click one of the

buttons, depending on whether the coating will be applied to the left or to the right of the typical cross section. The coating will be applied to the paving that has been selected in the *Defaults* group and according to whether you have selected the cutting or the filling.

2. The following dialogue box appears on the screen:

Sideslope Coating	x
Paving :	
Fill	
Auto Sideslope Coating	
Task	
SSC Sideslope Coating	
Start from: Point 2 (Shoulder)	
Sideslope parallel	
Thicknes 0.300	
Use Paving Slopes 🔽	
Ledge superelevation	
 same with starting segment 	
C Fixed -7.000 %	
C With slopes	
NoDh:Dx Slope % Dx	
1 0.000 0.000	
OK Cancel	

For the sideslope coating to be applied automatically, tick the *Auto Sideslope Coating* check box. From the *Task* drop-down list, select the typical task to which the new line will belong. The list shows only the typical tasks of the SSC family. The typical task that you must select is usually *Sideslope Coating* for the filling or *Outer Gutter Filling* for the cutting.

- 3. Next, you must define the sideslope coating starting point. To define the point, leftclick on the *Not defined* phrase below the drop-down list to display the *Select reference point phrase* at the top left corner of the drawing area. Select the desired point and then click the *Accept point phrase*. Now the field is updated and displays the selected point, e.g. *Starting from point 2 of the Shoulder*.
- 4. If the sideslope coating refers to a filling, tick the *Sideslope parallel* check box. Next, in the *Thickness* field, type in meters the distance of the coating from the sideslope. If you wish to also use the paving sideslopes (in addition to the artificial ground

sideslopes) for the creation of the line, tick the *Use Paving Slopes* check box. If the filling refers to the cutting and to the creation of a debris removal zone, tick the *With slopes* check box. In the list below, enter the slopes and the horizontal step (distance) according to which every slope will be applied. The step of the last slope must always be zero. The program extends the last slope until it finds a section with the top or the bottom envelope.

5. Click the *OK* button to close the dialogue box and create the line.

11.12 Outer Gutter Filling of Fixed Width

The *Outer gutter filling of fixed width* line is a special case of the Debris Removal Zone. When this line is defined to have a fixed width, then its end is a mandatory point through which the cross section's sideslope must pass.

How to define the Outer Gutter Filling of fixed width

- 1. If there isn't any Outer Gutter Filling line, click the button to create a new one. In the resulting window, select the *Paving* side, the Level of the new line and the type of the line you wish to create. Here, select the *Outer Gutter Filling* line. Use the *Edit point* command to select the calculation way (e.g. Dx and slope from previous) of the end point of the line.
- 2. Next, in the Pavings tab of the Typical Cross Section Data window, click one of the

buttons, depending on whether the outer gutter filling line of fixed width will be applied to the left or to the right of the typical cross section.

3. The following dialogue box appears on the screen:

Outer Gutter Filling Left	×			
Sideslope on fixed distance				
Sideslope must pass through point:				
Undefined point.				
Distance from point 0.000				
Point selection				
OK Cancel				

- 4. Select the mandatory point through which the sideslope will pass and tick the *Sideslope on fixed distance* check box.
- 5. Click the *Point selection* button to confirm the point that you selected in the previous step.
- 6. In the *Distance from point* field, enter the additional distance of the Outer Gutter Filling.
- 7. Click the *OK* button to close the dialogue box.
- 8. Click the cross section *Calculation* to view the new form of the cross section.

11.13 Guardrails Support

To define how and where the Guardrails will appear in the cross section, open the

Pavings tab of the *Typical Cross Section Data* window and click one of the buttons, depending on whether the guardrail refers to the left or to the right part of the typical cross section. The clicking of either button results in the dialogue box shown below:

Left Guardrail 🛛 🔀						
Guardrail data						
Task						
GRL Guardrail 💌						
GRL : Standard Left						
Standard						
From drawings library –						
Select						
Widening due to guardrail						
Widening width 0.700						
Point of widening application						
Undefined point.						
Point selection						
OK Cancel						

From the *Task* drop-down list of the *Guardrail* data group, select the task by which the guardrail will be inserted into the cross section. Next, select the design of the guardrail. This can be either *Standard*, or you can select it from the drawings library, by choosing the drawing that represents the particular guardrail. To do this, tick the *From drawing library* check box. To select the drawing that will be used for the guardrail, click the Select button to open the drawings library and then select both the drawing that will be used and the drawing's dependence point, which will determine the exact position of the guardrail in the cross section. With the use of the *Edit point* command, you can depend this point on another point of the typical cross section in order to define the exact position of the guardrail.

In the *Widening due to guardrail* group, you can select whether the cross section will be widened due to the guardrail. In the *Widening width* field, enter the desired widening of the cross section. The point to which the widening will be applied, is displayed below the relevant field and appears selected on the cross section. To change this point, select another appropriate point and click the *Point selection* button.

To confirm your settings and close window, click the OK button.

Note that in the *Typicals* mode the guardrails are always displayed, regardless of any elevation discrepancies, in order to remind you to define them correctly, so that they can be inserted into certain cross sections that use the particular typical.

To insert the guardrails into a given cross section, go to the *Cross Sections* workspace

and click one of the **final** buttons, depending on whether the guardrail refers to the left or to the right part of the cross section. If you wish to calculate the guardrails in

order to use them in all cross sections on user-defined conditions, run the *Guardrails Management* command of the *Batch Actions* menu.

11.14 Insertion - Editing of Lines

To insert a new line into a typical cross section, run the *Insert line* command of the *Actions* menu or click the *insert line* button. The following dialogue box appears on the screen:

New Cross section Line
Paving
Fill [A]
Level
Surfacing - 0.040
Task
PVL Precoating
Define
 with points from library
OK Cancel

This command is mostly used for inserting left and right pavement gutters, shoulders, and generally lines that correspond to a paving, apart from the lines that are inserted originally when creating a level. From the *Paving* drop-down list of the box, select the paving to which the new line will belong. Only the pavings that you have selected in the *Defaults* group of the *Pavings* tab in the *Typical Cross Section Data* window are available on the list. Next, select the level and the typical task to which the new line will belong from the *Level* and *Task* drop-down lists, respectively.

Finally, from the *Define* group select how the line will be inserted and then click the *OK* button to insert the line. The *with points* option means that the line will be defined by user-inserted points, while the *from library* option means that the line will have the form of a predefined drawing, which the user will select from the drawings library.

In the first case, define the line points either with the mouse, within the drawing area (you can also use the snap feature), or with the use of the *Input Form* command.

Editing Lines

The program offers various secondary functions, enabling you to edit the lines that you have inserted into a typical cross section, so as to give them the desired shape and properties.

Moving a Line

When you move a line, the whole line is transferred, without any changes regarding the orientation or the relative positions of the points with respect to each other. To ensure the necessary accuracy, use the *Input Form* command or the snap feature.

How to move one or more lines simultaneously by using the mouse

- 1. Select the lines you wish to move.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed when you right-click in the drawing area, select the *Move* command.

3. Specify the reference point based on which the line will be moved.4. Specify the end point, where the reference point will be placed.

Once you have specified the second point, the line is moved to its new position.

Deleting Lines

You can delete one or more lines, if desired.

How to delete lines

- 1. Select the lines you wish to delete.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area,

select the *Delete objects* command, or click the \Join button in the main toolbar, or press the *Del* key.

If you accidentally delete a line, you can restore the line by using the *Undo* command. Please keep in mind that the program will not allow you to delete a line on which other lines depend.

Editing line points

Inserting a Line Point

You can insert one or more points to a line.

How to insert points to a line

- 1. Select the line point next to which you wish to insert the new point. Note that the program allows you to insert the new point further than the cross section's axis with respect to the current point.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, run the *Extend to start* or *Extend to end* command. The first command appears when the current point is on the left side of the road, while the second command appears when the current point is on the right side of the road. When the current point is at the cross section's axis, then both commands appear simultaneously. By running either command, a new point appears, which is highlighted in red. Move the mouse pointed to select the new point's position.
- 3. Set the position of the new point either by clicking the left mouse button or by using the *Input Form* command.
- 4. To finish the point insertion procedure, click the right mouse button. The insertion of the last points is cancelled and the procedure stops.

Offsetting a Line Point

You can offset a line point, so as to give it the desired shape.

How to offset a line point

- 1. Select the line you wish to edit and the point you wish to offset.
- 2. Activate the selected point. The point will start moving, following the movement of the mouse pointer.
- 3. Specify the new position of the point.

Deleting Line Points

You can delete one or more points of a line.

How to delete a line point

- 1. Select the line you wish to edit.
- 2. Select the point you wish to delete.
- 3. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, select the *Delete Point* command or press the *Ctrl+Del* keys.

You cannot delete points on which other points depend. To do that, you must first use the *Edit point* command to edit all the dependent points and then you can delete the point.

11.15 Calculating the Position of a Line Point

To edit the points of a line in a typical cross section, use the *Edit point* command. With this command you can select the way in which a line point is calculated in the typical cross section, by correlating the position with a reference position in the same typical cross section (e.g. axis, a different point of the same or another line, a diagram, etc.).

How to define the position of a line point

- 1. Select the line you wish to edit.
- 2. Select the point you wish to edit.

🗋 🗙 📫 🖉 🛛 🗖 🖵 📓
a nj branch 2
0000
Selected point No 2 of "Surfacing" Paving : Fill [A] Level No 1 : Surfacing 0.04
Definition mode :
Dx and Slope from prev.
Dx : 0.000 from diagram Pavement width diagram, left
Slope : 0.000 from diagram
Save Calculation Cancel

3. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, run

the *Edit point* command or click the *I* button in the *Typical Cross Section Data* window. The layout of the window changes, allowing you to define the position of a point. The name and the data of the selected line are shown at the top of the window. The selected point that you are editing is written in red letters. You can

change the selected point either by using the \bigcirc \bigcirc buttons at the top of the window or by selecting the point from the drawing area, after having activated the box.

- 4. *From the Definition mode* drop-down list, select the desired way to define a point. There are five ways to define a point's position:
- 5. *Dx* and *Dy*: With this option you can define a point's position by entering the horizontal and vertical distance of the point from a reference position.
- 6. *Dx* and Slope from prev.: With this option you can define a point's position by entering the point's horizontal distance from a reference position and the slope of the straight segment between the current point and the previous point of the line (the point closest to the cross section's axis). This way is mainly used for defining

points of the top paving layer (e.g. traffic layer).

- 7. *Dy and Slope from prev.:* With this option you can define a point's position in a similar way as previously, by entering the point's vertical distance from a reference position and the slope of the straight segment between the current point and the previous point of the line (the point closest to the cross section's axis). This way is mainly used for defining sideslope points.
- 8. Length and Slope from prev.: With this option you can define a point's position by entering the length and the slope of the straight segment between the current point and the previous point of the line (the point closest to the cross section's axis).
- 9. Section and Slope from prev.: With this option you can define a point's position by entering the slope of the straight segment between the current point and the previous point of the line (the point closest to the cross section's axis) and the distance of this segment from the intersection with another segment of the typical cross section. This way is mainly used for defining points of a paving layer with respect to the sideslopes of the previous layer (e.g. Base, SubBase).
- 10.*Slope and Slope from prev.:* With the option you can define a point's position as a section between two half-lines; the first half-line is defined from the slope from another defined point and the other from the slope of the straight segment between the current point and the previous point of the line (the point closest to the cross section's axis).
- 11.Detailed explanations on how to fill in the relevant fields for each case are given hereunder.
- 12.To calculate the typical cross section according to the new data, click the *Calculation* button. To save the changes that you have made, click the *Save* button. To cancel all changes and restore the typical into its original state, click the *Cancel* button.

Setting the Dx or the Dy:

As we have previously seen, you can define a point by entering its horizontal or vertical distance from a reference position.

The Dx or the Dy distance can be set as a fixed distance from the axis (or the semiaxes if the cross section has two branches) for the horizontal distance (e.g. 3 m from the axis) and from the road profile elevation that you have set for the vertical distance. To do this, type the distance in the Dx or in the Dy field, and from the drop-down list below the field select *from axis*.

If you wish the distance to be measured from another previous point of the line, select *from point*. In this case, the phrase *Not defined* will appear below the drop-down list. This means that the point from which the distance will be measured has not been defined yet. To define the point, left-click on the *Not defined* phrase to display the *Select reference point phrase* at the top left corner of the drawing area. Select the desired point and then click the *Accept point* phrase. The field will be updated and the selected point will be displayed. To select a different point, repeat the procedure.

If you wish the horizontal or the vertical distance to be calculated from a diagram, then from the first drop-down list select *from diagram* and next, from the drop-down list that is displayed below, select the diagram based on which the point will be calculated. The *T* that appears next to every diagram's name indicates a typical cross section diagram, which can be edited from the *Tests* tab. In the typical's workspace these diagrams are virtual, but when the typical is applied to certain cross sections of the project, the program will search and apply the width of the particular (real) diagram at the cross section's chainage. The *from rev. diagram* option is the same, only here the values of the diagram are applied with the reverse sign. In the *Dx* or *Dy* text field, you may enter a fixed distance, which will be added to the current value of the diagram.

Settingthe Slope

To set the slope of the straight segment between the current and the previous point, choose one of the following options. If you choose the *absolute* option, type the point's slope in the text field. A positive slope means that the point will be placed at a higher elevation with respect to the previous point of the line, while a negative slope means the opposite.

If you wish the slope to be calculated from a diagram, then from the drop-down list select *from diagram* and next, from the drop-down list that is displayed below, select the diagram based on which the slope will be calculated. The T that appears next to every diagram's name indicates a typical cross section diagram, which can be edited from the *Tests* tab. In the typical's workspace these diagrams are virtual, but when the typical is applied to certain cross sections of the project, the program will search and apply the slope of the particular (real) diagram at the cross section's chainage.

The *from rev. diagram* option is the same, only here the values of the diagram are applied with the reverse sign. In the *Slope* text field, you may enter a fixed slope, which will be added to the current value of the diagram.

If you wish to apply the slope of another straight segment, then in the drop-down list select *from segment*. Select the segment in the same way that you select the reference point for the horizontal and vertical distances. Note that a segment's slope is defined from the second point that has been placed on the segment, which is usually located away from the axis, regardless of the side. Use this option if you wish the paving layers to have the same superelevation with the top layer, or if you wish the layer sideslopes to have the same slope with the sideslopes of the top layer. In this way, any changes in the slopes of the top layer are applied instantly to the other layers.

To set the slope of the road's shoulder, in the drop-down list select *from function for*. A shoulder's slope can be calculated in two ways: with *Variable superelevation* and with *Pavement superelevation*. The calculation way is selected from the drop-down list. More specifically:

Calculation with Variable Superelevation

To define how the shoulder' slope will be calculated, go to the *Parameters* menu, run the *Road preferences* command, and in the *Shoulders* group of the *General tab* select the desired calculation way by ticking the respective check box.

If you tick the *Edge superelevation difference* check box, enter the maximum value in the text field next to the box; the superelevation will be formed by segment, based also on the values in the *Shoulder tangent superelevation* fields. The superelevation of the shoulders on the tangent is the value that the user enters in the relevant field. For the inner side (downslope – lower side) of a turn, when the pavement superelevation exceeds the shoulder superelevation. For the outer side (upslope – higher side), where an edge is formed, the shoulder superelevation maintains the tangent value, as long as the edge superelevation difference is lower than the value that you have entered in the Preferences. When the superelevation difference between the shoulder and the pavement superelevation is increased, the shoulder superelevation is decreased (the shoulder is "raised").

Namely, in the last case, if:

q is the current pavement superelevation

dq is the *Edge superelevation difference*

eu is the shoulder superelevation at the high side then the following formula shall apply: |q| + |eu| = |dq|

If you tick the *Superelevation on curve external* check box, enter the absolute shoulder superelevation value in the text field next to the box; the superelevation will be formed by segment, based also on the values in the *Shoulder tangent superelevation* fields. The shoulder superelevation on the tangent and on the inner side of the turns is the value entered in the *Shoulder tangent superelevation* field, while the shoulder superelevation on the outer side of the turn is the value entered in the *Superelevation* field.

Calculation with Pavement Superelevation

This calculation is based on the value that you have entered in the *Shoulder tangent superelevation* field. The superelevation of the shoulders on the tangent is the value that the user enters in the relevant field. For the inner side of a turn, all information mentioned as regards the previous calculation applies here too. Namely, when the pavement superelevation exceeds the shoulder superelevation on tangent, then the shoulder superelevation becomes equal to the pavement superelevation. Regarding the outer side, however, when the pavement superelevation becomes different than the value that you have entered for the tangent, then the shoulder superelevation becomes equal to the pavement superelevation.

Setting the Section

To define the position by using the *Section and slope* method, you must select the segment according to which the section will be determined. To select the segment, proceed as you would do for selecting the segment for setting a slope. Use this method when a line must extend up to a user-defined segment. This method usually serves for the calculation of the paving width based on the sideslope of a previous layer (at a higher level) of the typical cross section.

11.16 Selected Drawings

Pavings		Levels	els Sideslopes		Branches			
Te	Topsoil Selected Drawings Tests							
Apply Apply								
1	N.Jersey			Left				
2	Sideslope Coating			Left				
3	N.Jer	sey		Right				
4								
5								
6								
7								
8								
9								
10								
Г					_			
L								
L								

From the typical cross section workspace, you can insert certain additional standard drawings to specific positions, based on the main axis of the cross sections or based on two semiaxes for two-branch cross sections. To insert drawings to the axis, open the *Selected Drawings* tab of the *Typical Cross Section Data* window. This tab includes a list of all of the selected drawings that are applied to the current typical cross section, as well as two buttons for inserting and deleting drawings to/from the typical. To

insert a drawing, click the button, which opens a box, enabling you to select a drawing from the current drawings library. In addition, from the drop-down list at the top of the box, select the task to which the line will belong and exactly below select the position of the line with respect to the cross section's axis (center, right or left). Usually the drawing is inserted in the middle of the axis for the single-branch typical cross sections (N. Jersey), while in the case of two-branch typical cross sections, the drawing is inserted to the left or to the right of the semiaxes of the right and left branch, respectively.

To delete a selected drawing while working in the typical cross section workspace, select the drawing from the list of the *Selected Drawings* tap by clicking

the left mouse button and then click the \Join button.

If you don't want to apply the selected drawings, but you wish to keep them, untick the *Apply* field.

11.17 Topsoil

From the *Topsoil* tab of the *Typical Cross Section Data* window, you can define the formation of the topsoil, the clearance of the top soil, and the way that the topsoil is calculated in a typical cross section.

Pavings Levels Sideslopes Branches
Topsoli Selected Drawings Tests
Lobson
Depth : 0.300
Calculation
 in segments
C in region around axis
 in region around slopes
Region width in fill
Left Right
2.000 2.000
Region width in cut
Left Right
2.000 2.000
Road Rehabilitation
Topsoil exception
Edit paving

First you must define the topsoil clearance depth, namely the distance of the topsoil line from the natural ground line. In the *Depth* field, enter the desired distance in meters. Next, you must define the natural ground area in which the topsoil will be calculated. You can leave this area free in the typical, in order to define it separately for every cross section of the project, or you can select its automatic calculation either for a fixed distance from the axis of every cross section or for the whole construction zone plus a distance from the sideslope edges.

- With the in *segments* option, the user defines and forms the topsoil separately for every cross section.
- With the in *region around axis* option, the topsoil clearance is determined automatically in a region above and below the axis, as this region is determined for every side from the *Region width in fill* or *Region width in cut* field, and according to the cross section type. This region is separate from the construction zone that will derive during the cross section calculation.
- With the in *region around slopes* option, the topsoil clearance is determined automatically in a region above and below the axis that extends beyond the construction zone. This region is determined for every side from the *Region width in fill* or *Region width in cut* field, and according to the cross section type. In this case, the values in the fields indicate the distances from the sideslope edges that demarcate the construction zone.

Finally, if the particular typical cross section is to be used for the rehabilitation of an existing road, select the *Topsoil exception* option from the *Road rehabilitation* group at the bottom of the tab. With this option, the topsoil will not be calculated for the part of the cross section that corresponds to an existing paving; it will be calculated only for the parts left and right to the paving. The existing road is indicated according to every cross section's chainage by two diagrams (*Exist. Road diagram right and Exist. Road diagram left*), which can be updated automatically from the horizontal alignment, provided that they are depicted there in the form of lines. Apart from the topsoil line in

the region of the existing road, the program also enables you to exclude the paving part that coincides with the older paving of every cross section in the project, by simply selecting the *Edit paving* option from the *Road Rehabilitation* group.

Note that you can view immediately every change that you are making in the topsoil tab, since the topsoil is immediately updated in the drawing area, while you can also view the new settings in the typical cross section's workspace.


12 Drawing

12.1 Lines

The simplest object in *Anadelta Tessera* is the zigzag line, which is referred to as drawing line in the program. The drawing lines can be comprised of one or more straight segments and they can be closed or open. To draw these lines, you must define the points of their peaks.

Drawing a Line

A line is comprised of a series of connected straight segments, which can be managed as a single object.





- 1. From the *Drawing* menu, run the *Line* command, or from the *Drawing* group of the *Drawing Elements* toolbar click the *inclusion* button. You will see the highlighted box in the middle of the mouse cross, showing you where the line point will be inserted.
- 2. Click the left mouse button to define the start point (1) of the line.
- 3. In the same way define the end point of every straight segment of the line (e.g. (2), (3), (4) and (5)).
- 4. When you have finished setting the peaks of the line, click the right mouse button to end the procedure.

After you have inserted a line, you can convert it into a breakline, a road tangent or even a boundary of an existing road.

Drawing a Quadrilateral

You can easily and quickly draw lines in the form of a rectangle.



How to draw a quadrilateral

- 1. From the *Drawing* menu, select the *New Quadrilateral* command.
- 2. Click the left mouse button to define the first angle (1) of the quadrilateral.
- 3. In the same way, define the opposite angle (2) of the quadrilateral. The insertion is completed after the second click and the quadrilateral remains selected.

The resulting quadrilateral is a rectangle, whose sides are parallel to the X and Y axes.

12.2 Curves

The program enables you to draw curves, such as circles, ellipses, circular arcs or elliptical arcs.

Drawing a Circle

To draw a circle, you must define its radius and center.



How to draw a circle

- 1. From the *Drawing* menu, select the *New Circle* submenu and then run the *Center, Radius* command; or, from the *Elements Drawing* toolbar, click the Sutton.
- 2. Click the left mouse button to define the center point (1).
- 3. Click again the left mouse button to define a point for the circumference of the circle (2). The insertion is completed and the circle remains selected.

Drawing a Circular Arc

There are two ways to draw a circular arc. The main way is to define three points — the first point, the final point and the intermediate point of the circular arc. You can also define the center, the beginning and the end. By default, *Anadelta Tessera* draws the circulars arcs in a counterclockwise direction.



Drawing an Ellipse

You can create complete ellipses and elliptical arcs. The main method for drawing an ellipse is to define its center, the length of the primary and secondary axis, and finally the orientation of the axes. Both axes are vertical to each other. The order in which you define the axes is totally insignificant.



How to draw an ellipse (first way)

- 1. From the *Drawing* menu, select the *New Ellipse* submenu and run the *Center, Radii* command.
- 2. Click the mouse button to define the center (1) of the ellipse.
- 3. Set the length and the orientation of the first axis by defining a point (2) in the drawing area. The axis radius is equal to the distance of the point from the center of the ellipse.
- 4. Set the length of the second axis by defining a third point (3) in the drawing area. The axis radius is equal to the distance between the center and the point of the second axis.

The elements of the ellipse can be defined in a different order.

How to draw an ellipse (second way)

- 1. From the *Drawing* menu, select the *New Ellipse* submenu and then run the *Center, Radius, Angle* command; or, from the *Elements Drawing* toolbar, click the \bigcirc button.
- 2. Click the mouse button to define the center (1) of the ellipse.
- 3. Set the length of the first axis by defining a point (2) in the drawing area. The axis radius is equal to the distance between the two points.
- 4. Set the length and the orientation of the second axis by defining a third point (3) in the drawing area. The radius and the orientation of the axis are equal to the distance and the orientation between the center and the point of the second axis.

Drawing an Elliptical Arc

To draw elliptical arcs, you must define all elements of the ellipse, by using the second way that is described in the previous paragraph. The arc starts at the point by which

you defined the length and the orientation of the second axis. Next, you must define the end of the elliptical arc. The arcs are always drawn in a counterclockwise direction.



How to draw an elliptical arc

1. From the Drawing menu, select the New Ellipse submenu and then run the Elliptical

Arc, command; or, from the Elements Drawing toolbar, click the 🎦 button.

- 2. Define the center (1) of the ellipse.
- 3. Set the length of the first axis by defining a point (2) in the drawing area. The axis radius is equal to the distance between the two points.
- 4. Set the length and the orientation of the second axis by defining a third point (2) in the drawing area.
- The radius and the orientation of the axis are equal to the distance and the orientation between the center and the point of the second axis, similarly to point (3) of the second way that was described in the previous paragraph.
- 6. Set the end of the arc by defining a point (3).

12.3 Clothoids

Drawing a Clothoid Curve

Anadelta Tessera offers the unique feature of drawing clothoid curves.

To insert a clothoid, run the *New Clothoid* command of the *Drawing* menu and define the main tangent of the clothoid in the same way that you define a straight segment. The clothoid is inserted with the second mouse click and remains selected. When the length of the clothoid is zero, its tangent appears on the screen; this tangent also serves as a selection line (handle). Next, define the data – parameters of the clothoid.

How to input the clothoid's data

- 1. Open the *Properties* command window.
- 2. Select the clothoid you wish to edit.
- 3. In the *Properties* command window, select the value of the *Parameters* property. Click the three-dot button that is displayed when this field is selected.

Properties	×
Clothoid [Base]	•
Property	Value
Layer	Base 💌
Color	White
Line type	Continuous
Line width	0.1 mm
Line type scale	1.000
Curve Direction	Not Inverted
Parameters	R1 = Infinite R2 = 50.000 L1 = 0.000 L2 = 200.000

The following dialogue box appears on screen:

Clothoid Propertie	s	×
A> L, DR	A, DR DR> A, L	
Parameter (A)	100	1
End Length (L)	200.000000	
Tangent offset (DR)	28.955466	
Start Length (L)	0.0000 Angle	114.5916
Start Radius	Infinite	🔽 Infinite
End Radius	50	
	ОК	Cancel

1. In the three fields of the *Input way* group, you can set the parameter A of the curve, the length L of the clothoid, as well as the offset DR. According to literature,

these three values are interrelated with the $\epsilon = \frac{L^2}{24R}$ and $L = \frac{A^2}{R}$ formulas. Depending on the selected calculation way for these values, when you click the respective button at the top of the group, only one of the three text fields is active, while the other two fields show the data values that the program calculates automatically.

- 2. In the *Start Radius* and *End Radius* fields, enter the radii of the circular arcs at the start and the end of the clothoid. If you wish the clothoid to start from the tangent, tick the *Infinite* check box. The *Start Length (L)* field shows the clothoid length that the program has calculated from the tangent up to the start radius (if the latter is not infinite). Namely, this value corresponds to the length of the initial segment that is not drawn on the screen. Finally, the *Angle* field shows the calculated value of the DR offset angle.
- 3. Click the *OK* button to close the dialogue box.

The clothoid curves can be edited too, like any other drawing object. Also, every time you insert a new drawing element, the characteristic parts of the clothoid appear in green (start and end curvature centers, start and end point of the clothoid) so that you can apply the snap feature to them.



Drawinga Parabola

Anadelta Tessera enables you to draw various types of parabolas.

To insert a parabola, run the *New Parabola* command of the *Drawing* menu and then draw the main tangent of the parabola in the same way that you define a straight segment. The parabola, whose length is zero, is inserted with the second mouse click and remains selected. When the length of the parabola is zero, its tangent is drawn on the screen; this tangent also serves as the parabola's selection line (handle). Next, define the data – parameters of the parabola in the same way that you define the clothoid data. The additional feature that characterizes the parabola is selected from the *Curve Type* field.

12.4 Texts

The text enriches a drawing by providing important information. You can use texts to give information about the nature of the design, e.g. title, surveyor, project owner and supervising service, as well as explanations in the study.

Creating a Text

To create one or more text lines, use the *New Text* command. Every text line is a separate object that can be moved, centered and edited as desired.



How to create a text

- 1. From the *Drawing* menu, run the *New Text* command or, in the *Elements Drawing* toolbar, click the A button.
- 2. Use the mouse to select where the first character (1) will be inserted.

A new text object, entitled *New Text*, is inserted in the project.

Text Editing

Texts are inserted with default properties. To give them the form and the content of your choice, edit them in the window of the *Properties* command.

Properties 🛛		×
Text [Base]		•
Property	Value	
Layer	Base	•
Color	□White	
Text	New text	
TextX	587760.921	
TextY	4559560.975	
Font	Arial	
Angle	0.000	
Height	0.300	
Move	0.000	
Center	Bottom left	
	I	

Text Typing

In the field of the *Text* property in the *Properties* window, type the desired content of the text and press *Enter*.

Text Font and Font Height

The font height of the new texts is 0.3 cm on paper and the font type is *Arial*. The font size on screen is similar to the font size on the printout, according to the print scale.

To change the text font, select the text you wish to edit and open the window of the *Properties* command. In the field of the *Font* property, click the three-dot button . In this box, you can choose a new font or whether the characters will appear bold or italic.

To change the font height, open the window of the *Properties* command and in the *Height* field type in

centimeters the new height.

Text Alignment

For every text, the initial point of alignment is the bottom left, the distance from this point is equal to zero and the rotation angle is also zero.

Every text has a center point. A center point is the point of the box that determines the place of the text on the screen. There are nine available places in the box that can be defined as center points.



To change the center point, open the window of the *Properties* command and select a value from the drop-down list of the *Center* property.

12.5 Images

To insert one or more images, use the *Image* command.

How to insert an image

1. From the *Drawing* menu, run the *New Image* command or, from the *Elements*

Drawing toolbar, click the 🔊 button.

- 2. Define the point at which the bottom left corner of the image will be inserted. An image with the *Anadelta Software* logo is inserted into the project.
- 3. Next, open the *Properties* command window.
- 4. In the field of the Image property, click the three-dot button is located to the right of the field. A dialogue box appears on the screen. Select the image file that will be inserted into the drawing.

12.6 Object Properties

You can specify the main properties of the new drawing objects before creating the objects. The values of the properties that will be applied to the new objects are referred to as current values.

Defining the Color for the New Objects

You can set the value of the *Color* property for the new drawing objects.

How to set the current Color

- 1. Deselect all objects.
- 2. From the *Object Properties* toolbar or from the window of the *Properties* command, select one of the colors available in the *Color* drop-down list or select *Other...* to define a new color.

Defining the Line Type for the New Objects

You can set the value of the *Line type* property for the new drawing objects.

How to define the current type of line

- 1. Deselect all objects.
- 2. From the *Object Properties* toolbar or from the window of the *Properties* command, select one of the line types available in the *Line type* drop-down list.

Defining the Line Type Scale for the New Objects

You can set the value of the *Line type scale* property for the new drawing objects.

How to define the current Line type Scale

- 1. Deselect all objects.
- 2. Open the window of the *Properties* command and type the desired value in the field of the *Line Type Scale* property.

Defining the Line Width for the New Objects

You can set the value of the *Line width* property for the objects that will be created.

How to define the current Line width

- 1. Deselect all objects.
- 2. From the *Object Properties* toolbar or from the window of the *Properties* command, select one of the line widths available in the *Line width* drop-down list.

12.7 Layers

With the help of the layers, you can further categorize the drawing objects. The layers are groups in which you can organize and group various drawing objects. This grouping facilitates the management of the *Horizontal Alignment* data. For every group, you must set certain values for the main properties. The main properties of a drawing object can be set either based on the object's layer, or they can be different from the values of the layer's properties.

Working with Layers

The drawing objects always belong to a layer. This can be the base layer or a usercreated layer. In every layer there are specific values for the *Color*, the *Line type* and the *Line width* properties. You can use the layers to organize your drawing in groups of objects, in order to manage and edit the drawing objects easily and quickly.

For example, you can create a layer that shall include the outlines of the buildings. The desired properties for the drawing objects (color, line type and line thickness) can be assigned to the layer instead of being assigned separately to every object. To draw a new outline, you must make the layer of these lines current and then start drawing. You don't have to define again the line type, the line color and the line width every time you draw an outline.

Every time a new design begins, *Anadelta Tessera* creates automatically a layer, which is entitled Base. By default, the property values of the *Base* layer are *Black* for the *Color, Continuous* for the *Line type* and 0.1 mm for the *Line width*. You cannot delete or rename the base layer.

₩	🖓 Layers 📃 🗆 🗶						
	New 🔀 Delete						
	Layer	Color	Line type	Line width	Visible	Selectable	Printable
1	ь1	White	Continuo	0.1 mm	6	Z	a constantino de la constant
2	b2	White	Continuo	0.1 mm	6	Z	8
3	b3	White	Continuo	0.1 mm	6	Z	۵.
4	Base	White	Continuo	0.1 mm	6	Z	۵.

To manage and edit the layers, open the *Layers* window.

How to open and close the Layers management window

- 1. From the Drawing menu, run the Layers command, or press the F9 key, or click the
 - button in the toolbar. The management window appears on the screen.
- 2. Proceed to the desired changes.
- 3. When you have finished, click the exit button \bowtie to close the management window and return to the main screen.

Creating and Renaming Layers

You can create and rename a layer for every set of lines, and also assign the common properties of the lines to this layer. By grouping the objects in layers, you can easily control their appearance and make changes quickly and efficiently.

How to create a new layer

- 1. Open the Layers management window.
- 2. Click the *New Layer* **New** button at the top of the window.

This creates a new layer with a unique name, e.g. *New Layer, New Layer 1, New Layer 2,* etc. After you have created a layer, you can rename it. The property values of the new layers are *Black* for the *Color, Continuous* for the *Line type* and *0.1 mm* for the *Line width*, but you can change them, if desired.

Changing the Name of a Layer

You can change the name of a layer at any given time, in order to show clearly what the layer represents in the drawing. You cannot, however, change the name of the *Base* layer.

How to rename a layer

- 1. Open the *Layers* management window.
- 2. Left click on the layer's name field to activate it.
- 3. Type the new name and press *Enter*.
- 4. Click the exit button \bowtie to close the management window and return to the main screen.

How to make a layer current

You always draw in the current layer. When a layer is current, you can create new objects in this layer and these new objects may have the same properties as the layer (provided that the object's properties have the *Layer* option enabled). When the current layer is non visible or non selectable, you cannot create new drawing objects.

How to make a layer current

- 1. Deselect all objects.
- 2. From the *Object Properties* toolbar or from the window of the *Properties* command, select one of the layers available in the *Layer* drop-down list.

Checking the Layers

Anadelta Tessera will not display the objects that are drawn in non visible layers. Also, the program will not print the objects that are drawn in non printable layers. If you want to hide temporarily some of the drawing objects while working on details of your drawing, you can make a layer or a set of layers non visible. The layers containing elements that don't have to be printed, such as auxiliary lines, can also be made non visible.

Checking the Layers' Visibility

The non-visible layers will not be displayed on the screen, but you can still print them.

How to make a layer visible or non-visible

- 1. Open the Layers management window.
- 2. Select the fields \bigotimes of the layers that you want to make visible or non visible.
- 3. Double-click on the *Visible* field.
- 4. When you have finished, click the exit button \bowtie to close the management window

and return to the main screen.

Checking the Layers' Printability

You can select which layers will be printed. If the layer contains information that doesn't have to appear on the final drawing (for example, auxiliary lines), you can select not to print this information. In this case, the layer's objects are shown on the screen, but they will not be printed. Therefore, you don't have to erase the data before printing.

How to make a layer Printable/Non printable

- 1. Open the *Layers* management window.
- 2. Select the fields 🏽 🕻 of the layers that you want to make printable or non printable.
- 3. Double-click on the *Printable* field.
- 4. When you have finished, click the exit button \bowtie to close the management window and return to the main screen.

Checking the Layers' Selectability

You may often want to edit objects in specific layers, while viewing the objects of other layers that cannot be edited. You cannot edit or select the objects of a non-selectable layer, but the objects are visible when the layer is visible.

It is possible to use the snap feature on objects of a non-selectable layer. You can make a layer non selectable, non visible and non printable. You can also change the color, the line width and the other main properties.

How to make a layer Selectable/Non selectable

- 1. Open the *Layers* management window.
- 2. Select the fields \swarrow f the layers that you want to make selectable or non selectable.
- 3. Double-click on the *Selectable* field.
- 4. When you have finished, click the exit button \bowtie to close the management window and return to the main screen.

Assigning Color to a Layer

You can assign a color to a layer from the management window of the Layers command.

How to assign a color to a layer

- 1. Open the *Layers* management window.
- 2. Select a layer and click on the respective color field.
- 3. Select one of the colors available in the drop-down list of the *Color* property, or select *Other* ... to define a new color.
- 4. When you have finished, click the exit button \bowtie to close the management window and return to the main screen.

Assigning the Line Type to a Layer

Every line type presents the visual information in a different way. A line type can be a continuous line or a repeated pattern of dashes, dots and spaces, enabling you to distinguish the role of a line. The name and the definition of the line type describe the

specific sequence of characters, the relevant sizes and their characteristics.

How to assign a line type to a layer

- 1. Open the *Layers* management window.
- 2. Select a layer and click on the respective field of the Line type property.
- 3. From the drop-down list of the *Line type* property, select one of the available line types.
- 4. When you have finished, click the exit button \bowtie to close the management window and return to the main screen.

Assigning the Line Width to a Layer

The line width adds thickness to the objects that are drawn by using a specific line. All drawing objects can be viewed thickened and with texts both on the screen and on the printout. By defining the line width for a layer or an object, you can simulate the object's width on the printout. By changing the width of objects and layers, you can enhance the presentation quality of your drawings.

How to assign a line width to a layer

- 1. Open the *Layers* management window.
- 2. Select a layer and click on the respective field of the *Line width* property.
- 3. From the drop-down list of the *Line width* property, select one of the available widths.
- 4. When you have finished, click the exit button \bowtie to close the management window and return to the main screen.

Deleting a Layer

You can delete any layer, at any given time when processing a drawing. You cannot, however, delete the *Base* layer. When a layer is deleted, its objects are transferred by default to the base layer.

How to delete a layer

- 1. Open the *Layers* management window.
- 2. Select the desired layer and click the \checkmark Delete button.
- 3. *Anadelta Tessera* will prompt you to confirm that you wish to delete the layer, by showing you the relevant dialogue box.
- 4. When you have finished, click the exit button \bowtie to close the management window and return to the main screen.

Using the Layers' Properties

When you draw by using a layer, it is recommended that the default properties are those of the layer. The objects whose main properties have the *Layer* value acquire the properties of their layer. The same can apply for every new object that will be created. When designing in this way, you are able to maintain a well-organized drawing.

If you want the color, the line type or the line width of a particular object to be different than those of the layer, you can change the properties of this object. The properties of an object can have either a fixed value (e.g. red for color) or the respective value of the layer. In the first case, the object's value prevails over the layer's value.

12.8 Object Import

Importing Drawing Objects from DXF files

If your drawing objects are available in digital form (DXF) and you wish to import them into your design, you can do this anytime, either during the first stage of your design or while editing your design, and for as many times as you wish.

You can import any drawing object (lines, circular arc, texts, etc.) from a DXF file. You can also do this with the simultaneous import of terrain model elements. From a DXF file you can import objects such as line, polyline, circle, arc, ellipse, elliptical arc. Regarding their main properties, the imported objects maintain their original layer, which will be transferred to another layer.

How to import drawing objects from DXF files

- 1. From the *File* menu, select *Import from Dxf* and then run the *Import Drawing from DXF* command.
- 2. From the dialogue box of the *Open* window, select the DXF file and click *Open*. After the program has read the file, select, if necessary, *zoom extents*.

Importing Drawing Objects from ASCII files

By using the Import *Drawing* command, which is the first command of the *Import from ASCII* submenu, you can import drawing lines from text files.

How to import terrain points from a text file

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Import from ASCII* submenu and then run the *Drawing Data* command. This command will be displayed in the menu only if you first select the creation of a new file or open an existing one. From the dialogue box that appears on the screen, select a terrain point file (such files have usually the .RLN extension).
- 2. From the *Browse* field, find the subfolder where your file is located. Select the desired file and click *Open*.
- 3. Confirm by clicking OK. The program reads the lines and imports them to the file. If a problem occurs during the file transfer, the program will display the relevant error message on the screen.

12.9 Object Editing

There is only one way to edit objects in the *Anadelta Tessera* environment. First select the objects and then edit them. In this section, you will learn how to select objects, how to view the selected objects on the screen, how to change their main properties, and how to carry out general and special editing operations.

Selection of Objects

For the lines and curves, the aforementioned data shall apply. For the drawing objects, there are two additional methods of selection.

Filtering All Selected Objects

With the Batch Selection command,

Batch selection		×
objects		
🔽 Lines		
Circles		
I Ellipses		
Titles		
Selection conditions		
with color	Layer	Ŧ
with line type	Layer	Y
with line width	Layer	Ŧ
belongs to layer	Base	Y
preserve current selection remove items from current :	selection	
	OK	Cancel

you can select a set based on the common properties and the category of the drawing objects. For example, you can select simultaneously all the red drawing lines of the *Horizontal Alignment*, without selecting any other object, or, you can select all objects except for these lines.

To create a set of selected objects based on the value of the *Color, Line type* or/and *Line width* properties, you should first see whether the property has the Layer value. For example, an object can be black, either because its value in the *Color* property is *Black* or because it has the *Layer* value and the value in the layer's *Color* property has been set to *Black*.

How to create a set by using the Batch Selection command

- 1. From the *Edit* menu, select the *Batch Selection* command or press the *Ctrl+A* keys.
- 2. In the *Objects* group of the *Batch Selection* window, tick the respective check box (es) to the left of every category of drawing objects that you wish to select. Note that there are four categories of drawing objects: the lines (*Lines* check box), the circles that also include the circular arcs (*Circles* check box), the ellipses that also include the elliptical arcs (*Ellipses* check box) and the texts (*Titles* check box).
- 3. In the *Selection conditions* group, define the selection criteria for sorting out the objects. This group includes all of the identifiable properties of the drawing objects.

To enable a selection condition, tick the relevant check box on its left.

4. Enter the property value by selecting it from the drop-down list to the right of the ticked box.

5. Click OK.

Anadelta Tessera selects all drawing objects that match the user-selected criteria and closes the dialogue box of the Batch Selection command.

By default, *Anadelta Tessera* creates a new set of selection. To add this set to the already selected objects, tick the preserve current selection check box. To remove this set from the already selected objects, tick the *remove items from current selection* check box.

Select All

With the *Select all* command of the *Edit* menu, you can easily select all visible objects of the enabled modes.

To select all objects of an enabled mode

From the *Edit* menu, run the *Select all* command or press the *Shift+Ctrl+A* keys.

Editing the Main Properties

In *Anadelta Tessera* you can edit the main properties of the drawing objects in two ways: either from the *Object Properties* toolbar or from the window of the *Properties* command.

Copy Objects

You can copy one or more drawing objects in your current file or from one file to another.

Copy Objects

With the *Copy* command, the objects are copied to *Clipboard*.

How to copy objects to Clipboard

- 1. Select the objects you wish to copy.
- 2. From the *Edit* menu, select the *Copy* command or press the *Ctrl+C* keys, or click the copy icon.

The objects are copied to Clipboard. The reference point of the objects is the intersection point of the diagonals of the fictitious box that contains the selected object. If you want to define manually the reference point for the set of selected objects, run the *Copy with Basepoint* command.

How to copy objects to Clipboard, by selecting the reference point

- 1. Select the objects you wish to copy.
- 2. From the *Edit* menu, select the *Copy with Basepoint* command.
- 3. Set the reference point.

Cut Objects

With the *Cut* command, the drawing objects are deleted from the current file and transferred to *Clipboard*.

How to transfer objects to Clipboard

- 1. Select the objects you wish to cut.
- 2. From the *Edit* menu, select the *Cut* command or press the *Ctrl+X* keys, or click the cut icon.

Paste Objects

The objects that you copied or transferred to Clipboard can be imported again to the same or to another file.

How to import objects from the Clipboard

From the *Edit* menu, select the *Paste* command or press the *Ctrl+V* keys, or click the paste icon.

The objects in the Clipboard will be imported to the drawing.

Moving Objects

When you move objects, the objects are moved as they are, without any changes regarding the orientation or their relative positions with respect to each other. To ensure the necessary accuracy, use the *Input Form* command or the snap feature.

How to move one or more objects simultaneously

- 1. Select the drawing objects you wish to move.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, select the *Transformations* submenu and then run the *Move* command.
- 3. Set the reference point.
- 4. Set the end point.

Moving Drawing Objects with the Mouse

You can move certain categories of drawing objects by using the points. To do this, activate the center of a circle or a circular arc, of an ellipse or an elliptical arc, or the insertion point of a text character.

How to move an object with the mouse

1. Select the drawing object you wish to move.

- 2. Activate the appropriate point. For texts and images, simply left click on them again.
- 3. Specify the new position of the point.

Moving Drawing Objects by Using the Coordinates

From the window of the *Properties* command, you can move categories of certain drawing objects, such as circles or circular arcs, ellipses or elliptical arcs, images and texts. Simply select the desired object and open the window of the *Properties* command. In the fields of the *Center X* and *Center Y* properties for the curved objects, and *Text X* and *Text Y* for texts and images, type the new coordinates of the center point. The drawing objects will be offset, so that their centers are transferred to the position indicated by the new coordinates.

Especially for texts and images, you can change the value of the *Move* property, in order to move the letters or the image without offsetting the center point. The offset is equal to the value that the user entered in the field, both for the X and for the Y

axis.

Object Rotation

To rotate the drawing objects, select a reference point and a rotation angle towards the horizontal direction. The objects always rotate in a counterclockwise direction.

How to rotate an object

- 1. Select the drawing objects you wish to rotate.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, select the *Transformations* submenu and then run the *Rotate* command.
- 3. Set the reference point.
- 4. Set the rotation angle either by specifying a point on the screen, or by entering the angle with the use of the *Input Form* command.

Rotation of Texts, Ellipses or Images

From the window of the *Properties* command, you can rotate texts, ellipses or images. Simply select the text or the ellipse that you wish to rotate and open the window of the *Properties* command. In the *Text Angle* or *Angle* field, type the horizontal rotation angle (the rotation direction is counterclockwise and the angle is entered in degrees). The text or the ellipse or the image will rotate around its center.

Changing the Size and Shape of Objects

You can scale up or down a set of selected objects, while preserving their proportions with respect to each other. To scale the objects up or down, specify a reference point and a length, which will be used as the scale coefficient, or enter the value of the coefficient.

How to change the size of the selected objects

- 1. Select the drawing objects you wish to scale up or down.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, open the *Transformations* submenu and run the *Scale* command.
- 3. Set the reference point.
- 4. Set the scaling percentage either by specifying a point on the screen or by typing the percentage value (e.g. "200" for double size) with the use of the *Input Form*. When you define a point on the screen, Anadelta Tessera calculates the distance between the reference point and the user-defined point; the scaling percentage is the one tenth (1/10) of this distance.

Obviously, to scale up an object, you must enter a percentage higher than 100, while to scale down an object you must enter a percentage lower than 100.

Changing the Size of Circles

To make a circle bigger or smaller, activate a point on its circumference and specify a new position for this point. When you move this point, the circle radius is increased or decreased accordingly, but the center of the circle remains fixed. You can do the same from the dialogue box of the *Properties* command. Simply select the circle and open the window. Type the new value in the field of the *Radius* command.

Changing the Shape of an Ellipse

To change the lengths of an ellipse's axis, activate a point on the circumference of the ellipse and specify a new position for this point. When you move this point, the

ellipse radii are increased or decreased accordingly, but the center of the ellipse remains fixed. You can do the same from the dialogue box of the *Properties* command. Simply select the ellipse and open the window. Type the new values in the fields of the *X* Radius and *Y* Radius properties.

Changing the Shape of Circular and Elliptical Arcs

To change the shape of an arc, activate a point on the circumference of the arc and specify a new position for this point. When you move this point, the arc radius is increased or decreased, and the arc center also changes accordingly. You can do the same for the circular arcs from the dialogue box of the *Properties* command. Simply select the circular arc and open the *Properties* window. Type the new value in the field of the *Radius* command. The arc will be drawn again, so that its center point remains fixed and the positions of the three points of the arc's circumference match the new radius value.

Deleting Objects

You can delete all of the selected objects.

- To delete all the selected objects
- 1. Select the drawing objects you wish to delete.
- 2. From the *Edit* menu, select the *Delete* command, or press the *Del* key, or click the icon.

You can do the same by selecting the *Delete objects* command from the shortcut menu that appears when you right-click in the drawing area.

How to delete all drawing points

From the *File* menu, select the *Delete* submenu and then run the *Drawing Data* command.

12.10 Editing Lines

The program offers some additional editing features regarding the position and shape of the drawing lines.

To edit a drawing line

- 1. Select the drawing line you wish to edit.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed when you right-click in the drawing area, select the desired editing command.

Mirroring Drawing Lines

You can mirror the drawing lines, either by the horizontal or by the vertical axis, by specifying an axis point. The original object will be deleted.

How to mirror drawing lines

- 1. Select the drawing lines you wish to mirror.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, select the *Transformations* submenu and run the *Mirror* (*X* axis) or *Mirror* (*Y* axis) command, depending on the desired direction.
- 3. Specify the point through which the horizontal or the vertical mirroring axis will pass.

Breaking Drawing Lines

You can break a drawing line into one or more objects. The line can be broken only at certain of its peaks – points.

Breaking Drawing Lines in Straight Segments

You can break a drawing line in smaller lines; each of these lines will have only two points.

How to break drawing lines into straight segments

- 1. Select the drawing lines you wish to break.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, select the *Tools* submenu and then run the *Break in segments* command.

Breaking a Drawing Line in Two Lines

You can break a drawing line in two individual lines based on a reference point.

How to break a drawing line in two

- 1. Select the drawing line you wish to break.
- 2. Select the appropriate point.
- 3. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, select the *Tools* submenu and then run the *Break at point* command.

The line will be broken in two segments. The selected point will become the start of one line and the end of the other line.

Editing Drawing Line Points

You can delete or move the points of a line. You can also add points to a drawing line.

Deleting a Drawing Line Point

You can delete one or more points of a drawing line.

How to delete a drawing line point

- 1. Select the drawing line you wish to edit.
- 2. Select the point you wish to delete.
- 3. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, select the *Delete Point* command.

Offsetting a Drawing Line Point

You can offset the points of a drawing line, in order to give the line the desired shape.

How to offset a drawing line point

- 1. Select the drawing line you wish to edit.
- 2. Activate the point you wish to move.
- 3. Specify the new position of the point.

Batch Move of Drawing Line Points

From the *Points* property of the *Properties* command, you can change the points' positions simultaneously.

How to	move	simultaneously	the	points	of a	drawing line
--------	------	----------------	-----	--------	------	--------------

P	🖗 Points list					
	Point X	Point Y	Point Z			
1	587984.569	4559635.525	0.000			
2	587780.160	4559503.260	0.000			
3	587815.029	4559426.306	0.000			
4	587834.268	4559326.506	0.000			
5	587747.695	4559244.742	0.000			
6	587679.157	4559137.728	0.000			
7	587695.991	4559082.417	0.000			

- 1. Select the drawing line you wish to edit.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that appears if you right-click in the drawing area, open the window of the Properties command. In the field of the Points property, click the three-dot button ..., which is located to the right of the field. The window of the Points List command appears on the screen. This window has two columns, which correspond to the X and Y coordinates. Every row corresponds to a line point.
- 3. Change the values in the desired fields by typing the new coordinates.
- 4. Click OK.

Inserting a Drawing Line Point

You can insert one or more points to a drawing line.

How to insert points to a drawing line

- 1. Select the drawing line you wish to edit.
- 2. Select the point before or after the point you wish to insert.
- 3. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, select *Extend towards start* or *Extend towards end*, depending on which direction you wish to insert the new point. The order of the points is the same as the order in which they were inserted.
- 4. Specify the position of the new point. Continue with the next point. To finish the point insertion procedure, click the right mouse button or press the *Esc* key.

Converting Drawing Lines

You can convert a drawing line into a breakline, a road tangent or a diagram.

How to convert a drawing line

- 1. Select the drawing line you wish to convert.
- 2. From the shortcut menu that is displayed if you right-click in the drawing area, select the *Convert* submenu and then select the desired conversion, i.e. breakline, road, existing road diagram or generic use diagram.

Please keep in mind that in order for a line to be converted to a breakline, all points of the line must coincide with terrain points, while in order for a line to be converted to a diagram, there should be at least one road in your project. In the case of more than one road, the program will display a dialogue box and you must select the road for which the diagram will be created.

12.11 Data Export

Exporting Drawing Data to a Text File

You can create a file that will contain the drawing lines of your project.

How to export the drawing objects to an ASCII file

- 1. From the *File* menu, select the *Export to ASCII* submenu and run the *Drawing Data* command.
- 2. Specify the path and the name for the file you wish to save. The terrain points will be exported to a file with the .RLN extension.
- 3. Click OK to create the file.